Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems 262

Pedro M. Arezes Ronald L. Boring *Editors*

Advances in Safety Management and Human Performance

Proceedings of the AHFE 2021 Virtual Conferences on Safety Management and Human Factors, and Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance, July 25–29, 2021, USA



Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems

Volume 262

Series Editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

Advisory Editors

Fernando Gomide, Department of Computer Engineering and Automation—DCA, School of Electrical and Computer Engineering—FEEC, University of Campinas— UNICAMP, São Paulo, Brazil

Okyay Kaynak, Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Bogazici University, Istanbul, Turkey

Derong Liu, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, USA; Institute of Automation, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Witold Pedrycz, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Alberta, Alberta, Canada; Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

Marios M. Polycarpou, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, KIOS Research Center for Intelligent Systems and Networks, University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus

Imre J. Rudas, Óbuda University, Budapest, Hungary

Jun Wang, Department of Computer Science, City University of Hong Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

The series "Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems" publishes the latest developments in Networks and Systems—quickly, informally and with high quality. Original research reported in proceedings and post-proceedings represents the core of LNNS.

Volumes published in LNNS embrace all aspects and subfields of, as well as new challenges in, Networks and Systems.

The series contains proceedings and edited volumes in systems and networks, spanning the areas of Cyber-Physical Systems, Autonomous Systems, Sensor Networks, Control Systems, Energy Systems, Automotive Systems, Biological Systems, Vehicular Networking and Connected Vehicles, Aerospace Systems, Automation, Manufacturing, Smart Grids, Nonlinear Systems, Power Systems, Robotics, Social Systems, Economic Systems and other. Of particular value to both the contributors and the readership are the short publication timeframe and the world-wide distribution and exposure which enable both a wide and rapid dissemination of research output.

The series covers the theory, applications, and perspectives on the state of the art and future developments relevant to systems and networks, decision making, control, complex processes and related areas, as embedded in the fields of interdisciplinary and applied sciences, engineering, computer science, physics, economics, social, and life sciences, as well as the paradigms and methodologies behind them.

Indexed by SCOPUS, INSPEC, WTI Frankfurt eG, zbMATH, SCImago.

All books published in the series are submitted for consideration in Web of Science.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/15179

Pedro M. Arezes · Ronald L. Boring Editors

Advances in Safety Management and Human Performance

Proceedings of the AHFE 2021 Virtual Conferences on Safety Management and Human Factors, and Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance, July 25–29, 2021, USA



Editors Pedro M. Arezes DPS, School of Engineering University of Minho Guimarães, Portugal

Ronald L. Boring Idaho National Laboratory Idaho Falls, ID, USA

ISSN 2367-3370 ISSN 2367-3389 (electronic) Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems ISBN 978-3-030-80287-5 ISBN 978-3-030-80288-2 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2

 ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics 2021

AHFE 2021 Series Editors

Tareq Z. Ahram, Florida, USA Waldemar Karwowski, Florida, USA



12th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences (AHFE 2021)

Proceedings of the AHFE 2021 Virtual Conferences on Safety Management and Human Factors, and Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance, July 25–29, 2021, USA.

| | 1 | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Advances in Neuroergonomics and Cognitive | Hasan Ayaz, Umer Asgher and Lucas Paletta | | | |
| Advances in Industrial Design | Cliff Sungsoo Shin, Giuseppe Di Bucchianico, Shuichi Fukuda, Yong-Gyun Ghim, Gianni Montagna and Cristina Carvalho | | | |
| Advances in Ergonomics in Design | Francisco Rebelo | | | |
| Advances in Safety Management and Human Performance | Pedro M. Arezes and Ronald L. Boring | | | |
| Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices | Jay Kalra, Nancy J. Lightner and Redha Taiar | | | |
| Advances in Simulation and Digital Human Modeling | Julia L. Wright, Daniel Barber, Sofia Scataglin and Sudhakar L. Rajulu | | | |
| Advances in Human Factors and System Interactions | Isabel L. Nunes | | | |
| Advances in the Human Side of Service Engineering | Christine Leitner, Walter Ganz, Debra Satterfield and Clara Bassano | | | |
| Advances in Human Factors, Business Management and Leadership | Jussi Ilari Kantola, Salman Nazir and Vesa Salminen | | | |
| Advances in Human Factors in Robots, Unmanned Systems and Cybersecurity | Matteo Zallio, Carlos Raymundo Ibañez and Jesus Hechavarria Hernandez | | | |
| Advances in Human Factors in Training, Education, and Learning Sciences | Salman Nazir, Tareq Z. Ahram and Waldemar Karwowski | | | |

(continued)

| Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation | Neville Stanton |
|---|--|
| Advances in Artificial Intelligence, Software and Systems Engineering | Tareq Z. Ahram, Waldemar Karwowski and Jay Kalra |
| Advances in Human Factors in Architecture, Sustainable Urban Planning and Infrastructure | Jerzy Charytonowicz, Alicja Maciejko and Christianne S. Falcão |
| Advances in Physical, Social & Occupational Ergonomics | Ravindra S. Goonetilleke, Shuping Xiong, Henrijs Kalkis, Zenija Roja, Waldemar Karwowski and Atsuo Murata |
| Advances in Manufacturing, Production Management and Process Control | Stefan Trzcielinski, Beata Mrugalska, Waldemar Karwowski, Emilio Rossi and Massimo Di Nicolantonio |
| Advances in Usability, User Experience, Wearable and Assistive Technology | Tareq Z. Ahram and Christianne S. Falcão |
| Advances in Creativity, Innovation, Entrepreneurship and Communication of Design | Evangelos Markopoulos, Ravindra S. Goonetilleke, Amic G. Ho and Yan Luximon |
| Advances in Human Dynamics for the Development of Contemporary Societies | Daniel Raposo, Nuno Martins and Daniel Brandão |

(continued)

Preface

This volume combines the proceedings of two affiliated conferences of the 2021 Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics Conference: the 8th International Conference on Safety Management and Human Factors, chaired by Pedro Arezes of University of Minho, Portugal, and the 5th International Conference on Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance, chaired by Ron Boring of Idaho National Laboratory, USA.

Safety management and risk prevention is a common thread throughout every workplace, yet keeping employee safety and health knowledge current is a continual challenge for all employers. The discipline of safety management and human factors is a cross-disciplinary area concerned with protecting the safety, health, and welfare of people engaged in work or employment and in society at large. The book offers a platform to showcase research and for the exchange of information in safety management and human factors. Mastering safety management and human factors concepts are fundamental to the creation of both products and systems that people are able to use and for work systems design, avoiding stresses and minimizing the risk for accidents.

This book focuses on the advances in the safety management and its relationship with human factors, which are a critical aspect in the design of any human-centered technological system. The ideas and practical solutions described in the book are the outcome of dedicated research by academics and practitioners aiming to advance theory and practice in this dynamic and all-encompassing discipline.

The International Conference on Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance (HERRP) is unlike other risk conferences, which have tended to be centered largely on probabilistic risk of hardware systems. HERRP has a decidedly human factors' angle. The research presented explores human error from a human factors perspective, not solely a risk modeling perspective.

The purpose of the HERRP conference is to bring together researchers and practitioners from different fields who broadly share the study of human error. The HERRP conference is intended to serve as an umbrella for human error topics by providing an annual forum for otherwise disjoint research efforts. As such, the conference is intended to complement but not replace existing specialized forums on particular facets of human error. The HERRP conference is distinctly interdisciplinary, encouraging the submission of papers in focused technical domains that would benefit from interaction with a wide human factors' audience. Additionally, the HERRP conference aims to provide a yearly, high-quality, archival collection of papers that may be readily accessed by the current and future research and practitioner community.

Nine sections are presented in this book as follows:

Advances in Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance

- 1. Resilience and Human Performance
- 2. Human Reliability Analysis
- 3. Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance in Aviation
- 4. Organizational Effects on Human Performance

Safety Management and Human Factors

- 5. Digital Safety
- 6. Risk Exposure and Assessment
- 7. Safety and Human Factors
- 8. Safety, Prevention Management, and Training
- 9. Safety Perception and Safety Culture

Sections 1–4 cover topics related to resilience, reliability, and human performance and human error, while Sections 5–9 cover topics related to safety, prevention management, training, and safety culture. Thematically, the two conferences complement each other. The former focuses on prevention and management of risk, while the latter discusses causes of human error.

To err is human, and human error is consistently implicated as a significant factor in safety incidents and accidents. Yet, as pervasive and important as human error is, the study of human error has been fragmented into many different fields. In fact, in many of these fields, the term "human error" is considered negative, and terms such as human variability and human failure are preferred. Across differences in terminology and approach, the common link remains an interest in how, why, and when humans make incorrect decisions or commit incorrect actions. Human error often has significant consequences, and a variety of approaches have emerged to identify, prevent, or mitigate it. These different approaches find a unified home in this volume covering a wide spectrum of safety and risk topics.

Each section contains research papers that have been reviewed by members of an International Editorial Board. Our sincere thanks and appreciation to the board members as listed below:

We wish to thank the authors for their exceptional contributions and to scientific advisory board for encouraging strong submissions:

Safety Management and Human Factors

S. Albolino, Italy

B. Barkokebas Junior, Brazil

S. Braganca, UK P. Carneiro, Portugal P. Carvalho, Brazil I. Castellucci, Chile N. Costa, Portugal S. Costa, Portugal J. Domingues, Portugal A. Drummond, Ireland L. Franz. Brazil F. Guldenmund, The Netherlands C. Jacinto, Portugal L. Kocůrková, Czech Republic T. Larsson, Sweden M. Martínez-Aires, Spain R. Melo, Portugal M. Menozzi, Switzerland A. Miguel, Portugal B. Mrugalska, Poland D. Nathanael, Greece S. Nazir, Norway/Italy M. Neves, Portugal I. Nunes, Portugal M. Pillay, Australia R. Pope, USA M. Rodrigues, Portugal J. Rubio-Romero, Spain J. Santos Baptista, Portugal M. Shahriari, Turkey S. Silva, Portugal M. Silva Borges, Brazil P. Sivaprakash, India P. Swuste, The Netherlands G. Szabo, Hungary W. Van Wassenhove, France

Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance

H. Blackman, USA
Y. Chang, USA
S. Filho, Brazil
D. Gertman, USA
K. Groth, USA
X. He, Sweden
Y. Kim, Korea
B. Kirwan, France
K. Laumann, Norway

Z. Li, China P. Liu, China R. McDonald, Norway R. McLeod, UK M. Merad, France N. Meshkati, USA A. Obenius-Mowitz, Sweden J. Park, Korea M. Pillay, Australia A. Salway, Canada C. Smidts, USA O. Straeter, Germany P. Trbovich, Canada M. Weinger, USA A. Whaley, USA D. Yacht, USA

July 2021

Pedro Arezes Ronald Laurids Boring

Contents

Resilience and Human Performance

| Examination of Design and Human Factors Supporting Sensemaking, Resilience and Performance in the Shin Accident Helge Ingstad | |
|--|----|
| in Norway | 3 |
| Stig O. Johnsen and Brit-Eli Danielsen | |
| Trait Interindividual Differences in the Effectiveness of Modafinil Jeroen Van Cutsem, Emilie Dessy, Martine Van Puyvelde, Olivier Mairesse, Xavier Neyt, and Nathalie Pattyn | 12 |
| Improvement of Workflow Structure to Prevent Human Error Toru Nakata | 21 |
| Building a Trojan Horse: Third Phase in the Experiment/Research with City Information Modeling (CIM) and the Design Ethics Gonçalo Falcão and José Beirão | 28 |
| Symbolic Context Model for Resilience Engineering Daichi Mitsuhashi, Taro Kanno, Satoru Inoue, Daisuke Karikawa, Kohei Nonose, Kimitaka Asatani, and Kazuo Furuta | 35 |
| Human Reliability Analysis | |
| Identification of Performance Shaping Factors Affecting Subsequent Human Actions for Dependence Assessment in Human | |
| Reliability Analysis | 47 |
| Is Dependency in Human Reliability Analysis a Real Phenomenon? Refining the Dependency Concept Through Research | 55 |
| Torrey Mortenson and Ronald Boring | 55 |

| Formative vs. Summative Dependence in Human Reliability Analysis Ronald Boring, Jooyoung Park, and Torrey Mortenson | 62 |
|--|-----|
| Human Error of a System Based on FMEA Qing Xue, Binjue Wang, and Minxia Liu | 70 |
| Challenges and Opportunities of Applying the Human Reliability Analysis (HRA) Techniques for the Petrochemical Industry in China | 79 |
| Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance in Aviation | |
| Is Our Human Factors Capability in Aviation and Maritime Domains Up to the Task? Barry Kirwan, Katarzyna Cichomska, Beatrice Bettignies-Thiebaux, and Andrew Kilner | 89 |
| Flying High. Voice Stress Analysis to Detect Pre-symptomatic AcuteHypobaric Hypoxia at 25000 FtMartine Van Puyvelde, Emma Debecker, Xavier Neyt, Frederic Detaille,Wim Vanderlinden, and Nathalie Pattyn | 97 |
| Human Factors Analysis for a New Wake Vortex Air Traffic Alert Frédéric Rooseleer, Adriana-Dana Schmitz, and Barry Kirwan | 105 |
| Organizational Effects on Human Performance | |
| How Many Human Factors Influenced the June 30, 2013, Yarnell Hill Fire 19 Fatalities and Yet Were Never Investigated Nor Documented? | 115 |
| Continuous Stress and Consequence on C4t, Complexity, Risk, and Necessity of Leadership Level 5 Salvador Ávila, Luiz Fernando Lopes de Souza, and Lucas Menezes Pereira | 124 |
| Professional Deformations of Bailiffs with Different Professional Efficiency Yana Korneeva, Anastasiya Korneeva, and Anna Yurjeva | 133 |
| Digital Safety | |
| Short Circuiting the Controller – Missteps in Maintenance and Inspection of Process and Wiring in STS-93 Kristy S. Yun, Charles Dischinger, and Tanya C. Andrews | 143 |

| Machine Learning for Occupational Slip-Trip-Fall Incidents Classification Within Commercial Grain Elevators Fatemeh Davoudi Kakhki, Steven A. Freeman, and Gretchen A. Mosher | | | | | |
|--|-----|--|--|--|--|
| Risk Exposure and Assessment | | | | | |
| Risk Assessment Knowledge Relating to Occupational Health and Safety Risks: A Case Study of Five Finnish Companies | 163 | | | | |
| Experimental Comparison of CWA 17553:2020 Community Face Coverings to Surgical Masks and Filtering Facepiece Respirators Nhât Nam Nguyên, Joren Van Loon, Els Du Bois, Jouke Verlinden, Stijn Verwulgen, and Regan Watts | 169 | | | | |
| Workplace Hazards Difficult to Identify and Manage Noora Nenonen, Sari Tappura, Minna Rantala, and Maria Lindholm | 178 | | | | |
| COVID-19 Prevention in Construction Sites: A Case Study in a Railway Project Christiane N. Gomes and Rui B. Melo | 184 | | | | |
| Risk Analysis Based on ETA, FTA and Bowtie Methodologies for the Bulk Coal Discharge Process Rodrigo Domínguez, Carlos Gomez, and Oskar Cerezo | 193 | | | | |
| Safety Concerns in a Portuguese Chemical Industry:A Workers' PerspectiveCláudia Pereira, Catherine Delgoulet, and Marta Santos | 200 | | | | |
| The Dynamic, Individual and Integrated Risk Assessment: A Multi-criteria Approach Using Big Data Francesco Lolli, Antonio Maria Coruzzolo, Giulia Alessandro, Elia Balugani, Maria Angela Butturi, Samuele Marinello, and Simona Marinelli | 207 | | | | |
| Safety and Human Factors | | | | | |
| Adopting the CRIOP Framework as an Interdisciplinary Risk | | | | | |

| Analysis Method in the Design of Remote Control Centre for Maritime | |
|---|-----|
| Autonomous Systems | 219 |
| Asa S. Hoem, Ørnulf J. Rødseth, and Stig Ole Johnsen | |
| Producing Human Factor Recommendations in the Aviation Sector | 228 |
| Diana Paola Moreno Alarcon and Corinne Bieder | |
| Character Accentuation as a Psychological Risks Criterion | |
| of Fly-in-Fly-Out Personnel in the Far North | 237 |
| Yana Korneeva and Anna Yurjeva | |

| Lean Ergonomic Impacts on Manufacturing Systems Daniela Balsadi and Eduardo Ferro dos Santos | 244 |
|---|-----|
| Safety, Prevention Management and Training | |
| The Safety Measure Effectiveness Assessment Tool (EAT) | 251 |
| Compliance You Said? Why May Safety Critical Operators Deviate from Procedures? A Military Aviation Perspective Comparing Operators from Different Operational Fields Frederic Detaille, Rebecca Grant, Emilie Dessy, Martine Van Puyvelde, and Nathalie Pattyn | 256 |
| Prevention Through Design: Clients' Pre-construction Health and Safety Arrangements Ebenezer Adaku, Nii A. Ankrah, and Issaka E. Ndekugri | 264 |
| Understanding Systemic Interactions and Feedbacks in a One-Health | 272 |
| Management and Control of Occupational Risks in the Manufacture of Fuel and Oil Filter Caps Pablo Ron-Valenzuela, Blanca Topon-Visarrea, and Miguel Delgado | 279 |
| Health and Working Conditions in the Prevention of the Risk of Professional Dropping-Out for Seniors: Results of a Statistical SurveySandrine Guyot and Pascal Wild | 287 |
| Performance Implications of Safety Training Sari Tappura, Aki Jääskeläinen, and Julius Pirhonen | 295 |
| Absenteeism, Musculoskeletal Disorders and Healthy Living Habits in Active Uniformed National Police | 302 |
| Safety Perception and Safety Culture | |
| Safety Culture and Risk Perception in a Furniture Manufacturing Company – A Case StudyAna Colim, André Cardoso, Sílvia Martins, Jorge Mano, Paula Carneiro, and Pedro Arezes | 311 |
| Post COVID-19 Fatigue Management for ATCOs Fabrice Drogoul and Philippe Cabon | 319 |

| Promoting Occupational Safety, Health, and Well-Being in Emergency | |
|--|-----|
| Medical Services | 324 |
| Susanna Mattila, Ismo Kinnari, Sari Tappura, and Mervi Lehto | |
| An AHP Method Study on the Migrant and Refugee Employees | 221 |
| Cengiz Akyildiz and Ismail Ekmekci | 551 |
| Author Index | 341 |

Resilience and Human Performance



Examination of Design and Human Factors Supporting Sensemaking, Resilience and Performance in the Ship Accident Helge Ingstad in Norway

Stig O. Johnsen¹(⊠) and Brit-Eli Danielsen²

¹ SINTEF, Trondheim, Norway stig.o.johnsen@sintef.no ² NTNU, Trondheim, Norway brit-eli.danielsen@samforsk.no

Abstract. We examine design and Human Factors supporting sensemaking, resilience and performance on the bridge of the frigate HNoMS Helge Ingstad that collided with the tanker Sola TS in 2018. We are presenting a framework to evaluate the design based on a system perspective. The frigate was a modern ship, with seven seamen on the bridge, performing operations during night. The officer of the watch considered Sola TS as a part of a land-based installation. The officer did not get clear indication from supporting systems on the bridge that Sola TS was a moving ship. The workload on the bridge was high with many alarms, officers in training, and communication through VHF. No personnel fatalities, but the frigate sank. The cost of a new frigate is estimated to be 1400 Mill USD. The accident analysis benefits from the sensemaking perspective, the design of bridge systems did not support reliable sensemaking.

Keywords: Human Factors · Sensemaking · Resilience

1 Introduction

In this paper we examine design and Human Factors (HF) supporting sensemaking, resilience and performance on the bridge of the frigate HNoMS (His Norwegian Majesty's Ship) Helge Ingstad (HI or Helge Ingstad) that collided with the tanker Sola TS in the Hjeltefjord at 04:01:15 on November 8th, 2018.

The traffic in the Hjeltefjord were under surveillance by the Fedje Vessel Traffic Service (VTS). Three other ships were in the vicinity of Helge Ingstad and Sola TS, mowing towards Helge Ingstad on the port side. Sola TS approached on the starboard side. The key actors were onboard Helge Ingstad, Sola TS and the VTS.

The frigate was a modern ship, with seven seamen on the bridge, performing normal operations in a fairly calm environment, during nighttime. The officer of the watch (OOW) was in charge from 03:56 and considered the tanker Sola TS a part of a land-based installation on the coast. The OOW did not get clear indication from the chart system

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 3–11, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_1

on the bridge, ECDIS (Electronic Chart Display and Information System), that SOLA TS was a moving ship. The mental workload was high on the bridge with many alarms, officers in training, and radio communication through VHF (Very High Frequency). The environment did not support common and reliable sensemaking among the involved actors. No personnel fatalities were recorded as a consequence of the collision, but the frigate Helge Ingstad sank. The cost of the frigate was initially 500 Mill USD, the cost of a new frigate is estimated to 1 400 Mill USD, making the total cost of the accident 1 900 Mill USD.

We have explored the accident based on a system view and best practices of Human Factors investigations as described in [1]; describing events as they evolved during the accident; the perceptions and sensemaking among the actors during the events and reflections on root causes of the accident with discussion of design issues. The central factors are:

- the actors involved in the accident, i.e., Helge Ingstad, TS Sola, Fedje Vessel Traffic Service (VTS) with technology, humans and organization.
- design, Human Factors, sensemaking and resilience of the system surrounding the Helge Ingstad accident, i.e., environment (with infrastructure), practices, regulation and culture.

The paper will in particular focus on the sensemaking and systemic factors on the bridge of Helge Ingstad).

2 Key Definitions, Approach and Methods

Design is a key issue to support safe operations and avoid accidents. This view is supported in [2], where it is stated «Human Error? – No, poor Design». Design decisions as a cause of accidents are seldom sufficiently explored, even though it is estimated that design are the root causes of approximately 50% of accidents, [3, 4]. In this paper we have explored design issues based on standards for human factors design such as ISO standards [5] and [6]. The quality assurance of the design process has been based on [7], a best practice guideline that is being used in the industry [8] with good results. We have focused on the design of the control systems (CS), at the VTS and the ships (i.e., the bridge with information and CS supported by the physical layout), however our main focus has been the bridge at HI.

We define Human Factors (HF) as "the scientific discipline concerned with the understanding of interactions among humans and other elements of a system, and the profession that applies theory, principles, data, and other methods to design in order to optimize human well-being and overall system performance", [9]. Three key areas of HF are Cognitive issues (Perception, Task analysis, mental workload, situational awareness), Ergonomic issues (workplace layout, working environment, work position), Organisational issues (Responsibility, Work procedures, Communication, Crew Resource Management, Team collaboration) from [10, 11].

Sensemaking is a continuous process. The HI accident happened while the actors performed regular daily operations with necessary adaptations to ensure normal performance. The discussion of the accident is based on a sequential documentation of what actually happened between the different actors, such as described by the STEP method, [12]. The next step is to use the perspective of sensemaking, trying to understand how the different actors understood the situation by their actions. Then we try to understand and analyze the actions based on cognitive, organizational and ergonomic factors. The sensemaking of the actors are taking place based on the whole system, impacted by the design of the information systems, the training of the involved actors and the surrounding environment. The sensemaking concept builds on the initial descriptions from Weick, [13]. We are using sensemaking as a dynamic, iterative process of observing, orienting, and acting in a social setting, creating a shared understanding. Sensemaking is seen as a process that is prompted by violated expectations, that involves both attending to and bracketing cues in the environment with the aim to create intersubjective meaning through cycles of interpretation and action, enacting an ordered environment from which further cues can be drawn, [14]. We are trying to understand the actual sensemaking from the perspective of credibility, transferability and reliability based on terminology from [15]. We use credibility to denote to which extent the systems enable a match between reality and ongoing individual sensemaking i.e., having sufficient cues to match reality ensuring meaningful human control. We use transferability in relation to the existence of common sensemaking between the different actors, i.e., if situational assessment can be transferred between the actors. Reliability describes the match between the actors sensemaking and reality that are observed.

Resilience, as the ability to handle the unexpected, can be an important property in handling a stressful situation or an accident. Resilience (RE) is defined as "the intrinsic ability of a system to adjust its functioning prior to or following changes and disturbances, so that it can sustain operations even after a major mishap or in the presence of continuous stress", [16]. Discussing resilience of operations, some key issues are the ability to have redundant safety systems of safety critical operations (i.e., ability to control position from several systems) and the ability to reduce complexity (i.e., establish situational awareness at a glance).

2.1 Approach and Methods

We have based our approach on an analysis of the accident report, [17], exploring the timeline of the actions supported by interviews of involved actors to discuss the findings. The aim of the accident analysis, [17], was to understand and learn from the accident, not to place blame. They used perspectives from sensemaking and Situational Awareness (SA), as defined and used in [18, 19].

We have also performed a literature review to explore the role of bridge control systems in maritime accidents [20]. Based on the accident report, the interviews and literature review we have examined the design based on principles from the CRIOP method, i.e.:

- A. Job Organization, Procedures, Work Descriptions and Training- covering HF organization
- B. Control and Safety Systems covering HF Cognitive issues
- C. Layout and Working Environment covering HF ergonomics.

3 The Timeline of the Accident

In the following narrative we have described the timeline of the HNoMS Helge Ingstad accident as it evolved, based on the three key actors (HI, SOLA TS and VTS), from [17]. Then we have performed an evaluation of the design.

VTS timeline on the night of the accident

- 02:38 The VTS got a call from Helge Ingstad informing that they would enter the area of the VTS.
- 02:50 Helge Ingstad entered the area, but the VTS did not plot Helge Ingstad on their radar, (i.e., leading to poor ability to share information between actors)
- 03:45 the VTS acknowledged that Sola TS departed. Three ships going north and two ships (Helge Ingstad and Dr No) going south in addition to Sola TS. Helge Ingstad were poorly identified due to no automatic information system (AIS).
- 3:59 the VTS discovered a possible collision vector between Sola TS and Helge Ingstad. The VTS communicated to Sola TS that it could be Helge Ingstad.
- 04:00:44 the VTS told Helge Ingstad that they had to do something but no direct commands from the VTS, no closed loop communication, or emergency keywords were used, i.e., poor transfer of understanding between the actors.
- 04:01:15 collision between Helge Ingstad and SOLA TS

The VTS had not a credible understanding of the situation initially, did not manage to transfer perception of the situation with urgency to Helge Ingstad, and did not take control through emergency procedures.

SOLA TS timeline on the night of the accident

- 03:37 Sola TS left the brightly lighted Sture Terminal.
- 03:45 Captain and the pilot at the bridge informed the VTS about their departure. (ECDIS information updated later and not communicated to Helge Ingstad at departure, supporting a perception that the ship was anchored at Sture terminal.)
- 03:52 the bridge saw a ship coming towards Sola TS (i.e., Helge Ingstad).
- 03:58 Sola TS asked the VTS about the ship (Helge Ingstad).
- 03:59:56 communication between Sola TS and HI/OOW, Sola TS tried to communicate an impending collision
- 04.01.15 collision with Helge Ingstad

SOLA TS did not manage to get credible communication with Helge Ingstad.

Helge Ingstad timeline on the night of the accident

- 03:45 to 03:53 briefing of new OOW. SOLA TS were identified as an object as a part of the Sture Terminal.
- 03:47 to 04.01 the bridge handled 12 alarms; this is almost one alarm each minute. This was alarms related to objects that the bridge was aware of and thought they could control, no alarms from Sola TS that they collided with.

- 03:53 responsible OOW changed. Sola TS were visually observed, seen as a part of the land based Sture Terminal and not as a ship by some personnel on the bridge. The OOW had a perception that Sola TS was the Sture Terminal. Large part of Sola TS (200 m) was not lighted – it was difficult to see Sola TS. This perception and understanding were not communicated and shared on the bridge, verbal clues and information sharing were a challenge due to the noise level. No common mental model among the actors on the bridge.
- 04:00 the OOW used the VHF radio not close to ECDIS/Radar, thus visual clues could not be shared between systems. The OOW reiterated to SOLA TS that they were close to land (actually the bright part of Sola TS). No commands from VTS.
- 04.01.15 collision with Sola TS

Poor possibility/systems to check credibility and support transferability of sensemaking at Helge Ingstad.

At HNoMS Helge Ingstad, the process of sensemaking, including observing, orienting, and acting were based on missing credible information from the supporting systems. The cues from the systems were difficult to coordinate and synthesize due to fragmented information. The communication between VTS, SOLA TS and Helge Ingstad had missing focus on transferability and closed-loop communication, i.e., they did not manage to have a shared perception of the situation or manage to establish "a shared perception/understanding at a glance". The cues being used by the OOW were not redundant and did not challenge the perception that SOLA TS were a part of the coast/Sture Terminal.

4 Evaluation of Design Issues

Evaluation of design is based on principles such that design is based on a systematic task analysis (focusing on safety critical tasks). Key design principles are:

- HF Organization and manning is based on task analysis that helps to decide what should be computer systems vs human based operations. Task analyses decides how operations are organized (responsibility) and how procedures are developed. Task analysis are used as a basis for workload analyses (physical and mental workload) and workload is assessed to avoid stress or complacency during critical tasks.
- HF cognitive issues such as Human Machine Interfaces are designed to support tasks and credible sensemaking (i.e., sufficient cues to enable control of information through several clues based on independent sources). Alarms are designed to handle deviations, taking into accord human limitations. As an example, that the operators cannot handle more than six alarms each hour as specified by [21].
- HF ergonomics such as physical layout are designed to support tasks (i.e., arranging equipment together to ensure efficiency and support of sensemaking) and support good working environment and communication (low noise).

Going through the accident report supplied with interviews, the following issues are explored: A. Job Organization, Procedures, Work Descriptions and training; B.Control and Safety Systems; C. Layout and Working Environment.

8 S. O. Johnsen and B.-E. Danielsen

A. Job Organization, Procedures, Work Descriptions, training

It was not documented that the organization and manning on the bridge were based on a systematic task analysis. The class of ships (five ships) that HI was a part of, got an updated VHF radio. At HI the VHF was installed (in a corner) without a systematic task analysis. The consequences of this installation were poor visibility to Radar and ECDIS while using the VHF. During installation at another ship in this class, an experienced officer was on the bridge with knowledge of tasks and managed to get the VHF radio placed close to the Radar and ECDIS in order to give the user a good view of these systems during VHF use (i.e., task-oriented design). In the minutes before the collision the OOW were using the VHF and talking to Sola TS and did not have easy access to the radar and ECDIS. (This was not reported in the accident report).

The manning of the bridge had been influenced by a high-level strategy called LMC-Lean Manning Concept, implemented primary to reduce costs. There was no workload assessment of navigating at night, with many alarms, performing training at the same time as performing safety critical tasks such as navigation.

Work procedures matching crew selection were not optimal related to tasks at night. In the AIB report it was mentioned that three of the seven persons on the bridge had no visual impairment, i.e., some of the crew on the bridge had some sort of visual impairment. It is uncertain if this impacted the accident, but sensemaking could have been impacted, and these facts should have been used when planning the night-time operations.

To summarize, there was poor task analysis to ensure adequate sensemaking support of critical tasks, poor crew selection/planning and missing workload analysis to ensure that credible sensemaking was taking place.

B. Control and Safety Systems; HF Cognitive issues

In [17] it is mentioned that the bridge handled 12 alarms on the bridge the last 14 min, this is almost one alarm each minute. (This was alarms of objects that the bridge was aware of and thought they could control, no alarm from the proximity of Sola TS that they collided with). This is a high mental workload, directing sensemaking and focus to non-critical areas and reducing the credibility of sensemaking. The alarm standard [21], specifies that the maximum number of important alarms that can be handled is six alarms in one hour, i.e., 10 min between each alarm. Thus, the alarms were not designed in accordance with acceptable HF standards.

We have also performed a review of 19 maritime accident reports related to control systems on the bridge, [20]. The poor quality, poor alarm philosophy and poor user friendliness of the ECDIS systems were highlighted in the accident reports. There was widespread de-selection of automated functions in ECDIS that is indicative of wider problems; and the system is not used as expected by the regulators or equipment manufacturer. ECDIS is not utilized effectively as navigation aid and audible alarm often disabled. ECDIS may give many alarms and overwhelm the watchkeeper, and we found poor understanding of the system and relationship of alarms. The chief inspector MAIB (Marine Accident Investigation Branch) said in one of the reports: "this is the third grounding investigated by the MAIB where watchkeepers' failure to use ECDIS properly has been identified as one of the causal factors. In 2014 there are over 30 manufacturers of ECDIS equipment, each with

their own designs of user interface, and little evidence that a common approach is developing".

To summarize, there was poor alarm design to help to reduce mental workload and support critical sensemaking. The poor general quality of ECDIS reduces understanding of the surrounding environment of the ship. The alarm overload and the poor quality of the ECDIS system challenged credible sensemaking.

C. Layout and Working Environment; HF physical ergonomics

The ergonomics of the working environment is important for sensemaking to take place. The environment is influenced by factors such as noise, lightning level, and temperature. Team communication on the bridge is dependent on coordinating mechanisms such as shared mental models, closed-loop communication, and mutual trust [22]. To support communication, the noise level should be acceptable. In [17], it is pointed out:" Bridge *ventilation system is so noisy that it is difficult for the bridge team to communicate in a normal manner. Excessive levels of noise interfering with voice communication, causing fatigue and degrading overall system reliability, shall be avoided. (noted during visit on-board)*". In [23] they pointed out that "All vessel classes, except the coast guard vessels, had noise levels exceeding the Royal Norwegian Navy (RNoN) standard's recommended maximum noise levels." The background noise level should be below 45 db when performing safety critical tasks [7], but the noise level was higher at Helge Ingstad, impacting sensemaking.

One adaptation on the bridge of HI that was mentioned, was that some of the lights on the bridge had been taped over in order to preserve "the night vision" of the officers on the watch., i.e., indicting poor consideration of user needs and user centered design for operations at nighttime. To summarize, the working environment was not optimal regarding noise and lightning, issues that challenged credible sensemaking.

5 Conclusions – Support of Sensemaking

Examination of the accident report, interviews and literature review revealed that design and Human Factors (HF) did not sufficiently support sensemaking, resilience and performance on the bridge at HNoMS Helge Ingstad. The poor user quality of ECDIS systems seems to be a recurring challenge.

The poor design was a significant root cause of the accident. Task based design to support cognition, organizational structure and layout of the Helge Ingstad bridge were missing which reduced credible sensemaking. As an example, the positioning of the VHF radio at HI influenced the reliability of sensemaking. The local user adaption of placement of the VHF in other ships was not reported in the accident report and is new information.

Sensemaking is a beneficial perspective in accident analysis, helping to understand what the actors actually observed, made sense of and which actions they took during the accident. The sensemaking is on-going process and helps to create understanding and learning instead of placing blame. Thus, the accident and this paper report benefited from the sensemaking perspective, illustrating that the design of the environment and the bridge systems at HNoMS Helge Ingstad were poor and did not support reliable sensemaking. **Acknowledgments.** This research has been supported by grants from the Norwegian Research Council, through the project SMACS.

References

- 1. CIEHF: White Paper "Learning from Adverse Events" (2020). https://www.ergonomics.org. uk/Public/Resources/Publications/Learning_from_Adverse_Events/Learning_from_Adverse_Events.aspx
- Norman, D.: The Design of Everyday Things: Revised and Expanded Edition. Basic Books (2013)
- Kinnersley, S., Roelen, A.: The contribution of design to accidents. Saf. Sci. 45(1–2), 31–60 (2007)
- 4. Moura, R., Beer, M., Patelli, E., Lewis, J., Knoll, F.: Learning from major accidents to improve system design. Saf. Sci. **84**, 37–45 (2016)
- 5. ISO 11064:2000 Ergonomic design of control centres. https://www.iso.org
- 6. ISO 9241-210: Ergonomics of human-system interaction—Part 210: Human-centred design for interactive systems (2010)
- 7. CRIOP (2011). www.criop.sintef.no
- Aas, A.L., Johnsen, S.O., Skramstad, T.: CRIOP: a human factors verification and validation methodology that works in an industrial setting. In: Buth, B., Rabe, G., Seyfarth, T. (eds.) SAFECOMP 2009. LNCS, vol. 5775, pp. 243–256. Springer, Heidelberg (2009). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-642-04468-7_20
- 9. IEA (2000). https://iea.cc/what-is-ergonomics/
- 10. Karwowski, W.: The discipline of human factors and ergonomics. In: Salvendy, G. (ed.) Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 3–37. Wiley, Hoboken (2012)
- 11. Lee, J.D., Wickens, C.D., Liu, Y., Boyle, L.N.: Designing for people: an introduction to human factors engineering. CreateSpace (2017)
- Hendrick, K., Benner Jr., L., Benner, L.: Investigating Accidents with STEP, vol. 13. CRC Press (1986)
- 13. Weick, K.E.: Sensemaking in Organizations. Sage, Thousand Oaks (1995)
- Kilskar, S.S., Danielsen, B.E., Johnsen, S.O.: Sensemaking in critical situations and in relation to resilience—a review. ASCE-ASME J. Risk Uncert. Engrg. Syst. Part B Mech. Eng. 6(1) (2020)
- 15. Guba, E.G., Lincoln, Y.S.: Fourth Generation Evaluation. Sage, Thousand Oaks (1989)
- 16. Hollnagel, E., Woods, D.D., Leveson, N. (eds.): Resilience Engineering: Concepts and Precepts. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd. (2006)
- 17. AIBN: Part one report on the collision on 8 November 2018 between the frigate HNOMS Helge Ingstad and the oil tanker Sola TS outside the Sture terminal in the Hjeltefjord in Hordaland county (2019). www.aibn.no
- Endsley, M.R.: Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Hum. Factors 37, 32–64 (1995)
- Endsley, M.R.: Human Factors & Aviation Safety, Testimony to the United States House of Representatives Hearing on Boeing 737-Max8 Crashes, 11 December 2019 (2019)
- Johnsen, S.O., Kilskar, S.S., Danielsen, B.E.: Improvements in rules and regulations to support sensemaking in safety-critical maritime operations. In: Proceedings of the 29th European Safety and Reliability Conference (ESREL), ESREL 2019, Hannover, Germany, 22–26 September 2019 (2019)
- EEMUA 191: Alarm Systems A Guide to Design, Management and Procurement, 3rd edn. (2013). ISBN 978-0-85931-192-2

11

- 22. Salas, E., Sims, D.E., Burke, C.S.: Is there a "big five" in teamwork? Small Group Res. **36**(5), 555–599 (2005)
- 23. Sunde, E., et al.: Noise and exposure of personnel aboard vessels in the Royal Norwegian Navy. Ann. Occup. Hyg. **59**(2), 182–199 (2015)



Trait Interindividual Differences in the Effectiveness of Modafinil

Jeroen Van Cutsem^{1,2}(^[\infty]), Emilie Dessy^{1,3}, Martine Van Puyvelde^{1,3,4}, Olivier Mairesse^{1,3,5}, Xavier Neyt¹, and Nathalie Pattyn^{1,2}

² Human Physiology and Sports Physiotherapy Research Group, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

³ Brain Body and Cognition Research Group, Department of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

⁴ Clinical and Lifespan Psychology, Department of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

⁵ Sleep Laboratory and Unit for Chronobiology U78, Brugmann University Hospital, Free University of Brussels-Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

Abstract. *Purpose:* To optimize the usage of modafinil as a cognitive enhancer and increase safety and effectiveness, we sought to assess the trait-characteristic of modafinil-sensitivity.

Methods: 11 healthy participants (age = 21 ± 2 yr) were tested on 2 separate occasions during which they were sleep deprived for one night. During one trial they received 2 × 200 mg modafinil (i.e. EXP); during the other they received 2 × a placebo-capsule (i.e. CON). Physiological (e.g. heart rate and blood pressure), subjective (e.g. sleepiness and mood state) and behavioral (e.g. psychomotor vigilance task) measures of sleep-wake regulation were followed up.

Results: Both PVT performance and perceived sleepiness were significantly improved in EXP at 2AM and 4AM during the sleep deprivation-night, compared to in CON. Additionally, an ICC of 0.90 for the delta (CON – EXP) in non-adjusted reaction time was observed.

Conclusion: Stable and robust interindividual differences in modafinil-sensitivity are clearly present across day and night.

Keywords: Psychostimulant · Human performance · Interindividual differences

1 Introduction

Research in strategies to mitigate the impact of disturbed sleep/wake regulation on human functioning has increased in importance in the last decades. This does not have to be surprising, as the impact of disturbed sleep/wake regulation (e.g. sleep restriction/deprivation) on human functioning has been shown to be significant and substantial. The use of psychostimulants is one strategy that is used to counteract the impact of disturbed sleep/wake regulation [1–3]. Within the possible psychostimulants that could serve to positively impact sleep/wake regulation, modafinil (Provigil; 100–200 mg) is one of the most used. Initially (i.e. in 1998), modafinil was a medical drug used in the treatment of narcolepsy [4]. Besides its usefulness to treat narcolepsy, the usage of modafinil to counteract non-disease-related sleepiness and enhance cognitive performance gained rapid interest [5]. Modafinil parallels the effects of d-amphetamine in combination with relatively almost no reports of side effects [3, 5].

Up to date, it appears the usage of modafinil to counteract the negative effects of sleep deprivation, improve concentration, increase alertness, focus and/or mental stamina (i.e. all situations that are unrelated to any disease) is widespread implemented in multiple contexts [3, 6]. Moreover, the usage of modafinil appears to still go hand in hand with a minimal occurrence of (minor) side effects [3, 6]. However, in specific situations (e.g. during work-related activities) even these minor side effects (e.g. headache, diarrhea, anxiety) might however be of importance. Sensitivity to modafinil seems to be individually dependent [7–9]. Moreover, these interindividual differences in the response to modafinil-usage do appear to be replicable and robust in time [9, 10], and thus appears to be trait-like [11]. Individualizing the modafinil-usage/dosage according to this trait would result in further increasing the safety and effective would not take in modafinil unnecessarily.

Therefore, to optimize the usage of modafinil as a cognitive enhancer and fatigue countermeasure, the current project aimed to investigate its effectiveness on an individual level. To reach this aim, physiological, psychological and behavioral measures of sleep-wake regulation were followed up in one-night-sleep-deprived individuals, during the day and night of their sleep deprivation, and during the day following on their sleep deprivation. Based on the results of Bodenmann et al. [7, 8] we hypothesized that two-time 200 mg modafinil would counteract the sleep-deprivation-associated decrease in human functioning in individuals that are modafinil-sensitive.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

An a priori sample size calculation based on the results reported in the study of Caldwell et al. [10] (reported effect size of condition x time interaction in terms of Psychomotor Vigilance Task (PVT) performance = 0.378) showed that a total of 10 participants was needed to observe the effect of modafinil on human functioning. Eleven participants volunteered to participate in the present study (1 female, 10 males; mean \pm SD, age = 21 \pm 2 yr). None of the participants had any known mental or somatic disorder. Each participant gave written informed consent before the study. All participants were given written instructions describing all procedures related to the study but were naive of its aims and hypotheses. Participants were informed that the purpose of the study was to investigate the effect of two (modafinil and slow-release caffeine) potentially performance-enhancing substances and were debriefed after completing all trials.

2.2 Experimental Protocol

The subjects were asked to return to the lab for 3 consecutive trials (cross-over design). The first trial was a 60-min familiarization trial to get to know the online software, the questionnaires and to avoid learning effects in the cognitive task. In the familiarization trial descriptive data of the participants was gathered and all questionnaires and cognitive tasks were completed/performed once. Preceding the beginning of the familiarization trial, subjects had to read and sign the informed consent to participate. The familiarization trial took place in the morning (i.e. 10AM) of day 1 of the first interventional trial.

The familiarization trial was followed by 2 interventional trials in a randomized counter-balanced order. Subjects performed the two interventional trials (i.e. modafiniltrial (EXP) and calcium lactate-trial (CON)) within a period of 3 weeks. This because of the 1-week washout period between both interventional trials. Participants and researchers involved in data collection, outcome assessment and statistical analysis were blinded to the intervention. Each interventional trial took 3 days. On day 1 of each 3-day trial, subjects first performed their work-related duties as normal. After their normal day of work, subjects reported themselves online in a virtual meeting at 8PM. After this first virtual meeting two more virtual meetings were held during each 3-day trial, one at 10PM of day 1, and one at 8:30AM of day 2 (see virtual meeting). Before starting a trial, compliance with instructions (see Restrictions and prohibitions for the subjects) was assessed with a checklist. Throughout every 3-day trial, subjects performed a sleep deprivation protocol combined with 15 online test protocols at specific time intervals (see sleep deprivation protocol and online test protocol time intervals). To perform these online test protocols, subjects were asked to perform their test-intervals seated in a comfortable chair in a sound-deprived room with as little distractors present as possible (i.e. no time indicators, no smartphone). To determine the effect of modafinil supplementation on sleep deprivation-induced psychological, physiological and behavioral performance alterations, every online test protocol began with a medical questionnaire (see medical questionnaire), followed by the Profile of Mood States (POMS; see POMS) to assess mood and a Psychomotor Vigilance Task (PVT; see PVT) to assess cognitive performance.

Virtual Meeting. Within a virtual meeting, participants checked their basic physiological parameters under the guidance of a medical doctor and took in their first two tablets of the eventual four that they had to take in during each interventional trial. Basic physiological parameters encompassed: heart rate (HR; Rossmax AC1000F), blood pressure (BP; Rossmax AC1000F), body temperature (Tbody; home-available thermometer) and respiration rate (RR; self-count in a 30s time-interval). In addition, participants can ask questions or indicate possible perceived side-effects.

Sleep Deprivation Protocol and Online Test Protocol Time Intervals. Both interventional trials (EXP and CON) took 3 days to complete. Concerning the sleep deprivation protocol, participants had to sleep deprive themselves during the first night of the 3-day trial. In terms of the online test protocol, participants had to perform this protocol multiple times (i.e. 15 times; Day 1: 10am, 8pm, 10pm and 12pm; Day 2: 2am, 4am, 6am, 8am, 12am, 4pm and 8pm; Day 3: 8am, 12am, 4pm and 8pm). All online test protocols

15

were identical to one another and encompassed a medical questionnaire (see medical questionnaire), followed by the POMS (see POMS) and a PVT (see PVT).

Medical Questionnaire. In the medical questionnaire participants were asked to selfassess their HR, BP, Tbody and RR like they were instructed during the first virtual meeting and fill out this information in the foreseen fields. Subsequently, they were also asked whether they had perceived any side-effects (e.g. headache, palpitations, hyperventilation, diarrhea and anxiety). Afterwards, they were asked to fill out three Visual Analog Scales (VAS): a mental fatigue-VAS (MF-VAS), a physical fatigue-VAS (PF-VAS) and a sleepiness-VAS.

POMS. The POMS - SF [12] contains six scales that assess different characteristics of mood: anxiety, depression, anger, vigor, fatigue, and confusion (disappointment). Each of the scales is measured using 5 to 8 items on a Likert scale from 0 to 4. Each state is measured on a scale of 0 to 4 which is calculated by summing the scores of the items in each state and dividing that score by the number of items.

PVT. The PVT [13] measures the rapidity to respond to a certain stimulus by pressing the space bar when the stimulus appears. The visual stimulus appears at random intervals (2, 4, 6, 8 or 10 s) and the task lasts for 10 min (i.e. 20 blocks of ~30 s, in each block of 30 s all inter-stimulus intervals are used in a random order). Optimal reaction times are between 200 and 400 ms (i.e. Optimal Response Domain; ORD). To assess performance on the PVT both adjusted (only taking into account the responses within the ORD) and non-adjusted reaction time (RT) were taken into account, as well as accuracy (ACC; i.e. percentage of responses within ORD), limit responses (i.e. responses within 400 to 500-ms time zone after stimulus presentation) and lapses (i.e. responses 500 ms after stimulus presentation).

Restrictions and Prohibitions for the Subjects. Subjects were asked to refrain from alcohol, caffeine and any other psychostimulant intake while participating in the study. The day before each experimental condition, the subjects were expected to sleep according to their normal sleep pattern, refrain from the consumption of caffeine, alcohol and not to practice vigorous physical activity. In addition, subjects were asked to have a similar meal and cognitive load on day 1 of each experimental condition. The use of any kind of medicinal products during and between the trials was prohibited. If subjects could not meet these standards they were excluded from the study.

2.3 Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm SD unless stated otherwise. To specifically assess the acute effect of modafinil, only the first ten time-intervals of both EXP and CON were taken into account. The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to test the normality of the data. Sphericity was verified by the Mauchly's test. If data were not normally distributed (i.e. POMS depression, confusion, tension, anger and fatigue subscale), non-parametric Wilcoxon tests were used to observe the effect of condition. All other parameters were normally distributed or normally distributed after a square root transformation (i.e. ACC was subtracted from a constant factor [100.1] and subsequently square root transformed; amount of limit-responses and of lapses were square root transformed). The effect of condition and time on all normally distributed parameters was assessed by a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA. If significant interaction effects were observed, subsequent paired-samples t-tests were performed to elucidate the main effect of condition in each time-interval. The stability of interindividual differences for the delta score (CON-EXP) of non-adjusted RT and sleepiness was quantified with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), which was calculated as the between-subjects variance divided by the sum of the between- and within subjects variances. For further information on this statistical analysis see Tucker et al. [14]. Significance was set at <0.05 for all analyses, which were conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 27 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).

3 Results

3.1 Modafinil and Cognitive Performance

In terms of performance on the PVT, condition and time interacted with each other in adjusted and non-adjusted RT, ACC and lapses ($p \le 0.033$; See Table 1). PVTperformance significantly deteriorated in CON compared to EXP at the 2AM ($p \le 0.035$), 4AM ($p \le 0.023$), 8AM ($p \le 0.044$; specifically for adjusted RT this was nonsignificant) and 4PM ($p \le 0.049$; specifically for the amount of limit-responses this was non-significant) time-interval in almost all these PVT performance variables (i.e. adjusted and non-adjusted RT, ACC and lapses). The only performance-variable where no interaction effect of condition and time was present was the amount of limit-response.

| | | Day 1 | | | | Day 2 | | | | | |
|------------------|-----|--------------|-------------|------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|
| | | 10am | 8pm | 10pm | 12pm | 2am | 4am | 6am | 8am | 12am | 4pm |
| Adjusted | EXP | 308±23 | 308±22 | 306±25 | 310 ± 27 | 312±24 | 315 ± 26 | 317 ± 24 | 316±23 | 314±22 | 310 ± 22 |
| KI (m3) | CON | 307±18 | 315±28 | 319±25 | 324±28 | 330±28 | 331±32 | 330±28 | 328 ± 23 | 321 ± 26 | 318 ± 21 |
| Non- adjusted | EXP | 322 ± 31 | 318±32 | 318±36 | 323 ± 36 | 330±37 | 333 ± 41 | 338±41 | 335 ± 34 | 330 ± 32 | 327 ± 36 |
| RT (ms) | CON | 326 ± 34 | 336± 50 | 341 ± 48 | 352 ± 58 | 368±59 | 383 ± 75 | 379 ± 74 | 372 ± 58 | 348 ± 49 | 353 ± 53 |
| ACC (%) | EXP | 91±8 | 91±11 | 91±10 | 89±11 | 87 ± 11 | 87±14 | 84±18 | 87±11 | 88±10 | 88±12 |
| | CON | 88±13 | 86±19 | 86±14 | 80±22 | 65 ± 31 | 67±29 | 69±28 | 72 ± 22 | 79±22 | 79 ± 20 |
| # Limit | EXP | 7 ± 7 | 7 ± 10 | 8 ± 8 | 9±9 | 11±9 | 10 ± 11 | 13 ± 15 | 10 ± 9 | 9 ± 8 | 10 ± 9 |
| responses | CON | 8 ± 8 | 10 ± 12 | 10 ± 7 | 14±13 | 21±16 | 20 ± 17 | 17 ± 12 | 19±13 | 15 ± 13 | 14 ± 12 |
| # Lapses | EXP | 2 ± 2 | 1 ± 2 | 1 ± 2 | 2 ± 2 | 2 ± 3 | 3 ± 3 | 3 ± 3 | 3 ± 3 | 2 ± 2 | 2 ± 3 |
| | CON | 3 ± 5 | 4 ± 7 | 3 ± 6 | 5 ± 8 | 9 ± 11 | 12 ± 13 | 13 ± 18 | 9 ± 9 | 4 ± 6 | 7 ± 9 |

Table 1. PVT performance throughout a night of sleep deprivation and the day after (mean \pm SD).

3.2 Modafinil and Psychological State

To assess mood a POMS-questionnaire was completed at each time-interval. This demonstrated that the depression-subscale was scored higher (p = 0.042) at the baseline time-interval in EXP (0.18 ± 0.36) compared to CON (0.05 ± 0.2), while the fatigue-subscale was scored significantly different at the 2AM time-interval during the sleep deprivation night (p = 0.021) and at the 12AM after the sleep deprivation night (p = 0.045). At 2AM, fatigue was scored as higher in CON (0.65 ± 0.51) compared to in EXP (0.22 ± 0.28), while at 12AM this was scored as higher in EXP (0.73 ± 0.52) compared to CON (0.40 ± 0.36). In addition, the vigor-subscale was scored as higher in EXP compared to CON in both the 4AM (EXP = 1.42 ± 0.87 ; CON = 0.91 ± 0.95) and 6AM (EXP = 1.61 ± 1.12 ; CON = 1.05 ± 0.84) time-interval during the sleep deprivation night ($p \le 0.040$).

Besides the POMS, VAS assessing MF, PF and sleepiness were also completed at each time-interval. Concerning the sleepiness-VAS an interaction effect between condition and time was present (F(3.6, 36.1) = 5.4; p = 0.002). Participants perceived a higher degree of sleepiness at the 2AM (EXP = 21 ± 18 ; CON = 37 ± 24 ; p = 0.002) and 4AM (EXP = 20 ± 10 ; CON = 36 ± 24 ; p = 0.029) time-interval during the sleep deprivation night in CON compared to EXP. In contrast at the 12AM (EXP = 32 ± 24 ; CON = 21 ± 14 ; p = 0.018) and 4PM (EXP = 27 ± 21 ; CON = 17 ± 15 ; p = 0.019) time-interval following on the night of sleep deprivation, a higher amount of sleepiness was perceived in EXP compared to CON. Concerning MF and PF no significant interaction or main effects of condition and time were observed.

3.3 Interindividual Difference in Modafinil-Effectiveness

Table 2 shows the estimates for between-subjects and within-subjects variance, in the delta scores (CON-EXP) in adjusted and non-adjusted RT and sleepiness, and the ICC values derived from them. The ICC values are a measure of the stability of the interindividual differences across the night of sleep deprivation and the day after. By experimental design, this period involved both non-sleepy as well as sleepy conditions and variation in day and night hours. Consequently, the ICC values can be interpreted as evidence of both stability (across day and night) and robustness (across varying psychological states). Using the benchmarks suggested by Landis and Koch [15], the ICC value was slight to fair for the delta in sleepiness scores and almost perfect for the delta scores in non-adjusted RT (see Table 2). Thus, interindividual differences in modafinil-effectiveness were clearly stable and robust, and particularly so for the effectiveness of modafinil on behavioral variables.

 Table 2. Interindividual variabilities, between- and within-subjects variance components, and instraclass correlation coefficients of delta-scores (CON-EXP) of adjusted and non-adjusted RT.

| | SDbs | 95% RI | VARbs | VARws | ICC |
|-----------------|------|--------|-------|-------|------|
| Non-adjusted RT | 41 | 161 | 1720 | 189 | 0.90 |
| Sleepiness | 4 | 16 | 18 | 77 | 0.19 |

4 Discussion

The most important findings of the present study are as follows: 1) modafinil improved human functioning, both in terms of cognitive performance as well as psychological state, throughout a night of sleep deprivation; 2) modafinil-effectiveness clearly demonstrates stable and robust interindividual differences.

4.1 Modafinil and Human Functioning

Up to date, it appears the usage of modafinil to counteract the negative effects of sleep deprivation, improve concentration, increase alertness, focus and/or mental stamina (i.e. all situations that are unrelated to any disease) is widespread implemented in multiple contexts [6]. Moreover, the usage of modafinil appears to still go hand in hand with a minimal occurrence of (minor) side effects [6]. The current study further substantiates that modafinil might be of use to enhance human functioning, both in terms of cognitive performance as well as psychological state, in specific situations (i.e. in a sleep deprived state). With that sidenote that the acute, modafinil-associated upregulation of human functioning is followed (i.e. a couple of hours after intake) by a higher perceived sleepiness and fatigue afterwards. However, despite this drawback of modafinil-usage, Greely et al. [16] have already argued in a well-considered way that new methods of improving our brain function and quality of life should be welcomed in a world in which human work spans and lifespans are increasing.

4.2 Interindividual Difference in Modafinil-Effectiveness

Similar to multiple other psychostimulants (e.g. caffeine), sensitivity to modafinil seems to be individually dependent [7–9]. Moreover, these interindividual differences in the response to modafinil-usage do appear to be replicable and robust in time [9, 10], and thus appears to be trait-like [11]. The results of the current study further confirm this trait-like characteristic of modafinil-effectiveness. Especially the effectiveness of modafinil to counteract the sleep deprivation-associated increase in RT was demonstrated to have an almost perfect ICC and thus appeared to be trait-like. Moreover, the current study also further indicates that this trait is not affected by time of day or by psychological state, as time of day and psychological state varied throughout the period wherein RT on the PVT was assessed.

The trait-like characteristics of modafinil-sensitivity indicate a role for genes. A specific genotype (i.e. catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT)) has already been demonstrated to be linked to the effect modafinil has on sleep-wake regulation [7–9]. Further confirmation of the role of this genotype in individual modafinil-sensitivity is however needed. Subsequently, genotyping and individualizing modafinil-usage/dosage might become one way to optimize the usage of modafinil as a cognitive enhancer and increase safety and effectiveness for both the individual and the society.

5 Conclusion

The current results demonstrate that, like also in the case of caffeine, stable and robust interindividual differences in modafinil-sensitivity are clearly present. Further studies should therefore assess whether individualizing modafinil-usage, based on modafinil-sensitivity, could further increase safety and effectiveness of modafinil-usage.

References

- 1. Buguet, A., Moroz, D.E., Radomski, M.W.: Modafinil-medical considerations for use in sustained operations. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. **74**(6 Pt 1), 659–663 (2003)
- Caldwell, J.A., Caldwell, J.L., Smyth, N.K., Hall, K.K.: A double-blind, placebo-controlled investigation of the efficacy of modafinil for sustaining the alertness and performance of aviators: a helicopter simulator study. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 150(3), 272–282 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130000450
- Ooi, T., Wong, S.H., See, B.: Modafinil as a stimulant for military aviators. Aerosp. Med. Hum. Perform. 90(5), 480–483 (2019)
- 4. Vastag, B.: Poised to challenge need for sleep, "wakefulness enhancer" rouses concerns. JAMA **291**(2), 167–170 (2004)
- Lyons, T.J., French, J.: Modafinil: the unique properties of a new stimulant. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 62(5), 432–435 (1991)
- Teodorini, R.D., Rycroft, N., Smith-Spark, J.H.: The off-prescription use of modafinil: an online survey of perceived risks and benefits. PLoS One 15(2), e0227818 (2020)
- Bodenmann, S., et al.: Pharmacogenetics of modafinil after sleep loss: catechol-Omethyltransferase genotype modulates waking functions but not recovery sleep. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 85(3), 296–304 (2009)
- 8. Bodenmann, S., Landolt, H.P.: Effects of modafinil on the sleep EEG depend on Val158Met genotype of COMT. Sleep **33**(8), 1027–1035 (2010)
- Bodenmann, S., et al.: The functional Val158Met polymorphism of COMT predicts interindividual differences in brain alpha oscillations in young men. J. Neurosci. 29(35), 10855–10862 (2009)
- Lynn Caldwell, J., Schroeder, V., Kunkle, C., Stephenson, H.: Differential effects of modafinil on performance of low-performing and high-performing individuals during total sleep deprivation. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. **196**, 172968 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2020. 172968
- 11. Van Dongen, H.P., Vitellaro, K.M., Dinges, D.F.: Individual differences in adult human sleep and wakefulness: leitmotif for a research agenda. Sleep **28**(4), 479–496 (2005)
- Curran, S.L., Andrykowski, M.A., Studts, J.L.: Short form of the profile of mood states (POMS-SF): psychometric information. Psychol. Assess. 7, 80–83 (1995)

- Dinges, D., Powell, J.: Microcomputer analyses of performance on a portable, simple visual RT task during sustained operations. Behav. Res. Methods Instrum. Comput. 17, 652–655 (1985)
- 14. Tucker, A.M., Dinges, D.F., Van Dongen, H.P.: Trait interindividual differences in the sleep physiology of healthy young adults. J. Sleep Res. **16**(2), 170–180 (2007)
- 15. Landis, J.R., Koch, G.G.: The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics **33**(1), 159–174 (1977)
- 16. Greely, H., et al.: Towards responsible use of cognitive-enhancing drugs by the healthy. Nature **456**(7223), 702–705 (2008)



Improvement of Workflow Structure to Prevent Human Error

Toru Nakata^(⊠)

Artificial Intelligence Research Center, National Institute of Industrial Science and Technology, Aomi 2-4-7, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0064, Japan toru-nakata@aist.go.jp

Abstract. Design of workflow is one of crucial factors for human reliability. When a procedure of tasks is badly designed, more troubles related to human errors will happen. This paper claims three essential points on design of workflows for human operations. First, independence of components of workflow is crucial for test of faultlessness: each component should be verified without interference of others. The second key is conservation of partial achievements, which protects preliminary achievements from disturbances. The last point is pre-fixation of execution order in order to inhibit omission. This paper deals this problem with examples at practical scenes in the industry.

Keywords: Human error · Human factors · Workflow design · Reliability · Production efficiency

1 Introduction

Probability of human errors depends on appropriateness of workflow structure. Workflow design is essential to cope with human errors. Conventional workflow studies were, however, mainly focused on efficiency of time and costs. Human factors were not deeply considered in the context of workflow design.

As an exception, Gilb and Weinberg [1] carried out a study about human error in workflows of keypunchers in 1970's. The computers could not accept inputs and commands in flexible orders, so that many keypunchers forced to undertake their tasks in rather difficult ways. Due to the limitation of old computers, they lost chances to review their inputs, and they had to make their attention very nervous for every typing to avoid mistakes.

Compared to the past, we have more freedom in workflow control: we may change order of tasks freely and have more chances to review.
This paper focuses on structure of workflow in respect to human reliability. If the worker has enough chance to review at good timing, most of mistakes will be detected and corrected. The question is when and how reviews should be done. We discuss how a flow of tasks should be divided, grouped, and aligned in order to acquire the best human reliability. There are 3 major keys as follow.

2 Protection of Testability of Each Units from Interferences of Other Activities

Workflows containing human operations should be divided into sections in which independent and brief inspection can be carried out. In general, a process consists of several sections, i.e. upper/lower stream parts and, parallel workflows.

It is ideal that a process can divide into the finest possible portion that meets the following conditions.

- **Independence:** the whole workflow should be divided into portions that are independent mutually. In other words, a defect contained in a certain portion cannot damage healthiness of other process parts.
- **Testability:** soundness of a certain portion should be proved by a local inspection of the portion.

Local inspection on short section of workflow is simple and brief, and it is the earliest chance to find mistakes. If you cannot test parts one-by-one, it will be great disadvantage. Inspection on the final product after whole workflow is complicated, so that many oversights can occur.

Here is an example in a factory (Fig. 1). The worker wants to watch whether the parts of a machine are well tightened by screws. However, parts under covers cannot be seen after the covers are set. The chance to watch the screws is given only very short period between attaching the part and setting the cover. The conventional manual requires the workers to do so, despite the difficulty.

A simple solution is disuse of the cover to keep visual access to the screws.

If the cover is important to protect the part, we cannot adopt this way. As another strategy, we should eliminate interference among the steps. The shape of the cover hides the screws. This feature hinders the visual check, so it should be removed by redesigning the cover to maintain visual clearance as the right illustration of Fig. 1.

The workflow is improved as shown in Table 1. Here is another advantage: we can inspect soundness of union of Part A and the cover without considering the main body. This local independence gives freedom on the workflow design.



Fig. 1. Left: Problem that the cover prevents visual check of tightness of screws connecting Part A and the main body. The worker has no chance to check when the cover is set. Right: A solution by changing the design that the cover is put on Part A not to hinder the visual inspection of tightening Part A to the body.

Table 1. Reformation of the workflow. By redesigning parts as Fig. 2, hinderance of the cover to the visual inspection is removed.

| Original workflow | Improved workflow |
|--|---|
| Attach Part A to the main body Visual inspection of the screws Attach the cover (This step loses the availability of Step 2) | Unite Part A and the cover Check soundness of Part A with cover (This inspection can be done only watching Part A and cover. This is a "local check") Attach them to the main body Visual inspection of screws (This step is not interfered by Step2, and it is checkable any time after Step 4) |

3 Utilization of Prefabrication: Conservation of Partial Achievement

Tasks that can be started early should be carried out early. Early start reduces risks of congestion and concentration of works.

For shifting tasks in a workflow earlier or later, we need freedom to do it. Certain kinds of tasks have temporal constraints that hinder reform of schedule. For example, we cannot leave raw foods for long time. Such tasks should finish at the timing when the next process for the foods is ready.

To avoid the time constraints, an output of each workflow part should be preserved for long time from aging nor interference by other processes. When the conservation is available, we can do the task spare time and check its result beforehand independently. In the case that time affects quality of the outputs, it is very difficult to maintain correctness of the work.

Also, simultaneous execution is another commonplace cause of temporal constraints. Sometimes we must do 2 or more tasks in parallel and cannot separate them. In such case, the tasks have interference relationship, which is very difficult to manage. For example, a task of setting a beam between walls (Fig. 2) requires synchronous operation on the both sides: you cannot put one side without support on the other side. Controlling of the beam motion at 2 sides together is complicated problem. Also, we cannot stop operation on one side without care about the other side.

To eliminate synchronism constraint, we should make the process 'static'. Static means that quality of output of the process is free from process velocity. In the beam example, we can do operation very slow and make a stop during the operation, if we put support pillars for the beam. Thanks to the pillars supporting the beam, quality control of the workflow becomes free from velocity of the operation.

Mathematical interpretation of temporal constrains can be stated as follows. Let Q be quality of output of a workflow, s be a series of operations, (s_1 be s for Workflow 1), and v be execution velocity of s.

The ideal workflow design is 'holonomic', in which quality of output is free form velocity condition as Eq. 1. This feature makes task easy and suppresses human errors.

Nonholonomic constrain shown with Eq. 2 requires precise control on velocity, which is in general difficult to manage. Also, two workflows with interference connections is very problematic to carry out. Those bad designs are commonplace causes for human error (Table 2).

| Mathematical feature | Quality function | Quality dependency |
|-------------------------------|---|---|
| Holonomic (Static Process) | Q = f(s) (1) | Quality of output is free from process speed |
| Nonholonomic (Time Constrain) | Q = f(s, v) (2) | Speed matters. Quality of output depends on process speed |
| Less decomposed | $Q_1 = f(s_1, s_2) , (3) Q_2 = g(s_1, s_2)$ | Two process have interference |

Table 2. Difficulty degrees of process quality control.

Reduction of temporal constraint and interference has been an important issue of workflow management in the industry. For example, the construction of the Eiffel Tower was given very short period (two and half years), but the process ran very efficient and safe to meet the deadline.

In the construction, prefab technique is adopted for many parts as much as possible. Parts were assembled on the ground level. In conventional constructions at 19th century, parts of a tower were usually assembled by attaching to the main body, but such style of operation requires management on timing and interference. Prefabrication liberated the workflow from those constraints. To utilize the prefabrication technique, we should mind the holonomic/nonholonomic border in a workflow. Some tasks in a workflow are holonomic (i.e. we can do it very slow), and their output can be conserved.

In general, a workflow consists of holonomic tasks and nonholonomic tasks in random order (Fig. 3). Holonomic and conservable tasks should be executed and finished early as possible (Fig. 4) Separation between time/velocity-sensitive tasks and others is very important for efficiency and error reduction [2].



Fig. 2. An example of improvement by eliminating temporal constraint. The workers are attaching a beam between the walls. Left) Trying to attach on both sides at the same time. Right) Using support pillars, the worker can have a rest at any time, because the operation is not sensitive to its velocity.



Fig. 3. A workflow structure requiring consideration on time-scheduling.



Fig. 4. An improved workflow. By separating speed-dependent steps and others, the worker can prepare non-speed-dependent steps beforehand and have a break after the preparation. It increases degree of freedom of time-scheduling.

4 Fixation of Execution Order

Humans are not good at handling and memorizing several tasks in parallel. To avoid the parallelism, tasks should be processes one by one in a series with prefixed order. There are 2 reasons:

Mental load is increased when a worker takes care several things.

Parallel workflows bring 'and-join' connections, which is one of major causes of omission error.

Some juncture of workflows is called 'and-join', which requires completion of all upstream branches to pass the 'and-join' (Fig. 5). This rule is often forgotten by the workers, so that they omit a part of upstream [3].

Fixation of order allows easy and reliable checks against omissions (Fig. 6). When a worker failed to follow the designated order, the system should give warning immediately. Early detection of human error helps quality control. It is also good for workers to learn job skill. It is easier to memorize several to-do items in fixed order than random order.

The typical example of this technique is found in aviation industry. Self-checking before takeoff is carried out in a fixed order. The sequence is monitored and guided by the computer.

When the 'and-join' is inevitable for some reasons, we should use template matching check to keep correctness of the work (Fig. 7). Such visual matching in static condition (i.e. all parts do not move during the check) is easiest for workers to check.



Fig. 5. The 'and-join' is a workflow juncture which does not allow pass before completion of all branch on its upstream. Existence of and-join is a major cause of omission, since a human is easy to forget the and-join rule.



Fig. 6. Elimination of 'and-join' is the best way to suppress omission error. By transforming paralleled workflows to one stream in a fixed order, it will be easy to remember and to manage than and-join for human workers.



Fig. 7. Another solution of and-join management is a template to check completeness of parts.

5 Conclusion

This paper proposed techniques on workflow design in respect to prevention of human error. Local testability of partial achievement makes verification easier and reliable. Prefab assembly of components allows workflow management efficient and simpler. Prefixation of task order prevent omission error.

In future work, we will discuss improvement method for difficult condition. Some severe workflows have many tough constraints, so that the techniques shown in this paper may not apply. Other countermeasures are required for them.

References

- 1. Gilb, T., Weinberg, G.M.: Humanized Input. Winthrop Publishers (1977)
- Kellerman, F., van Wely, P.A., Willwma, P.J.: Vademecum Ergonomics in Industry. Philips Technical Library (1963)
- 3. Van der Aalst, W., Van Hee, K.: Workflow Management. MIT Press (2002)



Building a Trojan Horse: Third Phase in the Experiment/Research with City Information Modeling (CIM) and the Design Ethics

Gonçalo Falcão^(⊠) and José Beirão

Faculdade de Arquitetura, CIAUD, Universidade de Lisboa, Rua Sá Nogueira, Pólo Universitário, Lisboa, Portugal {gfalcao,jnb}@fa.ulisboa.pt

Abstract. The Trojan Horse experiment is now on his third (of possible ten) phase. It's an ongoing research connecting two researchers and two different knowledge fields - Architecture and Design. This research project was planed by both researchers, crossing academic fields and using the design concept of the Trojan Horse to develop a common project. In this early stage (we're reporting the third test) the investigation is still inquiring the system, searching for positive tests and accessing their consistency, relating them with the results attained in the previous phases (one and two) with cumulative replicability. The ultimate goal is to improve the level of evidence without distorting the simulation results; this is done by extending the method initially designed by increasing the repetition factor by the value of one, tunning procedures and verifying the outcomes, while minimizing noise introduced by the diverse requirements from different compliances. Computer analysis will also be tested in it's competence in stopping - or at least mitigating - human failures. Early results point to the need for tools that can better comply with the challenges posed by a voracious scientific production environment that stress the need to have more rigorous and attentive analysis. Results until now seem to point that evaluation and enquiry still requires some level of human dialog with the system - and/or a big investment in AI - in order to secure high-end intelligent systems (and not only digitalized human procedures). Future work will provide possible answers to this problem – a hypothesis is given for the fifth phase.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot CIM \cdot Human-systems integration \cdot History of design \cdot Design

1 Introduction

Science and design share many subjects, but their goals are different in a key characteristic: science aims fully understanding the real-world occurrences while design at developing methods and solutions to improve an existing state of affairs thru the production of artefacts (whether for communication strategies, or product/services). Cities are perhaps the most complicated human artefact because cities are themselves complex combinations of human made products, sociality, mobility, diet, metabolism, symbolism and beliefs. They are both human designs and ways by which humans design themselves in an evolutionary interdependence. Their complexity makes them still fully impenetrable, since science has not yet produced methods and tools that would allow a complete understanding of urban phenomena [1, 3, 23]. Still, we attempt to redesign our cities to improve their response to our needs. Designing cities is a complicated challenge, encompassing the need to understand the urban phenomena through science in order to change it through design. To do so, we need better tools and methods.

2 An Ancient Greek Tale as a Research Concept – Third Step (Of Ten)

The ancient Greek story of the Trojan teaches us an invasion strategy. It is one of the best-known accounts of military creativity to assault an impenetrable city. The intrusion strategy was used thru times and when digitalization arrived it was revived as malware: digital 'Trojan horses' misleads users of they're true intent to be able to be inserted inside our computers to be able to perform processes for the trespasser (such as unauthorized crowd computing, for example). Inspired by this concept we designed this experiment, a scientific Trojan Horse, using the same idea as a method. Our Trojan Horse is a fake paper that acts as an intruder in a supposedly serious scientific congress and it can go even further by being published in a scientific proceedings book. If well succeeded it proves that it is to easy to enter in conferences even with a "horse" that makes no big effort to disguise itself as one; in fact, by the opposite, it's the first one to implicate itself and passes the Troy conference gates signaling himself boisterously as an intruder. The objective is to prove that some scientific conferences don't have basic mechanisms to prevent fraud and are designed to support a voracious science business that is structured on bibliometric quantitative evaluation that favors less scrupulous ethical behavior. Supposedly serious scientific production is easily (blindly one could say) published with the purpose of attaining needed "productivity" requirements. The paper explores these cracks in the system and this one is the third part of this experiment – now in the fifth phase.

Performing well in academic context is, in great part, measured by the number of scientific publications produced per year in blind peer review international conferences and conference proceedings. This leads into an avid system of publication and of structures (conferences, journals, books, editors, etc.) that facilitate the means for publication. In such a avid environment, bad practices, schemes and low ethics procedures, can foster as the task of carefully reviewing a paper is almost impossible in a highly saturated production environment. This paper reinforces already developed experiences where results provide evidence of such reality [10].

3 Methodology

Our project had to deal with an intrinsic methodological paradox, generated by project itself; it deals with the somehow contradictory requisite of keeping this article's configuration scientifically believable for its goals while making it unacceptable – a scientific

debase - to be classifiable as Trojan Horse. The method had to be conducive to the production of scientific evidence, and so we've set out the following procedures vaguely structured in quantitative approaches, used in design research as described by [2, 21].

The first task was to design a text that could pass a negligent skin reading review; consequently, our method implied that both abstract and introductory sections would have a seemingly scientific look, good enough to fit in a conference's theme, and adding some muddled - but readable - conclusions.

The second task was to design the paper so it could present a scientifically methodology, replicable by other researchers, when addressing a similar research problem. The following three sections of the paper (4, 5, and 6) were designed to be openly and evidentially false, unacceptable in a slightly scrutinized scientific environment. They are structured in the following way: (1) the first (Sect. 4, the net one) is an auto-plagiarism without any quotation of the source; (2) the second (Sect. 5) does the same but presents a google automatic translation taken from a paper section written in a foreign language without any revision; (3) the following section (Sect. 6) is an automatically generated text that makes no sense at all. The idea, once again, is to make it look normal at sight without adding any kind of novelty or pertinent information and intentionally using badly written English. After these sections the paper presents a discussion on the results defining all possible outcomes, which are in this case rather predictable and defining the logical conclusions for each outcome. The closing of the text is designed to avoid a true assumption, returning to the line of reasoning presented in the introduction; the objective, again, is to be able to appear plausible to a careless reviewer that didn't read the paper but would use the system of reading only abstract/introduction/conclusion. Indeed, in such case, there will be a plausible conclusion but it's not the obvious one.

The paper is "inflated" with bibliographic referencing. Some of them were already in the original texts, others were just added to be able to build a verisimilar Reference section in the end.

Thirdly and finally: this scientific Trojan Horse will be submitted to ten conferences. The initial plan is to submit it to 5 from each research areas (design and architecture). The first three submissions, which includes this one, are pre-test: if detected in the three, the researchers will abort the project concluding that revision is working; if it goes undetected in at least one of the submissions, it will be carried on, ideally without any kind of modification (although some modification is needed to be able to pass the "Similarity Report" which detects text that is exactly the same as other already published). We expect to be able to have a solid quantitative measurement of the problem with 10 tests.

The first three submissions, including this one, have already been accepted for publication and at least one is already published while we write. Results will be compiled and analyzed in a quantitative matrix and considered in a future paper with the purpose of proposing actions and methods to improve the scientific ethics among events that should be in principle organized to enhance human knowledge.

4 City Information Modelling

This section presents the concept of City Information Modelling (CIM) reproducing a text, not properly quoted, a self-plagiarism taken from a real scientific publication by Beirão [4]. In this part of the paper we show that plagiarism has not been detected by a human review. Even though, the text was previously detected as by an automated check, the fact that it is essentially irrelevant for the central argument in this paper remains undetected. To end the section and stress the purposeless inclusion of this text, the unquoted quotation has been truncated into different parts and put into a different sequence while also jumping to another publication without following any preconceived logic [5, 6].

The urban grammar Γ' is a subset of the Cartesian product of all grammars γ . Formally, an urban grammar Γ' is the Cartesian product of user-selected grammars $\gamma_1 \times \gamma_2 \times \gamma_3 \times \ldots \times \gamma_n$ that take a set of parameterized shapes from the city ontology, respectively $S_1, S_2, S_3, \ldots, S_n$, to design an urban plan. Label sets $L_1, L_2, L_3, \ldots, L_n$, are the label sets in grammars $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3, \ldots, \gamma_n$, respectively, and they correspond to the classes of attributes in the ontology. The structure is similar to the one presented by Li for the Yingzao fashi grammar [15]. A complete layout of an urban plan is defined along four design phases which produce four sub-designs with different levels of detail. Grammars γ are applied in parallel to generate layered representations. Each design phase uses some of the grammars, γ_1 to γ_n of an urban grammar Γ' to generate the several layers that define the sub-design produced at that design phase [13].

5 Applied Research: History and Historiography

Here we go back to a paper originally produced in Portuguese, already published in conference proceedings and translated by google without further revision [9]. Once the reader is warned, a reviewer should certainly be refuse it for publication. The hoax should have been detected at this point by any reviewer [12]. Citations do not belong to the original text and were added by including big names just to feign credibility into the referencing section. Footnotes, also without any connection to the text and subject are quotations from a Frank Zappa song: "Plastic People" and were not part of the original text [8].

Communication design is a disciplinary record and a profession. It started as an activity, it became specialized, creating a body of autonomous knowledge [18], practical knowledge, applied in parallel with some critical reflection: firstly to support creation (ways to systematize and rationalize communication and the perception of communication) and later with theorizing about the impact of communication on society, its function, its context.¹ The theory comes as practitioners dug their breadwinners: for them, for them [17].

And so we come back to the starting point, the teaching of design, its academization. This research seeks to focus on the activity and less on the outcome of the activity [11, 19, 20] or on the "big picture" as has been common practice; Through this approach we will try to observe if it produces qualitative improvements in the results of teaching, including the [7, 14] awareness that the designer assumes the concerns and intentions of the teacher. commissioner and who works with him to find the most suitable solution for the various contexts (conception, production, reception) that need to be published

¹ "Me see a néon, Moon above, I searched for years, I found no love, I'm sure that love, Will never be, A product of Plasticity".

for their existence [16]. It is hoped to be able to highlight the need to introduce a new theoretical element, highlighting the ordering process as an element that structures the performance of the activity.

6 Generative Online Semantic Tool

Likewise, the high need for integrity enables better availability of the available time windows. The implementation, in practice, proves that the use of SSL in commercial transactions offers an interesting opportunity to verify the port blocking imposed by corporate networks. It is emphasized that the constant dissemination of information optimizes the use of risk management processors [22]. The accumulated experiences demonstrate that the consolidation of the infrastructures presents tendencies towards approving the new topology of the security ACLs imposed by the firewall. The certification of methodologies that help us to deal with the consultation of the various systems adds value to the service provided for the down-time that should be minimal. Considering that we have good network administrators, the continuous development of different forms of encryption guarantees the integrity of the data involved in the processes commonly used in legacy networks. Of course, the use of dedicated hardware resources entails a process of reformulating and modernizing the use of services in the clouds. We can already see the way in which the provision of environments implies the best use of the data links of the information flow. Thinking more in the long run, the system utilization index is an IT asset of OpenSource tools. What we have to keep in mind is that the computational complexity may cause instability in the impact of a total stop. Consequently, the use of servers in the datacenter assumes important levels of uptime of all the functional resources involved.

7 Discussion

Human systems fail and they have many vulnerabilities. By exploring these weak points, in this text a series of evidences were provided and deprecated, and if read they would make any nonspecialized human reading to detect them. The hoax is explicit, the horse shouts his intrusion purpose, without any clandestine or hidden unethical stratagems.

There are 3 possible results for the outcome of this experiment: 1. Paper refused, meaning that the review system as a minimum care and the reviewing process works; 2. The paper is accepted even containing all the evidence needed for any hasty reviewer to detect it; or 3. The paper is accepted with the reviewers recognizing the intentions and admitting that the paper is scientifically structured as an experiment and therefore it is a valuable contribution for science, in which case, they should express it in their review comments and request the addition of a sentence after this one stating that the "Trojan horse has been detected by the reviewer", which in case of absence simply means that the review process was unable to detect the Trojan horse and therefore the implicit conclusions must be drawn.

Three previous experiments have produced at least two successful Trojan horses fully accepted and [10], and another one accepted for publication. This paper reinforces results from previous phases of this experiment as it represents the fourth Trojan horse

attempt to invade an international event without detection of any kind. At this point it is still possible to say that several events raped up in proper science looking procedures can be easily exposed to Trojan horses that penetrate artificial pseudo-events organized to support a greedy publication system. Even though some work might be produced within a frame of utmost seriousness, the probability of publishing minor work raises. At least, the qualitative advantages of a serious blind review process, which tends to contribute to improve the quality of the scientific achievements is in these cases erased from the process. Despite the scientific implications, this experiment envisions in a future publication the proposal of a set of procedural ethical improvements as conclusive arguments to be published in the tenth part of the experiment.

8 Conclusion

We can design and build better cities by following ethically sound procedures combining human based judgement with artificial intelligence. Computer analysis might help to stop or at least mitigate human failures as demonstrated in our experiment. Consequently, tools require structures that provide serious action, detect human failure and improve scientific discourse. We showed that thru design (in particular, by resorting to evaluation and simulation) one could provide a better decision support system to the most important systems of disclosure found within the scientific community. The Greek Trojan Horse is a very helpful story and still an interesting idea to be able to deal with unethical procedures that can foster in the academic milieu.

References

- Alexander, C.: A Pattern Language: Towns, Buildings, Construction. Oxford University Press (1977)
- 2. Muratovski, G.: Research for Designers, a Guide to Methods and Practice, 1a edn. Sage Publications, London (2016)
- Batty, M.: Cities and Complexity: Understanding Cities with Cellular Automata, Agent-Based Models, and Fractals. The MIT Press (2007)
- 4. Beirão, J.: CltyMaker: Designing Grammars for Urban Design. TU Delft (2012)
- Beirão, J., Arrobas, P.: Interactive urban parametric design. In: Stouffs, R., Sariyildiz, S. (eds.) Computation and Performance – Proceedings of the 31st ECAADe Conference, Faculty of Architecture, Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands, 18–20 September 2013, vol. 1, pp. 291–299. CUMINCAD (2013). http://papers.cumincad.org/cgi-bin/works/paper/ ecaade2013_212
- Beirão, J., Arrobas, P., Duarte, J.: Parametric Urban Design: Joining Morphology and Urban Indicators in a Single Interactive Model (2012)
- 7. Benjamim, W.: The Arcades Project, 1a edn. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge (1999)
- Czajkowski, K., Fitzgerald, S., Foster, I., Kesselman, C.: Grid information services for distributed resource sharing. In: 10th IEEE International Symposium on High Performance Distributed Computing, pp. 181–184. IEEE Press, New York (2001)
- Falcão, G.: Learning to learn: lessons from 25 years managing a design company abbreviated in 3 ideas by the secretary general of the United Nations. In: Raposo, D., Neves, J., Silva, J. (eds.) Perspective on Design: Research, Education and Practice, pp. 27–38. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32415-5_3

- Falcão, G., Beirão, J.: Design narrative and city information modeling. In: Karwowski, W., Ahram, T., Etinger, D., Tanković, N., Taiar, R. (eds.) IHSED 2020. AISC, vol. 1269, pp. 142– 147. Springer, Cham (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-58282-1_23
- 11. Fallan, K.: Design History, Understanding Theory and Method. Berg Publishers, Oxford (2010)
- 12. Foster, I., Kesselman, C.: The Grid: Blueprint for a New Computing Infrastructure. Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco (1999)
- 13. Foster, I., Kesselman, C., Nick, J., Tuecke, S.: The physiology of the grid: an open grid services architecture for distributed systems integration. Technical report, Global Grid Forum (2002)
- 14. Gombrich, E.H.: Ideals & Idols. Essays on Values in History and in Art. Phaidon Press, London (1998)
- 15. Li, A.I.: A shape grammar for teaching the architectural style of the Yingzao Fashi. Ph.D. thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2001)
- Lopes, M.: Guterres, honoris causa, avisa para a falta de regulação das novas tecnologias. [WWW Document]. PÚBLICO (2018). https://www.publico.pt/2018/02/19/politica/noticia/ guterres-honoris-causa-avisa-para-a-falta-de-regulacao-das-novas-tecnologias-1803626. Accessed 8 Sept 18
- 17. Margolin, V.: World History of Design, 1a edn. Bloomsbury Academic, London and New York (2015)
- May, P., Ehrlich, H.-C., Steinke, T.: ZIB structure prediction pipeline: composing a complex biological workflow through web services. In: Nagel, W.E., Walter, W.V., Lehner, W. (eds.) Euro-Par 2006. LNCS, vol. 4128, pp. 1148–1158. Springer, Heidelberg (2006). https://doi. org/10.1007/11823285_121
- 19. Midal, A.: Design By Accident, 1a edn. Stenberg Press, Berlin (2019)
- 20. National Center for Biotechnology Information. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Tomitsch, M., Wrigley, C., Borthwick, M.: Design. Think. Make Break. Repeat. A Handbook of Methods. BIS Publishers, Amsterdam (2018)
- 22. Vargas Llosa, M.: A civilização do espetáculo (2012)
- 23. Portugali, J.: Self-Organization and the City. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)



Symbolic Context Model for Resilience Engineering

Daichi Mitsuhashi^{1(⊠)}, Taro Kanno¹, Satoru Inoue², Daisuke Karikawa³, Kohei Nonose⁴, Kimitaka Asatani¹, and Kazuo Furuta¹

¹ The University of Tokyo, 7-3-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8656, Japan mitsuhashi@g.ecc.u-tokyo.ac.jp, kanno@sys.t.u-tokyo.ac.jp, asatani@ipr-ctr.t.u-tokyo.ac.jp, furuta@rerc.t.u-tokyo.ac.jp ² Electronic Navigation Research Institute, 7-42-23 Jindaiji-higashi-machi, Chofu, Tokyo 182-0012, Japan s-inoue@mpat.go.jp ³ Tohoku University, 6-6-11 Aramaki Aza Aoba, Aoba-ku, Sendai, Miyagi 980-8572, Japan daisuke.karikawa@tohoku.ac.jp ⁴ Central Research Institute of Electric Power Industry, 2-6-1 Nagasaka, Yokosuka-shi, Kanagawa 240-0196, Japan nonose@criepi.denken.or.jp

Abstract. Resilience can be defined as the ability of a system to adapt to changing contexts. To develop a better understanding of the concept of resilience and describe system resilience, it is more important to focus on a context's characteristics than to discuss the definition of resilience itself. This study proposes a model to comprehend and describe a context's characteristics, consisting of six a priori concepts: space, time, entity, event, state, and modality. Based on the model, this study also presents a way to formalize context. To demonstrate the model's utility and partial validity, this paper provides examples of the reinterpretation and formalization of existing key concepts relating to human factors and resilience engineering based on the proposed model.

Keywords: Context model · Resilience engineering · Safety-II · Epistemology · Symbolic logic

1 Introduction

Industrial systems must be highly secure and safe. This implies that the designers and managers of these systems must eliminate or prepare for all unexpected and undesired events. However, practically, it is not possible to anticipate everything that can occur and prepare for it. Accordingly, the goal should be to make the system "resilient" to any unusual conditions. Previous studies discuss two types of resilience: emergency resilience and general resilience. Zolli et al. define emergency resilience as "the capacity of a system, enterprise, or a person to maintain its core purpose and integrity in the face of dramatically changed circumstances" [1]. To be resilient, it is necessary to be prepared

for emergencies. The seismic resilience of infrastructure [2] is a major topic in this type of resilience literature. The scope of general resilience, by contrast, is not limited to dramatic or catastrophic circumstances. It has been defined as the ability of a system, enterprise, or a person to adapt to any changing context. Resilience engineering, a paradigm of safety science proposed by Hollnagel et al., refers to this general resilience [3]. They assume that systems and human behavior are context-dependent on nature, and that they are always adapting themselves to exogenous and endogenous fluctuations. Hence, resilient behavior can be observed not only in emergencies, but also in ordinary situations. In addition, both desirable and undesirable events can be considered as the consequences of the interaction of such resilient elements. Based on these theoretical premises, resilience engineering aims to make systems resilient as a whole. As such, we believe it is necessary to simulate and predict the system's behavior more precisely using big data from normal operations and a high-fidelity model of the adaptive agents.

One of the most troublesome points we encountered in our project was that the "context" that systems and humans adapt to, can have a variety of contents, making it difficult to model such context. A context includes exogenous factors such as physical and social environments, as well as endogenous factors such as a person's physiological and psychological state, skills, rules, and knowledge. Moreover, some of the contextual factors can have both endogenous as well as exogenous aspects, such as situation awareness. Regarding the definition of general context, we cannot model a "resilient" system without taking these various contextual factors into consideration.

One of the existing models for analyzing a system's resilience is the functional resonance analysis method (FRAM) [4]. It represents a system as a set of functions that are interconnected, with five types of relationships: output, precondition, resource, time, and control. While FRAM provides a rough picture of a system, it does not adequately integrate all contextual concepts nor does it represent the details of various contextual factors. Resilience engineering still lacks a theory and model to understand "context."

This paper proposes a context model that can integrate various contextual factors and provide a clear interpretation of resilience. This paper starts with a discussion of the scope and characteristics of context (Sect. 2). Following this, a symbolic context model is introduced in Sect. 3. In this section, "symbolic" logic alike predictive logic is used. In Sect. 4, the situation awareness theory is reinterpreted using the context model to demonstrate the versatility of the model. In Sect. 5, the key features of resilience engineering: resilience and Safety-II, are defined based on the context model.

2 Context

"Context" is a synonym for "circumstance," "situation," and "background." It refers to the material, moral, or logical underpinnings of any subject. In applied human factors studies, this word is often used to explain the working domain in which we are placed, such as the "aviation context" or "medical context." In a broad sense, context is anything that human behavior and performance depend on. In relation to human reliability analysis, Swain and Guttman enumerated various contextual factors—or, in their terminology, performance shaping factors (PSFs)—of plant workers [5]. They classified the factors into three groups: external PSFs, internal PSFs, and stressors. However, it is not certain

if these factors are mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive. The reason for this uncertainty is a lack of theoretical discussion.

In order to identify the nature of a context and formalize it, it is necessary to change our perspectives from the ontic one (what there is) to the epistemic one (what we recognize). That which we can recognize can be a context, whereas that which we cannot recognize cannot be a context. The context framework should be identical to the framework of human recognition.

Therefore, the question that arises: what causes our recognition to take similar forms? According to Kant, our understanding is always based on a priori concepts such as those regarding space and time [6], and we cannot step beyond these concepts. For example, it is not always difficult to think that there are no objects in space. However, it is impossible to think that space does not exist at all. In the same line, Mitsuhashi et al. discussed the a priori concepts that represent human recognition [7]. According to them, first, there is space and time. Second, there are entities, events, and states. Entities are the objects in space; events occur in time and space; and states are the characteristics of entities and events. Third, there are four types of modalities. Humans are able to recognize what is done, what would be done, what should be done, and what could be done, using the concepts of space, time, entity, event, and state (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. A priori concepts: {space, time, entity, event, state, and modality}.

3 Symbolic Context Model

A "model" is a representation of a target object. A model is expected to simulate the behavior of the target. Models can take many forms depending on the nature of the target and its use. While models can be physical objects such as a terrestrial globe, they can also be conceptual formulations such as mathematical formulas and computational

algorithms [8]. In this study, we developed a context model represented by a symbolic logic-like formula for three reasons.

First, a logical formula is suitable for describing context and human recognition. Symbolic logic was originally designed to represent human intelligence. In particular, the logical operators used to combine multiple statements, such as \land (AND) and \lor (OR), are useful because a context is a compound composed of many internal and external factors. Second, the logical formula is definite enough as a platform for researchers to discuss. It can clearly be written on papers. Without such means, our research findings cannot be verified, validated, or reused. Finally, since logic can be easily coded into a computational algorithm, the reasoning and inference behind the context model can be automated. This lays the foundation for a computer simulation of socio-technical systems, taking into consideration the complex context of socio-technical systems.

The symbolic context model shown below is based on a priori concepts {time, space, entity, event, state, modality}, as explained in the previous section. The formulas representing contexts are named "context formulas."

3.1 Atomic Formulas: Entities, Events, and States

Atomic formulas predicate the existence of entities, events, and their states. Atomic formulas are context formulas.

The components of atomic formulas are represented in the set theoretical expression. Formula (1) means that *n* is an entity, *v* is an event, and *s* is a state. To be precise, *ENTITY*, *EVENT*, and *STATE* are not sets, but classes. Formula (2) means that *p* is an expression of a place, *t* is an expression of time, and x_s is one of the values that the state *s* can take.

Under formulas (1) and (2), Table 1 lists the syntax and semantics of the atomic formulas.

$$n \in ENTITY, v \in EVENT, s \in STATE$$
 (1)

$$p \in PLACE, t \in TIME, x_s \in VALUE \text{ of } s$$
 (2)

3.2 Set of Entities, Events, and States and Quantifiers

Formula (1) simply represents an entity, event, or a state. If we wish to state a context, for example, "there is a human," we need to specify what entity it is. Subclasses of *ENTITY*, *EVENT*, and *STATE* were formulated for this purpose. Formula (3) is a context formula representing the existence of a human.

Existential quantifiers (\exists) and universal quantifiers (\forall) are also defined here. Formula (4) indicates that every human has a heart rate.

$$h \in Human \subset ENTITY, h$$
 (3)

$$\forall h \in Human \subset ENTITY, HR \in STATE, \ h.HR \tag{4}$$

| No. | Syntax | Semantics |
|-----|---------------|---|
| 1 | n | Entity <i>n</i> exists |
| 2 | v | Event v exists |
| 3 | n.s | Entity <i>n</i> has state <i>s</i> |
| 4 | <i>v.s</i> | Event v has state s |
| 5 | n(p, t) | Entity n exists at Place p , at Time t |
| 6 | v(p, t) | Event v exists at Place p , at Time t |
| 7 | $n(t).s(x_s)$ | State <i>s</i> of Entity <i>n</i> is x_s at Time <i>t</i> |
| 8 | $v(t).s(x_s)$ | State <i>s</i> of Event <i>v</i> is x_s at Time <i>t</i> |

 Table 1. Atomic formulas.

3.3 Roles and Cognitive States

Basically, the *VALUE of STATE* can take any scale, such as ratio and nominal scales. Additionally, two types of states are introduced: roles and cognitive states.

Roles are the states that take the subclasses of *ENTITY* as their value. Cognitive states take context formulas as their values. Cognitive states correspond to the "modality" in a priori concepts, and has four types: descriptive, prescriptive, normative, and formative.

Under formulas (5) and (6), the roles and cognitive states are formulated as shown in Table 2. $c \in CONTEXT$ means that c is a context formula.

$$r \in ROLE, \ c \in CONTEXT$$
 (5)

$$h \in Human \subset ENTITY$$
 (6)

 Table 2.
 Roles and cognitive states.

| No. | Syntax | Semantics |
|-----|----------------------------------|--|
| 9 | <i>v</i> . <i>r</i> (<i>n</i>) | Entity n plays role r in event v |
| 10 | h.D(c) | Human <i>h</i> thinks that it is <i>c</i> (descriptive modality = belief) |
| 11 | h.P(c) | Human h thinks that it would be c (prescriptive modality = presumption) |
| 12 | h.N(c) | Human <i>h</i> thinks that it should be <i>c</i> (normative modality = will) |
| 13 | h.F(c) | Human <i>h</i> thinks that it can be <i>c</i> (formative modality = possibility) |

3.4 Logical Connectives

A formula consisting of multiple context formulas connected with logical operators $(\neg, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, \equiv, =)$ is also a context formula, as shown in Table 3.

| No. | Syntax | Semantics |
|-----|-----------------------|--|
| 14 | $\neg c$ | Negation of context c |
| 15 | $c_1 \wedge c_2$ | c_1 and c_2 |
| 16 | $c_1 \lor c_2$ | <i>c</i> ₁ or <i>c</i> ₂ |
| 17 | $c_1 \rightarrow c_2$ | If c_1 , then c_2 [same as $\neg c_1 \lor c_2$] |
| 18 | $c_1 \equiv c_2$ | Context c_1 co-occur with context c_2 [same as $(c_1 \rightarrow c_2) \land (c_2 \rightarrow c_1)$] |
| 19 | $c_1 = c_2$ | Context c_1 is the same context as context c_2 |

Table 3. Logical connectives.

3.5 Observer's Cognitive State

While the context formula is a logical formula, the inference rules in classical logic, such as the law of excluded middle, are not always applicable. For example, humans may have an inconsistent will, like $h.N(sleep \land \neg sleep)$, which means that he/she wants to sleep, but thinks should not sleep.

In contrast to the illogical and subjective contexts of a human, logical and objective contexts are defined in Table 4. O is the initial letter used for "observer," "objective," and "origin." Classical inference rules are applicable within O.X().

| No. | Syntax | Semantics |
|-----|--------|--|
| 20 | O.D(c) | It is <i>c</i> (objective description) |
| 21 | O.P(c) | It would be <i>c</i> (objective presumption) |
| 22 | O.N(c) | It should be c (objective purpose) |
| 23 | O.F(c) | It can be <i>c</i> (objective possibility) |

 Table 4.
 Roles and cognitive states.

4 Situation Awareness in Context Model

Human decision-making and actions heavily depend on situation awareness (SA). Thus, a context model should have the potential to formulate SA. Endsley pointed out that the SA construct can be split into three levels [9]. The symbolic context model can represent this SA theory in the following fashion:

SA level 1 is the perception of the elements in the environment within a volume of time and space. As shown in formula (8), SA1 is described as the perception of context c_1 . SA level 2 is the comprehension of their meaning, which means the translation of the context from c_1 to c_2 , as in formula (9). c_2 is a simpler and a more essential understanding than c_1 . SA level 3 is the projection of the status of the near future, as shown by formula

(10). Decision-making and action following those SAs are represented as formulas (11) and (12), respectively. We can say that human actions take place only when the formulas (8)–(12) are satisfied in the context c_1 .

$$h \in Human \subset ENTITY, \ v_1, v_2 \in EVENT, \ c_1, c_2 \in CONTEXT,$$
$$t_1, t_2 \in TIME, \ actor \in ROLE$$
(7)

$$SA1 = c_1 \to h.D(c_1) \tag{8}$$

$$SA2 = h.D(c_1) \to h.D(c_2) \tag{9}$$

$$SA3 = h(t_1).P(c_2 \to v_1(t_2))$$
 (10)

$$DescisionMaking = SA1 \land SA2 \land SA2 \to h.N(v_2.actor(h))$$
(11)

$$Action = h.N(v_2.actor(h)) \to v_2.actor(h)$$
(12)

5 Resilience Engineering in Context Model

In safety science, including resilience engineering, it is difficult for researchers to have a common understanding of key concepts, such as Safety-II and resilience. This issue is attributable to the great diversity of work domains in related studies. In other words, the diverse contexts found in safety science prevent us from generalizing what "safety" is. Since our context model is symbolic, we can provide an abstract and precise formalization of such key concepts, from which the domain dependency is eliminated.

5.1 Safety-I and Safety-II

Traditionally, safety has been defined as the non-occurrence of accidents. From the perspective of resilience engineering, however, to be safe is to be resilient enough to achieve the system's purpose continuously. The former type of safety is named safety-I in contrast to the latter type, named Safety-II. To formulate these concepts, the logical sum and product are represented as Σ and Π for simplicity. Let *Accidents* be a set of accidental contexts, and *Purposes* be a set of a system's core purposes, as in formula (13). Formulas (14) and (15) represent Safety-I and Safety-II. Under these definitions, it is logically proven that Safety-II implies Safety-I, using de Morgan's law, just as formula (16).

$$\{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_3\} = Accidents \subset CONTEXT, \{p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n\} = Purposes \subset CONTEXT$$
(13)

$$Safety - I = O.N (\neg \Sigma Accidents)$$
(14)

$$Safety - II = O.N (\Pi Purposes)$$
(15)

If
$$\{\neg a_1, \neg a_2, \dots, \neg a_n\} \subset Purposes$$
, then $Safety - II \rightarrow Safety - I$
 $\therefore \ \Pi \ Purposes \rightarrow (\neg a_1 \land \neg a_2 \land \dots \land \neg a_n) \equiv \neg (a_1 \lor a_2 \lor \dots \lor a_n) = \neg \Sigma \text{ Accidents}$
(16)

5.2 Resilience

Resilience, the ability to adapt to any changing context, is represented as formula (21). It mainly consists of three context formulas defined in formula (17). *normal* is a normal context. Nothing unusual happens, and the purposes of the system are achieved at the time, as in formula (18). *diff* is a deviation from the normal context, and *respond* is an adaptive behavior to that deviation. While formula (19) predicates that a lack of response under a deviated situation leads to failure, formula (20) indicates that a proper response will result in success. If a system successfully responds to deviations always, then the system is resilient. This formalization proves to be a guide for evaluating the resilience of a system. First, we need to specify the purpose of the system, the normal context, the deviation, and the possible response to it. Subsequently, we need to predict how often and to what extent the system can respond to various deviations.

$$normal, diff, respond \in CONTEXT$$
 (17)

$$c_1 = O.P (normal \to \Pi Purpose)$$
(18)

$$c_2 = O.P(O.P(normal) \land diff \land \neg respond \to \neg \Pi Purpose$$
(19)

$$c_3 = O.P (O.P (normal) \land diff \land respond \to \Pi Purpose$$
(20)

$$Resilience = O.P (O.P (normal) \land diff \rightarrow respond) \land c_1 \land c_2 \land c_3$$
(21)

6 Conclusion

This paper presents a symbolic logic-like model to represent a context. The model is based on six a priori concepts: space, time, entity, event, state, and modality. This symbolic context model is expected to represent anything that human behavior depends on, such as situation awareness and decision making. In particular, it could be useful in resilience engineering because it can formalize the key concepts of Safety-II and resilience. This suggests that the evaluation of resilience requires us to specify the purpose, normal context, deviation, and responsive behavior of the target system.

Acknowledgments. This work was partly supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 19H02384. We would like to thank Editage (www.editage.com) for English language editing.

References

- 1. Zolli, A., Healy, A.M.: Resilience, Why Things Bounce Back. S&S, New York (2012)
- Bruneau, M., et al.: A framework to quantitatively assess and enhance the seismic resilience on communities. Earthq. Spectra 19(4), 733–752 (2003)
- 3. Hollnagel, E., Woods, D.D., Leveson, N.: Resilience Engineering: Concepts and Percepts. Ashgate, Farnham (2006)
- 4. Hollnagel, E.: FRAM: The Functional Resonance Analysis Method. Ashgate, Farnham (2006)
- Swain, A.D., Guttman, H.E.: Handbook of Human Reliability Analysis with Emphasis on Nuclear Power Plant Applications. NUREG/CR-1278 (1983)
- 6. Kant, I.: Critique of Pure Reason. Germany (1787)
- Mitsuhashi, D., et al.: An extended framework for context modeling. In: Cassenti, D.N., Scataglini, S., Rajulu, S.L., Wright, J.L. (eds.) AHFE 2020. AISC, vol. 1206, pp. 18–25. Springer, Cham (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51064-0_3
- 8. Weisberg, M.: Simulation and Similarity: Using Models to Understand the World. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2013)
- Endsley, M.R.: Toward a theory of situation awareness in dynamic systems. Hum. Factors 32(2), 97–101 (1988)

Human Reliability Analysis



Identification of Performance Shaping Factors Affecting Subsequent Human Actions for Dependence Assessment in Human Reliability Analysis

Jooyoung Park^(⊠) and Ronald L. Boring

Idaho National Laboratory, 2525 North Fremont Avenue, Idaho Falls, ID 83415, USA {Jooyoung.Park,Ronald.Boring}@inl.gov

Abstract. Dependence assessment refers to a method for adjusting the failure probability for the following action by considering the impact of the preceding action in human reliability analysis (HRA). This paper introduces a method for dependence assessment using performance shaping factors (PSFs), which is a different approach compared to existing dependency methods based on the Technique for Human Error-Rate Prediction (THERP). To be specific, the method presented here focuses on PSFs affecting multiple human actions and suggests how to quantify dependencies between human actions based on mathematical models and if-then logic for the PSFs. In this paper, the fundamental approach is introduced with a comparison to existing dependency methods. This paper also describes how we have developed the method.

Keywords: Probabilistic safety assessment · Human reliability analysis · Dependency analysis · Dependence assessment · Performance shaping factor

1 Introduction

Dependence assessment refers to a method for adjusting the failure probability for the following action by considering the impact of the preceding action in human reliability analysis (HRA) [1]. It plays a role in accounting for human actions reasonably in the context of probabilistic safety assessment (PSA) as well as prevents PSA results from being estimated too optimistically due to the result of the HRA. To date, several documents used for regulatory or guidance purposes such as NUREG-1792 [2] and ASME/ANS RA-Sb-2013 [3] have emphasized the importance of considering dependence between human actions in the PSA model. As a representative dependency analysis method, the Technique for Human Error-Rate Prediction (THERP) [4] suggests how to treat and quantify dependencies between human actions. Popular HRA methods [5–7] and recent reviews [1, 8] also focus on the dependence assessment suggested in THERP.

However, the THERP-based approach has a couple of potential problems for analysts. It inevitably presents challenges regarding both the subjectivity of expert evaluation as well as experience using dependence for resource-intensive and time-consuming

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_6

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 47–54, 2021.

complex analyses. Furthermore, the quantification approach in THERP rarely explains adjustment of human error probabilities (HEPs), because the equations for adjusting the HEPs of the following human actions do not concretely consider the context at the moment when the following action is performed. In addition, in the process of extracting cutsets including dependency analysis candidates, some of them could be missed by a cut-off value set in PSA tools [9], as most PSA tools use a cut-off option to guarantee the quantification speed.

To address these challenges, this study aims to develop a new dependency method, which is a different approach compared to the existing dependency methods. The new approach uses performance shaping factors (PSFs), which have been used to highlight human error contributors for human failure events (HFEs) and adjust the HEP within HRA. To be specific, this method focuses on PSFs affecting subsequent human actions and suggests how to quantify dependencies between human actions based on mathematical models and if-then logic for the PSFs. In this paper, the fundamental approach is introduced by comparing it with the existing dependency methods. Then, this paper also describes how we developed the method.

2 Fundamental Approach to PSF-Based Dependency Method

2.1 Existing Dependency Methods

In existing dependency methods (i.e., THERP-based approaches), dependence is defined such that a failure of a human action directly affects a failure of subsequent human actions. When analyzing dependency, these methods concentrate on the relationship between failed human actions (although THERP also references the seldom used relationship between successful actions). In the analysis process (see Fig. 1), after the individual HEP calculation for each HFE, the result is first integrated into the PSA model. As a next step, the dependency analysis is performed based on cutsets generated from the PSA model. Then, the result is finally integrated into the PSA model again.

Existing dependency methods have a couple of structural challenges in treating and reflecting dependency effects. First, only looking at the human failure combinations may lead to missing some HFEs that can potentially fail or affect failures of other HFEs. For example, when there are three HFEs performed in a scenario (i.e., a failed sequence in an event tree), the preceding two HFEs succeed but the final one fails. In this case, some cutsets would include the failed HFE but not the two successful events. Accordingly, the three HFEs are not failed, there would be potential dependency effects affecting the failed HFE, because these are performed within a related group of human actions. Thus, the current dependency methods may have a blind spot in selecting dependency candidates.

Second, existing dependency methods have a relatively complex analysis process for dependence assessment as shown in Fig. 1. It inevitably presents challenges regarding both the subjectivity of expert evaluation as well as experience using PSA and HRA with these resource-intensive and time-consuming processes. Especially extracting dependency candidates from a huge number of cutsets takes a very long time. Even when we identify dependency candidates, we need to rearrange the sequence of HFEs according to the progression of the scenario, because sequences of cutsets generated from PSA tools do not strictly follow those of scenarios. Analyzing dependency also requires a lot of time with experts who know and understand the progression of the PSA scenarios. Furthermore, when we evaluate dependence levels between HFEs, the result may vary depending on the analyst. The rules for determining the dependency level are sometimes ambiguous or not clearly documented, thereby requiring analysts to use subjective judgments. In addition, in the process of extracting cutsets including dependency analysis candidates, some of them could be missed by a cut-off value set in PSA tools [9], because these show lower probabilities than the cut-off value.

Lastly, an approach to quantify dependency effects in existing dependency methods rarely explains the adjustment of HEPs. Most dependency methods follow equations suggested in THERP. However, a simple mathematical adjustment of the HEP may not adequately explain the context that led to the error. Error is not automatically the cause of another error. Human errors are primed by a context that may span multiple activities. This relationship is not captured simply through a correction factor, and dependency simply as an anchor toward HEP conservatism may not be justified without careful consideration of the contextual factors that primed the initial error.



Fig. 1. A comparison of analysis processes for existing dependency methods and PSF-based dependency method

2.2 PSF-Based Dependency Method

To overcome the challenges mentioned in Sect. 2.1, this paper suggests a different way to treat dependency issues using PSFs. To begin, the PSF-based dependency method uses

a different definition of dependence in comparison with existing dependency methods. This approach defines the dependence effect such that the PSFs in a human action affect PSFs in subsequent human actions and indirectly contribute to failure of subsequent human actions. This type of indirect dependence is alluded to but not formalized in THERP [4]. In our method, we also assume that a human action may affect the failure of subsequent human actions, even if the human action does not fail. In other words, this method sees all the possible relationships between HFEs modeled in a scenario. Furthermore, this approach has a more simplified analysis process compared to the existing dependency methods (See Fig. 1). The biggest difference is that the dependence assessment is performed right after the individual HEP calculation, and then the result is directly integrated into the PSA model. In addition, rather than depending on expert judgement, the method uses mathematical models and if-then logic to quantify dependencies between HFEs (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. An example on how to extract HFE sequences from an event tree

3 Development of the PSF-Based Dependency Method

This section introduces how we have developed the PSF-based dependency method. To quantify dependencies between HFEs, it suggests three steps: 1) identification of the HFE sequence depending on initiating events, 2) screening analysis for dependency candidates, and 3) application of mathematical model and if-then logic. The details are described in the following subsections.

3.1 Step #1: Identification of HFE Sequence Depending on Initiating Events

This step identifies HFE sequences based on event trees and procedures. The event tree is used for determining where HFEs are modeled as well as visually identifying HFE sequences, while the sequences are verified by using procedures. Error! Reference source

not found. indicates how to extract HFE sequences from an event tree. It includes HFEs modeled in fault trees and possible HFE sequences based on the event tree logic.

Some HFE combinations (e.g., HFE#2 \rightarrow HFE#3 \rightarrow HFE#4) are dependency candidates considered in existing dependency methods, while this approach also identifies more HFE combinations (e.g., HFE#1 \rightarrow HFE#4 or HFE#2 \rightarrow HFE#3 \rightarrow HFE#5). These are missed in the methods that only focus on failure combinations, even though there are potential dependencies.

3.2 Step #2: Screening Analysis for Dependency Candidates

This step identifies whether there are dependencies between human actions. This approach uses aggregated elements from representative dependency methods suggested in THERP [4], the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) fire HRA method [5], Standardized Plant Analysis Risk-HRA (SPAR-H) [6] and K-HRA [7]. The six elements, i.e., crew, cognitive, cue demand, stress level, timing, and location are the elements that have been considered most in the representative methods [10]. In this step, five elements are used to determine if dependencies between HFEs exist, while stress level is excluded because it is already considered as a PSF in most HRA methods and would trigger the risk of double counting effects. Table 1 shows the evaluation criteria for the five elements. If at least two elements in the table are evaluated as "Yes," we assume that there is a dependency between HFEs.

| Dependency elements | Evaluation criteria |
|---------------------|---|
| Crew | Is a crew for a human action different with that for another human action? (Yes/No) |
| Cognitive | Are cues for a human action different with those for another human action? (Yes/No) |
| Cue demand | Are cues for both human actions included in the same procedure steps? (Yes/No) |
| Timing | Does cue recognition time for both human actions differ by more than 3 h? (Yes/No) |
| Location | Is a location for a human action different with that for another human action? (Yes/No) |

Table 1. Dependency elements and evaluation criteria

3.3 Step #3: Application of Mathematical Model and If-Then Logic

To apply the mathematical model and if-then logic, this study first develops a PSF influence model based on SPAR-H PSFs. The two influence types, i.e., 1) influence of a PSF on the PSF of the sequential human action and 2) influence of a PSF on other PSFs of the sequence of human actions, are considered in the PSF influence model. Figure 3 shows a PSF influence model between HFEs. It follows the definition of dependency mentioned in Sect. 2.2.

3.3.1 Modeling Influence of a PSF on the PSF of the Sequential Human Actions

To model the influence of a PSF on the PSF of the subsequent human actions, this study classifies SPAR-H PSFs into two groups: 1) PSFs having influence and 2) PSFs having no influence. The former group consists of four PSFs, i.e., Stress/stressors, Fitness for duty, Work processes, and Available time, which are dominant throughout an event scenario (or dependent on different HFEs). The latter group includes Complexity, Experience/training, Ergonomics/human-system interface and Procedures that are dominant to the specific situation in which each human action is performed (or independent on different HFEs). For example, the stress level of an HFE may affect that of a subsequent HFE, while the procedure level of an HFE may not influence that of a subsequent HFE.

In this paper, only the PSF group having influence is specifically modeled in the PSF influence model. First, the influence of the Stress/stressors PSF is quantified based on stress lag and linger models [11]. In the authors' previous research, the mathematical models for lag and linger effects are suggested based on literature in the field of biology. Second, the Fitness for duty PSF could be treated by a fatigue model [12]. Third, for the Work processes PSF, it is assumed that all the Work processes PSFs of human actions within a scenario are evaluated as the same level, because it is unlikely to change as the scenario evolves. Lastly, in the case of the Available time PSF, if the PSF for a human action is negative, it is recommended to evaluate that for another human action one level higher in negative influence from the original PSF level assignment.



Fig. 3. A PSF influence model between HFEs

3.3.2 Modeling Influence of a PSF on other PSFs in Sequential Human Actions

The influence of a PSF on other PSFs in sequential human actions is based on the inter-relationship between PSFs. Many researchers have suggested that there are inter-relationships between PSFs in an HFE [13-15], but some of them potentially include

the relations between PSFs in different HFEs. This paper mainly focuses on the latter relations and assumes moderate or strong correlations between PSFs may account for them. Table 2 includes the PSF relationships within different HFEs selected from some correlations between PSFs with r > 0.4. For the possible relationships in the table, three rules are applied to adjust an HEP for subsequent human actions:

- 1. If a PSF for a human action is negative, evaluate the influencing PSFs for the next human action one level higher in negative influence from the original PSF level assignment.
- 2. If a PSF for a sequential human action is already negatively adjusted by other PSFs, the highest negative assignment for the PSF is adopted.
- 3. The maximum negative PSF level depends on the levels defined in SPAR-H.

| Reference | Correlation between PSFs ($r > 0.4$) | Influence of a PSF on other PSFs of the sequential human action |
|-------------------------|--|---|
| (Park et al. 2020) [13] | Available time - Stress/stressors Complexity - Available time Procedure - Work process Procedure - Experience/training Work process - Complexity Stress/stressors - Complexity Stress/stressors - Fitness for duty Ergonomics/HSI - Experience/training Available time - Work process Procedure - Complexity Work process - Experience/training Complexity - Experience/training Fitness for duty - Complexity | Available time ↔ Stress/stressors Work process → Complexity Stress/stressors ↔ Fitness for duty Available time ← Work process |
| (Boring 2010) [16] | Available time - Stress/stressors Work process - Experience/training Ergonomics/HSI - Fitness for duty | Available time ↔ Stress/stressors |

Table 2. PSF relationships within different HFEs

4 Future Work

The concept of PSF-based dependency presented here is still under development. In this paper, a direction on how to quantify dependencies using the new PSF-based dependency method is discussed. In the future, the methodology will be validated with a generic PSA model. Then, the results of dependency analysis will also be benchmarked with

that from existing dependency methods. These will be explained in future treatments of this approach.

Acknowledgments. This work of authorship was prepared as an account of work sponsored by Idaho National Laboratory (under Contract DE-AC07-05ID14517), an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

References

- 1. Podofillini, L., et al.: Using expert models in human reliability analysis—a dependence assessment method based on fuzzy logic. Risk Anal.: Int. J. **30**(8), 1277–1297 (2010)
- U.S.NRC: Good practices for implementing human reliability analysis. In: NUREG-1792 (2005)
- 3. ASME/ANS: Addenda to ASME/ANS RA-S-2008: Standard for Level 1/Large Early Release Frequency Probabilistic Risk Assessment for Nuclear Power Plant Applications, ASME/ANS RA-Sb-2013. American Society of Mechanical Engineers (2013)
- 4. Swain, A.D., Guttmann, H.E.: Handbook of human-reliability analysis with emphasis on nuclear power plant applications. Final report. Sandia National Labs (1983)
- Lewis, S., et al.: EPRI/NRC-RES fire human reliability analysis Guidelines—Final Report (NUREG-1921). Electric Power Research Institute/US Nuclear Regulatory Commission (2012)
- 6. Gertman, D., et al.: The SPAR-H human reliability analysis method. US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, NUREG/CR-6883. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (2005)
- 7. Jung, W., Kang, D., Kim, J.: A standard HRA method for PSA in nuclear power
- 8. Chen, L., et al.: Evidential analytic hierarchy process dependence assessment methodology in human reliability analysis. Nucl. Eng. Technol. **49**(1), 123–133 (2017)
- 9. Miller, A., Hess, S., Smith, C.: R&D roadmap to enhance industry legacy probabilistic risk assessment methods and tools (2020)
- 10. Arigi, A.M., Park, G., Kim, J.: Dependency analysis method for human failure events in multi-unit probabilistic safety assessments. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **203**, 107–112 (2020)
- Park, J., Boring, R.L., Kim, J.: An identification of PSF Lag and linger effects for dynamic human reliability analysis: application of experimental data. In: 2019 12th International Conference on Human System Interaction (HSI) (2019)
- Zhang, Q., Wu, C., Zhang, H.: Driving fatigue prediction model considering schedule and circadian rhythm. J. Adv. Transp. 2020, 1–10 (2020)
- 13. Park, J., Jung, W., Kim, J.: Inter-relationships between performance shaping factors for human reliability analysis of nuclear power plants. Nucl. Eng. Technol. **52**(1), 87–100 (2020)
- 14. Groth, K.M.: A data-informed model of performance shaping factors for use in human reliability analysis (2009)
- De Ambroggi, M., Trucco, P.: Modelling and assessment of dependent performance shaping factors through Analytic Network Process. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. 96(7), 849–860 (2011)
- 16. Boring, R.L.: How many performance shaping factors are necessary for human reliability analysis? Idaho National Laboratory (2010)



Is Dependency in Human Reliability Analysis a Real Phenomenon? Refining the Dependency Concept Through Research

Torrey $Mortenson^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Ronald Boring

Idaho National Laboratory, Idaho Falls, ID, USA {torrey.mortenson,ronald.boring}@inl.gov

Abstract. Dependency, specifically defined as the degree to which one erroneous action can impact subsequent actions, has been a fixture in many human reliability analysis (HRA) methods for the better part of forty years. Its incipience in the Technique for Human Error-Rate Prediction (THERP) was supported, seemingly, by examination of observed phenomena, but the documented evidence and link to proven psychological theories were absent. While HRA is typically a quantitative effort with qualitative inputs, we should be careful to ensure that HRA methods respect their psychological foundations lest the models constructed fail to measure the characteristics of human error accurately and sufficiently for the assessment of safety critical applications. This paper seeks to refocus attention on a foundational question in HRA—is dependence in a chain of human erroneous actions such that 'error begets error' a real phenomenon? Research is still needed to validate the construct and quantification of dependency.

Keywords: Human reliability analysis \cdot Dependency \cdot Human error \cdot Cognitive ergonomics \cdot Risk assessment

1 Introduction

A necessary step of most HRA efforts is the assessment of dependence between various actions and their corresponding human error probabilities (HEPs). In most methods, dependence acts as an operation or modifier on defined HEPs and can dramatically change those probabilities based on the dependence assessment. In the *Handbook for Human Reliability Analysis with Emphasis on Nuclear Power Plant Applications*, which outlines the Technique for Human Error-Rate Prediction (THERP), Swain and Guttman argue that the problem of dependence is the need to determine how the success or error on a task affects the success or error probabilities on subsequent actions [1]. Additionally, the primary concern which dependency is trying to assuage is to ensure that a resulting estimate of human error is not overly optimistic and therefore the risk is not accurately captured. Many other HRA methods trace their lineage and the origin of the idea of dependency back to this explanation from THERP.

Definitional precision is key in this effort as dependency has become a bit muddled in recent research. There are two predominant forms of dependency considerations in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 55–61, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_7

HRA, specifically the dependence of performance shaping factors (PSFs) on other PSFs, and the dependence of previous action outcomes on subsequent success or failure. This paper is focused on the second form of dependence. In particular, tracing the literature back, it appears that dependence has a single origin point, THERP. Importantly, over the past decades, theories of human error have been put forth and are still a focus of ongoing research; however, the notion or idea of 'error begets error' or dependence is notably absent in these thorough considerations and accounting of human error. A similar lack of discussion of action dependence is found in the psychological literature outside the realm of human error. While there is psychological research on task batteries, which look at performance across a series of tasks, usually the batteries do not consider dependency between tasks, simply because the tasks are specifically designed to be varied. Some studies also consider practice effects across tasks – improvement in performance due to having recently performed a similar or identical task – but these are primarily found in unskilled tasks that readily benefit from learning and practice.

Identifying and weighing the relevant inputs of the infinite number of variables that affect performance is an incredibly complex task that involves a not-insignificant number of assumptions as well. Psychological science has made great strides in developing our understanding of memory, action, decision making, and other components of human thought. However, in this foundational research it is not clear that dependence has a role as a theoretical concept or an empirically observed phenomenon. It is not certain what purpose such a function would serve in our evolutionary development or behavior, or what structures in the mind would manage such a process. Therefore, this paper seeks to explore if dependency should be considered as a component of HRA generally.

The notion of dependency, then, is that if agent A takes action X and is unsuccessful then agent A will have a modified probability of success on action Y. There are several forms of dependence assessments, such as no dependence, complete dependence, or measures of partiality. The evaluation of this dependence, as often is the case in HRA methods, is a subjective determination made by a human reliability analyst. Additionally, THERP's dependence sections do not present or define exactly how an analyst would make the determination outside of other subjective measures such as expert evaluations. While this on its own isn't abnormal – as most of HRA has some subjective qualities – it still is a challenge to assess something like dependency in such an unspecified manner.

All of these concerns, when combined with the outsized effect dependency calculations can have on HEPs in many methods, brings a greater level of attention on dependency in general. The authors here seek to ask a foundational question of dependency as defined, primarily from a psychological perspective: Does dependency manifest in a manner consistent with these understandings? In terms of mechanical or system focused probabilistic risk assessment (PRA), the tight coupling and structural connections between components necessitate the consideration of dependency in treatments such as common cause failures. But, in HRA can we adequately say that one human error leads to subsequent human errors? The authors are not saying this phenomenon is impossible but are instead stating that more fundamental research is required before any positive assessment of its existence can be relied upon. Such comments are not meant to be disparaging to the application of dependency in many HRAs. Dependency contributes to conservatism in risk analysis, which leads to greater safety. This outcome is commendable and should not be reversed. Likely, dependency captures contextual carryover from one action to the next that is not otherwise treated in the HRA. As such, dependency serves as a type of necessary correction factor in the HRA. Is dependency the right construct to capture this, or is there a need for a better modeling basis that can account for contextual carryover without the construct of dependency? Dependency, which acts as a mathematical treatment of currently aleatory phenomena, should not act as a surrogate for a better understanding of the phenomena underlying dependency. If dependency exists as a standalone construct, it will benefit from more rigorous study. If it is an artefact of another phenomenon, HRA will benefit from a systematic treatment of the underlying dependency models and quantification should remain standard practice in HRA.

2 Types of Dependency and Their Impacts

THERP establishes three forms of dependency: independence, direct dependence, and indirect dependence [2]. Examples of the flow of actions in these situations is shown below in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Forms of dependence [3].

Additionally, THERP, Standard Plant Analysis Risk-Human (SPAR-H) [4], and other HRA methods break dependency into five categories: zero, low, moderate, high, and complete. These delineations give the analyst flexibility in applying dependency modifiers on broader HEP calculations. Due to the powerful effect that dependency can have on the assessment of human error, it was recognized that a light touch was necessary, allowing analysts to select lower levels as needed. The impact of the dependency adjustment is as follows: converging on 1/20 (0.05) for low dependency, 1/7 (0.14) for moderate dependency, 1/2 (0.5) for high dependency, and 1.0 for complete dependency [1]. So, the impact of a non-zero dependency is significant.

3 Dependency as a Construct

Critical in this effort is the need to define what dependency can mean, and how this paper treats the concept in terms of first principles. In the natural and chemical sciences, it may

be a common stance that no events are ever independent. All events have some measure of cause and effect on other instances. To ground this in a nuclear operations example, a human error by an operator creates a reality or environment which includes that error's causes and effects. It is hard to refute that common context between human actions could have an effect on both outcomes, what Swain and Guttman would call indirect independence [1], as depicted in Fig. 1. However, they also posit direct dependence, which "exists when the outcome of one task directly affects the outcome of a second task" [1, p. 10-2]. They go on to explain that the error on the first task fundamentally changes something such that it primes the second error.

The present authors acknowledge this characterization of dependence where any action fundamentally changes the world around it in specific ways, and those permutations can have an impact on any following action or instance. However, this is a fundamentally different characterization than what is the case in HRA methods in practice.

When dependency is considered in HRA the contention is that an erroneous action *increases* the probability that a following action will also be erroneous. The notion here commonly referred to as 'error begets error.' As stated, it is almost certain that the initial erroneous action had an impact on the resulting reality, and those permutations very possibly change the circumstances of following actions. A particular argument is being made, however, in this definition of dependency, namely that when one human makes an error either the same human or different human(s) will also have an increased chance at making an error. This claim states something far broader than many have considered before, specifically that a preceding human error modifies the psychology and human cognitive processes at play in the same or different human minds. This argument the authors feel is under-supported at best and potentially not supported at all.

In the decades since THERP was first published, psychology has come to some key understandings of how human cognition and decision-making operate. There is an understanding of attention, memory, perception, heuristics, and other functions that are at play as humans navigate and interact with the world. With that said, there are still substantial amounts of information not known about how these processes unfold. For dependency to function as described in HRA methods then it is expected that the presence of a previous human error would have some impact on these underlying cognitive structures, but that does not seem likely *a priori* in considering how human cognition functions. The authors are not necessarily stating that there could not be such an effect but are instead calling attention to the fact that there does not appear to be robust evidence in favor of its existence currently.

In exploring this topic, the authors performed a literature search for psychological research on action or decision-making that may show this effect. The authors did not find psychological research considering dependence aside from substance dependence in addiction research, which is a fundamentally different sense of the word *dependence*. The authors also searched the three taxonomies that have heavily influenced research and thinking on human error—Rasmussen's Skills-Rule-Knowledge framework, Reason's Human Error, and Norman's Slips and Mistakes framework [5–7]—for analysis or information on the phenomenon. None of these taxonomies explicitly mentioned dependency or considered an idea similar to error begetting error. Tracking dependency back

59

to THERP and related documentation brings another problem to light, namely that in the sections where Swain and Guttmann describe dependency as an idea and its role in HRA there are no references or citations to be found that trace the genesis of the concept.

The authors agree that dependency may have some explanatory power in human error or cognition but feel confident in stating that as of now there is little if any psychological research to show it as more than a hypothetical construct, much less to assume any realistic calculative effect on probabilities of human actions. There must be foundational psychological research completed to show its existence and validate its impacts. Until such time, the calculations used in HRA methods for dependency should be considered approximations. We ultimately advocate for increased precision in the treatment of dependency.

4 Dependency in HRA—Conservative Assessment of Risk

It bears mentioning that HRA is ultimately about assessing the risk of a particular nuclear plant's operations or the operations of comparable safety-critical systems. Every industry must manage risk, but the nuclear power industry has an obligation to manage their risk even more due to the high-profile nature of potential failures and potential harm to environments or populations. Some may make a claim that nuclear power is overly risk sensitive; however, the extremely infrequent large-scale failures and commitment to safety has paid dividends in making it an extremely safe industry across its many decades of time in deployment. HRA is a particularly important characteristic of this conservative risk position. By carefully identifying areas of human contribution to risk, nuclear facilities can be reasonably assured of safe and effective designs as well as decent control of the most unpredictable part of any operation, the human.

There is an argument to be made that the inclusion of dependency is a result of an abundance of caution in the assessment and management of risk in a sector which rightfully emphasizes caution and safety of the society it supports. However, it isn't clear how the inclusion of dependency makes the assessments any more accurate or conservative. The potential artificiality of any inflation in HEP may overemphasize the impact on some areas of a system's design or operation unnecessarily. At its worst, it could overshadow other risks that need to be considered. Additionally, the realities of an HEP close to or equal to 1.0 are not truly helpful to the risk analysis, as it isn't nuanced in a way which drives re-design or corrective action decisions. It also bears questioning if the inclusion of a measure which does not have adequate scientific foundation or quantification makes the overall risk assessment more flawed and could lead to poor decisions derived from the analysis. Again, our purpose is not to discard countless risk analyses that have considered dependency. Our purpose is to pave the way for new research that can support these analyses, either through redefinition of the modeled construct of dependency or stronger empirical tie-ins to psychological phenomena.

5 Discussion and Next Steps

Fortunately, though assessing dependency may have outsized or unfounded impacts on the HEP, it is often applied through qualitative analysis by HRA methods and analysts.
This qualitative step hopefully injects some additional consideration in the potential effects that may prevent its use in situations that may not merit such a modifier. The irony of expecting human reliability analysts employing qualitative analysis and their own decision-making in the course of assessing human error likelihood in others should not be lost on anyone, and therefore there is a need for attention and additional research on the matter.

Of immediate need is a better understanding of dependency between human failure events as a concept and an examination of incident reports by human factors practitioners and researchers to understand where there have been incidences of something that resembles the standard characterization of dependency. As stated, the authors do not think that dependency as defined in HRA methods has a cognitive basis, but that assumption needs validation and alternative explanations put forth if there have been cases that disagree with that statement.

Next, foundational research in human error and human error chaining needs to be undertaken. Psychological research on human error has some challenges in adequate experimental design and validity due to the need to identify often low-probability events. Rare events may inherently lack statistical power, a problem that is compounded by the equal rarity of many of the target personnel. Reactor operators, for example, remain a highly selective population that may prove difficult to sample adequately for inferential conclusions. However, a better empirical understanding of the underpinnings of human error could yield substantial benefits to all industries, including nuclear. As nuclear power is highly proceduralized and a large investment is made in training and practice, a better understanding of how to prevent human errors, which are, by definition, unintentional acts, can only help increase the efficacy of these efforts. Additionally, if dependency is a phenomenon that needs to be assessed in HRA, fundamental psychological research on human error is likely our best chance at bringing it into the light.

Another key component of such human error research is more information on PSFs. PSFs are a prime sticking point for many methods, and each method has a different system or scheme to handling them. Human cognition is not so varied that such research would not result in a sharper, clearer understanding of the various things that can impact human action and decision-making. This clarity may finally yield a robust, empirically based, and comprehensive list of the factors that affect human performance when using high-risk and high-consequence systems. Such factors may also be the underlying continuity that results in indirect dependency, not as a standalone phenomenon but as a byproduct of common contexts throughout human activities.

In conclusion, the concept of dependency between HFEs does not appear to have a robust or well-sourced lineage in psychological research. The impacts of dependency calculations can be significant on an overall HRA. Therefore, the authors believe research should be undertaken to better understand and begin to demonstrate the characteristics of human error and any potentially covariate effects.

Acknowledgments. This work of authorship was prepared as an account of work sponsored by Idaho National Laboratory (under Contract DE-AC07-05ID14517), an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the

accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

References

- Swain, A.D., Guttmann, H.E.: Handbook of human-reliability analysis with emphasis on nuclear power plant applications. Final report (No. NUREG/CR--1278). Sandia National Labs (1983)
- 2. Swain, A.D.: THERP (No. SC-R-64-1338). Sandia Corp., Albuquerque, N. Mex. (1964)
- Boring, R.L.: A dynamic approach to modeling dependence between human failure events. In: Proceedings of the 2015 European Safety and Reliability (ESREL) Conference, pp. 2845–2851 (2015)
- 4. Gertman, D., Blackman, H., Marble, J., Byers, J., Smith, C.: The SPAR-H human reliability analysis method (NUREG/CR-6883). U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (2005)
- Rasmussen, J.: Mental models and the control of actions in complex environments. Risø National Laboratory (1987)
- 6. Reason, J.: Human error. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990)
- Norman, D.: Categorization of action slips. Psychol. Rev. 88(1), 1–15 (1981). https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-295X.88.1.1



Formative vs. Summative Dependence in Human Reliability Analysis

Ronald Boring^(⊠), Jooyoung Park, and Torrey Mortenson

Human Factors and Reliability Department, Idaho National Laboratory, PO Box 1625, Idaho Falls, ID 83415, USA {Ronald.Boring, Jooyoung.Park, Torrey.Mortenson}@inl.gov

Abstract. Dependence in human reliability analysis (HRA) is the concept that once an initial human error has occurred, subsequent human errors are more likely. The approach almost universally adopted in HRA was first introduced in the Technique for Human Error Rate Prediction (THERP). In THERP, calculated human error probabilities (HEPs) are adjusted for dependence in the final step of quantification. This final adjustment for dependence involves anchoring the HEP to a set of values corresponding to low through complete dependence. The effect is to increase the HEP. In this paper, we propose formative dependence, which occurs at the onset of quantification. We demonstrate that dependence should be considered earlier in the calculation process, because it is not actually necessary to calculate the HEP when it is subsequently overridden by the dependence anchors. By applying dependence first in the calculation, processing steps can be eliminated, making for more efficient analysis.

Keywords: Human reliability analysis · Dependence analysis · Formative process

1 Introduction

Dependence as a concept in human reliability analysis (HRA) originated in the Technique for Human Error Rate Prediction (THERP) [1]. In THERP, Swain and Guttmann introduced the idea that with the occurrence of one human error in a human action sequence, subsequent human actions would have an increased likelihood of human error. The idea that error begets error was called direct dependence, suggesting a direct effect of one action on the next actions. If there is no relationship between the tasks, they are said to be independent. If they share a moderating variable like the influence of common performance shaping factors (PSFs), this effect is known as indirect dependence. These three types of dependent relationships are found in Fig. 1. Additional types of dependence relationships have recently been explored in [2], suggesting these three THERP categories may not be exhaustive.

THERP did not elaborate on the precise mechanisms for direct and indirect dependence. For direct dependence, correction factors for dependence are provided for positive and negative levels of dependence. Negative dependence occurs when failure on the first

63

task decreases the chance of failure on a subsequent task or increases the chance of success. This form is rarely modelled in contemporary HRA. Positive dependence, the more prevalent form, occurs when failure on the first task increases the chance of failure on subsequent tasks. The equations for positive dependence are provided in the next section.

THERP's foundational work on dependence has carried forward into most modern HRA methods, including use of the same correction factors. It is worth noting, however, that dependence in THERP considered dependence between human tasks, not between human failure events (HFEs) [3]. Dependence in THERP is linked to a type of subtask analysis using now-rare HRA event trees. The concept of dependence has nonetheless generalized well to the subtask-aggregated HFEs used in contemporary HRA. While THERP established the concept and calculations almost universally used in HRA today, the actual unit of analysis used for THERP dependence is now superseded.



Fig. 1. The relationship between tasks in terms of dependence [3].

2 Dependence Calculation

Starting with THERP and carried forward in most HRA methods, there are three stages in calculating the HEP:

- 1. *Nominal HEP (NHEP):* This is the starting or default HEP value. It is typically linked to a lookup table that matches particular human activities to predefined HEP values. Some methods like THERP provide an extensive list of these nominal HEPs, while simplified methods will only provide a few values. For example, the Standard Plant Analysis Risk-Human (SPAR-H) method [4], a simplified HRA method, delineates only two nominal HEPs for diagnosis vs. action tasks.
- 2. Basic HEP (BHEP): Next, influences are considered that could drive the HEP up or down relative to the Nominal HEP. These influences are commonly captured using PSFs. HRA methods each have unique PSFs, but they largely converge on a set of characteristics that are known to degrade performance. These degradations systematically increase the Basic HEP relative to the Nominal HEP. Many HRA methods also consider the positive effects of PSF, which enhance performance and systematically decrease the Basic HEP relative to the Nominal HEP.
- 3. *Conditional HEP (CHEP):* Finally, dependence and recovery are considered. Here, we only treat dependence. Dependence increases the HEP when there is a conditional link to a precursor HFE. The corrections applied to the Basic HEP in consideration of

dependence are found in Table 1. As noted, these equations first appeared in THERP and continue to be used by most HRA methods that formally treat dependence. The dependence calculations are based on five levels of dependence, spanning zero (ZD), low (LD), medium (MD), high (HD), and complete dependence (CD). These levels are assigned by the analyst in accordance with guidance specific to each HRA method.

| Level | Calculation |
|----------|--|
| Zero | CHEP = BHEP |
| Low | $CHEP = \frac{1 + 19 \times BHEP}{20}$ |
| Medium | $CHEP = \frac{1 + 6 \times BHEP}{7}$ |
| High | $CHEP = \frac{1 + BHEP}{2}$ |
| Complete | CHEP = 1.0 |

Table 1. Conditional HEP calculations for different levels of dependence.

The effects of dependence can be seen in Fig. 2. Dependence essentially serves to anchor the Conditional HEP to a higher HEP than the Basic HEP. For low dependence, this anchor is around 1/20 (5E-2); medium dependence, 1/7 (1.42E-1); high dependence, 1/2 (5E-1); complete dependence, 1. For zero dependence, the Conditional HEP remains unchanged from the Basic HEP.



Fig. 2. The relationship between the basic and conditional HEPs.

65

3 Formative Dependence

Calculating dependence is the last step in conventional HRA quantification. Yet, by anchoring the HEP to a few values, dependence essentially overrides the prior quantification steps. It seems that calculating the Nominal and Basic HEPs are unnecessary steps if the Conditional HEP independently determines the end result. In the remainder of this paper, we review the possibility of foregoing the calculation of the Nominal and Basic HEPs when dependence is at play. Instead, we propose simply setting the Conditional HEP to the dependence anchor values: 5E-2 for low dependence, 1.42E-1 for medium dependence, 5E-1 for high dependence, and 1.0 for complete dependence. In this approach there is, in fact, no calculation necessary, since the Conditional HEP is simply set to these constants.



Fig. 3. The formative dependence process.

We call this approach of assigning predefined values to the Conditional HEP *formative dependence*. The basic method for formative dependence is depicted in Fig. 3 and elaborated in the remainder of this section. Formative is a term derived from education, to suggest the influence helps form the end state [5]. Formative implies a presence early in the process, contrasting with summative, which occurs at the end or sum of the process. The distinction between formative and summative has been adopted by the field of software design and evaluation—formative evaluation occurs during the design process, while summative evaluation occurs after the completion of the design [6]. Formative evaluation helps form the design, while summative validates that the design as completed performs as it should. Similar terminology can be applied to dependence. Formative dependence is the application of dependence at the onset of HEP quantification. *Summative dependence*, representing dependence quantification as currently practiced, occurs at the conclusion of the HEP quantification. Because the effects of dependence when using the THERP correction factors override other calculations, we posit that formative dependence will result in the same outcomes as summative dependence. Applying constants for Conditional HEPs when dependence is assumed eliminates many quantification steps. In turn, formative dependence can result in significant efficiencies for calculating large cutsets in HRA that consider dependence.

A screening approach provides an approximate, conservative answer that can be used in models to determine the risk significance of the resulting HEP when placed in the overall probabilistic risk assessment (PRA) model, which includes hardware and human risk. If an HFE is risk significant—in nuclear power, commonly meaning the effect of the human failure increases the core damage frequency or large early release frequency [7]—then a more detailed HRA is warranted to arrive at a realistic HEP. If it is not risk significant, there may be little need to perform a more detailed analysis. This screening approach is predicated on the screening HEP value being likely more conservative than the realistic HEP. In other words, screening posits a type of worst-case human performance to see if it has any negative effect on overall plant risk and safety.

Formative dependence would appear to be a type of screening analysis—if not explicitly a worst-case HEP then at least an HEP based on conservative dependence anchor values. The challenge with formative dependence is that it will not always represent a conservative estimate. Anchoring the HEP to the values of 5E-2, 1.42E-1, 5E-1, and 1, respectively for low, medium, high, and complete dependence, elevates the Conditional HEP to a higher value than the Basic HEP in most cases. When the anchor values are higher than those values resulting from a detailed calculation of the Basic HEP, then applying anchor values as surrogates for the Conditional HEP would be analogous to screening for dependence. However, there remain cases where the calculated Conditional HEP exceeds the anchor values. Applying the dependence calculations from Table 1 will always increase the Conditional HEP relative to the Basic HEP. Only when the Basic HEP values are lower than the dependence anchors will it bring the Conditional HEP up to the anchor values. Otherwise, it will exceed them.

Figure 2 presented the relationship between the Basic and the Conditional HEPs. This graph demonstrated that up to a threshold value, the Conditional HEP equaled the dependence anchor values. Above this threshold, the calculated Conditional HEP exceeds the dependence anchor values. Figure 4 more clearly illustrates the differences between calculated Conditional HEPs and the anchor dependence values. For Basic HEP values of 5E-2 or more, anchor dependence values are systematically lower than calculated Conditional HEPs. It therefore appears formative dependence works well as a surrogate only when the calculated HEP is below the threshold of the dependence anchors. This finding suggests a bounding rule is necessary for formative dependence:

Rule 1: Apply dependence anchors for a Basic HEP $\leq 5E-2$

67



Fig. 4. The difference between anchor and conditional HEPs for dependence levels.

Formative dependence uses the dependence anchors instead of calculating the Conditional HEPs, but dependence anchors appear to forego conservatism above the Basic HEP threshold of 5E-2. It remains a bit of a chicken-and-egg problem to determine if formative dependence is applicable when the value it supplants also needs to be calculated. It is impossible to tell if the dependence anchor substitution represents a conservative screening value without first performing the more detailed HEP quantification through Nominal, Basic, and Conditional HEPs.

In practice, HEPs for many HFEs will be below the threshold of 5E-2, in which case using dependence anchors will not understate the risk. The exact proportion of HEPs below this threshold will vary by application, but many analyses will remain safely in range for formative dependence. Nonetheless, if there is reason to believe that the calculated Basic HEPs would exceed 5E-2, it is necessary either to calculate the HEP or to estimate it using a screening approach:

Rule 2: Perform a screening analysis to determine if the Basic HEP > 5E-2

To perform a formative dependence analysis for higher Basic HEPs, an initial estimation must be performed to determine the likelihood of the human error for that HFE. Two approaches are suggested:

- An overall screening analysis may be performed on the HFE in the PRA. Screening
 may be accomplished by selecting the next higher level of dependence. If the chain
 has low dependence, for example, risk-significance screening may be accomplished
 using the value of medium dependence. If the event is determined not to be risk
 significant, it may be reasonable to use the dependence anchors instead of calculated Conditional HEPs with the knowledge that the values may not represent risk
 conservatism.
- 2. Alternately, the analyst may perform a quick screening calculation of the HEP to determine if it is high likelihood, specifically greater than 1E-2. Standard screening approaches such as ASEP [8] or expert estimation [9] may yield quick estimations

of the magnitude of the HEP sufficient to gauge if the HEP is greater than or equal to 1E-2. High likelihood human errors warrant a detailed analysis and should forego the use of formative dependence.

Using screening values may resolve the challenge that even when using dependence anchors, there is no default value for the zero-dependence condition. Recall that in the case of zero dependence, the Conditional HEP is the same as the Basic HEP. If no Basic HEP has been calculated, however, there is no value to assign in the dependence case:

Rule 3: For zero dependence, the Basic HEP must be calculated

Thus, either a screening value or a value calculated per the HRA method must be used for the Basic HEP.

These rules are incorporated in the formative dependence process outlined earlier in Fig. 3. An initial screening (*Rule 2*) is performed to see if the HEP is high or low. If the HEP is high (i.e., BHEP > 1E-2; *Rule 1*), the analysis is directed toward the conventional summative HEP process. If the HEP is low, the flow next considers zero dependence. If there is zero dependence (*Rule 3*), the analysis is directed to calculate the Basic HEP. If the three rules do not branch the analysis to the need to perform HEP calculations, the formative dependence process is applied.

4 Conclusions

Formative dependence provides a reconsideration of the conventional order of applying dependence as a tail-end activity. Because the dependence correction factors replace the calculated HEPs from conventional summative dependence, formative dependence eliminates the need for knowing the Nominal or Basic HEP. Formative dependence affords significant efficiencies over summative dependence. However, the approach may not exhibit HEP conservativism for high HEP values. The utility of the approach may therefore be limited to cases of dependence for known low HEPs.

Acknowledgments. This work of authorship was prepared as an account of work sponsored by Idaho National Laboratory (under Contract DE-AC07-05ID14517), an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

References

- Swain, A.D., Guttmann, H.E.: Handbook of human reliability analysis with emphasis on nuclear power plant applications, NUREG/CR-1278, Final Report. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (1983)
- Paglioni, V.P., Groth, K.M.: Unified definitions for dependency in quantitative human reliability analysis. In: Proceedings of the 30th European Safety and Reliability Conference and 15th Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference (2021)

69

- Boring, R.L.: A dynamic approach to modeling dependence between human failure events. In: Proceedings of the 2015 European Safety and Reliability (ESREL) Conference, pp. 2845--2851 (2015)
- Gertman, D., Blackman, H., Marble, J., Byers, J., Smith, C., O'Reilly, P.: The SPAR-H human reliability analysis method, NUREG/CR-6883. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC (2005)
- Scriven, M.: The methodology of evaluation. In: Stake, R.E. (ed.) Curriculum Evaluation. Rand McNally (1967)
- Redish, J., Bias, R.G., Bailey, R., Molich, R., Dumas, J., Spool, J.M.: Usability in practice: formative usability evaluations—evolution and revolution. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors in Computing Systems Conference (CHI 2002), pp. 885–890 (2002)
- ASME/ANS: Addenda to ASME/ANS RA-S-2008, Standard for Level 1/Large Early Release Frequency Probabilistic Risk Assessment for Nuclear Power Plant Applications, ASME/ANS RA-Sb-2013. American Society of Mechanical Engineers (2013)
- Swain, A.D.: Accident sequence evaluation program human reliability analysis procedure, NUREG/CR-4772. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (1987)
- Boring, R.L., Gertman, D.I., Joe, J.C., Blackwood, L.G., Blackman, H.S., Brady, B.M.: A simplified expert elicitation guideline. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management (2006)



Human Error of a System Based on FMEA

Qing Xue, Binjue Wang^(⊠), and Minxia Liu

Beijing Institute of Technology, Beijing, China {xueqing,liuminxia}@bit.edu.cn

Abstract. Many studies and system accidents have shown that human factors, such as illegal operations, fatigue work, and weak theoretical knowledge, are the main reasons for system accidents or incidents. Under the background of Man-Machine-Environment system, it is undoubtedly of great practical significance to contemporary society to study the accidents caused by human errors in the system and find a countermeasure for effectively controlling human errors in the system. This article follows the qualitative and quantitative analysis and research ideas, using Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA) and fault tree analysis (FTA) to study the human error in the man-machine interface of a certain equipment system.

Keywords: Human error · FMEA · FTA · Human-computer interaction

1 Introduction

At present, 60%–90% of various accidents are caused by human error [1]. According to data [2], human errors account for at least 70%–80% of the total number of aircraft accidents or incidents in the aviation industry. In recent years, with the development and progress of science and technology, human errors have increased year by year. Therefore, the human error of the system must be studied.

In the understanding of human error, experts in various fields also define it from different perspectives. Reason [3] proposed that human error is that people have not achieved the expected results after a series of physical activities and psychological operations. Li Zhang [4] believes that human error should be defined as the failure of planned actions performed by humans to complete tasks. Pengcheng Li [5] believes that human error is divided into potential human error and manifest human error. While the research based on the theory of human error has become more mature, experts have launched a deeper research on human error. Xin Yu [6] combined FMEA(failure mode and effect analysis) and structural entropy to study human errors during gearbox assembly. Xuanxuan Li [7] adopted the SHELL model and the FMEA method improved by the IFHWED operator to establish a medical equipment human factor reliability evaluation model. Ruofei Xu [8] used SHERPA(Systemic Human Error Reduction and Prediction) method and FMEA method to study the interactive design of medical APP for the elderly.

The research object of this paper is a certain equipment system, which requires extremely high accuracy and efficiency of its operation, and its efficiency is the general

P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 70–78, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_9

goal pursued by the development and use of this system. Any system is composed of human, machine and environment. In order to optimize the efficiency of the system, the three must be reasonably integrated. This article mainly studies the relationship between human and machine.

2 Overall Design

The research of human error in the system mainly uses FTA method and FMEA method. This article takes a certain equipment system as the research object, combines the FMEA method with the FTA method, and conducts qualitative and quantitative research on human error. The main research work includes:

- (1) Use SHERPA method to layer the event tasks, draw Hierarchical Task Analysis(HTA) charts, experiment and count the error mode and the number of errors, and then determine the type of error. Analyze the error type failure mode by FMEA method, and then calculate its Risk Priority Number(RPN) according to the severity(S), occurrence(O), and detection(D) and rank.
- (2) Use the FTA method to analyze the failure mode of RPN ≥ 120, find its cause and logical relationship, establish a fault tree model to graphically illustrate it; then find the minimum cut set of the fault tree and calculate the probability of failure events In order to find the core factor of the failure event.
- (3) Finally, according to the failure event, the system is improved from the perspective of the operator's physiological, psychological and human-machine interface design, and the feasibility is verified by comparing the performance before and after the improvement.

3 Case Study

3.1 Sherpa

The operating system interface of an equipment system includes four interface elements A, B, C, and D. The display includes interface element A and interface element B, and the controller includes interface element C and interface element D, as shown in Fig. 1.

Perform SHERPA analysis and draw HTA task diagram for an existing operating system interface, as shown in Fig. 2. The Body Setting is an indispensable operation stage of the system. Therefore, this study mainly analyzes the Body Setting function of the system. The HTA analysis diagram is shown in Fig. 3.

Invite 10 operators to operate the tasks of the Body Setting function in Fig. 3 in the order of operation. And according to the experiment and SHERPA error analysis, the experimental data of the system before improvement in Table 1. The average number of errors made by the experiment operator during this operation process is 2, of which the most error type is A4.

Interface Element C



∽ Interface Element D

Fig. 1. A system interface layout.

| 0. | HTA of Human- | Machine I | nterface in a Syst | em | |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|
| | | S | Scheme 0 Do it in order 1, 2 | 2, 3, 4, 5, | 6, 7 |
| 1. User registration and login | 2. Work preparation | 3. Body setting | 4. Accept and modify the plan | 5. Track target | 6. View user actions |

Fig. 2. HTA of Human-Machine in a System.

| | | | | З. Во | dy setting | ; | | |
|---|---------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|---------|
| _ | Do it in c | order 3.1, | 3.2, 3.3, | 3.4, 3 | .5 | | | |
| | 3.1 Open bo setting | dy 3.2 Rada s settin | r Bhoto ngs se | electr | ric Read info | sensor | 3.5 Correction data | |
| | Do it | in order | | | Do it i | n order | | |
| 3.2.1, 3 | 3.2.2, 3.2. | 3, 3.2.4 | | 3.4 | 4 <u>.1,3.4.2</u> | , 3.4.3 | | |
| 3.2.13.2.2Click on RadarClick on workingsettingsfrequency | 3.2.3 select Radar | 3.2.4 Click return | twice to n to the | 3.4. Clic to re | ad 3.4.2 Selection or switch | t 3.4.3 Cli return | ick to n to the pus level | |
| [settings] [frequency | | Do it | in order | Locno | 01 0 0 1 00 | Do it | in order | |
| | 3.3.1, 3 | 5. 3. 2, 3. 3. | 3, 3.3.4 | | 3 | . 5. 1, 3. 5. | 2, 3.5.3 | |
| 3.3.1 | 3.3.2 | 3.3.3 | 3.3.4 | | 3.5.1 | 3.5.2 | 3.5.3 | |
| Click | Click on | Select | Click twie | ce to | Click to | Select | Clic | k to |
| photoelectric | Tracking | automatic | return to | the | correct | high ang | gle return | to the |
| settings | method | tracking | previous 1 | level | data | limit | previou | s level |

Fig. 3. HTA of Body Setting function.

| Error type | Number of errors |
|---|------------------|
| A: Operating in the wrong direction | 2 |
| B: Too many/too few operations | 7 |
| C: Position deviation/displacement during operation | 4 |
| D: No search information | 2 |
| E: No exchange information | 5 |

 Table 1. System test data before improvement.

3.2 FMEA

FMEA is a bottom-up inductive analysis method, usually divided into two steps.

Determine the Failure Mode of the Error Type. According to SHERPA analysis, the types of human manipulation errors in a certain system interface are: A, B, C, D, E, and an in-depth analysis of its potential failure modes is shown in Table 2.

| Error type | Task steps | Potential failure mode | Potential failure cause | Potential failure consequences |
|------------|------------|---------------------------------------|---|------------------------------------|
| D | 3.1 | Can't find the body set key | There is a problem with the page layout | Can't proceed to the next step |
| A | 3.2.1 | Click the gray unselectable button | Lack of error description | Cause emotional anxiety |
| С | 3.3.2 | The key is to press the next option | The option box is small and the setting is unreasonable | Affect subsequent operations |
| В | 3.4.3 | Return key press less/more times | Unreasonable design | Can't return to the specified page |
| Е | 3.5.2 | Forget the next step | No prompt to the operator | Affect work efficiency |

Table 2. Failure mode analysis of body setting function.

Calculate RPN. Invite 5 experts to rate the S, O and D of potential failure modes, with a maximum score of 10. The larger the value, the more serious the failure mode, the more likely it is to occur, and the more difficult it is to detect. Finally, the average integer value of 5 experts is taken as S, O and D. Calculate RPN, and then sort the failure modes according to the magnitude of the risk sequence value to determine whether there is a need for improvement or the priority of improvement, as shown in Table 3.

According to Table 3, there are 3 error types with RPN greater than 120. The error types are A4, I1, and A5. A4 has the largest RPN. Therefore, the failure mode of error type A4 will be analyzed qualitatively and quantitatively in the fault tree, and the potential failure causes of the two error types are directly improved.

| Task steps | Error type | S | 0 | D | $\begin{array}{l} \text{RPN} (\text{RPN} = \text{S} \\ \times \text{O} \times \text{D}) \end{array}$ |
|------------|------------|---|---|---|--|
| 3.4.3 | В | 6 | 7 | 4 | 168 |
| 3.5.2 | Е | 5 | 5 | 5 | 125 |
| 3.3.2 | С | 6 | 4 | 5 | 120 |
| 3.2.1 | Α | 3 | 2 | 3 | 18 |
| 3.1 | D | 7 | 2 | 4 | 56 |

 Table 3. Numerical calculation and ranking list of risk sequence.

3.3 FTA

FTA is a top-down logical graphical analysis method developed by Watson and Hansel [9], which aims to determine the cause and possibility of failure events. Generally, FTA is divided into three steps.

Build Fault Tree. According to the FMEA, the failure mode with the largest risk sequence value in the system is that the operator presses the return key less/more, and the potential failure consequence is that the specified page cannot be returned. Therefore, this fault tree analysis regards the failure to return to the specified page as the number one event, analyzes the cause of the number one event and the relationship between the causes, and then analyzes to find the deeper reasons until the deeper reasons are not found. Connect the discovered events with logical symbols to construct a fault tree of the car body setting function, as shown in Fig. 4.

Qualitative FTA. According to Fig. 4, it can be seen that each basic event can independently cause the number one event to occur. Therefore, the 11 basic events in the fault tree are the minimum cut sets. For the improvement of the system, full consideration should be given to the basic events that lead to the number one event "cannot return to the specified page" in Fig. 4. For example, by setting reasonable working hours to avoid operator fatigue, so as to reduce the occurrence of stiffness, slow response and symptoms of blurred vision; through more simulation training for operators, to avoid lack of experience and improve their working ability.

Quantitative FTA. The fault tree has a total of 11 minimum cut sets. This time, 50 operators are invited to collect the number of occurrences of the minimum cut set through investigation, and calculate the probability of the occurrence of basic events. The data after one treatment is shown in Table 4.

According to Table 4, it can be seen that the highest probability of basic events is too many frame levels, followed by blurred vision, lack of experience, lack of explanation of icons, rigid movements, and lack of self-confidence. Regarding the order in which the probability of occurrence of the basic event is the system's improvement, it is improved.

75



Fig. 4. FTA of a system's man-machine interface car body setting function.

| Major factor | Secondary factors | Frequency | Probability of occurrence |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------|
| Poor visual style | Small text size | 2 | 0.04 |
| design | Icon missing description | 1 | 0.02 |
| Poor information architecture design | Too many levels of framework | 18 | 0.36 |
| | Lack of guidance | 4 | 0.08 |
| Operator | Lack of experience | 6 | 0.12 |
| physiological factors | Stiff movement | 1 | 0.02 |
| | Slow response | 2 | 0.04 |
| | Blurred vision | 9 | 0.18 |
| Operator psychological factors | Fear of mistakes | 2 | 0.04 |
| | Lack of confidence | 1 | 0.02 |
| | Distracted | 4 | 0.08 |

3.4 Design Improvement

This article draws out the problems of the system through analysis, and improves the system from both the machine and human aspects based on the analysis results.

Improve the Machines in the System. According to the data in Table 4, the basic event "too many levels of framework" has the highest probability, followed by "lack of guidance". The improvement of the machine in this system is mainly aimed at these two aspects.

To address the problem of too many framework levels. Too many levels of the framework lead to complex operation procedures. In this system, the main manifestation is to return to the main page from the sub-menu. The number of times the return button is clicked varies according to the number of operations, the operation time is long, and the operation procedure is cumbersome. To solve this problem, add a button to return to the main page in the interface.

To address the lack of guidance. The operator's stuttering during the operation, the lack of guidance on the man-machine interface, etc., are caused by the fact that the operator does not know how to reach the specified page or has an operation error but does not know it. When the operator is operating, the man-machine interface guides the operator's operation, so that the operator can recognize the purpose of the operation and whether the operation is correct, and improve work efficiency. Figure 5 shows the improved effect map for this problem.



Fig. 5. The improved man-machine interface rendering.

Improve People in the System. It can be seen from Table 5 that people in the system are prone to accidents that cannot return to the specified interface due to lack of experience and blurred vision during work. When improving the people in the system, the two aspects of inexperience and blurred vision are mainly improved.

Aiming at the problem of insufficient operator experience. Before the operators begin their formal work, they should be trained in a unified pre-job and set corresponding qualification standards. Only after they meet the qualification standards can they be allowed to work, and regular assessments are required after they are on the job. When the operator has sufficient experience, he will have confidence in his operation, and he will no longer be afraid of accidents due to operation errors. Aimed at the problem of blurred vision of the operator. The blurred vision of the operator is mainly caused by fatigue. In order to improve the reliability and work efficiency of the system, the original workload should be reduced to ensure that the operator is full of energy and concentration while working, and avoid blurred vision.

3.5 Result Verification

According to the improvement plan of the machine and people of the system, the system is tested again. In this experiment, 10 operators of the previous experiment were also asked to improve. According to the comparison of RPN values before and after improvement in Table 5, the RPN values after improvement are all lower than before and all RPN values are ≤ 120 . It can be concluded that this improvement plan is feasible.

| Task steps | Error type | RPN before improvement | Improved RPN |
|------------|------------|------------------------|--------------|
| 3.4.3 | A4 | 168 | 72 |
| 3.6.2 | I1 | 125 | 50 |
| 3.3.2 | A5 | 120 | 60 |
| 3.2.1 | A3 | 18 | 9 |
| 3.1 | R1 | 56 | 28 |

Table 5. Numerical calculation and arrangement of RPN before and after improvement.

4 Conclusion

This article follows the qualitative and quantitative analysis and research ideas, and analyzes the human error of a system's man-machine operation interface by combining the FMEA method and the FTA method, so as to find an effective countermeasure to control the human error in the system. Specifically, the following three conclusions are drawn: (1) Use the SHERPA method to layer event tasks in a system's man-machine interface operation, and summarize the error types of the target tasks; (2) use the FMEA method and FTA method to analyze the failure mode, and find the fundamental event of the failure mode of RPN \geq 120; (3) Finally, according to the failure event, the system is improved from the perspective of the operator's physiology, psychology, and human-machine interface design, and the feasibility of implementation is verified by comparing the performance before and after the improvement.

References

1. He, X., Huang, X.: Human Reliability Analysis in Industrial Systems: Principles, Methods and Applications. Tsinghua University Press, Beijing (2007). (in Chinese)

- Luo, X.: Classification standards for human-caused (HF) accidents and incidents and classified statistical reports of HF accidents and incidents in China's civil aviation in the past twelve years. J. Chinese Saf. Sci. J. (05), 59–66+2 (2002). (in Chinese)
- 3. Reason, J.: Human Error. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990)
- Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Deng, Z.: Human error in complex human-machine system. J. Chinese Saf. Sci. J. (06), 38–41+37 (1996). (in Chinese)
- 5. Li, P.: A structured human error analysis technique and its application research. University of Nanhua (2006). (in Chinese)
- 6. Yu, X.: Research on the complexity of human-induced quality accident control in gearbox assembly line based on FMEA theory. In: Proceedings of the 2011 International Conference on Software Engineering and Multimedia Communication (SEMC 2011 V3). Intelligent Information Technology Application Association. Intelligent Information Technology Application Society, pp. 279–283 (2011). (in Chinese)
- Li, X., Liu, Z.: Human reliability evaluation of medical equipment based on improved FMEA method. J. Hebei Ind. Sci. Technol. 33(06), 496–502 (2016). (in Chinese)
- 8. Xu, R., Li, Y., Zhu, L.: Study on the interactive design of medical APP for the elderly based on SHERPA and FMEA. J. Packag. Eng. **40**(04), 213–220 (2019). (in Chinese)
- 9. Yang, J., Huang, H.Z., Liu, Y.: Evidential networks for fault tree analysis with imprecise knowledge. Int. J. Turbo Jet-Engines **29**(2), 111–122 (2012)



Challenges and Opportunities of Applying the Human Reliability Analysis (HRA) Techniques for the Petrochemical Industry in China

Renyou Zhang^{1,2}(^(C)), Dingsen He¹, Peiyuan Shang¹, and Jun Ge¹

 ¹ School of Safety Engineering, Beijing Institute of Petrochemical Technology, Beijing 102617, China zhangry89@126.com, sencar@sina.com
 ² Beijing Academy of Safety Engineering and Technology, Beijing, China

Abstract. It is widely acknowledged that human error is one of the significant reasons to trigger over half of the accidents. So far, dozens of HRA approaches have been published for qualitatively and quantitatively assessment to human error. However, most of the HRA techniques are sourcing from the nuclear industry, so people from the Chinese petrochemical industry may not be familiar with those nuclear industry-based HRA methods. Although we deem that HRA techniques could provide considerable benefits to safety management, directly using those methods in the petrochemical industry may cause some unexpected issues, since HRA is a relatively new idea to the petrochemical industry in China. Therefore, this study conducts a well-designed questionnaire survey to indicate the opportunities and challenges of the future HRA application in the petrochemical plants of China. This survey indicates the attitudes, opinions, and the potential barriers of practicing HRA methods in the petrochemical industry. The people involved in the questionnaire survey are all from the Chinese petrochemical industry, including management team and front-line operator.

Keywords: Human reliability analysis \cdot Questionnaire survey \cdot Chinese petrochemical industry \cdot Challenges and opportunities

1 Introduction

Human error is one of the significant reasons to cause accidents. According to many published reports and statistical data, over half of the accidents are directly associated with human error [1]. Some experts from Chinese petrochemical industry have also realized that human error plays a key role in triggering accidents. In order to assess human error, dozens of HRA techniques have been designed and published, and these techniques have been successfully used for predicting Human Error Probability (HEP). However, the majority of those published HRA methods are based on the nuclear industry, and they are not broadly practiced in the petrochemical industry of China. Although the petrochemical industry has many similarities with the nuclear industry, they still have

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 79–86, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_10

considerable differences such as nuclear radiation and power generation. Therefore, it is necessary to give a survey to indicate the challenges and opportunities of conducting HRA procedures for the Chinese petrochemical industry in future.

Before starting the survey, it is required to provide a brief literature review about the development of the HRA techniques to let readers can more understand their background. So far, the published HRA techniques can be divided into three generations. Among them, the first and the second generation of HRA methods are mostly applied in real practice [2].

The well-known first generation HRA methods are Technique for Human Error Rate Prediction (THERP), Human Error Assessment and Reduction Technique (HEART), Simplified Plant Analysis Risk Human Reliability Assessment (SPAR-H), and Success Likelihood Index Methodology (SLIM). THERP is the first HRA technique for commercial use. This method is designed and published in 1980s. It through evaluating Performance Shaping Factors (PSFs) to estimate HEP by human factor event tree analysis [3]. Although THERP is initially designed for the nuclear industry use, so far, it has been developed and expanded to other hazardous industries such as the offshore oil and gas domain [4]. HEART is another famous HRA technique which is designed by the British nuclear industry [5]. Similar with THERP, HEART procedure also requires the evaluation of many related PSFs, but HEART is more friendly in real application. It adopts certain mathematical equations to predict the HEP data, so it will not require large time to construct a human factor event tree. HEART has also been successfully applied to the process industry [6]. SPAR-H is the simplified version of THERP, it selects eight PSFs to assess human reliability through the certain mathematical equation [5]. SLIM is another simple first generation HRA method, its main idea is to use a small set of PSFs to estimate HEP data [7]. Although the first generation HRA techniques have been broadly practiced, their true capabilities are always questioned and criticized, since these techniques mainly focus on task and forget the importance of human cognition and environment in which task is performed [8]. As a result, the second generation HRA methods have been designed to improve the HRA quality.

Cognitive Reliability and Error Analysis Method (CREAM) and A Technique for Human Error Analysis (ATHEANA) are the two representatives of the second generation HRA techniques [9]. For ATHEANA, it is based on the nuclear industry, but it is a time-consuming method and weak in quantitative analysis, so this method is limited in use [5]. CREAM is one of the most well-known HRA techniques. This method gives consideration from the aspects of environment and cognitive. It utilizes nine PSFs to determine four contextual control models, and then to predict the final HEP value [2]. So far, CREAM has been applied in a broad range of industrial sectors. However, the second generation HRA techniques still have limitations. The way to conduct cognitive analysis in this group of HRA methods is too simple to reflect why human error occurs.

The limitations in handling cognitive analysis significantly weaken the quality of the results derived from the previously mentioned HRA techniques. Therefore, in recent years, researchers have developed some new HRA techniques through strengthening the function on cognitive analysis. Two famous new methods are IntegrateD Human Event Analysis System (IDHEAS) and Phoenix. Supported by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission [10, 11], IDHEAS absorbs many positive features of currently used HRA

techniques. For example, the tree analysis method is still adopted by the IDHEAS method to ensure the HEP prediction is traceable. Besides, compared with other previously designed HRA techniques, IDHEAS has the stronger function in dealing with cognitive analysis [9]. Similar with the IDHEAS, Phoenix method also selects tree analysis method to form a traceable HEP estimation, and it focuses more on the cognitive psychology [10]. In addition, according to the framework of the Phoenix, a Petroleum Refining Operations (PRO)-based HRA method (Phoenix-PRO) has been developed [12].

Through learning the brief review of the HRA techniques, we find that, from the 1980s to present, the technique of HRA keeps moving forward. Researchers have made considerable efforts to address the limitations of HRA techniques. Besides, it can be concluded that most of the HRA methods are originally from the nuclear industry, rather than the petrochemical industry-based. Considering the differences between the nuclear industry and the petrochemical industry, directly introducing those HRA techniques into the petrochemical industry in China may cause some unpredictable issues. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate the challenges and opportunities for applying HRA techniques to the Chinese petrochemical industry in future years. The rest parts of this study are arranged as follows. Section 2 describes the methodology used for surveying in this study. Section 3 presents the data collection and analysis for indicating the challenges and opportunities for applying HRA techniques in the Chinese petrochemical industry. Finally, Sect. 4 concludes all the findings in this study.

2 Methodology

Questionnaire survey is a widely applied approach to extract or identify valuable information for safety management [13], so it is the main method used for this study. All the participants in this study come from safety-related positions in petrochemical plants owned by the Sinopec (the largest petrochemical company in China), so we can guarantee that our questionnaire survey is effective and reasonable. A total 202 people joined this research, and we received 197 effective questionnaires, so the response rate is 97.5% which is acceptable for an interview survey [14].

A specific questionnaire was designed for collecting data (see Fig. 1). The questions cover demographic information, people's opinions on human error, and people's experience and attitudes on HRA. By analyzing the feedbacks from each participant, we can find the opportunities and challenges of using HRA in the Chinese petrochemical industry. Before distributing this designed questionnaire, the objective, the requirement, and the content of this survey were introduced to each participant. Besides, people were also encouraged to ask questions to make sure they could fully understand this designed questionnaire. Among 197 effective participants, the number of male people is 176 and that number of female people is 21. The average age of all participants is 41.9 years old with Standard Deviation (SD) 8.9 years. The average working experience of 197 people is 20.3 years with SD value 10.0 years. Five-point Likert-style scale is selected to describe the options of some questions.

Questionnaire

1. Age:

2. Related working experience (years):

3. Gender:

4. Professional title and position:

5. To what extent do you agree that human error is a key factor to trigger accidents? A. fully disagree, B. mostly disagree, C. neutral, D. mostly agree, E. completely agree.

6. In your working experience, to what extent do you believe that the abnormal and hazardous situations are associated with human error?

A. seldom, B. occasionally, C. sometimes, D. frequent, E. very frequent.

7. In your working experience, to what extent do you believe that the accidents are associated with human error? A. seldom, B. occasionally, C. sometimes, D. frequent, E. very frequent.

8. In your working experience, to what extent do you believe that the abnormal and hazardous situations are directly associated with human error?

A. seldom, B. occasionally, C. sometimes, D. frequent, E. very frequent.

9. In your working experience, to what extent do you believe that the accidents are directly associated with human error? A. seldom, B. occasionally, C. sometimes, D. frequent, E. very frequent.

In your working experience, have you experienced some HRA practices?
 A. yes, B. no.
 (If you select option A, then please continue to question 11; if your selection is option B, then please jump to question 13).

11. To what extent do you understand the HRA techniques you have learned?
A. Just heard of, B. limited understand, C. medium understand, D mostly understand, E. fully know how to conduct.
(If you answer is option E, then please go to next question; if your selection is not option E, then please jump to question 13).

12. To what extent do you recognize the results from HRA methods? A. not recognized, B. limited recognized, C. medium recognized, D. mostly recognized, E. completely recognized.

13. Which one do you reckon is more important for petrochemical plants' safety, human error or facility failure?

A. facility failure more important than human error,

B. facility failure is a little more important than human error,

C. human error has equal importance to facility failure,

D. human error is a little more important than facility failure,

E. human error is more important than facility failure.

14. To what extent do you reckon that the Chinese petrochemical industry requires HRA techniques?

A. unnecessary, B. Limited necessary, C. medium necessary, D. necessary, E. very necessary

Fig. 1. The designed questionnaire for this survey.

3 Questionnaire Survey

Due to the 197 participants come from management team and operation team, and they may have different opinions to each question, this study divides them into two groups (one is management team, the other is operation team). We believe that through this division, we can better identify the challenges and opportunities for applying HRA in the Chinese petrochemical plants. The division of the whole sample can be determined by the feedbacks of the question 4 in the questionnaire. Based on the collected data of question 1, question 2 and question 3, the demography information can be identified. The

management team contains 36 members (average age 46.1 years old with SD 6.6 years, average working experience 23.8 years with SD 7.7 years). The values of operation team (161 people) are average age 40.8 years old (SD 6.6 years) and average working experience 19.5 years (SD 10.3 years).

3.1 Data Collection

In the questionnaire, question 1 through question 4 are designed for collecting demographic information, and their results have been previously demonstrated, so this section starts from question 5. Based on the designed questionnaire in Fig. 1, we successfully collected 197 feedbacks. According to the replies from the management group and operation group, Table 1 gives the results of question 5 ("do you agree that human error is a key factor to trigger accidents?").

| Team | Mostly agree and fully agree | Neutral | Mostly disagree and fully disagree |
|-----------------|------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|
| Management team | 91.7% (33 people) | 2.8% (1 people) | 5.5% (2 people) |
| Operation team | 77.6% (125 people) | 13.1% (21 people) | 9.3% (15 people) |

Table 1. The received results of question 5 in each group.

The question 6 through question 9 are all for checking the frequency level about human error to the occurrence of abnormal scenarios or accidents. The collected feedbacks about these questions are concluded in Table 2.

For the question 10, 11, and 12, they are designed for identifying participants' experience and attitudes in using HRA techniques in petrochemical factories. The received data are summarized as follows.

- a) In the management team, there are 29 people (81%) who have experienced some HRA techniques; the data in the operation team is 117 people (72.3%).
- b) Among the people who selected yes in question 10, there are only 7 people who can implement a whole HRA process (1 in management group and 6 in operation team).
- c) All the participants, who gave their answers to question 12, tend to believe the results from HRA methods.

Question 13 is to survey people's opinion on the importance wight of human error and facility failure when concerning accidents in a petrochemical plant. The received results are displayed in Table 3.

The last question is to investigate people's attitudes on whether the Chinese petrochemical industry requires a specified HRA technique. Table 4 presents their attitudes.

| Question no. | Team | Frequent and very frequent | Sometimes | Seldom and occasionally |
|--------------|--------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|
| 6 | Management team) | 36.1% (13 people) | 27.8% (10 people) | 36.1% (13 people) |
| | Operation team | 19.2% (31 people) | 33% (53 people) | 47.8% (77 people) |
| 7 | Management team | 36.1% (13 people) | 33.3% (12 people) | 30.6% (11 people) |
| | Operation team | 24.8% (40 people) | 25.5% (41 people) | 49.7% (80 people) |
| 8 | Management team | 38.9% (14 people) | 36.1% (13 people) | 25% (9 people) |
| | Operation team | 23.6% (38 people) | 26.1% (42 people) | 50.3% (81 people) |
| 9 | Management team | 39% (14 people) | 30.5% (11 people) | 30.5% (11 people) |
| | Operation team | 23% (37people) | 19.9% (32 people) | 57.1% (92 people) |

Table 2. The collected feedbacks about the question 6 through question 9.

Table 3. The participants' opinion on the weight of human error and facility failure in triggering accidents.

| Team | Human error has more weight | Human error and facility failure are equal important | Facility failure has more weight |
|-----------------|-----------------------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Management team | 36.1% (13 people) | 52.8% (19 people) | 11.1% (4 people) |
| Operation team | 28.6% (46 people) | 54.6% (88 people) | 16.8% (27 people) |

 Table 4. The received opinions on whether HRA is necessary to the Chinese petrochemical industry.

| Team | Tend to require HRA | Neutral | Tend to support "unnecessary" |
|-----------------|---------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|
| Management team | 91.7% (33 people) | 0% (0 people) | 8.3% (3 people) |
| Operation team | 84.5% (136 people) | 4.3% (7 people) | 11.2% (18 people) |

3.2 Data Analysis

With the collected data, this section presents an analysis. Through learning the data in Table 1, Table 3, Table 4, we find that most participants support HRA and view

human error as a significant item. The management group shows more positive attitude to recognize HRA and the importance of human error. Members in management team have ability to make decision, so if they are more welcome to HRA method, it will be better for introducing and applying HRA in Chinese petrochemical plants.

The data in Table 2 reveal that not too many people in both management team and operation team deems that human error is frequently associated with the abnormal scenarios or accidents in petrochemical plants. This result is not match with many widely acknowledged publications which claim about 70% of accidents are related to human error. More importantly, this result may bring challenges to applying HRA technique in the Chinese petrochemical industry, since the people may not think human error is a frequent issue that need to be handled by HRA techniques.

The feedbacks of question 10 through 12 illustrate that although many people have contacted some knowledge on HRA, only limited participants (7 people) can practice a whole HRA practice. This indicates that the HRA experts are insufficient in the petrochemical industry in China.

4 Conclusion

With the designed questionnaire and the 197 participants, we have conducted a study to investigate the challenges and opportunities for applying HRA techniques in the petrochemical industry of China. Through the data collection and data analysis, it can be concluded that there are opportunities for applying HRA technique in the Chinese petrochemical industry.

- a) Majority of participants deem that HRA is necessary to this industry.
- b) Most participants agree with the opinion that human error is a significant factor in triggering an accident in a petrochemical plant.

Challenges are also living along with opportunities. Through this study, we find that, not too many people working in the petrochemical industry in China thinks human error is frequently associated with abnormal scenarios or accidents. Besides, there is lack of experts who can implement a complete HRA process.

The identified opportunities can guarantee that there are enough people to support applying HRA techniques in the Chinese petrochemical industry. However, the challenges are the barriers to HRA application in the Chinese petrochemical industry. Therefore, with enough HRA supporters, more trainings are required for the people working in the Chinese petrochemical industry to make sure they can understand human error and have ability to use HRA techniques.

Acknowledgement. The authors are grateful to the participants working in the petrochemical plants owned by the Sinopec.

References

1. Liu, P., Li, Z.: Human error data collection and comparison with predictions by SPAR-H. Risk Anal. **34**(9), 1706–1719 (2014)

- Zhang, R., Tan, H., Afzal, W.: A modified human reliability analysis method for the estimation of human error probability in the offloading operations at oil terminals. Process Saf. Prog. 12223 (2020)
- Swain, A.D., Guttmann, H.E.: A Handbook of Human Reliability Analysis with Emphasis on Nuclear Power Plant Applications. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington DC (1983)
- Abbassi, R., Khan, F., Garaniya, V., Chai, S., Chin, C., Hossain, A.K.: An integrated method for human error probability assessment during the maintenance of offshore facilities. Process Saf. Environ. Protect. 94, 172–179 (2015)
- 5. Health and Safety Executive. https://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrhtm/rr679.htm
- Kumar, A.M., Rajakarunakaran, S., Prabhu, A.: Application of fuzzy HEART and expert elicitation for quantifying human error probabilities in LPG refuelling station. J. Loss Prevent. Process Ind. 48, 186–198 (2017)
- Noroozi, A., Khakzad, N., Khan, F., MacKinnon, S., Abbassi, R.: The role of human error in risk analysis: application to pre-and post-maintenance procedures of process facilities. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. 119, 251–258 (2013)
- Marseguerra, M., Zio, E., Librizzi, M.: Quantitative development in the cognitive reliability and error analysis method for the assessment of human performance. Ann. Nucl. Energy. 33, 894–910 (2006)
- 9. Forester, J., et al.: Expert elicitation approach for performing ATHEANA quantification. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **83**, 207–220 (2004)
- Liao, H.: Insights from pilot testing of the IDHEAS HRA method. Procedia Manuf. 3, 1350– 1357 (2015)
- 11. Ekanem, N.J., Mosleh, A., Shen, S.H.: Phoenix-A model-based human reliability analysis methodology: qualitative analysis procedure. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **145**, 301–315 (2015)
- Abílio Ramos, M., López Droguett, E., Mosleh, A., Das Chagas Moura, M.: A human reliability analysis methodology for oil refineries and petrochemical plants operation: phoenix-PRO qualitative framework. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. 193, 106672 (2020)
- 13. Liu, P., et al.: Identifying key performance shaping factors in digital main control rooms of nuclear power plants: a risk-based approach. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **167**, 264–275 (2017)
- 14. Meng, X., Chan, A.H.S.: Demographic influences on safety consciousness and safety citizenship behavior of construction workers. Saf. Sci. **129**, 104835 (2020)

Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance in Aviation



Is Our Human Factors Capability in Aviation and Maritime Domains Up to the Task?

Barry Kirwan¹(⊠), Katarzyna Cichomska², Beatrice Bettignies-Thiebaux¹, and Andrew Kilner¹

¹ EUROCONTROL Experimental Centre, Centre du Bois de Bordes, CS 41005, 91222 Bretigny sur Orge, France {barry.kirwan,beatrice.thiebaux,andrew.kilner}@eurocontrol.int ² Deep Blue, Via Ennio Quirino Visconti 8,00193 Rome, Italy katarzyna.cichomska@dblue.it

Abstract. It is often said by Human Factors professionals that Human Factors needs to be involved in design projects from the start. But how often is this feasible, and how often does it really occur in practice? And, perhaps most importantly, do design and operational organizations have the right people, processes and motivation in place to allow this to happen? As part of a European-funded project called SAFEMODE, which looks at the potential for cross-domain Human Factors learning in aviation and maritime domains, twelve organizations participated in a Human Factors Capability Profiling exercise. This paper gives an anonymized overview of the results, showing the range and differences in HF 'maturity' in the two domains. A key insight is that for both domains, there is a need for further uptake of validated HF methods that can inform design decisions at early design stages.

Keywords: Human factors · Aviation · Maritime · Design · Benchmarking

1 Introduction

Human Performance (HP) is critically important in Aviation and Maritime Transport because both industries are complex and highly interactive, operating in a continually changing environment. To keep these transport 'systems of systems' safe, efficient and effective, adaptation and flexibility are necessary. It is the people in the system that provide this resilience, keeping the traffic moving even when things become difficult, whilst keeping it safe. In simple terms, people create safety. SAFEMODE (Strengthening synergies between Aviation and maritime in the area of human Factors towards achieving more Efficient and resilient MODE of transportation) is a three-year (2019–2022) EUfunded Horizon 2020 project with a consortium of around 30 Partners from aviation, maritime and rail domains, aimed at improving the uptake of Human Factors approaches in the design of aviation and maritime vessels and systems.

Human performance, as a domain, focuses on optimising the human element in complex work systems. It covers all aspects of integrating people – the Human Element

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 89–96, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_11

- into systems, including ensuring for example that there are adequate and competently trained staff, with the right equipment and tools to help them do the job, and managing 'human error', or what is more often referred to these days as performance variability.

Each of these two industrial landscapes has its own key system 'actors': airframe manufacturers and equipment suppliers, airlines, cargo and private planes, airports and air traffic controllers in aviation, for example, and fishing vessels, ferries, cruise-liners and cargo vessels, along with ship designers and builders, ship-owners and companies in maritime. So, the question is, where does the Human Factors effort need to be in each of these complex and interacting landscapes, and specifically in each 'actor' organisation? It is a fact of life that resources are limited, so two questions arise for any organisation:

- 1. What are the Human Factors relevant to my organisation's activities?
- 2. What level of Human Factors does my organisation need?

To help organisations answer these questions, we have applied an approach called Human Performance Capability Profiling (HPCP) to specific organisational contexts.

2 The Human Performance Capability Profiling (HPCP) Approach for SAFEMODE

The HPCP borrows heavily from an approach called Human Performance Standard of Excellence (HPSoE)¹ developed in the Air Traffic domain. The approach was created over a period of four years by the ANSP-based group known as EUROCONTROL/FAA Action Plan 15, resulting in a release of a White Paper describing the framework. To enlarge the reach of the approach to a more global ATM audience, in 2016 CANSO (the Civil Air Navigation Services Organisation – a global group of ANSPs), via its Safety Standing Committee (SSC), created a task force to continue the development of the approach, and in 2019 released a second version. The approach developed for SAFEMODE is however based more on the original HPSoE concept, which was more generic in nature.

2.1 HPSoE: Key Concepts

The key concept is that when human performance is managed properly, system performance will increase. Consequently, organisations have to focus on human performance management, not do it ad hoc. The needs behind HPSoE can be summarised as follows:

- Identify which are the key HP areas of focus.
- Identify where an organisation is doing well and where improvements could help business performance.
- Identify what other, similar organisations are doing in this area.

¹ https://www.skybrary.aero/bookshelf/books/3291.pdf.

- Identify the level of maturity an organisation needs to get to, considering the peoplecentred nature, size and scale of its operations.
- Identify first or next steps to take in managing human performance.

The HPSoE describes the levels of maturity in an objective way for 12 areas of Human Performance. There are four systemic elements – Policy, Strategy and Resources, Leadership, Roles and Responsibilities, and HP Assurance – which indicate that an organisational commitment to HP management is a key issue. The remaining eight elements focus on different operational processes and procedures. The HPSoE is ATM-focused, and SAFEMODE needed to develop something for the wider Aviation system of systems, and also for Maritime domain. Using the same basic framework, the questions have been adapted accordingly in the HPCP.

2.2 The HPCP Framework

The complete HPCP framework consists of 12 elements and is supported by Human Factors techniques and approaches. In the context of SAFEMODE however, which has a design focus, it is important to concentrate on five of these elements specifically. These are 'core' to SAFEMODE, which is primarily concerned with Design. The core areas of the framework for this activity are as follows:



POLICY, STRATEGY AND RESOURCES - The degree to which the organisation recognises the importance of people and puts in place policies and resources to actively measure and monitor their human performance. *[Element 1]*



EQUIPMENT AND SUPPORT TOOLS – To ensure that the operational environment including equipment, support tools, and workstations (software and hardware) provide optimal support to job performance. *[Element 3]*



IMPACT OF CHANGE - To ensure the impacts of a change on human performance are identified, assessed, and managed. *[Element 8]*



INVESTIGATION & LEARNING - To identify strengths and weaknesses related to human performance aspects arising from events, incidents and accidents, and to share and implement lessons learnt across the workforce and organisation. *[Element 11]*



HUMAN PERFORMANCE ASSURANCE - To provide assurance that human performance is managed effectively and that HF methods and processes are fit for purpose and focused on reducing risk, optimising human system performance, and realising business benefits. *[Element 12]*

3 The Assessment Process

When performing the assessment, each element is considered one at a time and assessed against five maturity levels:

- Level 1: Initiating
- Level 2: Planning/Initial Implementation
- Level 3: Implementing
- Level 4: Managing & Measuring
- Level 5: Continuous Improvement

Each of these levels contains a series of capability statements describing what must be in place to reach a particular level of maturity for a particular element. For an organisation to be at a specific maturity level, all requirements under lower levels must be met. To support this assessment, justifications and examples of evidence showing how the requirements are met, are also collected.

Once the maturity levels are identified, the next step is to decide if they are sufficient to meet business performance goals or should be higher, and identify any further actions that would help achieve higher levels in the future and / or make the current levels more resilient.

Altogether twelve SAFEMODE Partners conducted their HPCP assessments up to this point. They included representatives from all three sectors: Aviation (5), Maritime (6) and Rail (1), as well as representing different working contexts, both operational and non-operational (e.g., shipping companies and airlines, manufacturers, agencies, regulators, universities and research centres).

4 Results

The results for each Partner are confidential so only group results are presented. The results section is divided into three separate sections – overall maturity levels across all participating organisations, overall results for the two sectors (Aviation and Maritime), and cross-industry insights gained.

4.1 Overall Maturity in Aviation and Maritime

The 3D histogram (see Fig. 1) shows the maturity in the 5 elements and the number of Partners at each level. This 'city block' image gives an overall impression of the maturity in these five elements as a whole. The city block can be thought of as 'where do most organisations live?', with respect to Human Factors, and the answer is 'downtown', with most assessments ending up in the middle. This is not a bad place to be.

Figure 2 presents another view of the same data, showing the results as 'five towers', depicting how many organisations currently score at each level of maturity for each of the scales. One way to think of this is, again, where do organisations live: ground floor, mid-level, or top floor penthouse? For example, for Element 1: Policy, Strategy and Resources there are no organisations who are currently at Level 1 (which is good). This is however different to the other four elements, where one or more organisations have yet to start in at least one core Human Factors area.



Fig. 1. 'City Block' view: HPCP Framework across all 12 organisations



Fig. 2. 'Five Towers' view across all 12 organisations

The highest achieved level is for Element 1, Policy and Strategy, and this is encouraging as it shows that a number of organisations are very serious about Human Factors in their business processes and corporate vision. This means that there should be some organisational 'pull' for SAFEMODE inputs, rather than resistance, which suggests that the overall SAFEMODE project is not wasting its time developing products that may 'fall on deaf ears.'

The weakest area overall is Human Performance Assurance (HPA). The low scores on the HPA element suggest that many organisations are not applying formal Human Factors techniques when they address Human Factors issues. This situation could be helped in particular via SAFEMODE's Human Factors Toolkit, and the application of formal methods in SAFEMODE's aviation and maritime case studies.

Overall, 59% of organisations are at level 3 or higher, and this is a reasonably healthy picture. Fully a third (33%) are at Level 2, and this means that these organisations have the correct foundations to consider moving to the next level. This is hopefully something that SAFEMODE can support by showing such organisations how to advance to level 3.

4.2 Aviation

For Aviation, the city block diagram (see Fig. 3) shows that Human Factors is relatively healthy, with a predominance of level 4 and 5. It is also interesting that the organisations canvassed excel in two key elements, policy and design. This is perhaps not so surprising, since there has been so much effort over the years in the areas of cockpit design and controller workstation design, and that there is a fairly strong regulatory backbone reinforcing Human Factors adoption in the industry (especially for cockpits).

The weakest area is Element 5, HPA, which might at first glance seem odd given that there is so much level 5 in Element 2, HF in design. This can be interpreted as follows: Element 2 refers to the practice of getting HF into design, whereas Element 5, at maturity levels 4 & 5, focuses not only on applying HF techniques, but doing so using formal techniques integrated into design processes, and developing better tools.



Fig. 3. City Block view for Aviation



Fig. 4. City Block view for Maritime

4.3 Maritime

For Maritime (Fig. 4), the maturity 'mode' is clearly at Level 2: *Planning*, with some at Level 3: *Implementing*, but none of the Maritime organisations that participated in the HPCP assessment task exercise reached levels 4 or 5. Clearly, this is in contrast with Aviation, and shows that Maritime could indeed benefit from more Human Factors input and expertise.

The strongest element is Policy, Strategy and Resources, which as noted earlier shows a good (indeed necessary) foundation for advancement in Human Factors capability to the Implementing level. The weakest area, as for Aviation, is Element 5, Human Performance Assurance, in this case indicating that there is not much use of formal HF techniques integrated into design processes.

4.4 Cross-Domain Insights from the HPCP Exercise

Maritime could learn from Aviation in terms of the application of Human Factors in design activities, and this is now being pursued within the SAFEMODE project via a set of Aviation and Maritime cases studies where each Partner can see how HF tools are applied, including task analysis, prototyping, use of subjective and psychophysiological tools in real-time simulations, etc.

One interesting observation that has arisen is that for aviation in particular, cockpit design is standardised for particular aircraft types, e.g. a B737 or an A320 etc. This is not at all the case for ship bridge design, where almost all ships have unique bridge designs. This and other 'business model' and 'structural' factors are being further explored within SAFEMODE to see how traditional Human Factors approaches can be adapted to Maritime.

Overall, there are some clear benefits of the HPCP benchmarking approach, already noted by the Partners:

- The HPCP approach gives an aviation or maritime organisation a snapshot of its capability in managing human performance, highlighting where it is strong, and where there may be gaps or needed improvements. Critically, HPCP can help organisations see where to place effort on supporting human performance.
- As more organisations carry out the HPCP exercise in SAFEMODE, this allows them and others to 'benchmark' their own human performance capability against similar companies.
- According to the EUROCONTROL and FAA Action Plan 15, around 70% of total project cost is determined in the first 10% of the project. It is much more cost-effective (60 to 100 times) to change the design of a system in the initial phases of development than to do so once the system has been built and is in operation. HPCP supports human performance implementation early in the design phase and in the change process.
- HPCP provides a unified framework for the assessment and management of Human Factors and human performance. It can enhance safety and human performance communication, ensuring the right professional resources are available in an organisation.
- HPCP helps to determine the current level of human performance, the target level of human performance, and the actions required to improve human performance.

The full details of the HPCP exercise, as well as the case studies and the Human Factors Toolkit arising from the project, will be documented as they occur at the following website: https://safemodeproject.eu/ It is hoped that the information developed by SAFEMODE will be useful for any high risk industry sector, and for Human Factors practitioners and designers in any endeavor where human performance matters.

Funding and Disclaimer. This publication is based on work performed in SAFEMODE, which has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 814961. Any dissemination reflects the author's view only and the European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of information it contains.


Flying High. Voice Stress Analysis to Detect Pre-symptomatic Acute Hypobaric Hypoxia at 25000 Ft

Martine Van Puyvelde^{1,2(\Box)}, Emma Debecker², Xavier Neyt¹, Frederic Detaille¹, Wim Vanderlinden⁴, and Nathalie Pattyn^{1,3}

¹ VIPER Research Unit, LIFE Department, Royal Military Academy, Brussels, Belgium Martine.Van.Puyvelde@vub.be, {Xavier.Neyt,Frederic.Detaille, Nathalie.Pattyn}@mil.be

² Brain Body and Cognition Research Group, Department of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

³ MFYS-BLITS, Human Physiology Department, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium
 ⁴ Military Hospital Queen Astrid, Center for Aerospace Medicine, Hypobaric Chamber,

Brussels, Belgium

Wim.Vanderlinden@mil.be

Abstract. Previous research showed that Acute Hypobaric Hypoxia (AHH) induced pre-symptomatic compensatory voice markers at 20000 ft but not at 25000 ft. These studies were conducted in an intermittent design with pauses in between. Since AHH evolves more rapidly at higher altitudes, compensation might have occurred in theses pauses. Hence, we studied voice reactivity of 16 subjects to AHH at 25000 ft in a hypobaric chamber in a continuous speech design. We analyzed fundamental frequency-range (F0-range) and voice onset time (VOT) in function of the hypoxic symptoms as indicated by the subjects. We did not find the pre-symptomatic compensation (i.e., decreased F0-range and VOT). We found increased F0-range and decreased VOT. We hypothesize that at higher altitudes, voice reactivity to AHH is the output of physiological processes of both compensation and control loss. Voice stress detection is a promising future tool and the role of breathing in regulatory compensation processes should be examined.

Keywords: Acute hypobaric hypoxia · Voice stress analysis · Top-down · Bottom-up · Psychophysiology

1 Introduction

Acute hypobaric hypoxia (AHH) refers to an insufficient oxygen supply caused by a sudden exposure to high altitude without having supplemental oxygen or the protection of cabin pressurization [1]. With increasing altitude, the ambient pressure decreases non-linearly, and with that the atmospheric partial pressure of oxygen (PO_2) along with the time of useful consciousness (TUC) which is the resting time that one remains operational [1]. Although pilots receive a hypoxia symptom recognition training [2,

3], hypoxia remains a threat due to the combination of cognitive and psychomotor deterioration [4, 5] along with the insidiousness of the phenomenon that hinders clear recognition [1–3]. As an illustration, Pickard and Gradwell [1] compared the hypoxic mindset with that of the alcohol intoxicated driver who is convinced of still mastering his car. Consequently—although the number of hypoxia-caused flight accidents has been divided by factor three between 1976 and 2003 [6]—serious accidents due to acute hypobaric hypoxia still do occur and may moreover often not be recognized as such [5, 6]. Hence, early hypoxia detection, in a pre-symptomatic stage would be desirable.

In a recent study [7], the benefit of voice stress analysis was explored to detect hypoxia in a pre-symptomatic stage based on the presumption of a psychophysiological relationship between stress and the voice output [8, 9]. That is, the voice output shows the attempt of the body to balance bottom-up arousal (sympathetic nervous system) and top-down regulatory activity (parasympathetic nervous system) to compensate for the experienced stressor. According to a recent review [8], the most common voice parameters in hypoxia studies are fundamental frequency related parameters (i.e., the pitch, also called F0) and voice onset time (VOT) [8]. F0 is a phonation-based parameter corresponding with the number of closure-opening cycles of the vocal folds per second (in Hz); VOT is a respiratory-articulation parameter that refers to the time period between the release of a plosive (e.g., 'p') and the vocal fold vibration onset of its subsequent vowel [8].

Van Puyvelde et al. [7] reported a different voice reactivity course over time at 20000 ft and 25000 ft and suggested that the impact of AHH on the voice does not obey a linear dose-response curve but shows a non-linear pattern as the one between altitude and ambient pressure. The pre-symptomatic stage at 20000 ft was characterized by a decrease in both F0-range and VOT, in comparison to a sea-level measurement. This voice response was interpreted as an acute top-down regulatory compensation response to hypoxia. However, at 25000 ft, in a pre-symptomatic stage, there was still a decrease in VOT but an increase in F0-range which the authors ascribed mainly to the impact of anticipatory stress at 25000 ft. The study possessed an intermittent design with regular pauses of at least 15s. Hence, possibly these pauses caused false negatives in the detection of the compensatory decrease in F0-range that was observed at 20000 ft due to what is called in physiological signal analysis aliasing or the failure to detect a correct change in a signal due to a too low sampling frequency [9]. From an operational point of view, this is important since the need of continuous cockpit speech to guarantee reliable presymptomatic detection would be inefficient. Hence, in the current study, we measured voice reactivity in response to AHH at 25000 ft in a continuous speech design.

2 Method

2.1 Subjects

The study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the University Hospital Brussels (B.U.N. 143201731931) and took place in the hypobaric chamber of the Center for Aerospace Medicine, Military Hospital Queen Astrid, Brussels, Belgium. Sixteen male adults with a military 'Very High Altitude' training including hypobaric hypoxia training participated (mean age, M = 35.6; SD = 8.3).

2.2 Materials

Voice recording occurred with a Shure Beta 58A Microphone (Shure, UK) and Interface Focusrite Scarlett 2i2 (© Focusrite Audio Engineering Plc.) at a sampling frequency of 44100 Hz in Ableton Live, v.9 (Ableton Inc., Colorado, USA). We used a standardized speech set of two-syllable nonsense words [7]. Speech analyses were performed in Matlab and PRAAT [11], statistical analyses in SPSS (v.25.0).

2.3 Procedure

After briefing and signing an informed consent, a baseline speech test at sea-level (SL) was recorded. Subsequently, after 30 min of pre-breathing 100% oxygen to prevent decompression sickness, the same speech test was performed at 25000 ft. During the test, the participants indicated when and which symptoms they felt. The bottom value of 65% SpO2 was set to break off the experiment and put on the mask, however the participants could put on their mask earlier if wanted.

2.4 Speech Analysis

The final analyses were based on 15 recordings (one missing value). The speech samples were prepared for automatic pre-segmentation in Matlab by manually removing noise and reading errors (<3%). The audio signal was automatically pre-segmented using a custom program written in Matlab. A syllable was considered present if the running average (over 100 samples) of the amplitude was larger than a fraction (5%) of the maximum average amplitude. For each segmented syllable F0 was computed with the 'pitch' routine of Matlab with default parameters, except for a window length equal to 52 ms, an overlap between the windows of half the window length and a median filter length of 7. An estimate of the F0 was thus obtained for each window position and the average of the F0 over the entire syllable was computed. The F0-range was the difference between the F0 values of syllable 1 and 2 based on a logarithmic scale log10(F0) to assign frequencies [7]. For VOT, previous research showed that the consonant 'p' is sensitive for fatigue-related stressors due to the larger average air flow required to pronounce it [12]. Therefore, we analyzed VOT of the 'p-words' using PRAAT [11] with plosive onset values based on the pre-segmentation calculated by MatLab and VOT based on second zero-crossing of the glottal pulse [7].

2.5 Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed in function of the indicated symptoms. Mean F0-range of each word and VOT for the p-words^{9,26} were calculated for the sea-level period (SL), the pre-symptomatic period at altitude (S0), the period with one reported symptom (S1), two symptoms (S2), three symptoms (S3), \geq symptoms (S \geq 4). We used linear mixed models with the symptom level (SL, S0, S1, S2, S3, S \geq 4) as independent repeated measure variable treated as fixed effect, the different voice test trials nested within the participants treated as random effect; and F0-range and VOT as dependent variables. An alpha-level of .05 was used and extra post hoc pairwise comparisons were performed adjusted with Bonferroni correction.

3 Results

There was a significant effect of the symptom level on the log10(F0-range), F(5, 250.870) = 36.948, p < .001. Log10(F0-range) significantly increased from SL (M = 0.0371; SD = 0.0149) to S0 (M = 0.0453; SD = 0.0232), p < .001. Subsequently, there was a plateau, showing no significant difference from S0 to S1 (M = 0.0501; SD = 0.0210), p = .802, from S1 to S2 (M = 0.0684; SD = 0.0364), p = .114 and from S2 to S3 (M = 0.0662 SD = 0.0413), p = 1.000. From S3 to S ≥ 4 (M = 0.0973; SD = 0.0244), p < .001, the log10(F0-range) again increased significantly, all Bonferroni corrected. The log10(F0-range) at SL was significantly smaller than at any other symptom level, p < .001, Bonferroni corrected (see Fig. 1).

There was a significant effect of the symptom level on VOT, F(5, 366.807) = 34.166, p < .001. VOT significantly decreased from SL (M = 0.0150; SD = 0.0009) to S0 (M = 0.0126; SD = 0.0008), p < .001. Then there was a plateau with no significant difference, neither from S0 to S1 (M = 0.0122; SD = 0.0008), p = .155, nor from S1 to S2 (M = 0.0124; SD = 0.0008), p = 1.000. Then there was a significant increase from S2 to S3 (M = 0.0134; SD = 0.0009), p = .005. The further increase from S3 to S ≥ 4 (M = 0.0147; SD = 0.0014), was not significant, p = .251. VOT at SL was significantly larger than any other symptom level, p < .001, Bonferroni corrected, except at S ≥ 4 , p = .1000 (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The voice reactivity in the parameters Log10(F0-range) and VOT (in ms) during the different symptom levels. Significant changes are indicated by an asterisk*.

4 Discussion

In the current study we examined the voice output of 16 subjects at 25000 ft altitude in a hypobaric chamber using a continuous speech design with a standardized two-syllable nonsense test. We analyzed F0-range and VOT in function of the symptoms as indicated by the subjects (i.e., SL, S0, S1, S2, S3, S \geq 4). A continuous speech design was chosen to examine the incidence of a pre-symptomatic compensatory mechanism and to exclude aliasing as a reason in case this compensation was not found.

In correspondence with Van Puyvelde et al. [7], we did not find the pre-symptomatic compensatory mechanism characterized by a combined decrease F0-range and VOT

at 25000 ft during S0. We also observed a significant decrease in VOT whereas F0range significantly increased. Hence the apparent absence of a top-down compensation at 25000 ft is not due to aliasing. From an operational point of view, this may be both beneficial and adverse. As said before, it would be impossible to ask pilots to maintain continuous speech in a cockpit during a flight. However, this result also implies that different psychophysiological mechanisms seems to be at work dependent from the altitude which complicates AHH detection.

According to the Model of Voice Effort (MOVE) [8], decreases in F0-range as well as VOT reflect ongoing top-down compensation mechanisms whereas an increase in those parameters reflects the commencement of control loss. Hence, according to this theory, when top-down control is dominating, the F0-range and VOT would decrease whereas when loss of control starts to dominate, the F0-range and VOT would increase. Therefore Van Puyvelde et al. [7] interpreted the combined decrease of VOT and F0range at 20000 ft during the pre-symptomatic phase as one compensatory voice response. We argue that it is however important to consider both voice parameters separately and to take into account that VOT and F0-range may have different response time curves as well as different dose-response curves. This is not unobvious since, anatomically, both voice parameters are acting at a different voice level as well. F0-range is the expression of activity in the laryngeal nerves and cricothyroid muscle system which causes vocal fold contraction or relaxation whereas VOT is related to the articulatory co-ordinational part of the respiration system [8, 9]. Hence, we propose that both voice parameters are simultaneously at work driven by different underpinnings, being phonation (F0-range) and respiration (VOT).

Concretely, in the results, we suggest that the increased F0-range from SL to S0 at 25000 ft was the expression of sympathetic arousal due to the first impact of the acute hypoxia. F0 has indeed been shown to be sensitive for acute arousal in particular, characterized by increases in both F0 and F0-range (e.g., real-life emergency, see review [8]). On the other hand, the simultaneous decrease in VOT is proposed to be the expression of parasympathetic top-down regulation in the respiratory system. In the literature it has been accepted that the respiration is the main key for regulation of autonomic stress reactivity [2, 8–10, 13]. Respiration has a parasympathetic regulation on sympathetic bottom-up arousal via the mediation of the nervus vagus on the sinoatrial node of the heart to inhibit bottom-up arousal [8, 9]. As already mentioned, VOT is part of the respiratory component of voice processing. The regularity of breathing and the extent to which expiration is preserved, is related with the coordination of timing between vowels and consonants [8]. Similar as during physical exercise, hypoxia is likely to evoke a competition for resources between the ventilation processes of speech and the metabolic demands of the hypoxic conditions [8, 14], hence inducing immediate top-down regulation. This is for instance one of the reasons why the consonant 'p' that requires a larger average air flow is sensitive for fatigue [12].

After this first attempt to regulate, we suggest that the plateau in the F0-range from S0 to S3 was the indirect and therefore delayed response of the laryngeal system to this previous respiration-induced attempt for regulation. The laryngeal system is indirectly related to the respiration system since the cricothyroid muscle that is involved in vocal fold stretching and thus F0 regulation is also mediated by the nervus vagus whose

parasympathetic output is induced by respiration [8, 9]. Later in the VOT-course, when the participants indicated their second and third symptom (from S2 to S3) there was a significant increase in VOT from S2 to S3. We suggest that this re-increase of VOT was the result of the first loss of top-down control. Notable, this loss of control in VOT was again pursued in a delayed manner by the first new significant increase in F0-range at S3 after the plateau in the previous stages. Hence, a new release of bottom-up arousal after the parasympathetic brake is starting to break down.

Overall, we propose that the voice output has different parameters that give together insight in the final balance between compensation and control of ongoing sympathetic and parasympathetic processes that can be active at the same time. Support for this hypothesis can be found in the model of Berntson, Cacioppo and Quigley [15]. This model shows that on the level of the autonomic nervous system, stress-reactivity is the final integrated outcome of ongoing sympathetic arousal and/or parasympathetic regulation processes. The sympathetic and parasympathetic component can occur in activation/co-inhibition (i.e., they simultaneously increase or decrease), in reciprocity (i.e., one increases whereas the other decreases) or independent from one another (i.e., either sympathetic or parasympathetic). Since voice reactivity is the output of similar psychophysiological processes and their underpinning autonomic fluctuations in the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system, the voice may show similar dynamic processes [8].

This new hypothesis may also explain as to why the F0-range in Van Puyvelde et al. [8] decreased (and not increased) in the pre-symptomatic stage at 20000 ft is probably due to the difference in altitude. AHH is a non-linear process and so is its impact. The hypoxic induction and its impact are slower at lower altitudes than at the higher 25000 ft, which allows subjects to adapt and prepare more gradually and to have a more efficacious control from the start. This may explain as to why chronic hypoxia to which persons can gradually adapt at high altitudes shows a maintained VOT-decrease [16].

The increase in VOT from S2 to S3 corresponds with the significant increase in VOT at a symptomatic stage in Saito et al. [17]. However, Saito et al. [8] did not find a first attempt to control in the start of their experiment which may be explained by the difference in instructions in our experiment and the background of the subjects. The subjects in the current study were trained in symptom recognition, they were prepared to become hypoxic and from their training experience they knew on average when to expect the first symptoms. Consequently, there was an inevitable focus on symptom recognition and increased motivation to compensate which was not the case in Saito et al. [8]. Hence it would be interesting to replicate the experiment in a single blinded crossover study with a real altitude and placebo condition. For instance, Benedetti and Piedimonte [18] proposed a placebo effect conditioned by the ritual inherent of the experiment or training that only can be avoided by putting the participant in a "not-knowing" position.

In summary, based on the current voice analyses at an altitude of 25000 ft in a hypobaric chamber, we presented a hypothesis that voice reactivity in response to AHH is the output of a trade-off between ongoing mechanisms of both compensation and control loss but that different voice parameters obey different time-lines and dose-response curves. We suggest that VOT responded immediately to top-down control after acute exposure to altitude due to its direct respiratory link and that F0-range responded in a

delayed manner innerved by the nervus vagus. Hence, we hypothesize that VOT may express the acute attempt of the body to take control over the situation being the result of parasympathetic respiration-driven regulation whereas F0-range may be considered as the output of the success of that attempt showing the level of ongoing sympathetic arousal. We believe that voice stress analysis is a promising tool to further explore with the goal to facilitate future real-time voice detection. However, there is still a bulk of work to do to further disentangle the different response curves of different voice parameters and the impact of other ongoing stress processes on top of the acute hypoxia-induced phasic stress response [7]. Moreover, it is not yet clear whether pilots will respond similar in real-life flying conditions when not expecting to become hypoxic and being involved in other tasks than when they are involved only in a hypobaric training experiment. Finally, detailed and varied respiration parameters should be measured (e.g., amplitude, ventilation, flow of inhalation and exhalation, frequency) in future AHH research to test the hypothesis that respiratory based processes drive the observed changes in the voice output. As previously suggested by Van Puyvelde et al., since respiration is the driving force of both stress and speech, it may be the missing link to fully understand voice stress.

Acknowledgments. The current study was funded by Belgian Defence HFM-1602. We are grateful to the Center for Aerospace Medicine at the Military Hospital of Brussels, Belgium, and the participating subjects for their voluntary cooperation.

References

- Pickard, J.S., Gradwell, D.P.: Respiratory physiology and protection against hypoxia. In: Davis, J.R., Stepanek, J., Johnson, R., Fogarty, J.A. (eds.) Fundamentals of Aerospace Medicine, 4th edn, pp. 42–55. Wolters Kluwer, Philadelphia (2008)
- Cable, G.G., Westerman, R.: Hypoxia recognition training in civilian aviation: a neglected area of safety. J. Austral. Soc. Aerosp. Med. 5, 4–6 (2010)
- Cable, G.G.: In-flight hypoxia incidents in military aircraft: causes and implications for training. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 74, 169–172 (2003)
- 4. Neuhaus, C., Hinkelbein, J.: Cognitive responses to hypobaric hypoxia: implications for aviation training. Psychol. Res. Behav. Manage. **7**, 297 (2014)
- 5. Xu, L., et al.: Effect of high altitude hypoxia on cognitive flexibility. Chin. J. Appl. Phys. **30**, 106–109 (2014)
- Files, D.S., Webb, J.T., Pilmanis, A.A.: Depressurization in military aircraft: rates, rapidity, and health effects for 1055 incidents. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 76, 523–529 (2005)
- Van Puyvelde, M., Neyt, X., Vanderlinden, W., Van den Bossche, M., Bucovaz, T., De Winne, T., Pattyn, N.: Voice reactivity as a response to acute hypobaric hypoxia at high altitude. Aerosp. Med. Hum. Perf. 91, 471–478 (2020)
- Van Puyvelde, M., Neyt, X., McGlone, F., Pattyn, N.: Voice stress analysis: a new framework for voice and effort in human performance. Front Psychol. 9, 1994 (2018)
- 9. Cardoso, R., Lumini-Oliveira, J., Meneses, R.F.: Associations between autonomic nervous system function, voice, and dysphonia: a systematic review. J. Voice **35**, 1–9 (2019)
- Grossman, P., Taylor, E.W.: Toward understanding respiratory sinus arrhythmia: relations to cardiac vagal tone, evolution and biobehavioral functions. Biol. Psy. 74, 263–285 (2007)

- 11. Boersma, P., Weenink, D.: Doing phonetics by computer, version 6.0.29 (2013). http://www.praat.org/
- 12. Greeley, H.P., et al.: Fatigue estimation using voice analysis. Behav. Res. Methods **39**, 610–619 (2007)
- Vlemincx, E., Taelman, J., De Peuter, S., Van Diest, I., Van Den Bergh, O.: Sigh rate and respiratory variability during mental load and sustained attention. Psychophysiology 48, 117– 120 (2011)
- 14. Hainsworth, R., Drinkhill, M.J., Rivera-Chira, M.: The autonomic nervous system at high altitude. Clin. Auton. Res. 17, 13–19 (2007)
- Berntson, G.G., Cacioppo, J.T., Quigley, K.S.: Autonomic determinism: the modes of autonomic control, the doctrine of autonomic space, and the laws of autonomic constraint. Psychol. Rev. 98, 459–487 (1991)
- Lieberman, P., Morey, A., Hochstadt, J., Larson, M., Mather, S.: Mount Everest: a space analogue for speech monitoring of cognitive deficits and stress. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 76, B198–B207 (2005)
- 17. Saito, I., Fujiwara, O., Utsuki, N., Mizumoto, C., Arimori, T.: Hypoxia induced fatal aircraft accident revealed by voice analysis. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. **51**, 402–406 (1980)
- Benedetti, F., Piedimonte, A.: The neurobiological underpinnings of placebo and nocebo effects. Semin. Arthritis Rheum. 49(3), S18–S21 (2019)



Human Factors Analysis for a New Wake Vortex Air Traffic Alert

Frédéric Rooseleer^{1(\Big)}, Adriana-Dana Schmitz¹, and Barry Kirwan²

¹ European Organization for the Safety of Air Navigation (EUROCONTROL), Rue de la Fusée 96, 1130 Brussels, Belgium {frederic.rooseleer,adriana-dana.schmitz}@eurocontrol.int ² EUROCONTROL Experimental Centre (EEC), Brétigny-sur-Orge, France barry.kirwan@eurocontrol.int

Abstract. Humans play an essential role in air transport safety. Yet the integration of Human Factors into design is not systematically comprehensive nor uniform. A Horizon Europe 2020 research project called SAFEMODE, aims to consolidate a HUman Risk-Informed Design (HURID) framework. Rather than take a piecemeal approach, focusing on either Human Factors, learning from incidents, or risk modelling, SAFEMODE integrates all of these into one framework for designers to use, whether developing improvements or new systems, and at varying stages of design from the early concept stage, to detailed design prior to deployment. One of the selected Case Studies supporting HURID validation is the design of a new Wake Vortex Air Traffic Alert for Cruise phase of flight. The paper presents the HURID application in support of the concept design.

Keywords: Human Factors · Wake vortex · Upset prevention

1 Introduction

The development of new operational concepts needs to adequately integrate Human Factors (HF), ensuring that the expected human performance meets human capabilities. Several Human Factors methodologies and techniques have been developed over time, with specific added values, for use at various steps of the concept development lifecycle.

The European Organisation for the Safety of Air Navigation (EUROCONTROL), is collaborating in a Horizon Europe 2020 research project called SAFEMODE, aimed at consolidating a HUman Risk-Informed Design (HURID) framework. Rather than take a piecemeal approach, focusing on either Human Factors, learning from incidents, or risk modelling, SAFEMODE integrates all of these into one framework for designers: whether developing improvements or new systems, and at varying stages of design (from the early concept stage, to detailed design prior to deployment). SAFEMODE does this by developing each function separately, then bringing them together, proposing a flexible and scalable approach for different stages of the design life cycle – covering concept definition, design and validation, and resource availability. SAFEMODE also seeks cross-fertilisation of the approach to human factors between different transport

modes, and gathers a consortium of Partners from the maritime and aviation domains. In view of validating HURID, the project relies on a series of case studies from both aviation and maritime domains. This paper presents the HURID framework and its application in support of the wake alert concept design, and describes the human factors analysis approach to support an appropriate level of human performance assurance.

2 HUman Risk-Informed Design (HURID) Framework

HURID is a simple learning cycle: operate and maintain a system, capture data on system performance for learning, and then apply it together with Human Factors (HF) expertise and techniques to deliver an improved, risk-informed design. HURID is supported by a series of HF activities which cover the concept development lifecycle. It includes incident analysis and Human Factors data exploitation, selection of appropriate HF techniques from an HF methodology toolkit, analysis of Human Factors with the involvement of actors (end-users as operational experts, concept expert, Human Factors experts, safety experts), simulations (from low fidelity to high fidelity) and risk modelling, as illustrated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Main steps of Human Risk-Informed Design (HURID) framework

SAFEMODE project case study goals are to support the validation of the HURID method by applying the HURID process to the development of new operational concepts, and by demonstrating that the HF design elements are adequately taken into account to ensure acceptable human performance when operating the new concepts. One of the aviation case studies is developing a new operational concept, aimed at facilitating the safe management by human in control, (i.e. Flight Crews) of wake turbulence encounter upsets in flight [1].

3 Wake Turbulence Aviation Risk

Every lift-generating, hence flying, aircraft trails wake vortices. The trailing vortices roll-up into a pair of coherent, counter-rotating vortices that can persist for several

minutes after the wake-generating aircraft has flown by, potentially causing a hazard to any following aircraft that may encounter these vortices, resulting in an aircraft upset (induced roll, loss of height or rate of climb), potential loss of control in-flight (LOC-I) and cabin injuries.

Despite maintaining the correct traffic separation according to the applicable rules, wake turbulence encounters are being occasionally reported in the En-route/cruise phase of flight in some airspace. Some of these events have resulted in significant upsets (reaching up to 60° bank), in particular for smaller aircraft types such as business jets. Experience has demonstrated that if the pilot reacts at the first roll motion – possibly influenced by the startle effect - when in the core of the vortex, the roll motion could be potentially amplified by this initial piloting action, due to the lack of anticipation. Moreover, En-route Air Traffic Control has no specific means to detect wake encounter risk. Wake detection and avoidance is clearly not a priority task compared to the essential duty of controlled air traffic collision prevention.

4 Wake Alerting Concept

A tactical wake turbulence risk alerting the Flight Crews ahead of the encounter could therefore be beneficial to reduce the startle effect and support appropriate management of these conflicts. The envisaged risk-alerting logic relies on a ground-based predictor, connected to the Air Traffic Control system, using information from air traffic surveillance and meteorological conditions in upper airspace, as well as a wake behaviour evolution and encounter model. The wake turbulence encounter alert function is displayed to the En-route/Area Control Centre (ACC) to both Executive & Planning Air Traffic Controllers (ATCOs). This alert will be calculated and displayed at a time horizon of 2-3 min before the predicted wake upset. Once the ATCO receives this WAKE alert, the Executive Controller will have to inform the flight Crew of the exposed aircraft, via voice communication, at the earliest opportunity, as illustrated in Fig. 2. Since the primary goal for Loss of Control Inflight (LOC-I) risk mitigation is to inform the flight crew of the imminent wake encounter risk, the wake alert is sought to be classified as a 'Caution' type of Alert: for conditions that require immediate flight crew awareness and subsequent flight crew response. The 'Caution' information will be accompanied by Traffic Information about the Generating aircraft, so that the flight crew know where the threat is coming from. For flight crews, the Caution Wake Turbulence information will necessitate a decision-making process on the subsequent actions to take: either decide for a trajectory adaptation for wake upset prevention, or secure the cabin and proceed with the planned trajectory, with the Pilot Flying (PF) covering the controls and managing the possible upset in accordance with Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), Flight Manual and Training. As a complementary design option for the new ATC procedure related to the wake caution alert, the Planner & Executive Controllers may also evaluate the feasibility to resolve the wake conflict by adapting the flight trajectories and crossing geometry, taking into account the wake conflict geometry, e.g. avoiding the crossing with the aircraft descending in front, while not creating other traffic conflicts due to this manoeuvre.



Fig. 2. Air Traffic Control Wake Turbulence Alerting concept

5 HF Analysis

Regarding the design intent and the concept's novelty, the first overriding question to be answered is whether this is a relatively straightforward addition to the existing design and the current operational working practices, or a departure from their normal way of working.

The HF analysis methodology is selected from the HURID HF toolkit. Considering the nature of the concept, addressing Air Traffic Management and its maturity, the Single European Sky Air traffic management Research (SESAR) Human Performance (HP) Case Methodology, presented in the SESAR HP presentation guide [3], is used as a guiding reference for the HF assessment. The SESAR HP method provides a structured and argument-based approach to assess HF-related risk and their mitigation, addressing roles and responsibilities, human and system interactions, teams and communications, and transition to the new operations (including training). Applying the HURID process, the concept design is supported by:

- understanding the HF issues to be addressed, supported by incident analysis
- assessing the impact of the new concepts on human performance, identifying the HF areas affected by the change
- providing human performance assurance of the proposed design based on validations involving airline pilots and ATCOs.

5.1 Analysing the Human Factors in Wake Turbulence Occurrences

The analysis of wake turbulence encounter reports over a 2 year period (2017–2018) (shared by two of the SAFEMODE Aircraft Operator Partners), from a Human Factors

perspective confirmed that in almost all cases (90%), the Flight Crews were unable to anticipate the events. The statistics are detailed in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Statistics of human factors involved related to anticipation and detection of reported wake turbulence encounters in cruise phase of flight

5.2 Task Analysis

The initial HF assessment starts with an understanding of the baseline operating methods, focusing on the role and actions of the human and interactions with the system and operational environment. Hierarchical Task Analysis (HTA) can support this understanding, as well as how the operating method needs to change. In the case of the En-route wake alert, both airborne side with Flight Crews and ground-based side with Air Traffic Controllers need to be assessed. The task analysis for Flight Crew management of wake turbulence encounter in cruise is developed hereafter.

In cruise, flights are typically managed by auto-pilot automated functions and the Flight Management System (FMS): the flight crew have primarily a flight monitoring role, executing the ATC instructions, and evaluating strategies for optimising flight performance. The flight crew comprises two roles: the Pilot Flying (PF) and the Monitoring (PM). The Pilot Flying is mainly responsible for flight execution and navigation, and compliance with ATC instructions, while the Pilot Monitoring is responsible for ATC communications and the monitoring and checking of actions by the PF. The Flight Crews are supported by multiple aircraft and flight management systems and displays, including the primary flight display (PFD) and the navigation display (ND). The management of a wake turbulence encounter has been assessed by describing the actions taken before, during and after the wake encounter, considering the flight crew, their use of visual information out-the-window and from instrumentation, the effect of automation, their control actions as well as the communication with Air Traffic Control. The resulting merged task analysis is shown in a consolidated table representation in Table 1.

Table 1. Merged task analysis of wake turbulence encounter management by Flight Crews in cruise phase of flight.

| Time | Pilot Flying (PF) | Pilot Not Flying (PNF) | Outside View | Cockpit instrumentat ion | A/c & autopilot status | Action / Control | ATC |
|----------------|--|--|--|---|---|---|--|
| Pre-wake | Expect smooth flight path A/P engaged If expected WVE, cover controls in case Potential briefing PF/PNF | If time available, inform Cabin Crew Monitor flight path evolution Active monitoring Put seat belt sign ON if time allows | Other aircraft awareness Monitoring other aircraft trajectory Check collision course Depends on day/night (IMC) conditions | Check attitude, altitude, speed, Bank angle (in turn) TCAS use for getting relative trajectory (not permanent/for every traffic proximity) | Check A/P status Keep A/P engaged even if potential WVE expected | Monitor expected behaviour and detect unsual situations Plan for manual intervention Adapt seat position to be hands-on | if risk suspected - Go for lateral offset - Ask for trajectory change (heading / level) |
| Wake hits | See how A/P cope and correct attitude and re- establish flight path ANC golden rule (Aviate, Navigate, Communicate) | See if agreement in the PF actions (if sitting in the cockpit at that time) Put seat belt sign ON if time allows | At that time focus on instruments | PF checks primary flight/ attitude parameters PM will check flight path | Depends if A/P automatically or manually disengaged Check FMA (flight mode annunciation) for normal/degraded mode | Cf. PF | No time for ATC com |
| A/C Stabilised | Check everything back to nominal Discussion between PF/PM | Same as PF | | Check everything back to nominal | Re-engage A/P if needed | check with CC then PA for explaining/re- assuring | Report to ATC , inquire about generating traffic and file ASR |

5.3 HMI Design

The new wake alert information will need to be presented to the Air Traffic Controller on their surveillance display HMI. An initial HMI design is defined, building on the following key principles:

- Once the risk of a significant wake encounter is predicted for a given traffic, it displays a simple 'WAKE' text in the flight label of the affected aircraft.
- the alert is classified as a caution, and is therefore displayed with a yellow colour, as per EASA NPA on AMC 25.1322: Flight Crew Alerting [4].
- the affected traffic is identified, as well as the wake generating traffic in order to facilitate the 'traffic information' message from the ATCO to the Pilots
- the information shall not clutter or hide other information and shall meet best practice of HMI design HF principles.

6 Human Assurance Validations

Using the new wake alerting concept and preliminary design, the HURID application will extend into validation objectives, aiming at providing human performance assurance on adequate adaptation of roles & responsibilities, appropriate design and execution of new operating methods/tasks, appropriate new HMI, appropriate communication/phraseology, appropriate skills and appropriate training (scenario, method/technique, objectives).

The validation encompasses several complementary activities involving end-users: HMI design reviews, Hazard & Operability (HAZOP) sessions, and real-time humanin-the-loop real-time air traffic control and cockpit flight simulations [2]. The HMI design review is to be based on HMI design Guidance. Referenced guides and checklists from SAFEMODE Human Assurance Toolkit, such as SESAR HP Guidance [3] or HMI design checklist from Federal Aviation Administration, will be used for evaluating whether the right information is being presented in the right format based on user feedback.

Error identification techniques such as TRACER, HAZOP and STAMP determine what can go wrong and how the human actors can respond to system disturbances and events, or degraded conditions, in a resilient fashion, as well as determining what errors could occur and how these could be recovered or their consequences mitigated. A HAZOP session will gather both Controllers and Pilots, in order to ensure the best input from expert users, and ensure capture of best practices of crew collaboration during wake events.

The validation also relies on high-fidelity simulations, involving licensed controllers and flight crews in realistic and representative conditions. HP measurements will include workload, situation awareness, trust, reaction-time, error, etc., as well as using more objective psychophysiological measures such as eye tracking and Electrodermal Activity (EDA). In particular, the eye-tracking is expected to support the refined determination of the sequence of actions before and after detection and reaction to the En-route ATC Wake alert, and understand further the Controller decision-making process when prioritising these tasks by determining which information he/she is looking at. To complement the validation, a Cockpit Flight Simulation will provide means to evaluate the performance of the Flight Crews to prepare for, manage or avoid wake encounter upset with the new ATC wake alerting information, and resulting safety benefits. More specifically, the validation will address the feasibility and acceptability of the Flight Crew procedure/actions, the improvement in the wake upset management as well as the training scenarios and their effectiveness. The validation will be supported by analysis of objective measurements to characterise pilot performance and decision-making (simulator flight behaviour/parameter recording and analysis, complemented by expert observation) and by subjective measurements (to capture the Pilot feedback).

As part of HURID (Fig. 1), risk models are used to describe the risk chain from accident precursors to accident, identifying preventive & protective (recovery) barriers and influence layers with their respective system-based and human (factor) deficiency contributions, using a fault-tree graphical representation. A wake turbulence risk model for cruise phase of flight has been developed, representing the chain of events from initial airborne wake generated conflict to loss of control in-flight and the 'barriers' including conflict prevention, detection, avoidance and upset recovery, with their related causes of inefficiencies at Human (Flight Crews and Air Traffic Controllers), procedural and system levels. Using incident reporting statistics and validation results, an initial qualitative assessment of the new wake alerting concept will be undertaken to determermine whether it will improve several protection layers: significantly reducing the likelihood of inefficient wake turbulence encounter risk detection and avoidance, reducing the likelihood of inefficient Pilot upset recovery actions, and ultimately reducing the likelihood of loss of control in-flight (LOC-I) and passengers (severe) injuries due to a wake turbulence encounter. Furthermore a possible quantification of benefits in terms of (orders of magnitude of) likelihood reduction is based on the outcome of the validation activities,

including real-time simulation results. Eventually, the use of a risk model consolidates the understanding on the safety benefits of the new proposed concept, and the level of enhanced mitigation of human errors or inefficiencies in the risk chain, which are contributing to operational incidents and accidents.

7 Conclusions

This paper has introduced HURID as a consolidated approach to address Human Factors in risk-based design, gathering in a single framework a set of complementary activities covering the concept development lifecycle, from human factors issue identification, to human factor analysis of proposed concept and validation supporting human performance assurance. It has also illustrated the application of HURID to a case study on the design of a new wake alerting to Air Traffic Controllers in view of cautionary informing the Flight Crews of the risk of predicted imminent wake turbulence encounter in order for them to avoid the startle effect in managing the upset, or if possible implement wake avoidance strategies. The Human Factors analysis involved end-users at every step of the design assessment, from understanding the operations (via incident analysis and hierarchical task analysis), to refining the design (design reviews, hazard identification), and training and validation (real-time simulation).

Acknowledgement. This publication is based on work performed in SAFEMODE Project which has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, under grant agreement 814961. Any dissemination reflects the author's view only and the European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of information it contains.

EUROCONTROL is grateful for the SAFEMODE Case Study #1 Partners for their collaboration and contribution to the human factor analysis of the new wake alerting concept: HUN-GAROCONTROL, Ecole Nationale de l'Aviation Civile (ENAC), TUIfly Airways, RYANAIR, AIRBUS and The Russian Federal State Entreprise Central Aerohydrodynamic Institute Named after Prof. N.E. Zhukovsky (TsAGI).

References

- 1. European Commission Horizon 2020, SAFEMODE Project, D6.1 List of domain case studies and defined scenario with HF analysis, August 2020
- 2. European Commission Horizon 2020, SAFEMODE Project, D6.2 Validation Plan: CONOPS, scenarios, technical equipment, experimental design, November 2020
- 3. SESAR Joint Undertaking, Updated Generic HP Information Presentation Process and Information Presentation Guide (2013)
- 4. European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA), Notice of Proposed Amendment (NPA) 2009-12

Organizational Effects on Human Performance



How Many Human Factors Influenced the June 30, 2013, Yarnell Hill Fire 19 Fatalities and Yet Were Never Investigated Nor Documented?

Fred J. Schoeffler¹(🖂)</sup>, Lance Honda², and Joy A. Collura³

¹ Sheff LLC, Pine, AZ, USA
 ² Prineville, OR, USA
 ³ Yarnell Hill Fire Revelations, Congress, AZ, USA
 arizona.desert.walker@protonmail.com

Abstract. Wildland firefighting is inherently dangerous, fraught with simple mishaps to inevitable fatal outcomes for the unwary. Established, sound rules and guidelines will continue to work to keep Wildland Firefighters and Firefighters safe. Human factors, consistent across all work groups, are variously broken down into human errors, human failures, error chain(s), etc. making fatalities unavoidable. All we can do is reduce them. Nineteen Prescott FD Granite Mountain Hot Shot wildland firefighters and supervisors perished on the June 2013 Yarnell Hill Fire in Arizona. Inexplicably, they left their Safety Zone during explosive fire behavior. A Serious Accident Investigation Team found, "… no indication of negligence, reckless actions, or violations of policy or protocol." The authors and others infer: the final, fatal link, in a long chain of bad decisions with good outcomes. Among other things, tunnel vision, auditory exclusion, goal fixation, non-critical thinking, destructive goal pursuit, Groupthink, and "Friendly Fire" are discussed.

Keywords: Yarnell Hill Fire \cdot Wildland firefighting \cdot Friendly fire \cdot Human factors

1 Introduction

How is it possible that 19 wildland firefighters perished on the Arizona State Forestry (ASF) Yarnell Hill (YH) Fire in one fell swoop, yet the USFS federally-funded Serious Accident Investigation Team and Report (SAIT-SAIR) boldly and unbelievably concluded that they found "... no indication of negligence, reckless actions, or violations of policy or protocol"? (emphasis added) [1–3]. Additionally, "3. The Team recommends ... develop[ing] a wildland fire staff ride for the Yarnell Hill Fire incident. The staff ride is a process of conveying the lessons learned from this incident for future fire leaders." Furthermore, "5. The Team recommends that the State of Arizona request the NWCG and/or Wildland Fire Leadership Council (WFLC) to charter a team of interagency

wildland fire and *human factors* experts to conduct further analysis of this event and the wildland fire communications environment." (emphasis added) [1-3].

Human factors refer to environmental, organizational and job factors, and human and individual characteristics, which influence behavior at work in a way which can positively or adversely affect safety [5]. The Staff Ride is a stellar idea, brought to fruition more from a mandated court order than from this SAIT recommendation [4]. However, it's been reported that the "official" ones were fairly restrictive and required to use and follow the "official" SAIR, thus impeding any valid lessons learned [4]. And the interagency team of "human factors experts"? Likely discussed but certainly never taken on to completion. And so, the authors and others (e.g. InvestigativeMEDIA, Yarnell Hill Fire Revelations) took it upon themselves to accept and attend to this crucial task [4].

There will always be a continuing need for dedicated research on the Yarnell Hill (YH) Fire fatalities, seeking out and gathering newly revealed public records evidence regarding the causal human factors and human errors ignored in the alleged "investigation." Some WFs, FFs, and slightly inquisitive others are still unsure whether there was a rogue firing (burning out) operation in the Sesame Street and Shrine Fuel-Fire Break Corridor. This is informally referred to in the insensitively-named Serious Accident Investigation Team "Factual and Management Report" (SAIT-SAIR) as the "the two-track road (an old fuel break) between Sesame Street and Shrine Road ... preparing for burnout along the dozer line." [3]. Some GMHS family, friends, and loved ones, are grudgingly aware of it, and prefer to euphemistically (and incorrectly) refer to it as a "back burn." [4] (i.e. "I stand firm that there was a back burn that came up that canyon. It was this fact along with the weather change that the IC never sent out because they were busy evacuating that caused the death of Granite Mountain.") [4]. This is a wishful yet out-of-place sentiment. Allegedly "evacuating" had nothing to do with their deaths! Undeniably, from their viable Safety Zone in the black, they had the best vantage point of anyone on the fire (except Air Attack), of the increasingly adverse weather and the resultant aggressive fire behavior that deceived them. The GMHS veterans knew better!

Because of all this, WFs, FFs, and others will continue to struggle to make sense of the June 30, 2013, YH Fire; the "*how and why*" 19 of the 20 Granite Mountain Hot Shot (GMHS) fatalities. We all certainly know *how* they died. However, there is a rightful need to analyze *why* so many died needlessly and *why* key evidence is concealed, impeding lessons learned; all the while restricting YH Fire-informed and -knowledgeable USFS employees from talking about or legally being questioned for the tragedy [4].

1.1 Background

The magnitude and complexity of the fire itself and of the human response to it will vary because fire operations are inherently dangerous and will never change [6]. The risk to wildland firefighters (WFs) and Firefighters (FFs) has increased in recent years largely due to large fires have been reported in the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI); "where structures and other human development meet or intermingle with wildland or vegetative fuels." [7]. Was there a rogue firing operation below them in the Sesame Street and Shrine Fuel-Fire Break Corridor areas that they were unaware of because they had no lookout or failed to notify Air Attack? Or because those involved with the several firing operations never informed anyone? Likely all of them. This was a



Fig. 1. Left (1a) photo - intense fire behavior 6/30/13 at 1629 h. from Assembly of God church along Hwy. 89 with Google Earth overlay - right icon is GMHS location, left icon is GMHS-descent point, lower icons are GMHS deployment/fatality site (DZ) and Helms (BSR) **Source:** Lauber, WTKTT, Google Earth. Middle (1b) photo - Enhanced Google Earth snippet image using Paint, aligned northwest, Sesame - Shrine Corridor leading to parallel twin chutes funneling upslope to GMHS DZ. **Source:** Google Earth, Collura. Right photo (1c) intense fire behavior 6/30/13 at 1631 h. along Hwy. 89. "D" is GMHS DZ **Source:** ABC News, WTKTT

clear sign of the normalization of deviance, drifting into failure; a progressive series of elements in a long chain of bad decisions with good outcomes setting up their inevitable fatal entrapment outcome [1, 2, 4, 7–9]. These factors may have impeded their decision-making: (1) cultural influences of municipal fire departments with collateral wildland fire responsibilities to "save structures" at all costs and consider FF safety as a "last resort;" [9] (2) known, obvious unsafe GMHS leadership concerns; (3) weak Crew cohesion that relied on consensus-seeking ("absence of leadership"); and (4) failing to know the situation(s) were getting out-of-hand (snowball effect), thus losing the ability to detect they were cognitively overloaded and needed to change plans or disengage [10]. One even deemed it "*an accident, just one of those things that happen.*" [9].

1.2 Motivation

Human Factors expert, Dr. Ted Putnam, wrote: Generally, the goal of accident reports is to convey as much of the truth of an event that is discoverable. Sometimes investigators deliberately distort or do not report all the causal elements, leading firefighters to distrust these reports, which can hamper our efforts to stay safe [4, 11]. 'Wildland firefighting is a high-risk occupation, shown each year by deaths or injuries in the line of duty. Identifying causal human factors to mitigate them in the future is critical.' [6]. The authors allege the USDA has been exceptionally deceptive. Given all this, how are true, intended complete "lessons learned" possible? Veteran WF Bruce Hensler points out that it does no good to identify or share any "lessons learned" if the industry that needs to learn them refuses to do so [12]. Putnam believes [WFs] will continue to die as long as they fail to come to terms with certain realities by acknowledging ... the *recurring failure to learn from lessons*." (emphasis added) [11].

2 The Sesame Street and Shrine Fuel/Fire Break Corridor Area(s) Firing Operations

At least twenty (20) people, including veteran WFs and FFs and the two YH Fire hikers watched a video in July 2013 at the Yarnell, AZ Library of a Sesame Street and Shrine

Corridor firing operation; also viewed by one FF on YouTube before it was removed. The video abruptly vanished without a trace, like other YH Fire evidence. There were also burnt fusees (firing devices akin to large road flares) found on a 2014 site visit and a GMHS family member found "*accelerants*" with specialized dogs another time [4].

Former YFD Fire Chief Peter Andersen (RiP) validated: "we built an emergency escape route for Yarnell *in case there was a burnout like this* ... in that area below The Shrine, west of The Shrine, they had dozers back there widening that so that it would create a fire break, ..." [13] WFs and local FFs regarding it as so, acted accordingly.

3 Wildland Firefighting Rules - Human Factors, Human Errors, and Human Failures

All WFs are trained in specific rules, crucial to follow to ensure good direction, leadership, safety, and vigilance. The strict Standard Firefighting Orders, organized purposely and sequentially, are to be carried out sensibly on all wildfires [1–3]. The 18 Watch Out Situations, (i.e. guidelines), are faced on all fires, more to warn of impending dangers. The authors and experienced WFs contend that knowing and abiding by the wildland firefighting rules works. They urge sound leadership and safe decisions [6]. There are no <u>documented</u> wildfire fatalities when the Standard Firefighting Orders are followed and the cautionary 18 Watch Out Situations ("10 & 18") are mitigated [14]. Sadly, there is a crusade afoot by current and former WFs and Managers to discredit these based on the SAIT conclusion, i.e. "*they did everything right and still died*." [4].

The most critical of the established Wildland Fighting Rules are listed in the (NWCG) Incident Response Pocket Guide (IRPG) [1, 2, 15]. Again, if WFs follow the Standard Firefighting Orders and are alerted to the 18 Watch Out Situations, much of the risk of firefighting can be reduced saving tens of thousands of WF lives each fire season [1, 4]. It is well-known and accepted in the WF community that these tried and tested rules work when applied consistently and with sound, decisive judgement [1, 2, 4, 6, 9].

Inexplicably, the National Interagency Fire Center (NIFC) urged YH Fire investigators to <u>withhold</u> some findings from the public, and to <u>avoid</u> analyzing whether crews violated fundamental fire-line rules in the AZ Republic (NPR) [16]. Restating, there are high-level criticisms by some alleged WF "leaders," by way of the Wildland Fire LLC (WFLLC), that the WF Rules "cannot work ... not going to keep us safe" and we need to rely on "luck decision conversations." [15]. The authors and most WFs agree on the validity of the WF Rules, disregarding "luck decisions." Abiding by defensive WF Rules and human factors is missing in most fatal wildfire investigation reports [14].

When asked by ADOSH investigators, alleged GMHS "lookout" McDonough, just moments after admitting that it was 'policy' for the GMHS to always '*risk a lot to save a lot*' in Wildland Firefighting (i.e. Fight fire aggressively, having provided for safety first, the 10&18, LCES, etc.) - he said: "*It's – it's hillbilly. It's what it is.*... *It's old. It's, uh, no offense to whoever came up with that, um, I mean no disrespect to anybody, but, I mean, it is the way they fight wildland fires today* ... *is, I mean* ... *Oh it's* ... *We're smart. We're a lot smarter.*" [17]. So smart, that with this cavalier safety attitude, his entire Crew, except one, was killed! In his book defending his Brothers' actions, he confirms this, never citing safety rules. A third year GMHS had to be coached on this.

Consider now (below) several of the human factors inferred from the text above.

3.1 Willingness to Properly Refuse Risk and Turn Down Protocol

It is largely agreed that wildland firefighting is a quasi-military venture; one is to obey orders unless unsafe, illegal, unethical, or immoral [1, 2]. It is located in the IRPG (p. 19) [16]. Confidently, it is safe to say that *all* WFs and FFs (notably supervisors) will be placed in these situations during their careers. *Most importantly, in every instance, they mustsatisfy their supervisory duties to ensure their respective individual and shared safety and welfare - no matter what!* So then, *why* did the GMHS fail to heed this on June 30th?

3.2 Plan continuation Bias

A potent, unconscious cognitive penchant, impeded the GMHS' ability to know they needed to change their course of action. Avalanche fatality scholars note people generally have a strong bias for sticking with what they have now and let their minds default to what is given or what has already been decided. They rely on stay-the-course impulses all the time, often with deceptively satisfactory results [18].

According to a Wildland Fire Safety Training Refresher (WFSTAR) poster, it was '52 min from the blowup to the burnover,' [4, 19]; yet the GMHS failed to notice obvious cues during that time period - instead "discussing our options," indicating that conditions were exponentially shifting - virtually screaming to them to 'stay in the black.'

3.3 Steady Drift Into Failure Via Bad Decisions With Prior Good Outcomes

Several instances of GMHS hazardous attitudes and actions support their drift into failure spanning from their first official Hot Shot status season in 2009 up until the YH Fire in 2013. These involved a repeated attitude of having to "*prove themselves*" or "*one-up*" other HS Crews on fires, conspicuously due to their Municipal FD status [9].

On the 2012 Holloway Fire in NV, their Crew Carriers were saved by an Oregonbased Contract Engine Crew in this VIMEO video. (http://vimeo.com/48411010) [9]. Based on acquired public records, this was the second of three times another Crew had to "*save*" their Crew carriers - on the Holloway, Sunflower, and YH Fires [9].

GMHS Brandon Bunch was sick and tired of the GMHS Supt. always acting like he had '*something to prove*.' "[H]e felt that under Marsh's command, the Hotshots were always having to prove themselves" (p. 54) [20]. Is it safe to infer that the GMHS *normalized* deviance again and again? Or more so with sneaky good outcomes? [1, 2, 4, 9].

3.4 Consequences of Inattention as Causal Factor

Credible research on '*inattentional blindness*' (IB) reveals that when someone is otherwise engaged, at times they fail to "see" obvious clear, fully visible, yet unexpected objects or events, IB also leads one to miss items that one *needed* to experience [2]. If an event meets their belief(s), they may be more likely to exhibit IB for a sudden, possible critical visual event [2]. *At least two of them had to take notice* [2]. This likely occurred as they discounted so many signs and - *minus a lookout or notifying Air Attack - hiked*

downhill into the friendly fire, raging uphill fire behavior from the likely Sesame Street -Shrine firing operation. (Fig. 1) [21]. AFUE transcripts show Marsh ordered air support ahead of GMHS [4].

3.5 Tunnel Vision and Auditory Exclusion

According to John Hopkins Univ. researchers Yantis and others, "When attention is deployed to one modality, it necessarily extracts a cost on another modality. The brain can't simultaneously give full attention to both." [21]. When the subjects directed their interest to visual tasks ("tunneling in"), the parts of the brain that record auditory stimuli registered decreased activity. And when they focused on listening to spoken messages, brain areas that respond to visual images showed less activity. Perceptual distortions can occur at any point (e.g., when the information is received, retained, or recalled). The mind will see what it expects to see and miss or misinterpret other potentially significant details [21].

In fact, this is an exceptionally well-known hazardous injury and fatality causal human factor requiring critical training for those in law enforcement and the military.

3.6 Groupthink

Groupthink is the mode of thinking that people engage in when they are deeply involved in a cohesive group, when the members, striving for unanimity override their motivation to realistically appraise alternative courses of action [22]. When a major proposition was the group's that displayed groupthink symptoms, this was more likely to produce poor decision outcomes, more likely to display symptoms of defective decision making, resulting in poor policy outcomes. Group decision-making and decision-making support for a commander is acceptable. Military units utilize group decision-making techniques to develop tactical plans and recommendations that assist the commander in making decisions during battle. When groups work well they are more superior to individual decision making abilities [22]. In mountaineering, a group's cohesion results from the shared pursuit of a shared goal rather than from strong social bonds between members [23]. Flawed decision making turned a hazardous summit attempt into a fatal one. Climbers fatally failed to adhere to the strict turn-around time. Favored directive leadership entails telling followers what needs to be done, and giving proper guidance along the way [23]. The authors and many WFs and FFs deem it was Groupthink that led these men to follow their leaders to their deaths.

3.7 Destructive Goal Pursuit

Ignoring potential hazards and thinking only of what you set out to achieve, sets one up for disaster. Why would a group still pursue a goal despite mounting evidence that it could not be attained? [24]. In part, because research indicates that the greater the insecurity a group feels of their chance of achieving the goal, the harder they'll try. With failure more likely, the more rooted they are [24].

Failure indicators then cause the group to put even more effort into achieving the goal. Why? It's engrained in us. The more difficult the obstacle, the greater the achievement. Goals once set, are very hard to abandon. It's difficult to let it go.

Goals also actually limit learning. Goals cause people to take risks they might not think to take otherwise. *A decisive point - wanting something badly enough can cause you to ignore your gut feelings. That's destructive goal pursuit.* Failure to develop individuals within an organization can be disastrous. Teach climbers, and thus WFs, to make sound decisions for themselves, rather than be overly reliant on their leaders.

3.8 Friendly Fire

In the military, a casualty circumstance applicable to persons killed or wounded in action mistakenly or accidentally by friendly forces. In wildland fire, there are a few familiar cases of errant firing operations to blame for WF deaths [21].

4 USDA USFS and OGC Employee "Direction" and "Guidance"

4.1 Obstructive Touhy Regulations and the Federal Housekeeping Statute

Between the "Touhy Regulations" [U.S. ex rel. Touhy v. Regan, 340 U.S. 462 (1951)] and the plenary Federal Housekeeping Statute, 5 U.S.C. § 301 [33], the USDA USFS has ensured that their BRHS and USFS AFUE employees <u>will not be interviewed</u> [4, 25].

This legal minefield ensures there will be *no* 'complete lessons learned,' described by BRHS Frisby, regarding the relevant planned Staff Ride human factors, accuracy, and veracity, as addressed in the email excerpts below. Frisby and the BRHS hold a wealth of YH Fire and GMHS information from June 30, 2013. *What is the USFS afraid of?*

4.2 USDA USFS Blue Ridge Hot Shot (BRHS) Crew and YH Fire Staff Ride

Consider excerpts from an April 2016 email from BRHS Supt. Brian Frisby to USFS National Human Dimensions Specialist Joseph Harris regarding the YH Fire Staff Ride. BRHS Supt. Frisby noted: "the [YH Fire Staff Ride] picture being painted is very different than what we remember" and that "there was so much that went on that day that [was] swept under the rug" and "the human factors that day were off the chart." (emphasis added) [4] Per Touhy warning, no BRHS was ever interviewed [25].

5 Conclusion and Recommendations

"If, as teachers of history will tell us, failing to learn the lessons of the past dooms us to reliving those lessons, then we must either impress indelibly into the minds of firefighters the lessons of the South Canyon Fire or we will again experience its tragic outcome." (Gleason and Robinson, 1994)" [27](emphasis added) Student of Fire [28] commenter Matt adds: "It is unforgivable that we allow sentiment and tradition [to] prevent us from learning anything from the human factors surrounding Yarnell because we continue to be blinkered and sentimental in our eagerness to 'not speak ill' of the dead. It is nothing short of astonishing that the official conclusion was that everybody involved in the Yarnell Hill Fire did everything right - despite the incineration of the 19 hotshots by flames so hellish that granite boulders fractured. Covering up facts because they make us uncomfortable dishonors the dead, and ensures the same mistakes will be made in the future." [28] (emphasis added) NONE of these are "hindsight bias."

The authors made a good faith attempt to share new information regarding some of the human errors that occurred on the June 30, 2013, YH Fire with the GMHS. New evidence is revealed regularly. There are an untold number of WFs, FFs, citizens; and family, friends, and loved ones of these same individuals that hold a lot of valuable information about the historic wildland fire lie, cover-up, and whitewash in photos, videos, human factors, and lessons learned narratives that need to be brought forward and shared. These valuable facts and insights will add greatly to *true "lessons learned*" to reduce wildfire fatalities, replacing the "incomplete" lessons we were force-fed [8].

WFs and FFs still talk about the numerous wildland fire fatalities that *continue* to occur - from the very <u>same</u> causal factors. Staff Rides are certainly a valuable asset in the "lessons learned" toolbox to reduce them. This noteworthy, yet ignored, key sentence - entirely on point - deserves attention: "A staff ride should avoid being a recital of a single investigation report. Such reports <u>rarely address the human</u> factors that affect individual decision-making. ... providing participants with a <u>variety of information sources</u> is important [26]. Recall that *all* wildland fire fatality investigations are based on predetermined conclusions and the Staff Rides are based on these cover-ups, lies, and whitewashes [4]. Nonetheless, the YH Fire <u>demands</u> many "information sources" so as to be even mildly factual linking the fully omitted human factors.

Acknowledgements. The authors wish to express their gratitude to: Dr. Ted Putnam for his Human Factors insight; InvestigativeMEDIA; the two Yarnell Hill Fire Eyewitness Hikers; those mandated to silence due to Agency 'direction' and 'guidance;' those troubled by the event; and WFs, FFs, and others that encourage us. To those who lost family, friends, and loved ones, the authors and most WFs and FFs think about those young men every day. They inspire us to research and write toward reducing fatalities.

References

- Schoeffler, F.J.: Epic Human Failure on June 30, 2013. In: Boring, R.L. (ed.) Advances in Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance, p. 589 (2017)
- Schoeffler, F.J.: It Could Not Be Seen Because It Could Not Be Believed on June 30, 2013. In: Boring, R.L. (ed.) AHFE 2018, AISC 778, pp. 231–243 (2018)
- 3. Karels, J., Dudley, M.: Yarnell Hill Fire Serious Accident Invest. Team (SAIT): Yarnell Hill Fire Serious Accident Investigation Report (SAIR). 122 p. (2013)
- 4. Yarnell Hill Fire Revelations: (www.yarnellhillfirerevelations.com/blog) (2018)
- 5. Eastern KY University (EKU): Understanding Human Factors in Occupational Safety, Accessed 2021
- 6. NWCG: Interagency Standards for Fire and Aviation Mgmt. (Red Book) (2021)

- Theobald, D., Romme, W.H.: Expansion of the US wildland–urban interface. Landscape Plan. 83, 340–354 (2007)
- Vaughan, D.: System Effects: On Slippery Slopes, Repeating Negative Patterns, and Learning From Mistake? Organ. At the Limit. Starbuck & Farjoun, Blackwell (1999)
- Schoeffler, F.J.: Human Factors Influenced the 30 June 2013 YH Fire Fatalities. CAWRT, RT-130 Refresher. PDF. Academia.edu. 48 p. (2016)
- 10. Berman, B., Dismukes, K., Loukopoulos, L.: Cognitive Limitations and Vulnerabilities on the Flight Deck. What Can We Do? Human Factors in Aviation Conf. (2007)
- Putnam, T.: Accidents, accident guides, stories, and the truth. In: Proceedings of 11th International Wildland Fire Safety Summit, International Association of Wildland Fire, MT, 4–8 April 2001
- 12. Hensler, B.: Fire Res. Mag. Yarnell Hill: The human factor six years later (2019)
- 13. Dougherty, J.: Former Yarnell Hill Fire Chief Peter Andersen Interview, 8 October 2013. YouTube. (https://youtu.be/UFObh-fNOl8) (2014)
- 14. Wildland Fire Lessons Learned Center (LLC): Incident Reviews, Online (2018)
- 15. NWCG: Incident Response Pocket Guide (IRPG). PMS 461, NFES 001077 (2018)
- 16. Wagner, D., Sanchez, Y.W.: Yarnell fire probe guidelines questioned. AZ Rep. (2013)
- 17. InvestigativeMEDIA: (https://www.investigativemedia.com/yarnell-hill-fire-2/)
- McCammon, I.: Heuristic traps in recreational avalanche accidents: evidence and implications. Avalanche News 68, 10 p. (2004)
- 19. Wildland Fire Safety Annual Refresher (WFSTAR): Blowup to Burnover (2018)
- Dickman, K.: On the Burning Edge: A Fateful Fire and the Men Who Fought It. Ballantine Books. New York, 277 p. (2015)
- Schoeffler, F.J.: Credible Evidence Continues to Surface Regarding a Likely Friendly Fire Incident on June 30, 2013. Boring, R.L. (ed.), p. 353 (2019)
- 22. Johnson, P.M.: Effects of Groupthink on Tactical Decision-Making. US Army (2001)
- Burnette, J.L., Pollack, J.M., Forsyth, D.R.: A Groupthink Analysis of the May 1996 Mount Everest Disaster. J. Leadership Stud. 4, 46–56 (2011)
- 24. Kayes, D.C.: Destructive Goal Pursuit: The Mount Everest Disaster. Palgrave (2006)
- Cornell Law School: LII :5 U.S. Code § 301 Departmental regulations. Pub. L. 89–554, 6 September 1966, 80 Stat. 379. Accessed 2021
- NWCG: Wildland Fire leadership Development Program. The Staff Ride (https://www.firele adership.gov/toolbox/staffride/index.html) (2019)
- Close, K.: Fire behavior vs. human behavior: why the lessons from cramer matter. In: Eighth International Wildland Fire Safety Summit, Missoula, MT, 26–28 April 2005
- Woodbridge, J.: Student of Fire Yarnell Hill Fire (https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url? u=http-3A__studentoffire.org_index.php_yarnell-2Dhill-2Dfire-2Dsite-2Dvisit_&d=DwI BaQ&c=vh6FgFnduejNhPPD0fl_yRaSfZy8CWbWnIf4XJhSqx8&r=RBo6AuZoqPUqdfI xMkY29PXcQu3yKI3zYibZM3SORus&m=q7_6tXkPq2uPHjSx5VwHDriXPxjBM6YG5 NBsZ_2OHU0&s=8W3HYORtk45dYI7EhUI9IFmb3gH255k3uqoifJfGxJ0&e). Accessed 2021



Continuous Stress and Consequence on C4t, Complexity, Risk, and Necessity of Leadership Level 5

Salvador Ávila^{1(⊠)}, Luiz Fernando Lopes de Souza², and Lucas Menezes Pereira¹

¹ UFBA, Salvador, Bahia, Brazil
 ² COPENOR, Camaçari, Brazil

Abstract. The stressful environment installed in the workplace within the industry or in areas where the population lives in cities, affects people in different ways. The vectors that promote this stressful environment can be physical, organizational, cognitive, social, and affective within a network of relationships that result in inclusion, or frustration, both movements of a dichotomous relationship between comfort and discomfort. The organizational-social and affective pressure for results within the expectation of a socio-affective bond with work will result in a greater or lesser cognitive load that affect psychological functions causing mind map instability. Some tests indicate the level of stability of these psychological functions inherent to the work environment and citizen. It is important to keep intact the perception of scenarios, level of attention, operations of memory, identification of patterns. This paper will treat a vacation family as a task and will present SARS Methodology and Tools.

Keywords: Stress · Human elements · Level 5 leader · SARS methodology

1 Introduction

The stressful environment installed in the work within the industry or in the areas where the population lives within cities affects people differently. The human and social typology, and cultural aspects, change this influence of the stress on the work. Specialized tools are used in dynamic simulation, surveys, and historical data statistics to understand about the bad actors in accidents. We know that the stress is a capillary phenomenon and then, difficult of control. The vectors that promote this stressful environment can be physical, organizational, cognitive, social, and affective within a network of reward and punish resulting, or inclusion, or frustration, both dichotomous movements between the comfort and discomfort.

2 Literature Review

This review aims to present concepts about effect of continuous stress on decision, and what the demands to Level 5 Leader are, that need to use C4t [1]. The failures or the

deviances arising from human action [2] contribute to accidents in the industry. There are 2 types of human errors: unintentional ones, generally considered accidental, such as triggering the wrong button, forgetting to open a valve; and the unintentional, the actions committed or omitted without any prior thought. Intentional deviances are actions that are committed or are deliberately omitted because it is believed that the action performed are correct and will be more efficient than the prescribed actions [2]. The existence of an inverted U-shaped mathematical relationship between stress and human performance was confirmed by [3]. The performance reaches the maximum and, from stress above normal, the performance is reduced, according to the Yerkes-Dodson Act.

Physical vectors can be indicated as temperature, presence of chemical and biological contaminants in the atmosphere, both excessive rain, and heat. According to [4], stress is a state produced by changes in the environment, which is perceived as threatening, challenging or harmful to the dynamic balance of the person. The nature of stress is variable. An event or change that produces stress at once may not generate the same reaction at another. It is observed that a person can feel challenged and motivated to face threatening situations. It is necessary to adapt to the changes, so that the person regains balance and reaches the energy and capacity needed to meet the new demands. It consists in the process of dealing with stress, a compensatory process with psychological and physiological components. In the discussion of organizational vectors, it is understood as actions of the organization. The question of being due depends on perception of the abnormality and tendencies that change over time.

A Level 5 Leader is important and certain responsibilities of communicating a failure, a deviance, a near miss, then attributing value to the initiatives that have arisen from the group of operators for the events contingency. This leadership has the fierce determination to achieve goals, along with its work team, in addition to the technical competence that leads the group to trust him. In the elaboration of a scenario close to reality, it is sought to understand the best practices in contingency actions, when different styles of leadership occupy the same function in an event, what is the best decision and attitude when mitigating the resulting damage in a plant of continuous process. The stressor vectors or agents must be controlled, therefore being considered a charge, and the C4t [1] must be preserved to be able to resist the stressor vectors. The type of task on the other hand can help or hinder, in case of technology or product change. The leader has a big role to play on this routine operation represented by a vacation trip indicated in Fig. 1. The cognitive and social vectors depend on the feeling of security incorporated in the work environment or in the citizen's environment. Thus, there is a dynamic negotiation between the intensity of the vector and the resulting stressful environment. Organizational-social and affective pressure the worker for results within the expectation of a social-affective-work link will result in a certain cognitive load that can affect psychological functions and destabilize mind map for decision.

3 A Story: Industry Task or Trip in Family?

A vacation trip of a family (Fig. 1) shows relations in cooperative way to achieve the goals of comfort, safety, low cost, and harmony. In a Chemical Industry, we have the

same experiences, every day, every shift, every production campaign. We believe that we can project this trip to have a good journey where each one of this family or of this work group have some of these behavior characteristics in a good level. In average, we consider a worker group, safe, alert, and resilient if they can work together with the same objectives based on Behavior Human Elements, Managerial and Technological.

Project for a Trip. First, as we presented in brief, we need to understand and avoid that the stressors agents or vectors or environments be present and affect the quality of work. We need to project this trip reducing the level of stress. In the case of family trip, each component assumes some roles. The understanding about the task is the second more important thing to be known, in the intention of a successful journey. Then, task planning including risk assessment and reliability calculation are important to measure the results of task and correct the performance shaping factors involved in this trip. We are following indicators to keep the journey in correct speed, way and comfortable for everyone in the car. Some parameters are calculated: time, quality, safety events, quality of communication, cooperation, and commitment, finally, level of stress, complexity, and necessities for training. The father is the driver that must be a leader in the routine and in emergency during the trip vacation. But, in some cases, the leader can be another unit from the family, the wife, for example. In actual times, where we live a low tolerance in social relations and new social conflicts, we need a leader to work in process safety, independent of the age and what part of family is. This leader must have competence, experience, active hearing, fierce determination, empath, admits own errors, simplicity, capacity to reproduce idea in write and voice in a form that people understand [5, 14]. The other important component of family in the trip is the wife that represent the competence necessary to finish the journey. When we understand about the concepts, the causal relations, and when do not believe only in the obvious events, then we have conditions to assume risks in the itinerary.

Ok, let us talk about the children, the girl understands what everyone thinks, try to follow the development of the team, understand that the family is a unit, as the shift group is a unit, and create an affective link between each other with rituals, common stories, and rites. The girl is the spirit of the group representing the cooperation in hard times that people are more and more depressive. The boy is spontaneous, like to talk with everyone, he is a smiling boy, loves to talk with different people from different culture. The boy has a good perception about reality and communicate in verbal and write form with common words, correct reports, and do not hidden notifications. The boy represents the communication that is fundamental part in a Just Culture. The dog is part of family, it is committed and loyal to leader and help and protect people.

Trip Story. The human factors (HF) are operational routine aspects in the social, organizational, managerial, human, technological classes, that can induce human errors and future deviances, failures, accidents, or disaster. After discussed this subject in form of HF network and respective Human Elements [16]. We are representing the human factors by points 1 to 6 (pt1-pt6) with respective events in the road map.

(**POINT1**) Although initially, the trip project was perfect to the family, the times changed, and the project do not attend the new requisites from the environment and culture. Something unknown happened and caused big vector of stress, and they, the

family, do not know how to treat this hazard, a new virus in the region of trip with new behaviors from a population that do not believe in the future. (POINT2) The wife (competence) and the husband (leader), after knowing the news during the trip, did a new risk assessment and decided to change the direction of the trip, turning left, do not following to the north, in case of industry, maybe changing the production campaign. (POINT3) At this time, the stressors vectors increased potentially (cognitive and physical) affecting the trip and, the daughter (cooperation) talked with the son (communication) that suggested to the group a stop in the way. They need to rest from the stressed trip in a little and safe hotel. For 3 days they stayed on a beautiful place, far from the hazard direction. (POINT4) They changed the direction and new frontiers of different languages appeared, the mountain became more difficult to achieve the target, they needed new targets after a group discussion to avoid a new great risk, a storming. The family needed and installed a new navigation tool, more complex. The wife spent one day to understand how to operate this new device. (POINT5) Everyone was tired and needed to stop in a place near a region of forest. The commitment of the dog helps the family to find a safe motel to rest during the storming. The dog has an excellent sense of direction and believe that the new targets are possible to be achieved. (POINT6) A Teamwork try to achieve the target to control routine and avoid emergency. The case of this vacation trip can be used as a guide to prepare competences to human reliability.



Fig. 1. Trip in family and behavior under stress influence.

4 SARS Methodology

The researchers of the group GRODIN developed this methodology with real cases, in a partial form, testing in practice, we named as SARS. We applied each activity in different cases of Oil and Gas, Chemical, and Metallurgical Industry. In Fig. 2 we present SARS Tool [6], an important step to achieve Just Culture in the risky facilities. The methodology has PDCA features, and after diagnoses and intervention we have critical analyses and rebeginning with new observation and data collection.

1. **Identify Operational Context:** Routine-Emergency operation mode. Initially we organize the strategy in this case of Technology and Organization. A data collection

requires strategies to understand the problem and targets. The classification of human errors, bad habits and wrong decisions allow some tests in routine, principally review of explicit routines, correction of explicit behaviors resultant of bad habits. In this way we can construct the preliminary scenario, we say initial impact. In family case, we say that the common risks are understandable before the trip, then they know the barriers.

2. Task Assessment: Indicators, Barriers, Failures, Review & Control. The initial diagnoses are based on task assessment after deviances occurred and a failure happen. In our experience, the stability of social-technical barriers in threatening environment is not safe. Then some critical tasks need monitoring and changes in case of new hazards or new failures in barriers. In case of family trip, we have the appearance of new unknown hazard, an epidemy. The Discourse of operator, Abnormal Events Map, Human and Technology typologies, mathematical and statistical tools indicate probable root causes modes based on Operational Culture. When we find the causes, we can install safeguards to avoid recurrence of failures.

The interventions will be applied to avoid impact consequences in the production system. The classical correction activity is reviewing the procedure and training the team, but it is efficient only for simple cognitive gaps in routine. Sometimes we need behavior correction or recover of beliefs on the company and leaders, then we need educational programs, with change of informal rules, rites, managerial profile. The treatment for bad habits originated by archetypes against safety is based on education, new rituals, and justice sense established in the organizational practices. Other interventions involve new tools of communication and reproject of interfaces.

- 3. **Culture Assessment, Preliminary Step, and Final Step.** When we investigate the type of human error, the informal rules in the operational routine, the failure mode of the critical task, the beliefs, and rituals active in the group. When investigating the organizational procedures for communication, leadership, and cooperation, we can discuss expected behaviors of the team and indicators for the safety culture. During the time we follow the indicators and test new procedures, rituals, and organizational practices to adjust aspects of the culture. Maybe we need to change the indicators too.
- 4. Behavior Investigation and Social-Human Failures. The observation of routine and characterization of human errors allow to elaborate a measurement plan to C4t aspects about behavior. In case of family trip, the personage's behavior is followed to establish a plan to keep the best targets during journey. The C4t characterization, measurement, and control try to create a safe environment with calibrated attention to be resilient if events became failures that became accident.
- 5. Human Factors and (6) Human Elements Identification. From now until the journey end, final of shift for example, we must construct a human factor network represented by a sequence of events and safeguards (human elements) to keep the task in control. We need to monitor the quality of leadership, the metrics of behavior and culture to adjust the interventions or behavior safeguards.



Fig. 2. SARS method & PDCA

5 Application: Oil and Gas, Chemical and Metallurgical Facility

Industry Operational Context of Oil and Gas Plant. Inflammable gas, problems of quality (water) and logistic (availability of raw material) incur operational problems during the routine. The plant interface project suggested controls that do not operate well and cause maintenance problems becoming difficulty to achieve a good performance. **Task Indicators.** In case of oil refinery [15], we know that little accidents are caused by a complex relation between contracted enterprise in logistic area and the owner of principal business. The human element, complexity (HE1), is calculated by level of attention, memory, process control and others. In this way, the case of forklift accident in refinery, yields a complexity 79 between 3 to 1000. This parameter will be used to calculate the social technical reliability. The other indicator is about the risk considered and discussed in GCPS [7, 8] published tools about Preliminary Risk, Stress, and Social HAZOP, all including human and social factors at Chemical and Oil industry (HE2). Other indicators of human reliability integrated to equipment, process and operation reliability was published in [9] in case of propene transportation achieving the value of 86%. In case of Oil & Gas Plant, with high cognitive pressure for results we collected information about the shift participants and how many components work in double time and how many warnings of failure we have in a shift. In this case, the stress environment caused by double work cause noises in communication or in cognition causing deviances and possibility of failure, we say double work is derivative indicator of stress level (HE3). The SARS Tool implementation needs the classification of human errors, bad habits and wrong decisions in derivative way. In Gas facility investigation we created a form to classify human error based on project, environment, task, cognition, and behavior, we found 52 derived human errors.

Culture. The Stressor Vectors cited in family trip influence the Magnetism conflict in dominance culture phenomena. These vectors affect HE3, stress level, and HE4, Leadership level. We discussed a lot the effect of this cultural conflict causing social failure in the fertilizer public company [10]. We discussed too about the influence of archetypes and construction of failure in task performing using executive function model in cases of chemical industry [11, 12]. **C4t Tool – Behavior at Work.** We understand that is possible to manage subjective aspects of worker behavior treating the human elements in C4t

step, part of SARS Tool [6]. Some indicators were tested in Oil & Gas and Petrochemical Industry. We understand that emotional state is based on cultural aspects, cognitive quality, and possibility of psychosomatic diseases, giving in Gas Industry a final value of 7 from 10 and standard 8. In case of commitment we consider worker information as time at company, if married and how many children, and other personal information. We tested giving as result 3 groups were 30% in high commitment level (HE5). The level of cooperation is based on aggregation (AG) and disaggregation (DAG) parallel movements, in the Oil and Gas indicating, AG = 6.8 from standard 8, DAG = 5 from standard mean of 5.4 (HE6). The competence analyzes is based on the human errors during long period of shift, 2–6 months, and task results. In this period, we can elaborate the cognitive and behavior gaps and create an exam that will be applied in operational group and indicate the training and behavior necessities to avoid the accidents (HE7). Finally, Ávila and Drigo [13] elaborated Organizational Communication Model to measure the quality (omissions and commissions) of ascendent, horizontal and descendent communication (HE8).

6 Process Safety Leader 5, A History in Stressful Workstation

The level 5 leader (L5L) of an isocyanate chemical plant is referred to in this paper as Teacher J or TJ. The term teacher has a great meaning, while this leader refers to the partner as "teacher", the L5L adopts the student posture, which must observe, listen before speaking or acting. While the classical leader makes his own value extreme and pressures his partner-listener to a minimal role, that of student. Now, the L5L communications flow without the power relationship, events of underreporting diminish. Thus, the urgency of certain activities or actions becomes apparent. The fierce determination is another important feature of TJ, the time passes and the hazard energy that can be released in this isocyanate plant, has a speed where certain actions require this assertive decision. On the other hand, the classical leader who allows the information to circulate makes decision-making possible without knowing exactly what is happening in the plant. TJ has learned from plants with Japanese technology that agendas should be followed in a disciplined manner, where sampling, transfer, loading, startups, and plant shutdowns require differentiated attention. Part of this activity with team redundancy, and another part being performed by only one operator. By understanding the operation of the plant, it is easier to define the interventions. Operation only occurs if pre-set patterns are followed to the letter.

In the case of the classical leader, where the absence of root cause study, acceptance of flexibility in operator behavior and differentiated treatments, make decisions too much in punishment or even too much in non-discipline. Following the procedure is the pattern of this leader, but not realizing the scenario and checking the differences for the best decisions. At the time of the awards there is no concern of L5L in being prominent. He often, on the contrary, admits certain faults as his to enable the flow of information from the shop floor and does not care about the ceremonies of social gain. On the contrary, the classical leader is always the person closest to the truth and makes a point of receiving "almost all the laurels" of the goal achieved.

Informal relationships are part of the L5L strategies while formal ones, which are accepted by the top level of the organization, become the concern of the classic leader who turns his team into a tool to achieve the ends. The L5L is concerned with field skills and the passage of knowledge from the more experienced to the younger or even the skills of diffused attention to focused and focused to diffuse. The classic only respects the organizational chart and often does not preserve the ability.

TJ, when discussing with the staff that some procedures are incorrect, shows that at each moment, depending on the operator and the criticality of the activity, an adjustment is necessary in the language and at the level of detail. At times, the engineer of the staff exaggerates writing a common activity in detail leading to disbelief by the group of operators. Finally, there is a personal characteristic present in the L5L, besides the simplicity, there is a great value assigned to the family.

7 Conclusion

In a very clever way, the article presents a parallel between the daily hypotheses that are lived under the effects of stress in a continuous way, both in family matters and in the professional environment. A simple vacation trip where the main objective is the search for rest and family life can become an unpleasant situation and to be forgotten, as well as in the work environment where the common goals are the search for quality work, controlled risk and cost within budget can be transforming into heavy and high-risk tasks. The SARS tool can be easily applied in these situations experienced under continuous stress and can generate a continuous monitoring of the risk conditions of the activities due to the search for continuous improvement brought about by the PDCA effect of the tool. In addition, it makes clear that situations of high or continuous stress need to be led by people prepared for this, emphasizing that the classic leader contributes negatively to the process. Decision making conducted by a L5L is always the best evaluated and accepted by the team even in high stress situations.

References

- 1. Cerqueira, I., Drigo, E., Ávila, S.F., Gagliano, M.: C4t: Safe Behavior Performance Tool (2019)
- 2. Lorenzo, D.K.: A Manager's Guide to Reducing Human Error. EQE International Inc. (2001)
- Preston, S.; Buchanan, T.; Stansfield, R.; Bechara, A.: Effects of anticipatory stress on decision making in a gambling task. Behavioral Neurosci. (2007)
- Smeltzer S.C., Bare B.G., Hinkle, J.L., Cheever, K.H.: Brunner and Suddarth's Textbook of Medical-Surgical Nursing (12th edn.), pp. 79–81. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, New York, USA (2010)
- Cerqueira, I., Ávila Filho, S., Silva, A.J.N., Fragoso, C., Massolino, C., Pimentel, R.: Analysis of competencies for decision crisis management in actions under progressive stress: a simulated case. In: Arezes, P. (ed.) AHFE 2017. AISC, vol. 604, pp. 269–277. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60525-8_28
- Ávila, S.F., Cerqueira, I., Drigo, E.: Cognitive, Intuitive and Educational Intervention Strategies for Behavior Change in High-Risk Activities – SARS (2019)

- Ávila, S.F., Pessoa, F., Andrade, J.: Social HAZOP at an oil refinery. In: 8th Global Congress on Process Safety GCPS, Houston (2012)
- 8. Ávila, S.F., Barroso, M.: Human and social preliminary risk analysis (HS-PRA), a case at PLG site. In: Proceedings of 8th Global Congress on Process Safety, Houston (2012)
- 9. Ávila, S.F.: Reliability analysis for socio-technical system, case propene pumping. Eng. Failure Anal. **56**, 177–184 (2015)
- 10. Ávila, S.F., Kalid, R., Kiperstok, A., Carvalho, V.: Program to avoid product leakage at source, fertilizer case. Chem. Eng. Trans. **26**, 447–452 (2012)
- Ávila, S.F., Menezes, D.: Control of systemic failure through design criteria, RISKDyn. In: 27th European Safety and Reliability Conference, p. 258 (2017)
- 12. Ávila, S.F.; Menezes, M.L.A.: Influence of local archetypes on the operability usability of instruments in control rooms. In: Proceedings of 25th European Safety and Reliability Conference (2015)
- dos Santso Drigo, E., Filho, S.Á.: Organizational communication: discussion of pyramid model application in shift records. In: Kantola, J.I., Barath, T., Nazir, S., Andre, T. (eds.) Advances in Human Factors, Business Management, Training and Education. AISC, vol. 498, pp. 739–750. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-42070-7_68
- 14. Collins, J.: Level 5 Leadership: The Triumph of Humility and Fierce Resolve. Harvard Business (2005)
- 15. Ávila S.F.: A review of risk analysis technique in routine tasks case in oil industry. In: 5th LACPS Latin American Conference on Process Safety. Cartagena de Las Indias (2013)
- Ávila S.F., Ávila J.S., Pereira L.M., Fagundes E.R.: Dynamic View of Human Elements Design and Projection of Human Factors in Critical Task Operation using Bayesian Networks. Virtual AHFE (2020)



Professional Deformations of Bailiffs with Different Professional Efficiency

Yana Korneeva^(区), Anastasiya Korneeva, and Anna Yurjeva

Northern (Arctic) Federal University named after M.V. Lomonosov, Severnaya Dvina embankment – str.17, 163002 Arkhangelsk, Russian Federation

Abstract. The study purpose is to identify and describe the professional deformations types of bailiffs with different professional efficiency. Research methods are questionnaires and multivariate statistical analysis methods. The study used the author's questionnair for assessing the professional deformation types and work performance subjective assessment by law enforcement officers. The study involved 277 federal bailiffs service employees of the Arkhangelsk region. The bailiffs are characterized by a high level of such professional deformations as overcontrol, conservatism and authoritarianism. By means of a two-stage cluster analysis, all employees are divided into three groups according to the professional performance level (low, medium and high) according to their subjective assessment. Bailiffs with a low professional performance level are distinguished by a higher professional aggression, behavioral transfer, conservatism and learned helplessness level. Authority, overcontrol, and anxiety do not have statistically significant differences in groups, which may be due to their positive impact on employee performance.

Keywords: Bailiff · Professional deformation · Work performance

1 Introduction

The federal bailiffs service (bailiffs) refers to the authorities, which provide for the passage of only the federal civil service. In this case, the bailiffs perform actions inherent in law enforcement officers. The most accurate, from the V.N. Oparin's point of view, is the following definition: law enforcement agencies include special organizations that protect the rights and freedoms of a person and a citizen, as well as the state itself, which are formed for the implementation of specific goals, namely, the protection of a citizen from criminal encroachments, the protection of law and order and public safety [1].

According to the Regulations on the Federal Bailiff Service in the Russian Federation, bailiffs conduct inquiries in a number of criminal cases categories, look for debtors, ensure order in the courts [2].

This fact explains the special requirements for candidates for service. The bailiffexecutor professional activity main characteristics include: high responsibility and stress resistance level, high working capacity, communicability, poise, the ability to
quickly adapt, high noise immunity, attentiveness, switchability, observation, developed emotionally - will sphere [3].

Psychological support measures aimed at professional deformations early diagnosis and prevention in service teams are great importance in maintaining the law enforcement specialist's health and performance.

Professional personality deformation is an objective phenomenon, the negative effects of which can be eliminated only through other, non-professional factors (socialization, education, etc.). This is the process and result of the person's subjective qualities influence, formed in accordance with the certain professional work specifics, on the personal properties of the worker's integral individuality [4].

The professional deformations development negatively affects not only the workers' personality themselves, but also their activities performance in general. Therefore, in E.F. Zeer's this phenomenon definition as a criterion for the professional deformation severity, included a negative impact assessment on the professional performance. In our study, we will take this factor into account [5].

In our previous studies, a classification and diagnostic tool for assessing seven police officer's professional deformation types was developed [6]. Due to the similarity of the police and bailiffs' activities nature in terms of ensuring the citizens safety, ensuring buildings and premises protection, bringing persons, the authority to draw up protocols on administrative offenses [7], we consider it possible to adapt and apply it to assess the bailiff's professional deformation severity.

A scientific studies number have shown not only the negative professional deformations impact, but also the positive [8]. The criterion for these differences can be the professional performance characteristics, since it reflects the employee's performance degree and quality, as well as their interaction peculiarities with management, within the team, with citizens, as well as "a price of activities" - changes that arise in a human status as a result of its implementation.

In this regard, the relationship study between the professional performance and professional deformations types will allow to determine the positive or negative influence vector in the employee's personality on the professional duties' efficiency.

The study aim is to identify and describe the bailiff's professional deformation types features with different professional performance.

Research hypotheses are: 1) the professional personal deformation classification, developed for police officers, can be adapted for bailiffs due to the similarity of their official activities' characteristics. 2) the relationship between the professional deformation types and professional performance makes it possible to determine the positive or negative effect of their severity on the bailiff's performance.

Research stages:

- 1. To determine the bailiff's professional personal deformation types severity.
- 2. To classify bailiffs into groups depending on their subjective assessment of the professional performance.
- 3. Conduct a comparative analysis of the professional personal deformation severity among bailiffs with different professional performance self-assessments.

2 Study Design

The study involved 277 federal bailiff service employees of the Arkhangelsk region. Of these, 58 are men and 75 are women between the ages of 24 and 59 (average age: 39.5 \pm 8.18 years); average length of service is 10.15 \pm 5.95 (maximum service length is 26 years). According to the division, all the subjects were divided into structural divisions as follows: 8.3% employees holding a managerial position (department head, deputy department head); 46.9% - bailiffs-executors; 23.3% - bailiffs to ensure the established procedure for the court's activities; 18.8% - other positions employees.

In this study, we rely on the previously developed law enforcement officers' professional deformations classification and a subjective assessment of professional performance (Ya.A. Korneeva, O.E. Kuznetsova, A.Yu. Barmina, M.A. Tunkina).

The questionnaire includes three sections:

- 1. general information about the subjects (age, sex, marital status, education level, position, rank, work experience);
- aimed at identifying the professional deformations severity (Fig. 1). The section includes 30 questions, the answer to each of which can be: constantly; often; sometimes; not. Each deformation type severity is in the range from 25% to 100%.

| Deformation type | Deformation description | Examples of questionnaire questions | Number of questions in the questionnaire |
|---|---|---|--|
| Authoritarianism | Inflated self-esteem of their professional abilities, imperiousness, aggressiveness. Psychological defense - rationalization. | Do you also give instructions in cases when it is not within your authority? | 6 |
| Professional aggression | Strengthening stereotypes of thinking, reducing self-criticism and the ability to constructively resolve conflict. Psychological protection - projection. | Do you use ironic statements and ridicule in business and interpersonal communication? | 6 |
| Super control | Excessive containment of feelings, suppression of spontaneity, orientation to instructions, suspicious discretion. | Do you always strictly adhere to the instructions in the work? | 4 |
| Behavioral transfer | It is manifested in their behavior, emotional reactions, speech, intonations, the psychological charactenistics of offenders are clearly manifested. Decreased speech culture, sites of the property of the psychological defense - projection. | Do you use profanity at work and outside of work? | 3 |
| Conservatism | Stereotyped ways of performing an activity. Social barriers. Psychological defense – rationalization. | When solving professional problems, do you use the same solution method? | 4 |
| Irresponsibility or learned helplessness | Avoiding responsibility, non-initiative fulfillment of professional duties, formal attitude to responsibilities, increased delegation. | Are you a proactive employee? | 3 |
| Anxiety | Constant anxiety, difficulty and sometimes inability to concentrate on something, muscle tension (for example, in the face, neck), imitability, sleep disturbance, scrupulous control of activity. | Do you find it difficult to concentrate on something while working? | 4 |

Fig. 1. The bailiff's professional deformation types description and examples of questionnaire questions to assess their severity

3. aimed at the professional performance self-assessment (on a seven-point scale). The criteria assessed by employees are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. The professional performance criteria, assessed by questionnaires means

3 The Bailiffs' Professional Deformations with Different Professional Performance

3.1 The Bailiffs' Professional Deformations Types Severity

Table 1 shows each professional personal deformation type severity (assessment is presented as a percentage from the maximum possible score for the deformation type in each of the surveyed).

| Table 1. | The bailiffs' | professional deformations | types severity | (% from | maximum | score o | n the |
|------------|---------------|---------------------------|----------------|---------|---------|---------|-------|
| scale, n = | = 277). | | | | | | |

| Deformation description | First quartile | Median | Third quartile |
|--|----------------|--------|----------------|
| Authoritarianism | 45,8 | 54,2 | 58,3 |
| Professional aggression | 33,3 | 37,5 | 45,8 |
| Super control | 68,8 | 75,0 | 81,3 |
| Behavioral transfer | 25,0 | 33,3 | 33,3 |
| Conservatism | 37,5 | 56,3 | 62,5 |
| Irresponsibility or learned helplessness | 33,3 | 41,7 | 41,7 |
| Anxiety | 25,0 | 37,5 | 43,8 |

As can be seen from the data in Table 1, bailiffs are characterized by a high overcontrol level, which is expressed in excessive discretion, scrupulous control of their professional activities, and orientation to the approved instructions. The bailiff's activities include

ensuring the safety of the participants in the trial in the courts, and, if necessary, arresting them with their subsequent transfer to the police, etc. The average authoritarianism level may be associated with the fact that this activity presupposes power of authority (using physical force possibility, special means and firearms, and the implementation of citizens personal searches, etc.).

The average conservatism level is associated with strict activities regulation, but employees also need flexibility to respond quickly.

Despite the fact that the bailiff's activities are diverse, related to the citizens detention, the court hearings protection, and sometimes the special equipment use, most of the time employees regulate issues with debtors. This activity, like most trials, takes place in normal conditions and does not imply extremeness. In this regard, the propensity to anxious manifestations in bailiffs is reduced.

Behavioral transfer is the least pronounced among the bailiff's deformations, since there is no intensive communication with offenders compared with the punishment service and the police, where frequent and long-term contacts are made with them.

Learned helplessness also has a low level, which may be related to the employee feedback presence on performance results. This is ensured by the establishment of planned targets for the number of completed enforcement proceedings for structural divisions and for each bailiff separately. Thus, they can assess the effectiveness and quality of their activities.

3.2 Analysis of the Bailiff's Professional Performance Subjective Assessment

To study the professional deformation relationship with the professional performance subjective assessment parameters using a two-stage cluster analysis, all the surveyed were divided into three clusters, statistically different in the activity performance self-assessment characteristics: the first cluster - 27.2%, the second - 46.2%, the third - 9.7% of surveyed employees. A qualitative clusters description the is presented in Table 2.

The first cluster employees are characterized, first of all, by job satisfaction in general and the desire presence to go to work (these indicators have the lowest value in the sample). They are characterized by low physiological discomfort, minimal conflicts with colleagues and management, as well as with citizens. Thus, this cluster employee's performance assessment will be considered high.

The third cluster parameters assessments differ significantly from those considered above. High indicators for such features as powerlessness, lack of satisfaction, disagreements with the management, feel a decrease in efficiency. All this allows us to assert that the third cluster employees have low self-esteem of their performance.

The first and third clusters have maximally polar characteristics values, and therefore, the second cluster will be considered a group with an average performance assessment.

3.3 The Bailiffs' Professional Deformity Types Feature with Low, Medium and High Professional Performance

In order to identify differences in the professional deformation types severity among bailiffs with different professional performance, a multivariate analysis of variance

| Parameter | 1 cluster | 2 cluster | 3 cluster |
|--|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| | $M \pm SD$ | $M \pm SD$ | $M \pm SD$ |
| Physiological discomfort | $1,7 \pm 0,54$ | $2,2 \pm 0,64$ | $2,8 \pm 0,94$ |
| Conflict with colleagues | $1,6 \pm 0,45$ | $1,9\pm0,51$ | $2,7 \pm 0,75$ |
| Misunderstanding with management | $1,5\pm0,56$ | $2,3 \pm 0,86$ | $3,3 \pm 1,15$ |
| Reprimands and remarks from the management | $1,5\pm0,59$ | $1,9\pm0,70$ | 3,3 ± 0,81 |
| Conflicts with citizens | $1,8 \pm 0,83$ | $2,3 \pm 0,84$ | $3,1 \pm 1,14$ |
| Decreased performance | $1,5\pm0,58$ | $2,5 \pm 0,73$ | 3.11 ± 0,85 |
| Feeling powerless after work | $1,5 \pm 0,63$ | $2,3 \pm 1,00$ | 3,8 ± 1,30 |
| Lack of desire to go to work | $1,2 \pm 0,43$ | $2,0\pm0,65$ | $3,3 \pm 1,25$ |
| Working overtime | $3,9 \pm 1,48$ | $4,5 \pm 1,49$ | 6,3 ± 0,94 |
| Decreased job satisfaction in general | $1,3 \pm 0,46$ | $2,4 \pm 0,80$ | $3,9 \pm 1,41$ |

Table 2. Average values of the professional performance parameters self-assessment by 1, 2 and 3 clusters representatives

was applied, where the professional personality deformation types were the dependent variables, and the fixed factors were attribution to one of three clusters in terms of performance parameters (Table 3).

Table 3. Comparative analysis of employee's various professional personality deformations types severity (% from the maximum possible score) belonging to different clusters according to the professional performance assessment based on the MANOVA results (n = 277)

| Professional deformations types | 1 cluster with high performance | 2 cluster with medium performance | 3 cluster c with low performance | p- significance level |
|--|---------------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|--------------------------|
| | $M\pm SD$ | $M\pm SD$ | $M\pm SD$ | |
| Authoritarianism | $54{,}5\pm9{,}28$ | $56,0\pm9,28$ | $54,5\pm8,71$ | 0,409 |
| Professional aggression | 39,4 ± 7,78 | 45,2 ± 8,27 | 49,3 ± 11,47 | <0,001 |
| Over control | $69,3 \pm 11,40$ | $68,\!4\pm12,\!88$ | $66,9 \pm 14,\!62$ | 0,595 |
| Behavioral transfer | $33,2\pm7,46$ | $38,\!4\pm10,\!22$ | $44,5\pm10,\!54$ | <0,001 |
| Conservatism | $51,\!6\pm12,\!11$ | $57,5 \pm 11,14$ | $62,0\pm10,17$ | <0,001 |
| Irresponsibility or learned helplessness | 37,3 ± 10,15 | 39,0 ± 10,35 | 41,7 ± 10,73 | <0,001 |
| Anxiety | $54,5\pm9,28$ | $56,0\pm9,28$ | $54,5\pm8,71$ | 0,409 |

First of all, we need to analyze the statistical significance of variables. So, important for consideration features of the professional performance subjective assessment are professional aggression, behavioral transfer, conservatism, and learned helplessness (at p < 0.001).

Employees with low professional performance have relatively higher scores on statistically significant scales. The bailiffs with high performance are significantly lower. However, the absolute parameters values in the group with reduced performance do not exceed 70% of the maximum possible, that is, they are expressed moderately.

Thus, the typical behavior for bailiffs with reduced professional performance may be the physical force use without the appropriate ground's presence, unpredictable evaluative reactions; jargons use, tendency to disruption, formal attitude to activity, initiative lack, poor flexibility, desire to simplify tasks, restlessness and physiological discomfort.

Earlier we noted that professional deformation can have both negative and positive impact on the employee and his activities. It is worth paying attention to the following deformations: authoritarianism, anxiety, and overcontrol. Despite the fact that they are not statistically significant for us, we consider it necessary to consider their manifestations in the selected groups of effectiveness.

Overcontrol differs significantly from other deformation types. It is most pronounced in the group with high performance. It can be assumed that this indicates a positive effect on the employee's performance, since the manifestations of overcontrol (namely, inhibition of feelings, orientation to instructions, discretion) are necessary conditions for the successful completion of tasks.

It should be noted that authoritarianism is approximately equally expressed in employees with high and low performance. With an increased authoritarianism manifestation, it can have a negative impact, that is, excess of power functions, criticism intolerance. In a situation with an average most deformations severity, authoritarianism will not have such a negative effect. Rather, this species will be displayed in a high assessment of its capabilities, the desire for recommendations and orientation of colleagues or citizens in any situations.

4 Results Discussion

The results obtained can confirm the fact that with an increase in the certain professional personal deformation types severity, the employee's performance decreases. For bailiffs, these are professional aggression, behavioral transfer, conservatism and forced helplessness.

At the same time, authoritarianism, anxiety and overcontrol do not have such links, but on the contrary, contribute to the professional duty's performance. To establish the revealed phenomenon causes, it is necessary to analyze the relationship between the severity of these deformation types and personality traits from among the employees' professionally important qualities. Which will be this research continuation. We assume that compensatory qualities and properties will be revealed in the professional suitability structure. For their development, it is necessary to develop and implement training programs for personnel. Thus, the results obtained allow us to draw a conclusion about the similar professional deformation types severity of bailiffs and police departments, as well as the possibility of using the developed author's questionnaire to assess their severity in bailiffs.

5 Conclusion

According to the study results, in most employees the various professional personal deformation types severity is moderate and is in the range from 25% to 75% from the maximum possible when measured. Over-control, authoritarianism and conservatism were shown relatively higher than others, lower values were obtained for the parameters of behavioral transfer, anxiety and helplessness. The bailiffs are characterized by a high professional deformations level such as overcontrol, conservatism and authoritarianism.

By two-stage cluster analysis means, all employees are divided into three groups according to the professional performance level (low, medium and high) according to their subjective assessment.

Bailiffs with a low professional performance level are distinguished by higher professional aggression, behavioral transfer, conservatism and learned helplessness levels.

Authority, overcontrol, and anxiety do not have statistically significant differences in groups, which may be due to their positive impact on employees' performance. Their moderate severity in the presence of harmonizing features can contribute to the successful implementation of the professional activities of bailiffs.

Acknowledgement. The study was carried out with the Russian Fond of Basic Research financial support in the framework of the scientific project No. 19-013-00517.

References

- 1. Oparin, V.N.: Legal regulation of the application of measures of direct coercion by officials of law enforcement agencies of the Russian Federation. Thesis, Omsk (1998)
- 2. Decree of the President of the Russian Federation of 13.10.2004 No. 1316 "Issues of the Federal Service of Bailiffs" (as amended on 01 January 2020)
- Tupikova, O.A.: Increasing the professional success of bailiffs-executors. In: Psychology in Russia and abroad: materials of the 1st International Scientific Conference, St. Petersburg, pp. 93–95 (2011)
- 4. Beznosov, S.P.: Theoretical foundations of the study of professional personality deformation. St. Petersburg 167 (1995)
- 5. Zeer, E.F., Symaniuk, E.E.: Psychology of professional destruction. Academic Project, Moscow (2005)
- 6. Korneeva, Ya.A., Simonova, N.N.: Professional personal deformation of employees of internal affairs bodies. Organ. Psychol. **10**(2), 80–106 (2020)
- The Criminal Procedure Code of the Russian Federation of December 18, 2001 N 174-FZ (as amended on 8 December 2020) (as amended and supplemented, entered into force on 19 December 2020)
- Barabanshchikova, V.V.: Professional deformations of specialists in a dynamic organizational environment. Bull. Moscow Univ. Ser. Psychol. 14(1), 91–107 (2019)

Digital Safety



Short Circuiting the Controller – Missteps in Maintenance and Inspection of Process and Wiring in STS-93

Kristy S. Yun^(⊠), Charles Dischinger, and Tanya C. Andrews

NASA Marshall Space Flight Center, Human Factors Engineering Team, Martin Rd. SW, Huntsville, AL 35808, USA

{Kristy.S.Yun, Charles.Dischinger, Tanya.C.Andrews}@nasa.gov

Abstract. During the launch of the Chandra X-Ray Observatory in 1999, an inflight anomaly occurred a few seconds after liftoff. A power fluctuation caused two Main Engine controllers to drop offline. Fortunately, due to redundancy, the Space Shuttle Columbia was able to successfully reach orbit and avoid an abort. After the successful deployment of Chandra and the safe return of the crew, investigation revealed that the controller failure was due to a wire short in the payload bay. It was suspected that the Kapton insulation on the wire rubbed off against a burred screw head, the result of overtightening of the screw during a maintenance event 4 to 5 years prior to the STS-93 mission. Vibrations led the abraded wire to short during flight. The Space Shuttle Program was grounded for 4 months while a program-wide inspection and wire chafing mitigation effort of all orbiter wiring ensued.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Human-systems integration \cdot Systems engineering \cdot Human factors engineering \cdot Wiring \cdot Safety \cdot Maintenance \cdot Training \cdot Arcing \cdot Maintainability and supportability

1 Introduction

1.1 Mission Objectives

The primary objective of the Space Transportation System mission 93 (STS-93) was to deploy the 50,000-lbs., \$1.5 billion Chandra X-Ray Observatory. Chandra, the world's most powerful X-Ray telescope, would allow scientists from around the world to study some of the most distant and dynamic objects in the universe. Stripped of nearly 7,000 pounds of its own gear to make room for the payload, the orbiter assigned to this mission was Space Shuttle Columbia (OV102). Prior to STS-93, Columbia had 25 flights and was NASA's oldest orbiter.

On March 15, 1998, Eileen M. Collins, a Colonel in the U.S. Air Force (USAF), was selected to command this mission, making her the first woman ever to command a Space Shuttle mission. She led a crew of four astronauts: Jeffrey Ashby, a Captain in the U.S. Navy and pilot of the Shuttle, and mission specialists Catherine G. Coleman,

USAF Lieutenant Colonel, Steven A. Hawley, Ph.D., and Michel Tognini, French Air Force Colonel.

Columbia was scheduled to launch on Tuesday, July 20, 1999, at 12:36 a.m. EDT from the Kennedy Space Center (KSC) in Cape Canaveral, FL.

1.2 July 20, 1999: Ready, Set... Cutoff?

At 12:36 a.m., Eileen and her crew sat aboard Shuttle Columbia on Launch Pad 39-B at KSC, ready for launch. Ralph Roe, the Shuttle Launch Director, had just given Eileen and her crew the go for launch and wished them good luck. Just shy of T-minus 45 s on the countdown, everything was looking good for launch. For the next half minute, the countdown continued smoothly. At T-minus 10 s, the Ground Launch Sequencer (GLS), the program that inputs commands to perform the final critical tasks to put the vehicle in launch configuration (monitoring as many as 1,000 different measurements), gave Columbia's computers the go to start the engines. the final countdown began – "T-minus 10… 9… 8… 7… CUTOFF!… We have uh… hydrogen in the aft".

Between the 10-s and 7-s mark, the hydrogen burn-off igniters started. The orbiter's hazardous gas detection system indicated a 640 PPM concentration of hydrogen in Columbia's aft engine compartment, which was more than double the allowable amount. Leaking anything is never good news but starting the engines with leaking hydrogen can be catastrophic.

Without a second to lose, Ozzie Fish, the primary hazardous gas system engineer, called out for an immediate stop. Barbara Kennedy, the primary GLS engineer, initiated a manual cutoff of the GLS less than a half-second before the Shuttle's three main engines would have started at the T-minus 6 s mark.

Eileen and her crew exited the shuttle and at 1:30 a.m., the engineers convened to study the problem. Following the preliminary system and data evaluation, the launch team determined the indication of the hydrogen leak to be a false positive. From this, there was good news and bad news. The bad news was this false alarm led to a 48-h launch scrub turnaround. The good news was, (besides the obvious being that the crew and vehicle were safe) due to the quick reaction of Ozzie and Barbara, the launch sequence was stopped in the nick of time, saving the team from a week-long turnaround.

Take-two of the STS-93 launch was rescheduled to be in two days.

1.3 July 22, 1999: Don't Rain on My Parade

The external hydrogen burn-off ignitors at Launch Pad 39-B were replaced after the first launch scrub, and the countdown clock began again. Forty-eight hours following the prior launch attempt, weather officers identified a storm cell in the area that produced lightning strikes within 8.5 miles of the launch pad. According to the shuttle launch criteria, lightning-producing storms cannot be closer than 20 nautical miles from the launch site. At the T-minus 5-min mark, the countdown clock was held, pending weather clearance. Roe even added 10 min to the launch window, but it seemed like the storm was there to stay.

After much-anticipated waiting, at 1:20 a.m., the launch was officially scrubbed, and attempt three was re-rescheduled in less than 24 h.

1.4 July 23, 1999: Third Time's the Charm

"Eileen, the weather is cooperating tonight, and the launch is ready to go", Roe stated for the second time in three days, giving Eileen and her crew the go for launch. At around a quarter past midnight, the countdown clock began. At T-minus 9 min, the GLS auto sequence was initiated.

A smooth six minutes went by, and at around T-minus 3 min, the pressurization of liquid oxygen and liquid hydrogen tanks began. A couple minutes before launch, the Launch Control Center sent a final message to the crew of Columbia: "A few days delayed, but the same enthusiastic launch team wishing Columbia's crew success on your mission". Eileen responded, "Thanks for all the great work, and we'll see you in five days".

At T-minus 31 s, the GLS issued a go to Columbia's onboard computers to start their automatic sequence. At T-minus 10 s, the spark igniters near the main engine nozzles burned off residual gaseous hydrogen, and the final command from the ground computers was given to start the engine.

At T-minus 6.6 s, the three engines started and came to a full thrust: "5... 4... 3... We have a go for engine start... 0... We have booster ignition and liftoff of Columbia reaching new heights for women and x-ray astronomy!".

After the fairly uneventful countdown, Columbia was still not in the clear. Everyone remained on the edge of their seats as Columbia blasted off. For any launch to be successful, there are a list of things that need to go right, but for a failure, only one thing needs go wrong. All within the first few minutes of flight, problems arose that could have resulted in either a Return to Launch Site (RTLS) Abort or Loss of Vehicle and Crew (LOVC).

Problems During Ascent. About five seconds after launch, Mission Control at Johnson Space Center announced, "AC bus sensors off. We're evaluating the fuel cell". They detected a voltage drop on one of Columbia's electrical buses. As a result of this power fluctuation, a primary and back-up Main Engine controller, DCU-A (digital computer unit) on the center engine and DCU-B on the right engine (highlighted in red in Fig. 1), dropped offline. Thankfully, that still left at least one working controller, AC-2 and AC-3 highlighted in yellow and blue, respectively, for all three engines.

If there had been any other AC bus issues, it would have caused one entire engine to shut down. Ultimately, the redundant set of DCUs in each engine controller saved Columbia and her crew from a very risky contingency abort.

As the ascent continued, the engines cut off 0.15 s too early due to low liquid oxygen level, which caused an orbiter underspeed of 16 ft/s. The low-level liquid oxygen cutoff should not have happened since an adequate reserve is always loaded. However, this early cutoff did not necessitate an abort to orbit (ATO), but the attained orbit was seven miles short of that originally projected.

For the remainder of the ascension, the center and right main engines functioned smoothly and the orbiter underspeed was still within the acceptable margin allowing Columbia to successfully climb to orbit. Although a few miles short of the initially



Fig. 1. A diagram from the shuttle crew operations manual showing how the main engines were wired for redundancy. NASA image

projected orbit, the orbiter eventually attained the proper altitude. After successful confirmation of the engine shutdown and orbital insertion, Flight Director, John Shannon commented, "Yikes. We don't need another one of those".

Mission success - Chandra was deployed!

2 Underlying Issues

2.1 Wiring

What caused the voltage drop that resulted in the loss of the electrical buses? The post-flight inspection revealed soot on a screwhead and a hole in a stretch of 22-gauge Kapton insulated wiring (Fig. 2). The single strand of AC current carrying 14-gauge polyimide wire was located nearly half-way down the payload bay. The Shuttle Independent Assessment Team (SIAT), formed in September 1999 to do an assessment of the Shuttle Program after this mission, reported that the wire had rubbed and chaffed against a burred screwhead. This burr was later determined to be the result of over tight-ening by a technician during a maintenance refurbishment. Then, during another ground processing event possibly years after, somebody inadvertently stepped on the wiring harness causing some of the Kapton insulation to rub off against the burred screwhead. SIAT suspected the wire damage was pre-existing and was caused 4 or 5 years prior to the flight.

Fast-forward to the launch – the power was turned on with the vehicle sitting on the launchpad, so systems confirmed there was electrical flow through those wires. What



Fig. 2. Carbonized insulation due to arc damage. NASA image

really set off the arcing of the wire was the vibrations of the vehicle during launch. A common saying amongst NASA engineers is "Test like you fly, fly like you test". Unfortunately, in this situation, there was no way to test by recreating the vibration by a launch. See Table 1 for summary of events leading to the loss of AC buses.

| When? | Maintenance event A | Maintenance event B | Launch day – vibrations | Launch day – wire short | Launch day – voltage drop |
|-------------------|---|---|---|---|---|
| What happened? | Overtightening of screwhead by a tech resulting in a burr | Technician stepped on the wire harness causing the wire to chafe against burred screwhead | Vibrations during the launch sequence was enough to allow contact between the exposed conductor and exposed metal area on burred screwhead | Wire arced to the burred screwhead and shorted | Voltage drop caused the failure of the AC 1 inn 2 of the 3 Space Shuttle Main Engines |

 Table 1. Series of events leading to the wire short during STS-93.

2.2 LOX Post Pin

In the Space Shuttle Main Engines (SSME), hot hydrogen gas is mixed with cold liquid oxygen (LOX) in just the right way to protect the engine through the start transient, main stage, and the shutdown transient. The way this is done is the LOX is first introduced through stainless steel tubes called LOX posts (Fig. 3). The robustness of the tubes is generated from the cooling by the LOX inside and the heating by the hot hydrogen outside.

Huge forces work on the LOX posts, especially during start up when the vibration forces are high. If one were to break off there could be possible LOVC. Therefore, to eliminate the potential of a LOX post failure, inspections of posts are performed using ultrasound. It was common practice to deactivate a post if it showed signs of wear or fatigue. To deactivate a post, a gold pin was hammered into the LOX post supply orifice (Fig. 4) and a vacuum leak check was performed. The tapered gold LOX pin, measuring about 1" long and 0.1 in. in diameter, was responsible for shutting off the LOX flow through the post, reducing high-cycle fatigue loading. In the history of the program, 212 LOX posts were pinned in this way including STS-93. There had been 19 prior instances of pin loss during ground testing with no impact damage.



Fig. 3. Ejected LOX pin and 3 ruptured tubes. NASA image

After Columbia landed, post-flight inspection of the affected right engine indicated that LOX post 32 in row 13 had shot out and ruptured the narrow part of the converging nozzle and into the nozzle extension. Three nozzle coolant tubes out of five were breached (Fig. 3), causing a hydrogen leak into the hot steam of gas coming out of the engine. Consequently, triggering the premature engine shut-off. The LOX pin shot past the three tubes and also dinged the Main Combustion Chamber but there was no penetration of the coolant channels there.

To all observers – human and digital – it appeared that the right amount of hydrogen was going into the engine because the leak was downstream of the hydrogen flow meter. Analysis showed that if the shuttle had lost five or 6 tubes, there would be a localized hot spot on the nozzle that could potentially burn through and end in a loss of the whole engine.



Fig. 4. Powerhead, main injector and liquid oxygen post details. NASA image

3 Conclusion

Due to the in-flight wiring anomaly, the shuttle program was grounded for 4 months and led to a program-wide inspection of the wiring of all orbiters including Columbia. The NASA Space Shuttle program (SSP) determined that the root cause of this anomaly was workmanship. Corrective actions taken by the program included detailed inspection of all mid-body wiring and selected inspection of additional wiring, repair of wiring damage, redefining and standardization of wire inspection criteria to allow for less damage, and additional protection was added to selected critical wiring. The return of the Shuttle to flight status was based on repair of wire damage, wiring failure mitigation by overall Orbiter design, and maximum feasible separation of redundant systems. Other recommendations included quantifying and evaluating the current wire visual inspection processes, certifying technician/inspector by specially trained instructors, and minimizing the long-term use of polyimide wiring.

The ejection of the LOX post pin incident brought on a maintenance practice change that required damaged oxidizer posts to be removed and replaced as opposed to being intentionally plugged. During the engine block changes, Main Injector manufacturing processes were improved to preclude liquid oxygen post damage. There are no pinned posts in the fleet anymore. All STS flights starting with STS-103 used either Block II or Block II-A Space Shuttle Main Engines. None of these engines had deactivation pins in any of the liquid oxygen injector posts and it was not planned to fly any more pinned posts since 1999.

Appendix: SIAT Assessment

The SIAT was chartered by NASA to provide an independent review of the Space Shuttle sub-systems and maintenance practices. During the period from October through December 1999, the team led by Dr. Henry McDonald and comprised of NASA, contractor, and DOD experts reviewed NASA practices, Space Shuttle anomalies, as well as civilian and military aerospace experience.

Wiring In-Flight Anomaly

Corrective Actions:

Maintenance Requirements. Each Shuttle vehicle contains over 200 miles of wiring throughout the vehicle. As with modern aircraft, Shuttle wiring is a critical system since multiple failures can lead to loss of a vehicle. The primary wiring used in the Shuttle is a nickel-plated copper conductor with 6 mil thick polyimide/FEP insulation (similar to MIL-W-81381, trade name "Kapton", a wire construction extensively used in aviation from the early 1970's to mid-1990's). While this insulation has performed well in many applications, there are known issues related to arc track propagation (carbonization of polyimide and rapid collateral damage to adjacent wiring), mechanical degradation when exposed to certain environments (ultra-violet radiation, high pH materials (>10), sustained long term exposure at elevated temperatures to moisture while under mechanical stress), and insulation cracking when the insulation is nicked and placed under tensile stresses. Polyimide wire insulation performs best in straight runs with minimal bending and flexing. Examination of the Shuttle mid-body would seem to be the ideal application for this type of wiring. The extensive wiring damage found on each vehicle appears to be related to the high and continuous exposure to personnel performing maintenance procedures on various Shuttle systems.

Inspectors have been encouraged not to conduct intrusive inspections to minimize induced wire damage. The most intense inspection has been conducted in the mid-body bays. An examination of the Problem Resolution and Corrective Action system data prior to recent inspections shows the mid-body area to be the fourth highest area with wire damage. The data as of November 18, 1999 shows that since the recent inspections in late August 1999, there have been 485 problem reports written related to wiring in the mid-body area.

Design Issues. According to an early 1990's NASA study, the redundancy in 318 criticality-1 (CRIT 1), which is a single failure that could result in loss of life or vehicle, circuits were compromised by placing the redundant circuits in the same wire bundle or clamp. There were 129 CRIT 1/1 areas identified that violate system separation requirements. NASA Standard 8080 requires that critical circuits be physically separated. As an example, six separate areas exist that, if compromised electrically, would result in the loss of all main engine controllers. A review of the data indicates only violations that could be eliminated required a waiver. At the time of this report, a review of criticality-2 (CRIT 2), which is a failure that could result in loss of mission, systems with respect to comprising redundancy was pending.

It is apparent the current wire tray design contributed to STS-93 wiring failures. The use of a wire tray allows wiring to touch metal surfaces, which has resulted in the wiring contacting screw heads and other sharp surfaces. A past and possibility current maintenance practice has changed tray design assumptions. The reuse of tray screws and an occurrence of burred screw heads have created an unexpected chaffing source.

There was also considerable configuration variability between vehicles. In some cases, additional chafe protection was added, or screw heads were covered with a protective coating. The wire bundles were permitted to move in clamps and the trays. Typically, critical circuits must be kept physically separated from all surfaces and other wiring.

Arc Tracking. Damage to wiring or insulation and aging of insulation are a concern to the Shuttle fleet. Several incidents have been recorded over the life of the program.

As the Shuttle fleet continues to age, additional problems are to be expected. Given the life expectancy of the Orbiters, it is essential to plan for maintenance related to aging, not solely for upgrades. As early as 1991, NASA documents reported that arctracking was a significant risk on the Shuttle, as identified in the following statement from the 1st. NASA Workshop on Wiring for Space Applications, held at Lewis [Glenn] Research Center in July 1991: "Arc propagation poses a significant and credible threat to mission safety and success in aerospace vehicles [Shuttle]. This workshop was attended by members of the Space Shuttle community including Johnson Space Center and was co-sponsored by NASA Headquarters, Code Q.

Arc tracking susceptibility has not been eliminated, as this is an inherent property of polyimide insulation. Laboratory tests have shown that current circuit breaker technology does not sense arc track events. Intermittent arcing is seen as a varying load by thermal circuit breakers and current spikes can exceed over 1000% of a circuit breaker's rating without tripping the device. Arc track events have occurred with one- and three-amp circuit breakers; many of the Orbiter circuits are protected by three-amp breakers. Circuit breakers can also fail and not trip during an electrical short.

Human Factors

Findings:

- 1. Communication difficulties exist between all parties particularly in accepting feedback from the workforce, Aerospace Safety Advisory Panel, and independent assessment groups. This factor erodes trust and loyalty within the workforce which are essential for safe work practices.
- 2. Failure to incorporate Human Factors as a critical part of the decision process has increased potential single point and multiple point failures.
- 3. Recent numerous changes and transitions adversely affect work practices, resulting in loss of technical and process-related corporate knowledge (see Issue 7).
- 4. Process improvements made during the transition period to Shuttle Flight Operations Contract have also brought workforce concerns.
- 5. Work stresses, including expanded work assignments and diminished team support, have reduced the capabilities of the downsized workforce. Innovative cross training approaches may be key to regaining competencies and taking advantage of the skill and experiences of an aging workforce.
- 6. The SIAT is concerned that in spite of the Aerospace Safety Advisory Panel recommendations and findings, supported by the SIAT, recurring human factors issues remain unresolved.

7. Employee surveys, although limited in current scope, show significant levels of Physical Strain (internalized chronic stress). Internalized chronic stress has been implicated in workers suffering from stress related disease (e.g., gastrointestinal, cardiac, migraines).

Recommendations:

- 1. Communications between the rank-and-file work force, supervisors, engineers and management should be improved.
- 2. Human error management and development of safety metrics, e.g., Kennedy Space Center Shuttle Processing Human Factors team, should be supported aggressively and implemented program wide.
- 3. Selected areas of staffing need to be increased (e.g., the Aerospace Safety Advisory Panel advised 15 critical functional areas are currently staffed one deep).
- 4. The SIAT recommends that the SSP implement the Aerospace Safety Advisory Panel recommendations. Particular attention should be paid to recurring items.
- 5. NASA should expand on the Human Factors research initially accomplished by the SIAT and the Air Force Safety Center. This work should be accomplished through a cooperative effort including both NASA and AFSC. The data should be controlled to protect the privacy of those taking the questionnaires and participating in interviews. Since major failures are infrequent occurrences, NASA needs to include escapes and diving catches (see Appendix 3 of the full report) in their human factors assessments.
- 6. Work teams should be supported through improved employee awareness of stresses and their effect on health and work. Workload and "overtime" pressures should be mitigated by more realistic planning and scheduling; a serious effort to preserve "quality of life" conditions should be made.
- 7. Teamwork and team support should be enhanced to mitigate some of the negative effects of downsizing and transition to Shuttle Flight Operations Contract. Most immediately needed is the provision of relief from deficits in core competencies, with appropriate attention to the need for experience along with skill certification. Further development of the use of cross-training and other innovative approaches to providing on-the-job training in a timely way should be investigated.

References

- 1. Archive.nytimes.com. Space: The Space Shuttle Columbia (2021). https://archive.nytimes.com/www.nytimes.com/library/national/science/columbia-index.html
- Crittenden, L.: Managing electrical connections systems and wire integrity on legacy aerospace vehicles (2001). https://www.mitrecaasd.org/atsrac/FAA_PI-Engineer_Workshop/ 2001/NASAShuttleWiring.pdf
- 3. Dumoulin, J.: STS-93 Liftoff status home page. Science.ksc.nasa.gov (1999). https://science.ksc.nasa.gov/shuttle/missions/sts-93/liftoff.html
- 4. Hale, W.: Keeping Eileen on the ground: Part II or how i got launch fever. Wayne Hale's Blog (2013). https://waynehale.wordpress.com/2013/10/31/keeping-eileen-on-the-gro und-part-ii-or-how-i-got-launch-fever/

- 5. Hale, W.: STS-93: dodging golden bullets. Wayne Hale's Blog (2014). https://waynehale.wor dpress.com/2014/10/11/sts-93-dodging-golden-bullets/
- 6. Hale, W.: STS-93: We don't need any more of those. Wayne Hale's Blog (2014). https://way nehale.wordpress.com/2014/10/26/sts-93-we-dont-need-any-more-of-those/
- Manley, S.: How a gold bullet almost destroyed a space shuttle (2018). [video]. https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=u6rJpDPxYGU&ab_channel=ScottManley
- Ryba, J.: NASA STS-93. Nasa.gov (2007). https://www.nasa.gov/mission_pages/shuttle/ shuttlemissions/archives/sts-93.html
- 9. Space Shuttle Independent Assessment Team (2000). https://history.nasa.gov/siat.pdf
- Sloss, P.: STS-93 at twenty years: "a very long eight and a half minutes". NASASpace-Flight.com (2019). https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2019/07/sts-93-very-long-eight-halfminutes/
- 11. Sloss, P.: STS-93 at Twenty Years: "I had to hit the button!". NASASpaceFlight.com (2019). https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2019/07/sts-93-twenty-years-hit-button/
- Sloss, P.: STS-93 at Twenty Years: Planning to launch Chandra. NASASpaceFlight.com (2019). https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2019/07/sts-93-at-twenty-years-planning-to-lau nch-chandra/
- Sullivan, S., and Slenski, G.: Managing electrical connection systems and wire integrity on legacy aerospace vehicles (2021). https://www.caasd.org/atsrac/FAA_PI-Engineer_Wor kshop/2001/NASA_Aging_Aircraft_Workshop_Paper.pdf
- STS 93 Columbia launch July 23 1999 (2013). [video]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= XOQ1u6HbBFg&ab_channel=Miles%27sBasesProject
- 15. STS-93 post flight presentation JSC1794 (2010). [video] https://archive.org/details/JSC_ 1794_STS92_Post_Flight_Presentation.wmv
- 16. Dischinger, C.: Personal interview, 9 September 2020
- 17. Robertson, B.C.: Personal interview. 14 September 2020
- 18. Kanki, B.: Personal interview, 23 October 2020
- 19. Barth, T.C.: Personal interview, 23 October 2020



Machine Learning for Occupational Slip-Trip-Fall Incidents Classification Within Commercial Grain Elevators

Fatemeh Davoudi Kakhki^{1(区)}, Steven A. Freeman², and Gretchen A. Mosher²

¹ Department of Technology, San Jose State University, San Jose, CA 95192, USA fatemeh.davoudi@sjsu.edu

² Department of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011, USA

{sfreeman,gamosher}@iastate.edu

Abstract. The grain handling industry plays a significant role in U.S. agriculture by storing, distributing, and processing a variety of agricultural commodities. Commercial grain elevators are hazardous agro-manufacturing work environments where workers are prone to severe injuries, due to the nature of the activities and workplace. One of the leading causes of occupational incidents in all industries, including grain elevators, is slip, trip, and fall (STF). Therefore, prediction of STF incidents prior to occurrence is significant in occupational safety analysis. Despite high frequency of STF incidents at work, exploring their dominant factors via machine learning algorithms in agro-manufacturing environments is relatively new or unaddressed. Safety professionals may utilize the prediction and analysis of determinant factors of occupational incidents for actionable prevention and safety mitigation planning and practices. The objective of this research is to describe the slip-trip-fall (STF) injuries and trends in a population of agribusiness operations workers within commercial grain elevators in the Midwest of the United States, identify risk factors for STF injuries, and develop prevention strategies for STF hazards.

Keywords: Occupational safety · Occupational incident analysis · Machine learning · Decision trees · Bootstrap forest · Safety management

1 Introduction

Commercial grain elevators are significant in the agricultural sector in the United States due to their role in sorting, distributing and processing a wide range of agricultural commodities [1]. Compared to various sectors in agricultural-related industries, the cost and frequency of occupational incidents are higher in grain elevators [2–4]. This increase in recent years among agro-manufacturing operations within commercial grain elevators is due to the expansion in the grain storage capacity [2].

Among various causes of occupational incidents, slip-trip-fall (STF) incidents are a leading factor resulting in injury or fatality at workplace [5]. In the United States, STF

is one of the most commonly reported external causes of occupational incidents [6] and the percentage of workers' compensation claims ranges from 7% to 44% across industry groups for falling on the same level [7]. The economic burden of injuries related to STF are significant [8]. STF occupational incidents account for 95 million lost workdays annually in the United States, and cost employers an average of \$20,000 on workers' compensation expenses per incident [9]. Another study estimated the direct annual costs of STF-related occupational incidents as \$6 billion [10].

In an analysis of nonfatal occupational incidents in Korea between 2001 and 2010, Rhee et al. [11] showed that slip and fall incidents showed a higher annual rate compared to fall from height incidents, specifically in construction, agriculture, and service sectors. The rate of occupational incidents in agricultural-related industries was greater than other sectors [12]. According to Aguila Martinez-Casariego et al. [13], workers in agriculture-related sectors were involved in a variety of operations, and therefore, were exposed to all types of physical, chemical, psychological, and ergonomic occupational hazards, with STF incidents as one of the most common ones. Agribusiness industries consist of all the operations and organizations involved in the production, sales, and distributions of crop and livestock commodities [14], and include agricultural suppliers, producers, commodity merchandisers, as well as food processors and retailers for human and animals [15].

The purpose of this study is to analyze the agro-manufacturing occupational STF incidents within commercial grain elevators in the Midwest of the United States, using Bootstrap Forest (BF) machine learning algorithm. The results will provide insight on the factors that influence differentiation in the cause of occupational incidents. In addition, the approach and results will contribute to the development of safety measure with focus on eliminating the hazard sources for the occurrence of STF incidents.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Data

The data for this study are the records of workers' compensation claims from 2008 to 2016 in the agro-manufacturing operations within commercial grain elevators. According to this dataset, out of 6328 recorded claims, 31% were caused by STF and 69% are non-STF. The data show a total loss of \$85 million U.S. dollars from all incidents. Forty million and \$45 million U.S. dollars were paid on STF and Non-STF incidents, respectively. This amount covered the medical and rehabilitation costs, costs of indemnity and days-away-from work, and other expenses as compensation for the injured workers.

2.2 Modeling Variables

The independent factors in the modeling are the characteristics of the occupational incidents that include *age*, *occupation* and *experience* of the workers, as well as the *type* of injury (medical or disability), the injured body part groups, and the nature of injury. The dependent variable in the study is the main cause of the incidents. According to the data, the STF incidents are 31% of the total cause groups. The other 69% classified as

Non-STF include other causes such as strain or injury by, struck or injured by, and heat or cold exposure. By relabeling those other than STF incident cause, we created a new binary variable for the main cause of the incidents as STF and Non-STF.

2.3 Bootstrap Forest Machine Learning Classifier

Decision trees are powerful machine learning algorithms for predicting and classifying various categories of interest in injury and incident analysis [16–18]. The bootstrap forest (BF) is an ensemble decision tree predictive modeling algorithm for classification and regression tasks. This method is specifically useful for modeling high-dimensional data and addresses the problem of overfitting by reducing the variance without bias increase during the process of training the model [19]. For each bootstrap sample of the training data, a tree is built using a random subset of the independent variables in the dataset, and the final mode is an ensemble model created by averaging all those decision trees [20]. Furthermore, the BF model can be used for sensitivity analysis of predictors' contribution to the classification performance by calculating the specific contribution of each independent variable as a predictor of the output class. This contributes in selecting the strong predictors of the output class.

2.4 Model Development and Performance Assessment

In model preparation stage of this study, the whole data are partitioned into training and testing sets with 70–30 ratio. Therefore, the data in training and test set includes 4746 and 1582 instances of occupational incidents, respectively. Considering the assessment of the model, we use accuracy rate, sensitivity, specificity, and F-score. These values can be calculated from the confusion matrix that shows the number of correctly versus incorrectly classified instances.

Based on the classification results in a confusion matrix, the measures of merit for the performance of the machine learning is calculated. The model accuracy (TN + TP/Total) shows how often the classifier is correct in labeling an output class. Recall (TP/FN + TP) show the effectiveness of the model in identifying positive labels. Precision (TP/TP + FP) show the class agreement of the data labels with the positive labels defined by the classifier model. F-score is the balance between recall and precision ((2(precision * recall)/(precision + recall))). In this study, confusion matrix is built for STF and Non-STF as N, and P classes, respectively (Table 1).

| Actual class | Predicted class | |
|--------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| | STF (Negative) | Non-STF (Positive) |
| STF (Negative) | True Negative (TN) | False Positive (FP) |
| Non-STF (Positive) | False Negative (FN) | True Positive (TP) |

 Table 1. Confusion matrix for binary classification (in this study)

3 Results

The BF model is first trained on 70% of the data. In the second step, the new data in the test set are fed into the already trained model to assess the predictivity and performance of the BF algorithm in classifying main cause of occupational incidents in this study.

3.1 BF Classifier Performance

After training the BF algorithm on 70% of the data, the model was applied on the test dataset, which includes 30% of the workers' compensation claims in this study. The confusion matrix for the classification of STF versus Non-STF incidents are built as shown in Table 2. The confusion matrix is then used to calculate the model performance evaluation values: overall accuracy, overall error, recall, precision, and F-score.

The overall accuracy for this classifier is 0.72 and the error rate is 0.28. Therefore, the BF classifier is able to differentiate between the STF and Non-STF incident causes in 72% of the instances correctly. The values for recall, precision, and F-sore are 0.98, 0.72, and 0.83 respectively. The recall value of 0.98 shows the model's performance in classifying Non-STF cases is significantly high. This is due to the high frequency of Non-STF (69% of total data) in records of occupational incidents. For STF prediction, the precision value of 0.72 is still high and shows that this model can predict correctly in 72% of the cases, the main cause of occupational incident as STF. This is significant considering the low frequency of STF incident causes in the data.

| Actual class | Predicted class | |
|--------------|-----------------|---------|
| | STF | Non-STF |
| STF | 56 | 420 |
| Non-STF | 20 | 1086 |

 Table 2. Confusion matrix for test data.

3.2 Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis is the method of estimating the variability contribution from the input variables in predicting an output [21, 22]. In order to identify the most significant contributors to the prediction of STF and Non-STF incidents, the variable importance plot is constructed for all the independent variables used in the study. Figure 1 shows the specific contribution of each predictor in classifying the main cause of an occupational incident as either due to STF or Non-STF.

Based on the sensitivity analysis, the strongest predictors of the main cause of incidents in this study are the nature of the injury, followed by the injured body parts as well as the workers' occupation and age. The type of injury and the experience years have a much less effect in predicting the STF versus Non-STF incidents. This agrees with previous literature that emphasized the role of occupation in incident cause predictive modeling due to the significance of work tasks and activities in determining the probability of safety risks among workforce in agribusiness-related industries [1, 23, 24].



Fig. 1. Variable importance plot for sensitivity analysis.

4 Conclusion

We analyzed the occupational incidents within commercial grain elevators in the Midwest region of the United States and focused on slip-fall-trip incident causes as the source of safety risks. This study used over 6000 occupational incidents cases to investigate the influential predictors of occupational incidents cause in agro-manufacturing operations related to sorting, distributing, and processing of agricultural commodities within the bulk storage facilities. The modeling approach and the results of this study can be used together with safety practitioner expertise to improve informed decision-making processes in target work environments. Ultimately, this may reduce or possibly eliminate the causes of incidents, and consequently, improve the safety of the workers.

References

- Ramaswamy, S.K.; Mosher, G.A.: Using workers' compensation claims data to characterize occupational injuries in the biofuels industry. Saf. Sci. (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci. 2017.12.014
- Geng, Y., Jepsen, S.D.: Current grain storage and safety practices of ohio cash grain operators. J. Agric. Saf. Health (2018). https://doi.org/10.13031/jash.12574

- Kakhki, F.D., Freeman, S.A., Mosher, G.A.: Use of logistic regression to identify factors influencing the post-incident state of occupational injuries in agribusiness operations. Appl. Sci. 9, 3449 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/app9173449
- Kakhki, F.D., Freeman, S.A., Mosher, G.A.: Segmentation of severe occupational incidents in agribusiness industries using latent class clustering. Appl. Sci. 9, 3641 (2019). https://doi. org/10.3390/app9183641
- Top, Y., Adanur, H., Öz, M.: Comparison of practices related to occupational health and safety in microscale wood-product enterprises. Saf. Sci. 82, 374–381 (2016). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ssci.2015.10.014
- Meyers, A.R., et al.: Applying machine learning to workers' compensation data to identify industry-specific ergonomic and safety prevention priorities: Ohio, 2001 to 2011. J. Occup. Environ. Med. (2018). https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000001162
- 7. Leamon, T.B., Murphy, P.L.: Occupational slips and falls: more than a trivial problem. Ergonomics **38**, 487–498 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139508925120
- Kong, P.W., Suyama, J., Hostler, D.: A review of risk factors of accidental slips, trips, and falls among firefighters. Saf. Sci. 60, 203–209 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2013.07.016
- Healey, J.M., Higgins, E.L., Macdonald, K.E., Connors, B.F.: Beyond traditional biosafety. Appl. Biosaf. 20(4), 205–207 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1177/153567601502000407
- Courtney, T.K., Sorock, G.S., Manning, D.P., Collins, J.W., Holbein-Jenny, M.A.: Occupational slip, trip, and fall-related injuries - can the contribution of slipperiness be isolated? Ergonomics 44, 1118–1137 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1080/00140130110085538
- Rhee, K.Y., Choe, S.W., Kim, Y.S., Koo, K.H.: The Trend of Occupational Injuries in Korea from 2001 to 2010. Saf. Health Work (2013). https://doi.org/10.5491/SHAW.2013.4.1.63
- Kumar, G.V.P., Dewangan, K.N.: Agricultural accidents in north eastern region of India. Saf. Sci. 47, 199–205 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2008.03.007
- Aguila Martinez-Casariego, M., Vilkevicius, G., Mieldazys, A., Mieldazys, R.: Analysis of Maintenance Safety Problems in Agriculture. In: Rural Development in Global Changes, vol. 5, Book 1 (2011)
- Behzadi, G., O'Sullivan, M.J., Olsen, T.L., Zhang, A.: Agribusiness supply chain risk management: a review of quantitative decision models. Omega (United Kingdom) (2018). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2017.07.005
- Gunderson, M.A., Boehlje, M.D., Neves, M.F., Sonka, S.T.: Agribusiness organization and management. In: Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems (2014). https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-444-52512-3.00117-0
- Davoudi Kakhki, F., Freeman, S.A., Mosher, G.A.: Utilization of machine learning in analyzing post-incident state of occupational injuries in agro-manufacturing industries. In: Arezes, P.M., Boring, R.L. (eds.) AHFE 2020. AISC, vol. 1204, pp. 3–9. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50946-0_1
- Zheng, Z., Lu, P., Lantz, B.: Commercial truck crash injury severity analysis using gradient boosting data mining model. J. Saf. Res. 65, 115–124 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr. 2018.03.002
- Davoudi Kakhki, F., Freeman, S.A., Mosher, G.A.: Evaluating machine learning performance in predicting injury severity in agribusiness industries. Saf. Sci. 117, 257–262 (2019). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2019.04.026
- Inkoom, S., Sobanjo, J., Barbu, A., Niu, X.: Pavement crack rating using machine learning frameworks: partitioning, bootstrap forest, boosted trees, naïve bayes, and K-nearest neighbors. J. Transp. Eng. Part B Pave. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1061/jpeodx.0000126
- 20. Proust, M.: JMP® 14 Predictive and Specialized Modeling. SAS Institute Inc., Cary (2020)
- Li, Z., Liu, P., Wang, W., Xu, C.: Using support vector machine models for crash injury severity analysis. Accid. Anal. Prev. 45, 478–486 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011. 08.016

- Kakhki, F.D., Freeman, S.A., Mosher, G.A.: Use of neural networks to identify safety prevention priorities in agro-manufacturing operations within commercial grain elevators. Appl. Sci. 9, 4690 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/app9214690
- Chercos, D.H., Berhanu, D.: Work related injury among Saudi star agro industry workers in Gambella Region, Ethiopia; a cross-sectional study. J. Occup. Med. Toxicol. 12, 1–8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12995-017-0153-x
- Swaen, G.M.H., Van Amelsvoort, L.G.P.M., Bültmann, U., Kant, I.J.: Fatigue as a risk factor for being injured in an occupational accident: results from the maastricht cohort study. Occup. Environ. Med. (2003). https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.60.suppl_1.i88

Risk Exposure and Assessment



Risk Assessment Knowledge Relating to Occupational Health and Safety Risks: A Case Study of Five Finnish Companies

Minna Rantala¹, Maria Lindholm^{1,2}, Sari Tappura^{1(\Box)}, and Noora Nenonen¹

Abstract. Conducting risk assessment in workplaces has proved to be demanding, even though it is essential in occupational health and safety promotion and accident prevention. To identify knowledge gaps regarding risk assessment in workplaces and related development needs in Finland, five medium- and large-sized Finnish companies were studied using semi-structured safety expert interviews. The interviewees (n = 10) highlighted the need to develop the assessment of the magnitude of the risk, the utilization of the risk assessment and residual risk, and the use of occupational health and safety systems. Further studies are needed to determine how to support risk assessment skills and evaluate the success of risk assessment in workplaces.

Keywords: Hazard identification \cdot Occupational safety and health \cdot Risk assessment \cdot Risk evaluation \cdot Workplace safety

1 Introduction

Risk assessment is an important factor in occupational health and safety (OHS) promotion and accident prevention. Nonetheless, in practice, it can be difficult to carry out a risk assessment, as identifying hazards and analyzing and evaluating risks in the workplace is challenging. Certain hazards are identified and not as well-managed as others [1]. Poor risk assessment and failure to identify hazards has been attributed to various factors, including subjectivity and skill gaps [2–4]. However, studies have shown that risk assessment skills can be developed, for example, through training and internships [5–7].

Teaching methods and commitment have emerged in the literature as important factors for the development of risk assessment skills. According to Albert and Hallowel [8], not all traditional pedagogical teaching methods are suitable for adults because they have different needs and expectations relating to teaching and learning compared to children. Hence, a learner-centric andragogical method has been developed for them [8]. In their study, Zuluaga et al. [9] found association between high-engaging training

methods and higher hazard recognition level. The methods differ, for example, in terms of the need for knowledge, self-study, study experience, readiness to learn, and motivation. In addition to the training method, training transfer factors such as upper management commitment, supervisor support, safety culture, and different feedback have a major impact on better hazard recognition [10]. According to Namian et al. [10], the use of more engaging and more expensive training methods may not provide a better level of hazard recognition compared with traditional low-engaging methods if the level of training transfer is low. Hashem et al. [11] also found that methods of delivering safety training (such as text, lecture, and video) do not affect knowledge retention.

In Finland, according to the Occupational Safety and Health Act, employers have an obligation to take care of the health and safety of their employees [12]. Identifying hazards and potentially harmful effects is part of an employer's duty of care. The Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (MSAH) published *The Risk Assessment in Workplaces Workbook* [13], which is widely used. The MSAH Workbook offers a framework and guidelines for identifying hazards in OHS risk assessment. Checklists for various hazards (such as physical factors, ergonomics, chemical factors, psychosocial factors, and the risk of injuries) are included in the MSAH Workbook. Generally, companies have updated their checklists to suit their operations. The aim of this study was to identify knowledge gaps relating to risk assessment and related development needs in Finnish workplaces.

2 Methods and Materials

To facilitate a more in-depth understanding of the risk assessment knowledge gaps in five Finnish companies, a qualitative interview study was conducted. A semi-structured interview was used to collect the data, using a form with preprepared topics as a guide. The preprepared topics focused on the use of the MSAH workbook, the method used for risk assessment, employees' risk assessment skills, and how to develop risk assessment skills. The topics included questions such as the following: Who conducts the risk assessments? Which methods are used in risk assessments? What kind of risk assessment skills does the personnel have? How are the risk assessment skills evaluated? How is the success of the risk assessment evaluated? The semi-structured interview form was based on a previous study [1] and current research questions. The interviews were recorded and analyzed by categorizing the themes that emerged.

The companies represent the following industries: 1) manufacturing; 2) transportation and storage; 3) electrical power generation, transmission, and distribution; and 4) other technical testing and analysis field. Four of the companies are large, while one is medium-sized, employing about 200 people. In addition, the companies employ subcontractors. The companies were chosen based on their needs and interests to develop their risk assessment processes.

A total of five interviews were conducted. The job titles of the interviewees (n = 10) in the companies varied from safety engineer to health, safety, environment, and quality managers. Hereinafter, they will be referred to as safety experts. All the interviews were held in autumn 2020. Table 1 summarizes the distribution of the companies, the interviewees, and the interviews.

| Companies industry | Manufacturing (companies A and D); transportation and storage (company C); electrical power generation, transmission and distribution (company B); and other technical testing and analysis field (company E) |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Interviewees per company | Company A (n = 2), company B (n = 1), company C (n = 3), company D (n = 3), and company E (n = 1) |
| Interview medium | Teams interviews $(n = 5)$ |
| Interview type | Individual interviews (40%), group interviews (60%) |
| Duration of the interviews | Average: 73 min, range: 63–84 min |
| Experience in occupational safety | Average: 7 years, range: 2–15 years |

Table 1. Background information about the interviews (n = 5) and interviewees (n = 10).

3 Results

The participated companies mainly used electronic checklists customized for their use. Almost all of them used a matrix to determine the magnitude of risk. The checklists and risk matrices were mainly based on the MSAH workbook. The risk assessments involved the supervisor and the employee(s), the OHS officer and in some cases the safety/quality manager, and an expert. The companies did not evaluate the risk assessment skills of those who were performing the risk assessment or the success of the risk assessment.

In the interviews, four categories emerged as the main areas for development. The categories were related to difficulties in estimating the magnitude of the risk, the utilization of the risk assessment and residual risk assessment, and the OHS systems used. There also arose a question of how the results of the risk assessment should be discussed with the employees. Table 2 presents the four categories and explanations.

According to the interview results, assessing the magnitude of risk is difficult. The interviewees mentioned, for example, the varying views of experts, supervisors, and employees on the consequence and probability of the risks. The training provided by the companies to support risk assessment varied widely. Orientation for new employees includes information on safe work methods. Certain jobs require special qualifications, and in that context, OHS is also discussed. In addition, there were various in-house training videos, guides, and thematic training. As an example of management's commitment to safety, one company sent a group of safety experts to introduce a new OHS system to supervisors at their work sites. Moreover, it was found that although staff is trained, their ability to carry out risk assessments is not assessed or tested.

Even though the interviewees stated that discussing residual risks with employees can improve risk awareness, not all companies carried out a residual risk assessment. Some of the companies evaluated residual risk before corrective actions are completed, while some evaluated it after corrective measures. One issue relating to the utilization of residual risk assessment was measuring how often work needs to be rethought because the original plan would cause an occupational safety risk. In addition, it was argued that an audit-type residual risk assessment after corrective measures would also act as a quality assessment. Several interviewees shared the view that the results of both the risk assessment and the residual risk should be used more in orientations and training.

Using OHS systems requires instructions that are simple enough. Based on the interviews, there were differences in defining the consequences of hazards. Not all the systems provided sufficient guidance on hazard characterization. Because of that and not being aware of the principles of risk assessment, the employees were not able to determine what the possible consequences would be if the hazard is realized. As a result, the corrective action did not necessarily respond to the hazard originally identified. All the companies had an electronic risk assessment system configured for their use. In principle, the systems had similar functions. In this study, the systems themselves were not further examined. However, in general, some systems were perceived as complex. It was hoped that the system would guide the user through the risk assessment and would be easy to use. It was noted that the employees did not always know how to write all the considered matters clearly enough.

| Category | Details | |
|---|---|--|
| Assessing the magnitude of risks is challenging | Due to the subjective view, a matrix may not be the best solution for assessing the magnitude of risk | |
| | Supervisors' view of risks may differ from employees' view | |
| Utilization of risk assessment | Results of the risk assessment should be used more in training and orientation | |
| | A tool for supervisors to develop operations | |
| Utilization of residual risk | Quality assessment | |
| | Discussion with employees | |
| | In orientation materials | |
| Using the OHS-systems (for example, SaaS, | Instructions need to be simple enough | |
| PaaS, or intranet) | Identified hazard and predicted consequence do not always meet | |

Table 2. Identified knowledge gaps and development needs relating to risk assessment.

4 Discussion

In this study, insight into knowledge gaps in risk assessment in Finnish workplaces was given. Four main needs were identified to develop the risk assessment concerning difficulties in assessing the magnitude of the risk, the utilization of risk assessment and residual risk, and difficulties when using the OHS system. Nenonen et al. [14], in previous research among Finnish companies, found that the companies' risk assessment process is mainly based on the MSAH workbook, which is usually applied strictly. Even

though companies adapt the checklists and risk matrices to suit their use, their use was perceived as problematic due to a subjective perspective. Others felt that the numerical assessment facilitated the prioritization and proper implementation of corrective actions.

The results of this study are in agreement with previous studies that have evaluated risk assessment in other industries. For example, Wijeratne et al. [15] studied maintenance activities in three organizations, and their findings on the subjectivity of risk assessment supported the results of this study, as the lack of standards has been found to complicate an objective analysis of the severity and likelihood of hazards. Furthermore, the use of risk matrices in risk assessments has received criticism [16, 17]. Likewise, in this study, the interviewees were not satisfied with the use, results, or guidance in using risk matrices. The focus was too much on the numeric evaluation based on individuals' opinions of the magnitude of the risks.

Based on previous studies, the utilization of risk assessment needs to be developed [4]. Similarly, the interviewees revealed that risk assessment is not fully utilized, for example, in improving an organization's operations or orientating new employees. Finally, in this study, it was found that risk assessment skills need to be further developed and evaluated. Training relating to safety was provided in the companies by various methods. Namian et al. [10] stated that the commitment of the management is one of the important training transfer factors. In this study, the interviewees were quite satisfied with the management's commitment to safety. However, the training should begin at educational institutions to ensure basic knowledge in OHS and risk assessment [18, 19].

Further research is needed to explore how to support the employees' risk assessment skills and how to evaluate the success of the risk assessment process. To determine the objective level of risk, the use and development of risk matrices need to be further studied to decrease the identified difficulties in risk assessment.

The limitations of the study include a limited number of respondents for qualitative interviews as well as a fairly homogeneous research sample. The backgrounds, education, and work experience of the interviewees varied considerably. The responses began to present similar issues. Consequently, saturation was achieved, which indicated that the study had a satisfactory number of interviews.

In addition, the interaction between the researcher and the interviewee may affect the conduct of the interview. The interviewee may feel uncomfortable or the interview may digress from the original topic [20]. These possibilities have been taken into account in the study when designing the interviews. Semi-structured interviews ensured that all topics were discussed. At the same time, it provided an opportunity to discuss more freely and deeply when necessary.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to acknowledge the Finnish Work Environment Fund for funding this research. Moreover, the authors are grateful to the companies and the interviewees that participated in this study.

References

 Nenonen, N., Anttila, S., Kivistö-Rahnasto, J.: Kuinka löytää ja hallita oikeat riskit? [How to find and manage actual risks?] [Internet]. Tampereen teknillinen yliopisto. Tuotantotalous ja tietojohtaminen, p. 87 (2018). http://www.tut.fi/tutcris

- Albert, A., Hallowell, M.R., Skaggs, M., Kleiner, B.: Empirical measurement and improvement of hazard recognition skill. Saf. Sci. 93, 1–8 (2017)
- Bahn, S.: Workplace hazard identification and management: the case of an underground mining operation. Saf. Sci. 57, 129–137 (2013)
- Nenonen, N., Pulkkinen, J., Anttila, S., Kivistö-Rahnasto, J.: Development needs of the oshrelated risk management process: a companies' viewpoint. In: Ahram, T., Karwowski, W., Pickl, S., Taiar, R. (eds.) IHSED 2019. AISC, vol. 1026, pp. 631–636. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27928-8_96
- Burke, M.J., Ann Sarpy, S., Smith-Crowe, K., Chan-Serafin, S., Salvador, R.O., Islam, G.: Relative effectiveness of worker safety and health training methods. Am. J. Public Heal. Public Heal. 96, 315–324 (2006)
- Gonzalez, A.A., Patroni, S.A., Vidal, J.G.: Developing competencies in the process of hazard identification in an enterprise related to the field of logistic and food. Proc. Manuf. 3, 5052– 5058 (2015)
- Turekova, I., Banesz, G.: Innovation of the occupational health and safety study programme. In: Proceedings of 2015 International Conference on Interactive Collaborative Learning, ICL 2015 7318122, pp. 742–747 (2015)
- Albert, A., Hallowel, M.R.: Revamping occupational safety and health training: integrating andragogical principles for the adult learner. Australas J. Constr. Econ. Build. 13, 128–140 (2013)
- Zuluaga, C.M., Asce, S.M., Namian, M., Albert, A., Asce, A.M., Assistant, G.R.: Impact of training methods on hazard recognition and risk perception in construction. In: Construction Research Congress 2016: Old and New Construction Technologies Converge in Historic San Juan - Proceedings of the 2016 Construction Research Congress, CRC 2016, pp. 2861–2871 (2016)
- Namian, M., Albert, A., Zuluaga, C.M., Jaselskis, E.J.: Improving hazard-recognition performance and safety training outcomes: integrating strategies for training transfer. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 142, 04016048 (2016)
- Mohammed, M.S., Killingsworth, J., Shah, S.: An evaluation of training delivery methods' effects on construction safety training and knowledge retention - a foundational study. Int. J. Constr. Educ. Res. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1080/15578771.2019.1640319
- 12. Finlex. Työturvallisuuslaki 23.8.2002/738 (Occupational Safety and Health Act 2002/783) [Internet] (2002). https://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/ajantasa/2002/20020738. Accessed 21 Jan 2021
- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. Riskien arviointi työpaikalla-työkirja. [The risk assessment in workplaces workbook] [Internet]. Social Affairs and Health and the Centre for Occupational Safety, p. 69 (2015). https://ttk.fi/files/2941/Riskien_arviointi_tyopaikalla_tyokirja_22052015_kerttuli.pdf
- 14. Nenonen, N., Kivistö-Rahnasto, J., Anttila, S.: How workplaces actually carry out OSHrelated risk assessment and management. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. **969**, 239–251 (2020)
- Wijeratne, W.M.P.U., Baks, P., De Silva, L.: Identification and assessment risks in maintenance operations. Built. Environ. Proj. Asset. Manag. 4, 384–405 (2014)
- 16. Anthony Cox Jr., L.: What's wrong with risk matrices? Risk Anal. 28, 497–512 (2008)
- 17. Aven, T.: Improving risk characterisations in practical situations by highlighting knowledge aspects, with applications to risk matrices. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **167**, 42–48 (2017)
- Krause, U.: Process safety in engineering education-pro's and con's of different approaches. Chem. Eng. Trans. 48, 871–876 (2016)
- Lindholm, M., Väyrynen, S., Reiman, A.: Findings and views on occupational safety and health teaching at universities. Work 64, 685–695 (2019)
- Gideon, L.: Handbook of Survey Methodology for the Social Sciences. 1st edn., vol. 513. Springer, Heidelberg (2012). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3876-2



Experimental Comparison of CWA 17553:2020 Community Face Coverings to Surgical Masks and Filtering Facepiece Respirators

Nhât Nam Nguyên¹, Joren Van Loon¹, Els Du Bois¹, Jouke Verlinden^{1,2}, Stijn Verwulgen¹, and Regan Watts¹(⊠)

¹ Department of Product Development, Faculty of Design Sciences, University of Antwerp, Antwerpen, Belgium

regan.watts@uantwerpen.be

² Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering, Delft University of Technology, Delft, Netherlands

Abstract. With the worldwide spread of the COVID-19 virus in early 2020, shortages of surgical masks and filtering facepiece respirator (FFR) masks became a critical problem. European governments recommended that civilians should not use these masks so that the shortages in the hospitals would be minimised. In Europe, civilians were instead advised to wear community face coverings. In June 2020, the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) published CWA 17553:2020 [1-3] which formalised minimum requirements, methods of testing and use of community face coverings. The CWA 17553 is presently only a recommendation, and not an official standard such as the EN14683 standard for surgical masks or the EN149 standard for filtering facepiece respirators. Because there are different performance requirements for these three different classes of masks, it makes comparing their performance challenging. In this work, we perform particulate filtration efficiency measurement, total inward leakage measurement and breathability measurement on a range of surgical masks, filtering facepiece respirators and community face coverings. This analysis provides a useful comparison between material performance and the effectiveness of a mask's design which is manufactured from this material.

Keywords: Community face coverings · Surgical masks · Filtering facepiece respirators

1 Introduction

With the worldwide spread of the COVID-19 virus in early 2020, shortages of surgical masks and filtering facepiece respirator (FFR) masks became a critical problem. European governments recommended that civilians should not use these masks so that the shortages in the hospitals would be minimised. In Europe, civilians were instead advised to wear community face coverings. These community coverings could be made by the civilians themselves or they could be purchased through vendors. In June 2020, the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) published CWA 17553:2020 which formalised minimum requirements, methods of testing and use of community face coverings [2]. The CWA 17553 is presently only a recommendation, and not an official standard such as the EN14683:2019 + AC:2019 standard for surgical masks [3] or the EN149:2001+A1:2009 standard for filtering facepiece respirators [4].

For important performance specifications like material filtration efficiency, the CWA 17553 targets two levels of filtration efficiency; 70% and 90%. Presently, manufacturers of community face coverings can use test results from the ISO/TC 94/SC 15, EN149 or EN14683, even though the size of the challenge particles used in these standards differ by a factor of ten. For example, the EN14683 measures filtration efficiency using bacteria with a size distribution around 3 μ m and the EN149 uses NaCl and paraffin oil with size distributions around 0.3 μ m. This makes comparisons of the same mask between the different test standards difficult.

In this work, we perform a suit of measurements to compare of community face coverings, with or without external filter inserts, with a range of EN14683-certified surgical masks, both cup-style and folding FFP2 and FFP3-certified respirator masks, KN95certificated respirator masks, and prototype FFP2 and FFP3 respirator masks certified by the Belgian alternative testing protocol (ATP) [6] for FFP2/FFP3. Tests included total inward leakage (TIL) measured using the PALAS [8] Mas-Q-Check with standard European headform model (the Sheffield head), TIL measured using TSI Portacount instrumentation and human participants, particle filtration efficiency (PFE) measurement using the PALAS Mas-Q-Check, and breathing resistance using a Fluke airflow meter. The work is concluded with a discussion about material selection and how this can be linked to the effectiveness of a mask's design.

2 Comparing Performance Requirements

A standard is a requirement. they provide rules and guidelines for manufactures. in europe these standards are identified with an unique reference code which contain the letters "EN" ("European Standards", 2021). These European standards are approved by one of the three recognized European Standardization Organizations (ESOs): Comité Européen de Normalisation (CEN), Comité Européen de Normalisation Electrotechnique (CEN-ELEC), European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI). We will discuss the standards that are relevant for the medical face masks, ffr and community face coverings (CFCs). This section provides a comparison between the technical performance requirements for the EN149, EN14683 and CWA 17553. The technical requirements for filter performance, total inward leakage and breathing resistance are shown in Tables 1, 2 and 3, respectively.

EN149 Standard

Firstly, FFRs in European countries need to comply with the EN149:2001+ A1:2009 standard [5, 6]. FFRs are classified according to the penetration of filter material and their maximum total inward leakage (TIL). They also need to meet the requirements for the breathing resistance. The EN149 standard divides the FFRs in three classes: FFP1, FFP2 and FFP3. For the penetration test, the filter material is challenged with test aerosols of both NaCl and paraffin oil. The particle size distribution of the NaCl shall be 0.02 μ m to 2 μ m equivalent aerodynamic diameter with a mass median diameter of 0.6 μ m. The

total inward leakage (TIL) measures the particulate leakage into the respirator mask. The maximum permissible TIL is the arithmetic mean of leakage measured over a number of exercises for a number of users. The limits are set as: FFP1 = 22%, FFP2 = 8%, FFP3 = 2% (CEN, 2009). Breathing resistance measures the amount of pressure needed to breathe through the material. This is separated by inhalation and exhalation resistance. The maximum permitted inhalation resistance is set by the different classification, for example FFP1, FFP2 and FFP3, and are measured for moderate (30 l/min) and heavy (95 l/min) inhalation rates. The maximum permitted exhalation resistance is uniform across the classifications and measured at a rapid exhalation rate (160 L per minute).

EN14683 Standard

EN14683 standard is a standard that all medical face masks in the European countries need to comply with [5, 6]. These medical face masks are divided in three types: Type I, Type II and Type IIR. An important criteria is the Bacterial filtration efficiency (BFE). The material is tested with living bacteria (Staphylococcus aureus) with the mean size of 3 (\pm 0.3) μ m. Another important criteria is the breathing resistance of the material, described as the differential pressure. The maximum permitted differential pressure is divided again into the three types of medical face masks.

CWA 17553 Guideline

CWA 17553 is a guide that is recommended, but it is not mandatory [6]. This guide has been drafted for community masks. The filtration efficiency of the material is again an important criteria. The material is tested with particles with the size of 3 (\pm 0.5) μ m (NaCl, paraffin oil), with two classified performance levels: Level 70% (greater than or equal to 70%) and level 90% (greater than or equal to 90%). Breathing resistance for the CWA 17553 guideline is equivalent to the inhalation and exhalation performance of the FFP2-class EN149 respirator.

The three standards have different requirements. The Particle Filtration Efficiency (PFE) is a criteria that the EN149 standard and the CWA 17553 have in common. For the EN149 standard they use Penetration of filter material as criteria. With the Penetration of filter material, the PFE can be calculated (Particle Filtration Efficiency (PFE) = 100% - Penetration of filter material). The EN14683 standard uses the Bacterial filtration efficiency (BFE) instead of the PFE. The BFE test uses live bacteria whereas the PFE test uses non-living particles. Beside the difference between the PFE and the BFE, each standard also uses different particle size distributions as reference for the tests. The EN149 standard and the CWA 17553 uses the same particles but they differ in size distribution. For the EN149 standard, the particle size distribution needs be approximately 0.3 μ m (NaCl, paraffin oil). For the CWA 17553 the particle size distribution needs to be 3 (± 0.5) μ m (NaCl, paraffin oil). And the EN14683 standard uses living bacteria with a size distribution of 3 (± 0.3) μ m (Staphylococcus aureus).

The Total inward leakage is a criteria that is only included in the EN149 standard. The EN14683 and the CW17553 do not include this in the standards.

The breathability criteria for the three standards are different too. In the EN14683 standard, the flow and whether it applies to the inhalation or exhalation is not specified. For the breathability, the EN149 standard has different flow ratings. For both the EN149 standard and the CWA 17553 there is a distinction between inhalation and exhalation. Each class has a different rating except for the CWA 17553. The CWA 17553 uses
| Filtration efficiency | PFE/BFE | Particles/bacteria | Size distribution | Value per class |
|-----------------------|---------|--|---------------------------|---|
| EN149 standard | PFE | NaCl, paraffin oil (Particles) | 0.3 µm | FFP1 = 80% FFP2 = 94% FFP3 = 99% |
| EN14683 standard | BFE | Staphylococcus aureus (Bacteria) | $3~(\pm~0.3)~\mu\text{m}$ | Type I = 95% Type II = 98% Type IIR = 98% |
| CWA 17553 | PFE | NaCl, paraffin oil (Particles) | $3 (\pm 0.5) \mu m$ | Level 70% = 70% Level 90% = 90% |

Table 1. Comparison of filtration efficiency between the various classes of European masks

Table 2. Comparison of total inward leakage between the various classes of European masks

| Total inward leakage | Value per class |
|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| EN149 standard | FFP1 = 22% FFP2 = 8% FFP3 = 2% |
| EN14683 standard | _ |
| CWA 17553 | _ |

95 l/min as flow and the ratings are the same as that of the FFP2 class from the EN149 standard.

At the time of writing, there is no uniformity in the criteria among these standards and guidelines for the CFCs. These standards use different test variables. This is the reason why it is difficult to compare the masks with each other based on the existing standards. In the following we will try to compare the community face coverings with the medical face mask and FFR masks. For the comparison we will perform uniform test procedures to define the values. This procedure consist of three tests: PFE, TIL and Breathability.

3 Methods and Tested Materials

In this work, we performed three tests. These are the Particle Filtration Efficiency (PFE), Total Inward Leakage (TIL) and the Breathability. The PFE test checks the filter efficiency of the material of the mask. The value of the PFE is expressed in percentage. The higher the percentage; the better the PFE. For the PFE the PALAS Mas-Q-Check is used ("Mas-Q-Check", 2021). The Mas-Q-Check is a particle counting measurement device. This particular model provides a suction with a volume flow of 9.5 l/min. The Mas-Q-Check has two openings. One measures the ambient air and the other measures behind the material. It uses an aerosol spectrometer to measure the particle contamination in the ambient air. Afterwards the device the switches and determines the value of the particle

| Breathability | Flow | Inhalation per class | Exhalation per class |
|------------------|--|---|---|
| EN149 standard | 30 l/min (Inhalation) | FFP1 = 0.6 mbar | |
| | | FFP2 = 0.7 mbar | |
| | | FFP3 = 1.0 mbar | |
| | 95 l/min (Inhalation) | FFP1 = 2.1 mbar | |
| | | FFP2 = 2.4 mbar | |
| | | FFP3 = 3.0 mbar | |
| | 160 l/min (Exhalation) | | FFP1, FFP2, FFP3 = 3.0 mbar |
| EN14683 standard | Not stated (capable measuring 8 l/min) | Type I = 0.4 mbar/cm^2 | Type I = 0.4 mbar/cm^2 |
| | | Type II = 0.4 mbar/cm^2 | Type II = 0.4 mbar/cm^2 |
| | | Type IIR = 0.6 mbar/cm^2 | Type IIR = 0.6 mbar/cm^2 |
| | | (Not stated for inhalation or exhalation) | (Not stated for inhalation or exhalation) |
| CWA 17553 | 95 l/min | level 70% = 2.4mbar | level 70% = 3.0 mbar |
| | | level 90% = 2.4 mbar | level 90% = 3.0 mbar |

Table 3. Comparison of breathability between the various classes of European masks

contamination behind the material of the masks. It can measure particles with sizes from 140 nm to 1 μ m. This process is repeated several times. The ratio of the two measured values is used to determine the PFE.

The TIL test checks the inward leakage of the mask. For this test the PALAS Mas-Q-Check is going to be used with a Sheffield head, as shown in Fig. 2. This head is the standard European headform model. The head has two holes. The small hole in the forehead measures the particle contamination in the ambient air. The hole between the lips measures the particle contamination behind the mask. By comparing the two values, the instrument calculates the TIL. The difference between the PFE and the TIL is that the PFE tests the material whereas the TIL tests the seal/mask shape (Fig. 1).

The breathability tests the breathing resistance of the material. The lower the resistance the better. A higher resistance will increase the difficulty to breathe. For this test, a test bench was developed to measure back pressure. The measurement system consists of an AP-50 air pump (VT Velda BV, Belgium), capable of generating a maximum flow of 5.5 l/min, a Fluke 922 Airflow Meter (Fluke Corporation, WA, USA) and a 3D-printed pressure chamber, consisting of adapters for tubes, and foam seat and rigid sealing ring to make an airtight seal with the material under test. This test setup is shown



Fig. 1. (a) Sheffield headform used with the PALAS Mas-Q-Check and (B) the headform with a prototype Antwerp Design Factory Poly2+ FFP2 flat-folding respirator on it.

in Fig. 3, where the foam seat is shown in red. The test setups in the EN149, EN14683 and CWA 17553 use pressure drop measurement systems, whereas here we implemented a back pressure measurement system. This makes direct comparison back to an individual standard challenging, however we can use this test setup to benchmark against commercially-available masks that fulfill their respective minimum technical standards for breathability.



Fig. 2. (a) Cross-section schematic diagram of the back pressure test rig developed to benchmark breathability performance of different mask materials. The thick black line shows the 3D printed pressure chamber, the red line shows the foam sealant which when used with the rigid sealing ring creates an air-tight connection between the pressure chamber and the material under test. (b) Shows a photograph of the hardware.

These tests were performed on a range of commercially-available CFCs, medical face masks and flat-folding and cup-shaped FFRs. In total, ten different types of masks were tested. These are shown in Table 3.





4 Results

Ten masks were tested here, with a CFC-type mask tested with commercially-available activated carbon filter inserts. The values for PFE TIL are measured in percentage. The breathability is measured in Pascal. The results are shown in Table 4.

In the PFE the percentage of the "Cotton Smile camo" and the "Cotton Smile blue", both community face covering, is very low (11.6% and 2.6%, respectively). But when an activate carbon filter is inserted in the community face covering, the PFE increases (98.7% and 97.3%) and it could pass the PFE FFP2 criteria. The PFE from "Surgical mask S1" is lower than the PFE from the community masks with filter. Most of the FFRs passes the PFE test.

| Mask Model | Standard | Class | PFE (%) | TIL (%) | Breathability (Pa) |
|-------------------------------------|-------------|-----------|---------|---------|--------------------|
| Cotton Smile camo | CWA 17553 | _ | 11.6 | 92.5 | 34 |
| Cotton Smile camo + PM2.5 filter | CWA 17553 | _ | 98.7 | 86.1 | 146 |
| Cotton Smile blue | CWA 17553 | _ | 2.6 | 92.5 | 20 |
| Cotton Smile blue + PM2.5 filter | CWA 17553 | - | 97.3 | 86.3 | 127 |
| Medical face mask | EN14683 | Type I | 78.6 | 83.8 | 78 |
| Powecom | GB2626-2006 | KN95 | 95.5 | 71.3 | 76 |
| Antwerp Design Factory Poly2+ | Belgian ATP | FFP2/FFP3 | 97.3 | 24.1 | 129 |
| Venitex M1200C FFP2 | EN149 | FFP2 | 96.8 | 92.1 | 102 |
| 3M Aura 9320+ | EN149 | FFP2 | 99.7 | 19.8 | 91 |
| Antwerp Design Factory Poly3+ | Belgian ATP | FFP2/FFP3 | 97.0 | 29.4 | 118 |
| Deltaplus M1300VC | EN149 | FFP3 | 98.9 | 74.3 | 172 |
| 3M Aura 1883+ | EN149 | FFP3 | 99.9 | 17.0 | 126 |

Table 4. Comparison of masks under test, their technical standard and class, and PFE, TIL and breathability.

In the TIL none of the masks passes their according criteria. The FFP2 criteria needs to be at less than 8%. However, the use of a rigid Sheffield headform for TIL measurements is difficult because the smooth surface between the mask and the headform is an unrealistic comparison for a human headform with bone, muscle and skin. Researcher from NIOSH demonstrated an advanced static headform with silicone polymer skin which overcame this limitation [1], however, the data measured here can still be used to compare between masks and use the good-fitting 3M Aura series respirators [7] as a benchmark. Between the FFRs, the "Venitex M1200C FFP2" and the "Deltaplus M1300VC FFP3" masks have one of the worst TIL value. Both of the masks have a cup style shape. The community face covering have a high TIL value even with the filter material.

The value of the breathability increases when the PFE increases. The pressure to breathe in the community masks with filter are slightly higher than that of the FFP2 respirators. The "Venitex M1200C FFP2" and "3M Aura 9320+ FFP2" masks have a PFE of 96.8 and 99.7 % respectively. The value is comparable with that of the community face coverings with filter that have a PFE of 98.7% and 97.3%. However, the "Venitex M1200C FFP2" and "3M Aura 9320+ FFP2" respirators have a breathability of 102 Pa and 91 Pa respectively. The community face coverings with filter have a breathability of 146 Pa and 127 Pa which is higher and thus more difficult to breathe through.

5 Conclusion

Community masks right now do not meet the CWA 17553 requirements. Mainly because of the PFE. The PFE value of the community masks are too low compared to the 70% level mask requirement. A solution for this problem is to insert a filter with a higher PFE in the community mask. This increases the PFE of the community face mask. With the filter it meets the level 90% CWA 17553 mask requirement and even the EN149 FFP2 PFE requirement. In this case the breathability was slightly higher than the FFP2 masks, but these values can only be used as an experimental comparison. Further tests with a more consistent and reliable method must be performed. The TIL is not a requirement for the CWA 17553 but it is nonetheless an important factor. Between the masks that have been tested, the community masks have one of the highest leakages even with the filter. This is a problem because a high TIL means that the air and particles could avoid the mask/filter barrier to enter the ambient environment. The risk of particles entering behind the mask is high.

Acknowledgements. This research was funded by Industrial Research Fund (IOF) of the University of Antwerp, grant number FFI200119.

References

- 1. Bergman, M.S., et al.: Development of an advanced respirator fit-test headform. J. Occup. Environ. Hygiene **11**(2), 117–125 (2014)
- 2. CEN, E.: 149: 2001 norm: Respiratory protective devices-Filtering half masks to protect against particles-Requirements, testing, marking. European Committee for Standardization (2009)
- CEN: EN14683:2019+AC Medical face masks Requirements and test methods. European Committee for Standardization (2019)
- 4. CEN: CWA 17553: Community face coverings Guide to minimum requirements, methods of testing and use. European Committee for Standardization (2020)
- CEN: European Standards (2021). https://www.cen.eu/work/products/ens/pages/default.aspx. Accessed 15 Jan 2021
- FOD: Coronavirus: niet-conforme mondmaskers Alternative Test Protocol (ATP) (2021). https://www.fagg.be/nl/news/coronavirus_alternative_test_protocol_atp_voor_chirurgische_ mondmaskers. Accessed 15 Jan 2021
- Lee, K., Slavcev, A., Nicas, M.: Respiratory protection against Mycobacterium tuberculosis: quantitative fit test outcomes for five type N95 filtering-facepiece respirators. J. Occup. Environ. Hygiene 1(1), 22–28 (2004)
- PALAS: Mas-Q-Check (2021). https://www.palas.de/en/product/mas-q-check, from https:// www.palas.de/en/product/mas-q-check. Accessed 15 Jan 2021



Workplace Hazards Difficult to Identify and Manage

Noora Nenonen¹, Sari Tappura^{1(🖂)}, Minna Rantala¹, and Maria Lindholm^{1,2}

¹ Tampere University, 33014 Tampere, Finland {noora.nenonen,sari.tappura,minna.rantala, maria.lindholm}@tuni.fi ² University of Oulu, 90014 Oulu, Finland

Abstract. Hazard identification (HI) and risk management (RM) are key procedures in occupational safety and health promotion at workplaces. Previous research has reported difficulties in HI and RM at workplaces. To improve the effectiveness of RM, this study charts hazards that are considered difficult to identify or manage at workplaces. Interviews (n = 46) were carried out in four large-scale manufacturing and facility services companies. The interviewees often mentioned psychosocial hazards, hazards due to exceptional circumstances, familiar and obvious hazards, and hazards of the shared workplaces as difficult to identify or manage. The reasons these hazards were difficult to identify or manage varied from lack of knowledge and competence to problems in communication and safety culture. Certain hazards receive less attention than they should because they were considered difficult to deal with. Further studies on the successful measures to manage these risks are needed.

Keywords: Hazard identification · Occupational safety and health · Risk assessment · Risk management · Workplace safety

1 Introduction

As a part of the risk management (RM) process, hazard identification (HI) and risk assessment (RA) are key procedures in managing occupational safety and health (OSH) at workplaces. In Finland, the Risk Assessment in Workplaces Workbook [1], published by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, provides guidance for carrying out OSH-related RA and is widely applied in workplaces. However, the workbook contains more detailed guidelines concerning some RM areas than others. For example, the implementation of risk controls and the utilization of RA results are covered less comprehensively than HI [1].

In previous research, difficulties in identifying hazards and the utilization of RA results in OSH management have been reported. Some studies have reported that a considerable number of hazards remain unidentified [2–3]. Poor hazard recognition is often reported as one of the major reasons for accidents [4]. Previous research has also suggested that some hazards (e.g., trivial hazards, emerging hazards, and hidden hazards)

are more difficult to identify than others (e.g., obvious hazards) [3]. Moreover, there is usually subjectivity in HI and RA. Inadequate HI hinders proper hazard management [5].

The recent OSH promotion activities have not had desired results in Finland and only slightly decreased development can be seen in accident statistics [6]. To ensure favorable progress, a better understanding of the problems encountered by workplaces while carrying out HI and RM is needed. The aim of this study was to chart the kinds of hazards that are considered difficult to identify or manage in workplaces. We discuss some reasons for the difficulty in identifying or managing these hazards.

2 Materials and Methods

The objectives of this study were explorative and descriptive in nature. Hence, a qualitative approach [7] and a case study [8] were employed as a research strategy. Consistent with the methodological approach, data for this study were collected with interviews from four case companies that participated in the study.

The participating companies were all large-scale companies. The revenue of the companies varied between 70 and 420 million Euros, and the number of personnel was between 250 and 7900 persons at the time of the study. Three of the companies were from the manufacturing industry and one from the facility services industry. The companies were chosen based on their concrete need and interest to develop their risk management practices. All the companies were part of an international or larger Finnish corporation. However, the study focused on Finnish operations and on manufacturing companies in one factory or production facility. The RM practices of the companies were based on the Risk Assessment in Workplaces Workbook [1], published by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health. The Workbook provides basic guidelines in OSH-related RM for workplaces, and it is widely applied in Finland. The implementation of the Workbook at the companies was described in more detail in Nenonen et al.'s study [9].

The data for the study was collected by interviewing personnel involved in RM at the participating companies. A total of 46 interviews were carried out, and 56 persons were interviewed between March and May 2017. The details of the interviews and interviewees' background are summarized in Table 1. The interviews were directed at personnel involved in RA. The selection of the interviewees was conducted with the companies' contact persons, such that the interviewees had varied but at least some RA experience.

The interviews were semi-structured. The themes and questions were considered in advance, but the order and form of the questions could vary, and additional questions were asked as needed. In addition, the questions varied according to the background of the interviewee. The interview questions were drawn up based on initial meetings with the companies, research questions, and the steps involved in the risk management process. The purpose of the interviews was to find out how risk assessment and management were being practiced, and what good practices and development needs relating to RA have been identified by those who participate in RA. The interview questions included, for example, questions such as: What kind of OSH-related hazards are there at your company? Are some hazards difficult to identify or manage? Do some hazards receive

| Interviews per company | Company A (35%), Company B (22%), Company C (22%), Company D (22%) |
|----------------------------|--|
| Percentage of interviewees | Company A (34%), Company B (18%), Company C (29%), Company D (20%) |
| Interview medium | Face-to-face interviews (63%), phone and Skype interviews (37%) |
| Interview type | Individual interviews (80%), group interviews (20%) |
| Duration of the interviews | Average 48 min, range 23–86 min |
| Role of the interviewees | Manager or supervisor (27%), OHS representative (27%), employee (21%), HS or HR manager or specialist (16%), occupational health service representative (9%) |

Table 1. Background information of the interviews (n = 46) and interviewees (n = 56).

less attention than others? Which hazards and why? Which hazards are easy to identify and why? All interviews were recorded and transcribed. The results of the interviews were categorized according to the themes that emerged.

3 Results

The interviewees indicated that hazards that need attention often and concrete and visible hazards were easiest to identify. These hazards included, particularly, accident hazards and physical hazards, such as hazards related to noise, temperature, and lightning. The interviewees gave such examples as slipperiness, hazards related to stairs and moving machines, visible risk of falling from high and deficiencies in protective equipment. Some interviewees mentioned that hazards related to chemicals were easy to identify.

The interviewees mentioned several types and examples of hazards they perceived as difficult to identify or manage. Table 2 provides a summary of these hazard types with examples. The interviewees often mentioned hazards that are difficult to perceive by senses, psychosocial hazards, hazards that are related to the way work is carried out, and hazards that are familiar and obvious or are considered part of the work. As hazards that are difficult to identify, the interviewees emphasized, particularly, hazards due to exceptional circumstances, hazards of the shared workplaces, hazards that are related to the way work is carried out (e.g., not following safe work procedures), and hazards related to changes in the work environment. Psychosocial hazards were considered both difficult to identify and manage.

Many of the hazards mentioned in the interviews had been recognized in the companies at some level. However, the interviewees pointed out that some of these hazards (e.g., hazards related to chemicals) should be more actively recognized and realized in day-to-day operations. Other hazards that often received less attention included familiar and obvious hazards, hazards that were perceived as minor, and hazards for which prevention or control measures were difficult to devise. A couple of the interviewees were of the opinion that all hazards could be identified, or they could not name any hazards that would be difficult to identify or manage.

| Category | Examples |
|---|--|
| Psychosocial hazards | Feeling of inadequacy, bullying, harassment |
| Hazards related to exceptional situations | Machine or production line malfunctions |
| Familiar and obvious hazards | Slipping and stumbling, going up and down on the stairs, forklift traffic |
| Hazards at the shared workplaces | Processes, chemicals and machines used by other parties operating at the shared workplace |
| Hazards considered as part of the work | Minor faults in equipment, work assignments with no previous requirements for protective equipment |
| Hazards related to changes in the work environment | New machines, removed stairs, new gap or shaft |
| Hazards related to the way work is actually carried out | Not following safe working procedures when in a hurry |
| Hazards that are difficult to manage | Lone working in the nighttime, traffic, lack of space, coping with work |
| Joint effects of different hazards | Joint effects of different chemicals and substances, the impact of haste or fatigue on working methods in exceptional situations |
| Hazards that are difficult to perceive by senses | Chemicals, gases, mold, dust |
| Hazard with related risk perceived to be minor | Moving around on the stairs, using ladders, poor working postures |
| Other hazards | Work tasks carried out occasionally, slips when using tools |

Table 2. Hazards difficult to identify or manage or being given less attention.

Lack of knowledge and competence were often mentioned as a reason why some hazards were difficult to identify and manage. In particular, hazards that are difficult to perceive with senses, psychosocial hazards, hazards that are perceived as minor hazards, and hazards related to exceptional situations or changes in the working environment were mentioned with regards to knowledge and competence. For example, the identification and management of hazards related to chemicals require previous knowledge about their properties. Further, some personnel were not always aware of what psychosocial hazards are or that poor ergonomics could cause health problems (because the problems may not rise immediately), and that these issues should be reported. Moreover, the interviewees pointed out that previous work and RA experience can help to recognize, for example, risks related to new machines and possible malfunctions. The interviewees also mentioned that it was difficult to think of hazards related to exceptional situations and that they may lack knowledge of how these situations proceed if they have not occurred previously.

Moreover, the interviewees emphasized the role of communications and safety culture in successful hazard identification and management. They mentioned that it was sometimes difficult to obtain information about psychosocial hazards and hazards that are related to the way work is carried out in practice. The interviewees further explained that people were not always willing to inform others about psychosocial issues or if safe working methods were not followed, or sometimes they were not even aware that these issues should and could be reported. These issues might be more easily reported in an anonymous questionnaire or confidential discussion with occupational health personnel than in a face-to-face RA situation. The identification of the hazards in the shared workplaces is difficult because of the challenge in obtaining all necessary information about all processes and operations going on in these premises. With regards to the safety culture, the interviewees also indicated that there could be resistance in using personal protective equipment (PPE) if the hazard is familiar and the PPEs were not previously required in the same work assignment. Moreover, particularly small changes (e.g., removed stairs) in the work environment are easily missed when in a hurry and if the culture of the workplace nourishes the idea of quick results over safety.

4 Discussion

The fact that the interviewees were able to recognize problems in hazard identification and management indicates that there was RM competence at the workplaces in this study and that these issues were considered, and the workplaces were willing to develop their RM practices. However, the results also showed that the identification and management of several types of hazards were considered challenging by these workplaces. Moreover, certain hazards received less attention than they should because they were considered difficult to identify and manage.

In congruence with previous studies, it was found that hazards related to psychosocial risks [10], hazards that are difficult to perceive by senses [10], hazards of the shared workplaces, hazards related to changes in the work environment [11], and hazards related to the way the work actually is performed (compared to how it is instructed to be carried out) [12, 13] were considered difficult to identify or manage. The increased importance of and general attention to psychosocial hazards and related risks [14] can be seen in the results of this study, as exemplified by the heightened mention of this hazard category in the companies that participated in this study. Nevertheless, the interviewees felt they lacked the expertise to be able to deal with these issues. A great deal of attention was paid to hazards typical of the manufacturing and facility services industries and reduction of associated risks in the companies. Nevertheless, many of these hazards were still regarded as difficult (e.g., new machines, machine malfunctions) or requiring more attention (e.g., chemicals). RM is an ongoing project, and even familiar hazards require continuous attention.

The reasons why these hazards were difficult to identify or manage varied from lack of knowledge and competence to problems in communications and safety culture. Previous studies have suggested that training can improve the identification of hazards [2, 3, 11, 15]. Successful identification and management of hazards require competence and cooperation. Some studies have discussed limitations in coverage, generalizability, and dynamism of hazard recognition methods, which can hinder the success of HI.

This study has some limitations, including collecting data from only four companies that represented manufacturing and facility services industries. Further studies are needed to discover possible similarities and differences in HI and management among different industries. Moreover, the results of this study are based on the perceptions of those involved in the HI and RM at the workplaces surveyed. The findings from this study could be further verified using, for example, data, and documents related to RM and accidents occurring at the workplaces. Nevertheless, more information is still needed on the successful measures to manage risks receiving inadequate attention to improve the effectiveness of the RM process.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to acknowledge the Finnish Work Environment Fund and participating companies for funding this research. Moreover, the authors are grateful to the interviewees that participated in the study for their contributions.

References

- 1. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health: Riskien arviointi työpaikalla työkirja (in Finnish). Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and The Centre for Occupational Safety (2015)
- Albert, A., Hallowell, M.R., Kleiner, B.: Enhancing construction hazard regocnition and communication with energy-based cognitive mnemonics and safety meeting maturity model: multuple baseline study. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 140 (2014)
- 3. Bahn, S.: Workplace hazard identification and management: the case of an underground mining operation. Saf. Sci. **57**, 129–137 (2013)
- 4. Haslam, R.A., et al.: Contributing factors in construction accidents. Appl. Ergon. **36**, 401–415 (2005)
- Carter, G., Smith, S.: Safety hazard identification on construction projects. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 132, 197–205 (2006)
- 6. Finnish Workers' Compensation Center: Työtapaturmat 2009–2018 Tilastojulkaisu (in Finnish). Finnish Workers' Compensation Center (2019)
- Denzin, N.K., Lincoln, Y.S.: Introduction: the discipline and practice of qualitative research. In: Denzin, N.K., Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.) The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research, pp. 1–19. SAGE Publications Inc., Thousand Oaks (2011)
- Yin, R.K.: Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks (2003)
- Nenonen, N., Kivistö-Rahnasto, J., Anttila, S.: How workplaces actually carry out OSHrelated risk assessment and management. In: Arezes, P.M. (ed.) AHFE 2019. AISC, vol. 969, pp. 239–251. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20497-6_22
- 10. Langenhan, M.K., Leka, S., Jain, A.: Psychosocial Risks: is risk management strategic enough in business and policy making. Saf. Health Work **4**, 87–94 (2013)
- 11. Albert, A., Hallowell, M.R., Skaggs, M., Kleiner, B.: Empirical measurement and improvement of hazard recognition skill. Saf. Sci. **93**, 1–8 (2017)
- Rozenfeld, O., Sacks, R., Rosenfeld, Y., Baum, H.: Construction job safety analysis. Saf. Sci. 48, 491–498 (2010)
- 13. Borys, D.: Exploring risk-awareness as a cultural approach to safety: exposing the gap between work as imagined and work as actually performed. Saf. Sci. Monit. **2**, 1–11 (2009)
- van Stolk, C., Staetsky, L., Hassan, E., Kim, C.W.: Management of psychosocial risks at work: an analysis of the findings of the European Survey of the Enterprises on New and Emerging Risks (ESENER). European Risk Observatory Report. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (2012)
- Nenonen, N., Nenonen, S., Tappura, S.: Process operator students' abilities to assess OSH Risks. In: Ahram, T., Karwowski, W., Pickl, S., Taiar, R. (eds.) IHSED 2019. AISC, vol. 1026, pp. 566–572. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-27928-8_86



COVID-19 Prevention in Construction Sites: A Case Study in a Railway Project

Christiane N. Gomes¹ and Rui B. Melo^{1,2}(⊠)

¹ ErgoLAB - Laboratório de Ergonomia, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Estrada da Costa, 1499-002 Cruz Quebrada, Portugal rmelo@fmh.ulisboa.pt

² CIAUD - Centro de Investigação em Arquitetura, Urbanismo e Design, Faculdade de Arquitetura, Universidade de Lisboa, Rua Sá Nogueira, 1349-063 Lisboa, Portugal

Abstract. The COVID-19 pandemic demands additional measures from organizations. This is particularly challenging for construction sites where it is already difficult to apply any sort of preventive measures under normal circumstances. This study aimed at recommending measures to prevent the transmission of the Coronavirus in a construction site. The Plan-Do-Check-Act cycle was followed to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the intervention. The current scientific knowledge about the COVID-19 disease as well as the legal requirements on this subject were taken into account. The Job Safety Analysis method was applied to assess the risk factors of transmission of the Coronavirus on 46 daily job tasks and proved to be a suitable method for it. However, some of the legal requirements were found difficult to apply in the construction sector. The way a set of tasks is performed needs to be reconsidered to raise awareness on COVID-19 among employees in the construction environment.

Keywords: Construction industry \cdot Coronavirus \cdot SARS-CoV-2 \cdot PDCA \cdot Job safety analysis \cdot Risk assessment \cdot Prevention

1 Introduction

The first confirmed case of COVID-19 to happen in Portugal occurred on March the 2nd of 2020 and a few days later, on the 11th, the WHO declared COVID-19 as a pandemic.

The disease is caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, which mainly spreads in small liquid particles when the infected person coughs, sneezes, speaks or breathes heavily and is in close contact with other people or different types of surfaces. The virus can get directly into people's mouth, nose or eyes, or when they touch these body regions without having cleaned their hands first, after touching contaminated surfaces. Transmission occurs particularly in indoor, crowded and inadequately ventilated spaces. Nevertheless, transmission may also occur outdoor, especially when people are close to each other and share objects. Moreover, even asymptomatic but infected people can be contagious [1].

According to WHO [2], until 26 January 2021 there have been around 99 million confirmed cases of COVID-19, including 2.1 million deaths, worldwide. By that same day 6.53×10^5 people have been infected and 1.1×10^4 have died from this disease in Portugal [3].

This is no longer exclusively a public health issue and occupational settings other than those where health care is provided are now facing an additional emergent biological risk factor. Consequently, economic and social disruption threatens the long-term livelihoods and wellbeing of millions.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the construction sector, which is sensitive to economic cycles. Still, construction holds much potential to stimulate recovery, thanks to its potential to create jobs. However, it is known that working conditions in both mobile and temporary construction sites are poor. A recent report [4] showed that 8 390,9 accidents per 100 000 workers occurred solely in the Construction sector in Portugal, in 2018.

The Decree-Law 273/2003 of 29 October [5] establishes general rules of planning, organization and coordination to promote occupational safety and health (OSH) in construction sites. The Health and Safety Plan (HSP) is one of the fundamental instruments for planning and organizing safety on temporary and mobile work sites, taking into account the general principles of prevention of occupational risks. Throughout the construction phase of the project, the HSP must be monitored and updated whenever working methods, materials or equipment are modified, unforeseen constraints are identified, new hazards appear or opportunities to improve are revealed.

The construction sector keeps producing, and safe and healthy conditions must be continuously provided to workers. Therefore, this study aims at thoroughly checking all tasks performed in a construction site and how OSH is managed in order to identify situations where the risk of SARS-Cov-2 transmission exists and suggest the implementation of control measures according to the most up-to-date scientific knowledge, standards and guidelines directed for the occupational context.

2 Methods

2.1 The Construction Site

We have focused on a project aiming at rehabilitating the railway branch of one of the main seaports of Portugal. The construction phase took place between November 2019 and July 2020, but the study only started in April, when it was at 49% of the planned, and ran until the yard was demobilized in August.

The work covered an approximate length of 2,000 m, and an informal division of the area was adopted on two fronts. Front 1 refers to the area whose access is adjacent to the main entrance to the railway terminal and where the social yard and material park were installed. Front 2 corresponds to the other end of the area which was accessed via the main local road.

Work was planned to be done between Monday to Friday, from 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM. Whenever interdiction of railway circulation or the catenary blackout were required, interventions were programed to happen on weekends or during the night.

One hundred and sixty-three workers (99% male) from twenty companies worked at the construction site. Drivers were the most prevalent professionals (23%) due to the regular use of mobile equipment to move large amounts of land and materials. Construction (20%) and railway officers (9%), servants (18%), catenary officers (7%) and electricians (4%) were also among the workforce. There were also a OSH technician (OSHT) and an OSH coordinator (OSHC). The number of workers simultaneous present at the yard increased progressively as the work advanced without exceeding 95. Although most workers (79%) were aged between 30 and 59, there were eleven above 60 years old. The majority (94%) were from Portuguese speaking countries and 83% relied on the accommodation provided because they lived far from the yard and only went home on weekends.

2.2 Plan-Do-Check-Act Cycle

The Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) Cycle is an iterative method particularly used in the scope of Quality Management Systems regarding process and product control. It has proven to be useful to promote continuous improvement and has been used in other contexts, namely that of Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems [6].

It may be applied at different levels within an organization to solve problems based on both qualitative and quantitative data, namely while managing risks associated to a particular activity [7, 8]. Due to its characteristics, coverage and applicability, when dealing with the SARS-Cov-2 transmission risk in the construction site analyzed in this study we adopted the PDCA approach after adapting Campos flowchart [9].

2.3 Job Safety Analysis

Job Safety Analysis (JSA) is a qualitative risk assessment method that systematically and progressively considers all risks related to specific job tasks in order to support decisions on selecting and implementing countermeasures to make the work activity safe. Worker participation provides in depth knowledge about the practices regarding the job and contributes to minimize the likelihood of missing hazards as well as to promote the ownership of the proposed countermeasures. JSA is particularly recommended for situations where hazards are present and not adequately controlled by existing work procedures or barriers, activities require deviation from work prescribed by procedures or routines, the teams of workers are not familiar with each other and preconditions, such as weather conditions, time schedule and parallel operations, change [10, 11]. Basically, work activity is broken down into tasks and subtasks, depending on the level of detail required, and task-specific hazard insight is pursued (potential events and conditions leading to dangerous situations, as well as potential consequences of each hazard and expected frequency of occurrence are identified) so that risk reduction measures may be proposed and implemented for each task/subtask.

Like in any type of project, most risks should be mitigated as early as possible in a construction project's life span. Ideally risk should be reduced during the client, designer and contractor's planning and design processes, leaving only residual risks to be handled during the construction phase. For the above-mentioned reasons, JSA is considered appropriate for dealing with this residual risk and was used to deal with the new coronavirus in this particular construction site.

JSA was accomplished with a few adjustments:

- 1. Instead of breaking down the tasks we have identified their main characteristics due to the dynamics of the execution of most of the work and the relevance of understanding the interactions between workers, equipment, tools and the environment.
- We have focused on the identification of the risk factors for the coronavirus transmission and not on all existing hazards because these had been previously identified and were not relevant for this study.

Particular attention was given to the operations involving mobile and railway equipment. The registration sheet proposed by the Harvard University [12] was adapted to the specificities of our study and the requirements of the analyzed construction project.

2.4 Documental Research and Free Observations

To complete this study, relevant data was sought and sorted from different sources. One of the most valuable was the construction project's HSP, which was particularly helpful for the risk assessment. National legislation, standards and guidelines published by WHO and the National Health Authority (NHA) dealing with COVID-19 and the SARS-Cov-2 virus transmission were the basis for the control measures' establishment. Emphasis should be put on a specific document published in Portugal which establishes the requirements for preventing and controlling the infection by the coronavirus within the construction industry [13].

An in-depth knowledge of the working conditions, operating modes, supporting activities, interfaces between the stakeholders and the work progress in the yard was acquired via inspections, activity monitorization and informal conversations with the workers. All teams and particularities of work were covered, namely additional risks when work is done during the night and on weekends or requires railway circulation interdiction or cutting off catenary power, which pose temporal pressure to reestablish normal operation conditions.

3 Results and Discussion

From the forty-six tasks submitted to a JSA, ten were classified as critical (Table 1) due to the proximity of workers, not being possible to provide a safe distance between them: eight implied the simultaneous presence of two workers on the lifting platform and two were related to the placement of the rail on the sleepers, which is carried out manually by a group of workers.

Eighteen task/workstation characteristics (Table 2) were identified as relevant and ten risk factors (Table 3) were found to play a significant role in the new coronavirus transmission in the construction site.

Based on the identified risk factors, the Portuguese legislation, NHA and WHO guidelines, twenty-three recommendations were produced to prevent spreading the virus among the construction workers (Table 4).

| Critical tasks for the transmission of SARS-Cov-2 | | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| • Dismantling/settlement of the railroad | • Rail replacement | | |
| • Disassembly/placement of railway earthing systems | • Disassembly/assembly and adjustment of cantilever | | |
| Ripping/release of catenary cables | • Assembly of dropper | | |
| • Assembly of electrical equipment | • Catenary regulation, execution of shunts and electrical connections | | |
| Assembly of anti-slip system | • Alteration/placement of catenary flexible suspension | | |

Table 1. Critical tasks identified during the JSA.

To ensure the implementation of the preventive measures' effectiveness, a monitoring plan was suggested and recording sheets were prepared (Table 5).

It was possible to verify that the Portuguese legislation and the guidelines provided by the NHA concerning the prevention of COVID-19 are in tone with the current scientific knowledge about the disease. However, the HSP analysis revealed the need of an indepth review of the document and twenty-nine recommendations were made for 12 of the 30 chapters integrating the document.

Overall, most tasks were done by specific and cohesive teams which may have limited the close contact with each other. Lunch time, accommodation and transport from, to and within the construction site were also organized taking this into account. However, this fact may have induced the workers' failure to comply the disease prevention measures within each team. Training and raising the workers awareness regarding the virus transmission and the preventive measures will definitely make them adopt an adequate behavior.

| Relevant characteristics | |
|--|---|
| • Indoor spaces: offices, meeting rooms, material containers, vehicles, mobile and railway equipment | • Need to extend daily working hours due to scarcity of HR and equipment and comply with the planned schedule |
| • Vehicles to move workers between work fronts as well as between accommodation and the construction site | • Operation of mobile and railway equipment by specific drivers with non-significant turnover between drivers and equipment |
| Mostly outdoor activity | • Shared use of tools in most situations |
| • Individual and shared offices (2 or more people) | • Some tasks performed by specialized and small cohesive teams, with non-significant turnover |
| • Several undifferentiated workers helping different teams | • Many tasks are simultaneously done by two or more workers |
| • Use of portable and light equipment | • Manual and mechanical material handling |
| • Existence of a general work plan and a fortnight plan revised every week used by the OSH officer to release work permits | • Participation of external workers in tasks such as mobilization of the yard, waste, material and equipment transportation |
| • Workers are directed to daily tasks by supervisors and team leaders | • Work at height using a lifting platform by one or two workers |
| • Work requiring the interdiction of the railway or catenary power-off are done at night and during the weekend | • Mechanized activities on the railway but also demanding manual work performed by a group of workers |

Table 2. Relevant aspects of the tasks identified throughout the JSA.

Table 3. Risk factors for coronavirus transmission identified throughout the JSA.

| Risk factors for the transmission of SARS-Cov-2 | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| • Air transmission when two workers are simultaneously on the lifting platform | • Air transmission when more than one worker travels in the same vehicle | | | |
| • Supervisors lack of attention to COVID-19 preventive measures when distributing daily activities to workers | • Risk analysis failure leading to Work Permit neglecting the biological risk or not considering PPE compatibility | | | |
| • Worker's lack of attention to comply with COVID-19 prevention measures | • Scarcity of resources and the need to meet work schedule and road blocking periods | | | |
| • Air transmission when a safe distance of at least 2 m separating workers is not feasible | • Activity planning failure compromising the implementation of COVID-19 prevention guidelines | | | |
| Physical contact between workers | • Contact with contaminated surfaces (door handles, materials, tools, etc.) | | | |

 Table 4. Recommendations derived from JSA to prevent coronavirus transmission in the yard.

| Recommendations to prevent SARS-Cov-2 tran | ismission |
|---|---|
| Promote teleworking whenever possible | • Organize shared offices' layout to guarantee a safe distance between workers |
| • Prioritize task completion by a single worker when possible | • Organize activities to ensure a 2 m safe distance between workers |
| Reduce spaces capacity to avoid crowding | • Restrict operators' access to mobile and railway equipment cabins |
| • Ensure cleaning and maintenance of AC units and promote mechanical ventilation when using them | • Avoid holding face-to-face meetings in closed spaces, preferring digital or telecommunication means |
| Reduce vehicle capacity to two thirds | • Shared vehicles use by team members only |
| Avoid material sharing | • Prioritize natural ventilation |
| • Wash hands with water and soap or ABAS* several times a day and whenever handling shared objects | • Reinforce the availability of ABAS* when provision of washbasins nearby is not possible |
| • Install chemical toilets with washbasins at the site entrance while mobilizing and demobilizing the yard | • Apply antiviral disinfectant on tools and surfaces regularly touched |
| • Wear mask in shared offices, meeting rooms, common areas, when travelling in the same vehicle and in activities requiring the presence of more than one worker | • For activities already requiring the use of mask, ensure that it is compatible with the biological risk |
| • Make sure external workers are aware and apply the yard's COVID-19 preventive measures | • Reassess the Work Plan in order to identify the need to update the preventive measures |
| • Provide training to supervisors and team leaders to ensure workers comply with COVID-19 preventive measures put in place | • Promote the participation of supervisors and safety technicians in the fortnightly Planning and its weekly update to minimize the risk of the virus transmission |
| • Night and weekend activities monitoring by safety technicians | *ABAS – Alcohol-based antiseptic solution |

Recommendations form the NHA such as cleaning workspaces with resources that are scarce in the yard, namely hot water, and using different workers to clean each type of installation were found difficult to implement in the construction site.

| What to monitor | Frequency | Control means | Documents | Responsibility |
|--|-----------|--|---|------------------|
| Recommendations for the Construction sector from the NHA | Monthly | • Visual • Documental | NHA guidelines Contingency Plan Training records Cleaning records Yard access control records | · OSHT · OSHC |
| Site's Contingency Plan | Monthly | VisualDocumental | NHA guidelines Contingency Plan Training records | · OSHT · OSHC |
| General COVID-19 preventive measures | Monthly | Visual Documental | Workers' records COVID-19 related incidents | · OSHT · OSHC |
| JSA recommendations | Daily | · Visual | · JSA records | · OSHT · OSHC |

Table 5. COVID-19 preventive measures' monitorization plan.

4 Conclusions

The main goal of this study was to identify risk factors for the transmission of COVID-19 among construction workers and suggest preventive measures to be put in force within the construction site.

Good news is that there wasn't any infected worker in this particular yard throughout the construction phase of the project. Nevertheless, it can't be concluded that there was no risk of transmission of the virus.

Although safety culture had not been investigated in this study, differences between contractors regarding the availability of the necessary resources and the respective workers behavior were noticeable. Training and information provision are crucial to raise awareness among workers on the disease and the virus transmission and increase preventive measures compliance.

The adoption of the PDCA approach allowed to reduce the probability of omitting relevant facts in the analysis and the recommendation of measures to prevent the disease, ending with the proposal of a monitoring plan in compliance with the Check phase.

The JSA was a valuable tool in identifying the risk factors for transmission of the coronavirus within the construction site, complementing data that had been previously collected and included in the HSP.

In a pandemic context characterized by too many uncertainties, updating knowledge, monitoring, reassessing the implemented measures and improving them is determinant to achieve the goal of preventing the disease.

References

- 1. WHO: Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): How is it transmitted? https://www.who.int/emerge ncies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-and-answers-hub/q-a-detail/coronavirus-disease-covid-19-how-is-it-transmitted
- WHO: WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard, World Health Organization. https://covid19.who.int/. Accessed 26 Jan 2021
- 3. DGS: Ponto de Situação Atual em Portugal. Direção Geral de Saúde. https://covid19.minsaude.pt/ponto-de-situacao-atual-em-portugal/
- GEP: Acidentes de Trabalho 2018, Coleções Estatísticas, Gabinete de Estratégia e Planeamento, Ministério do Trabalho, Solidariedade e Segurança Social. http://www.gep.mtsss.gov. pt/documents/10182/26338/at2018pub.pdf/31f81e21-eed4-4d18-91f0-756e619dc07f
- 5. Ministério da Segurança Social e do Trabalho, Decreto Lei 273/2003, de 29 de outubro. https://dre.pt/application/file/a/466128
- International Organization for Standardization: Occupational health and safety management systems – Requirements with guidance for use (ISO 45001: 2018). https://www.iso.org/sta ndard/63787.html
- Isniah, S., Purba, H., Debora, F.: Plan do check action (PDCA) method: literature review and research issues. Jurnal Sistem dan Manajemen Industri 4(1), 72–81 (2020)
- 8. Boyle, T.: Health and Safety: Risk Management, 5th edn. Routledge, Abingdon and New York (2019)
- Campos, V.F.: Gerenciamento da rotina do trabalho do dia a dia. 2ª Edição, Nova Lima, Falconi (2013)
- Albrechtsen, E., Solberg, I., Svensli, E.: The application and benefits of job safety analysis. Safety Sci. 113, 425–437 (2019)
- Kjellén, U., Albrechtsen, E.: Prevention of Accidents and Unwanted Occurrences Theory, Methods, and Tools in Safety Management. 2nd edition. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2017)
- 12. Harvard University: Job Safety Analysis Fact Sheet, Harvard Campus Service Environmental, Health, Safety and Emergency Management. https://www.ehs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/ job_safety_analysis_fact_sheet_0.pdf
- DGS: COVID-19: Prevenção e Controlo de Infeção no Setor da Construção Civil. Direção Geral de Saúde. https://www.dgs.pt/directrizes-da-dgs/orientacoes-e-circulares-informativas/ orientacao-n-0342020-de-11072020-pdf.aspx



Risk Analysis Based on ETA, FTA and Bowtie Methodologies for the Bulk Coal Discharge Process

Rodrigo Domínguez^(⊠), Carlos Gomez, and Oskar Cerezo

Departament of Construction and Occupational Risk Prevention, Universidad Técnica Federico Santa María, Av. Santa María 6090, Viña del Mar, Chile {rodrigo.dominguez,carlos.gomez,oskar.cerezo}@usm.cl

Abstract. A safety analysis was performed to determine possible causes of coal falling in the bulk coal discharge process using a methodology for risk analysis based on a combination of Fault tree analysis (FTA), event tree analysis (ETA) and BowTie (BT). The steps for risk assessment were the following: Description bulk coal discharge process, Event sequence modeling where logic models (ETA; FTA; BT) and Consequence assessment. The bulk coal discharge process is performed using cranes which are deployed in the terminal, in parallel to the coal holds of the ship. The hydraulic grabs descend onto the ship holds at an angle, determined by considerations of wind direction and intensity, which shovel up the coal and lift it upwards. The grabs move along the crane handle, and open up above the funnel which pours the coal into the coal conveyor, this procedure is repeated sequentially until empty the ship. Results from BT allow to identify three possible causes of coal falling. Two of which are attributed to technical factors such as crane failure and grab failure, while the other cause is related to human factors such as lack operational discipline (OD). Three barriers were identified to prevent the fall of coal: certified crane, hermetic grabs and operational discipline. Two mitigating barriers were identified: Vacuum truck to clean the coal in the pier and tablecloth to avoid coal fall in the sea. Finally, the consequences if not working barriers are: coal built up on pier and sea pollution. However, it can't be ensured that the stranding of coal on the beaches is directly caused by port operations.

Keywords: Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) \cdot Event Tree analysis (ETA) \cdot Bow tie (BT) \cdot Bulk coal discharge

1 Introduction

The identification of hazards is an important aspect of the risk assessment process because, if the hazards are identified, the risks with them can be assessed [1]. Risk analysis is an important activity to ensure that critical process [2], like bulk coal discharge, operate in a safe and reliable way. Fault tree analysis (FTA) is one of the most techniques, used by a wide range of industries. Fault tree is a graphical method commonly used in both reliability engineering and safety management [3].

Bell Telephone Laboratories developed the FTA concept in 1961 for used by the U.S. Air force with its Minutemen system [4]. FTA starts by identifying an undesirable event, called "top event". Fault events that can cause its occurrence (i.e., the top event) are connected by logic operators, such as OR and AND [5] (Table 1).

| Symbol | Meaning | Description |
|------------------|--------------------|--|
| \bigcirc | Logic gate AND | The output event happens only if all input events happen |
| $\widehat{\Box}$ | Logic gate OR | The output event occurs if any of the input events happen |
| \bigcirc | Basic event | Failure of a component that has no identifiable primary cause. It is the highest level of detail in the tree |
| \diamond | Undeveloped event | Failure of a component with a primary cause undeveloped because of lack of information |
| | Intermediate event | A fault event that occurs because of one or more antecedents causes acting through logic gates |

Table 1. Symbols used in fault trees [6].

FTA can be used qualitatively to identify potential causes and the ways in which failure (the top event) occurs [7] or quantitatively to calculate the probability of occurrence [8]. The probability of the top event is determined by combinations of faults, with Boolean algebra used to quantify each fault's probabilities [9]. In a graphical way, the various combinations of equipment faults and failures that can result in the accident event are displayed [10].

Event tree analysis (ETA) is used to describe the logical connection between the potential successes and failures of defined safety systems or safety functions as they respond to the initiating event and the sequence of events [11]. The conventions used in ETA are: events proceed from left to right on the page; The upper branch identifies that the defined action occurs (Success) and the lower branch identifies that the action does not occur (failure) [1]. ETA takes the structure of forward (Bottom up) symbol logic modeling technique and ended in the consequences [12].

ETA is an inductive procedure that shows all possible outcomes resulting from an accidental (initiating) event, taking into account whether installed safety barriers (SB) are functioning or not, and additional events and factors [13]. The initiating event corresponds to the starting point of the event tree and the sequence of events that can lead to different possible outcomes [14]. ETA is commonly used as a preferred option in understanding, analyzing and communicating safety risk [15].

The use of FTA and ETA techniques leads to a detailed analysis of the hazards and theirs causes, thus improving the safety systems [16]. FTA is used to describe the causes of an undesired event. ETA shows the consequences [17]. ETA and FTA are very useful tools for risk assessment [18]. Since bow-tie (integration of FTA and ETA) is a structured and systematic methodology to predict risk [19].

Central in bow-tie model is an event (incident) that has a certain probability of occurrence. Each incident has different causes and effects, which are indicated to the left



b : Uncontrolled event

Fig. 1. Event tree for an operation with only one SB, when the SB is not working the outcomes is uncontrolled event.



Fig. 2. Bow-tie model used for the risk assessment.

and right of the bow-tie (BT), respectively. The causes (Prevention zone: left side of BT, Fig. 2) are events that may lead to effects (Mitigation zone: right side of BT, Fig. 2) that are the consequences [20]. However, application of the BT to maritime risk assessment is relatively rare due to the lack of data acquisition [21]. Risk mitigation measures can be recommended based on the risk assessment for each procedure performed on bulk coal discharge process.

The human error is critically important, however, the quantification of human error is quite difficult due to data scarcity in records [22], according to the statistics is the most contributory factor to safety system failure and accident [23]. The consequence of human error may pose acute hazards to human life, the ocean environment and property [24]. Finally, when process safety depends largely on human factors, operational discipline takes great importance [25]. Operational discipline can be defined as a commitment and dedication to perform each task in a right way, each time and shows strength of safety culture [26].

2 The Case Study

The case study considers the coal discharge process that typically occurs in the different coal ports of the world. The coal is an organic and combustible sedimentary rock of black or browing-black color with a high carbon content and varied physical, chemical and technological properties [27]. Spontaneous combustion of coal is a complex physico-chemical process [28], furthermore, in the case where dust concentration reaches certain level, explosion could occur, causing devastating damage to the equipment [29], but this paper focuses exclusively on the coal discharged process.

The ship is secured and anchored close to the discharge platform, and the crew stabilizes it during the discharge process. In some countries, discharge is performed at sea, and coal is transported from the ship onto barges, and from there to the coal conveyor.

The discharge process is performed using cranes which are deployed in the terminal, in parallel to the coal holds of the ship, and which move on transport wheels.

The bulk coal discharge process is performed using cranes which are deployed in the terminal, in parallel to the coal holds of the ship. The hydraulic grabs descend onto the ship holds at an angle, determined by considerations of wind direction and intensity, which shovel up the coal and lift it upwards. The grabs move along the crane handle, and open up above the funnel which pours the coal into the coal conveyor, this procedure is repeated sequentially until empty the ship.

Discharging is a complex, for this reason, the discharge process is carried out in a balanced and gradual mode between the holds and in full cooperation between the ship's crew and crane operators. Bulk carriers lose some of their weight after discharge, rising a few meters above sea level. When three discharge quayside cranes work simultaneously, the discharge process is completed in approximately 4–5 days, in the case of a cape bulk carrier, or in 2–3 days, in the case of a Panamax ship.

3 Results

The generic controls or barriers directly related to the coal discharge process are: certified cranes, hermetic closing grab and "tablecloths" that prevent the coal fall in the sea.

| Basic events | Basic event (BE) no. |
|-------------------------------------|----------------------|
| Grab failure | BE1 |
| Lack Maintenance | BE2 |
| Operator make an error of judgement | BE3 |
| Poor training operators | BE4 |

Table 2. Potential basic events which cause top event "Coal fall".

In the analysis of coal discharge process, the fault and event trees describe not only mechanical failures, but also operator's front line errors. The major causes of coal fall at the sea are illustrated in Table 2. The faults and relationships for intermediate event have been identified and a logical combination of incidents has been deduced that can trigger unwanted event: "coal fall at the sea" (Fig. 3).

Figure 4 shows the events that together led to the pollution sea and the built up coal in the pier. The tablecloth extended along the ship prevents pollution sea with bulk coal.



Fig. 3. Fail tree analysis used for coal discharge process



Fig. 4. Event tree used for coal discharge process.

The Bow tie is particularly useful for analysing unwanted events, as their causes and consequences remain linked together in only one framework, as showns in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Bow tie used for coal discharge process.

4 Conclusion

The use of appropriate hazard identification methods can be used to design effective procedures for safe handling of the coal discharge process. In addition, the Bow Tie analysis has shown the link between technical causes and human error. The technical causes are grab failure and crane failure. By other hand, the causes of human error in the coal discharged process can be: poor training crane operators, weak knowledge about job hazards assessment, lack of skills operators, in other words: "lack operational discipline". Finally, the consequences if not working last barriers are: coal built up on pier and sea pollution.

Acknowledgments. The author wishes to thank the reviewers and editor in charge for their very constructive feedback.

References

- 1. Fuller, C., Vassie, L.H.: Health and Safety Management: Principles and Best Practice. Pearson Education (2004)
- 2. Ruiters, E., Stoelinga, M.: Fault tree analysis: a survey of the state-of-the-art in modeling, analysis and tools. Comput. Sci. Rev. 15, 29–62 (2015)
- Bahr, N.J.: System Safety Engineering and Risk Assessment: A Practical Approach. CRC Press (2014)
- 4. Stamatis, D.H.: Introduction to Risk and Failures: Tools and Methodologies. CRC Press (2014)
- Dhillon, B.S.: Human Reliability, Error, and Human Factors in Power Generation. Springer, Switzerland (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04019-6
- 6. BS EN IEC 31010: 2019. Risk management and risk assessment techniques (2019)
- 7. Fuentes-Bargues, J.L., et al.: Risk analysis of a fuel storage terminal using HAZOP and FTA. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health **14**(7) (2017)

- Casamirra, M., et al.: Safety studies of a hydrogen refuelling station: determination of the occurrence frequency of the accidental scenarios. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 34(14) (2009)
- Klein, J.A., Vaughen, B.K.: Process Safety: Key Concepts and Practical Approaches. CRC Press (2017)
- 10. Reniers, G.L.L., et al.: Developing an external domino accident prevention framework: Hazwim. J. Loss Prevention Process Industries **18**(3) (2005)
- Domínguez, R., Correa, F.: Risk analysis in mountain bike, using questionnaire and event tree analysis (ETA). In: Goossens, R.H.M. (ed.) AHFE 2018. AISC, vol. 792, pp. 303–308. Springer, Cham (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94000-7_31
- Zhang, N., Kezunovic, M.: Verifying the protection system operation using an advanced fault analysis tool combined with the event tree analysis. In: Northern American Power Symposium, NAPS (2004)
- Hoyland, A., Marvin, R.: System Reliability Theory: Models and Statistical Methods, vol. 420. Wiley, Hoboken (2009)
- 14. BS EN 62502: 2011. Analysis techniques for dependability- Event tree analysis (ETA) (2011)
- 15. Zielinski, P.A.: Event trees in the assessment of dam safety risks. In: Proceedings of the 2014 Annual ANCOLD Conference (2014)
- Ignac-Nowicka, J.: Application of the FTA and ETA method for gas hazard identification for the performance of safety systems in the industrial department. Manag. Syst. Prod. Eng. 26(1) (2018)
- 17. Mokhtari, K., et al.: Application of a generic bow-tie based risk analysis framework on risk management of sea ports and offshore terminals. J. Hazardous Mater. **192**(2) (2011)
- Targoutzidis, A.: Incorporating human factors into a simplified "bow-tie" approach for workplace risk assessment. Safety Sci. 48(2) (2010)
- 19. Akyuz, E., Ozcan, A., Osman, T.: Application of fuzzy logic to fault tree and event tree analysis of the risk for cargo liquefaction on board ship. Appl. Ocean Res. 101 (2020)
- 20. Van Thienen-Visser, K., et al.: Bow-tie risk assessment combining causes and effects applied to gas oil storage in an abandoned salt cavern. Eng. Geol. **168** (2014)
- 21. Arici, S.S., Emre, A., Ozcan, A.: Application of fuzzy bow-tie risk analysis to maritime transportation: the case of ship collision during the STS operation. Ocean Eng. **217** (2020)
- 22. Akyuz, E., Metin, C.: A methodological extension to human reliability analysis for cargo tank cleaning operation on board chemical tanker ships. Safety Sci. **75** (2015)
- 23. Kirwan, B.: Human reliability analysis of an offshore emergency blowdown system. Appl. Ergon. **18**(1) (1987)
- 24. Akyuz, E.: Quantitative human error assessment during abandon ship procedures in maritime transportation. Ocean Eng. **120** (2016)
- Dominguez, R., Oskar, C.: Risk Analysis based on ETA, FTA and Bowtie methodologies for the bulk coal discharge process. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics. Springer, Cham (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_23
- 26. Rashid, M.I., et al.: Operational discipline in practice. Process Safety Progress (2020)
- 27. Isabel, S.-R., Crelling, J.C. (eds.) Applied Coal Petrology: the Role of Petrology in Coal Utilization. Academic Press (2008)
- 28. Deng, J., et al.: Determination and prediction on "three zones" of coal spontaneous combustion in a gob of fully mechanized caving face. Fuel **211** (2018)
- 29. Zhou, G., et al.: Synthesis and performance characterization of a novel wetting cementing agent for dust control during conveyor transport in coal mines. Powder Technol. **360** (2020)



Safety Concerns in a Portuguese Chemical Industry: A Workers' Perspective

Cláudia Pereira¹⁽⁽⁾, Catherine Delgoulet², and Marta Santos¹

¹ Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal {cpereira,marta}@fpce.up.pt
² Conversatoire National des Arts et Métiers, Paris, France catherine.delgoulet@lecnam.net

Abstract. The literature on occupational safety shows that the main safety concerns focus on physical, interpersonal and organizational aspects. Plus, there are studies that indicate experience and knowledge transmission as important aspects for the preservation of health and safety at work. A case study was conducted, in a Portuguese chemical industry, to identify workers' concerns on safety at work, and, to understand whether experience or knowledge transmission are considered in these concerns. Data was collected through the Technique of Free Association with 43 workers. A descriptive analysis and content analysis of the data were carried out. Results allow the identification of seven types of safety concerns (some are common concerns) and show that workers' experience and knowledge transmission are, in fact, considered as a concern. This underpin the originality of this study and contribute to complement occupational safety perceptions, particularly in studies in industries considered dangerous, such as chemical industry.

Keywords: Safety concerns · Workers' perspective · Chemical industry · Free association technique · Work experience · Knowledge transmission

1 Introduction

To investigate and take action in the field of safety at work implies involving workers, knowing their professional context, their activity and working conditions, and their perceptions.

If we focus on the perceptions and concerns, in particular, about safety, we know that these emerge according to the individuals, the contexts where they work, the sectors of activity [1]. The literature on this topic shows that there are several studies on workplace safety concerns carried out in different professional sectors. We highlight, for instance, studies from health, services, and industry. These studies indicate that the main safety concerns, from workers' point of view, focus on aspects such as: exposure to chemical products, musculoskeletal problems (provoked by working conditions and interactions with clients/patients), falls, burns, painful postures, the absence/lack of appropriate personal protective equipment, absence/lack of concern of managers with occupational safety issues (e.g., [2–4]). It is clear that these concerns focus on a more

physical, interpersonal or organizational level. Some of these aspects (e.g., exposure to chemical products; risk of major environmental accidents) are particularly critical in industries where the activity involves a considerable risk for workers, but also, to a large extent, for the environment and the surrounding community (high-risk industries), such as the chemical industry [5].

To complement this reading, there are also other studies, that do not explicitly focus on the study of safety concerns, mas that point out aspects such as experience and knowledge transmission as elements to be considered in these issues of safety and health at work. For example, studies that consider knowledge transmission as a priority in occupational health and safety programs or interventions, assuming it as a way to enhance safety awareness and safety behaviors between workers, and supporting the production of materials such as safety and health guides for action (e.g., [6, 7]) or for the production of safety knowledge assuming this knowledge as mediators of safety and safety performance (e.g., [8]). With regard to experience, both the production and sharing of knowledge imply its mobilization, which contributes to the construction of security perspectives, through the knowledge acquired over time of situations and possible risks in activity [1].

Despite the fact that there are numerous works on occupational safety and the impact of the lack of safety in work and health of individuals, reference should be made to the fact that very few studies were found that address, in specific, the safety concerns that workers in high-risk industries have, and none that spontaneously mention the concerns of workers in terms of the knowledge transmission or experience, thus revealing that there is still space for reflection and empirical studies on this subject/sector.

With this background, it was conducted a case study in a Portuguese high-risk industry – a chemical industry -, in an exploratory and contextualized way, taking in consideration that the company was focused on understanding the safety of its workers, resulting from the transformations experienced over many years (e.g., aging workforce and at the same time concerns with rejuvenating the teams; technical changes in the equipment's; work accidents). Thus, our goal was to identify the concerns that workers have on safety at work and to understand whether experience and/or knowledge transmission are considered in workers' safety concerns spontaneously.

2 Method

2.1 Context and Participants

The study was conducted in a Portuguese chemical industry, more specifically in the operational areas of the company (company that produces organic and inorganic materials), within the framework of a training program aimed at exploring the issue of safety in the operational teams. The company wanted to understand the existing safety problems in their context and develop safety actions with their workers. This company, with vast years of existence, has an average age of roughly 49 years.

The participants of the study were 43 workers (of about 100 from the operational areas): 36 from the two operational factories, which assume the function of industrial chemical technicians (responsible, in rotation, for the control of the automation of the production process in the control room and the external supervision of production and

quality control) or maintenance operators (responsible for the maintenance of the factories equipment's); and 7 from support areas, such as Process Engineering, Projects, Health and Safety at Work. The participants have between 23 and 65 years old and a seniority in the company and function between 1 and 45 years.

2.2 Techniques and Procedure

The data collected correspond to the spontaneous verbalizations of the participating workers, expressed through the registration of expressions or words. These data were collected within the framework of collective training sessions aimed at exploring the issue of safety at work (roughly 10 workers per session).

To collect the data, it was applied the Technique of Free Association (TFA). This is a technique, common in the field of social representations, which consists in the production of words or expressions according to an inducing stimulus [9, 10]. The TFA was chosen to allow participants to share their concerns, in an anonymous and spontaneous registration, in the form of short expressions or words, without giving any conscious guidance to their thoughts, thus allowing to collect spontaneous speech.

To apply the technique, it was presented the following stimulus to the workers: "what concerns do you have when you think about safety in this company?". Then, workers had to registered in individual and anonymous papers, words or expressions related with the stimulus.

After the registration and gathering of the data, a group reflection on the contributions was carried out in the sessions in order to enhance also the collective reflection. This was important to share different and common perceptions and to promote the debate on the issue of safety at work.

A descriptive analysis and content analysis of the data were carried out. With regard to the descriptive analysis, it was analyzed the fluidity, amplitude and richness/homogeneity of the semantic material. The fluidity allows us to know the ease with which the participants expressed themselves regarding the stimulus (expressiveness), and corresponds to the total number of words/expressions associated to the inducing question. The amplitude indicates the number of different meanings, and corresponds to the number of different significations. And, richness/homogeneity allows us to obtain information about the integration of information (greater or lesser integration) and whether the participants resort to a common dictionary (thus suggesting the sharing of one or several representations). The former, corresponds to the ratio between amplitude and fluidity, and varies between 0 and 1, whereas there is use of the same semantic universe the closer the value is to 0 (cutting point 0,5).

Regarding the content analysis, this consisted in the manual identification of categories of concerns, by exploring the main themes found in workers' registers, and the quantification of expressions/words registered by the participants.

3 Results

Based on the descriptive analysis, a total of 74 expressions/words (fluidity) and 47 different expressions/words (amplitude) were identified (each participant wrote at least 1

expression/word and 3 on average). This indicates that workers could easily express their concerns and that these have a variability associated. In relation to richness/homogeneity of data, a value of 0.6 was found, showing that workers share some common concerns and a common 'dictionary' to describe them, although there are some that are not shared by all, as we will show next, based on the content analysis.

With the content analysis, it was identified seven types of safety concerns. We present them, in a descending form, in relation to the number of expressions/words associated to the categories: 1) environmental and industrial concerns (e.g., "product leakages", "risk of exposure to chemicals", "danger/risk of explosion"; "industrial accident", "be careful with spills and leaks that occur regularly", "impact on the environment and nearby population"); 2) the lack of knowledge transmission between colleagues and awareness of workers' experience (e.g., "discussion between workers of technical problems", "workers experience", "communication/knowledge sharing", "need for more awareness on knowledge"); 3) compliance with safety standards (e.g., "use of individual protection equipment", "checking safety demands before work to be done", "need for more safety standards", "comply with company's safety standards"); 4) the conditions and organization of work (e.g., "work permits", "organization of work", "lack of monitoring in the facilities interventions"); 5) the conditions of the facilities (e.g., "aging or degradation of installations", "installations that are not prepared to work safely"); 6) health and well-being at work (e.g., "falls", "work accidents", "concern about the well-being of all"); 7) how to proceed at work (e.g., "habituation leads to carelessness", "hurry leads to accident").

The two types of safety concerns most mentioned were related with environmental and industrial issues (25 expressions/words) and the concerns related with the lack of knowledge transmission between colleagues and awareness of workers' experience (13). The less mentioned, and therefore less shared concern, was about aspects related to how to proceed at work (2). Between these two 'poles', are the issues related to the compliance with safety standards (11), the conditions and organization of work (9), the health and well-being (7) and the conditions of the facilities (7).

Has we mentioned, the richness/homogeneity of data show that there are some concerns that are shared and other that are not shared by all. The first ones, correspond to the majority of the categories, and the point of view with which they are expressed by workers is shared. Those that are not shared by all correspond, in particular, to the category "Compliance with safety concerns", where word/expressions differ in terms of content (meaning different points of view). While some workers recognize as a concern that compliance with the existing safety standards and the use of the personal protective equipment are important, others consider that there are not enough safety standards, or that the use of the personal protective equipment is sometimes a constraint to perform all tasks.

The results show that the safety concerns of the participants do not focus on one category only (e.g., physical, interpersonal or organizational), but on different dimensions related with work including knowledge transmission.

4 Discussion

The empirical data allowed us to discuss on a few topics. With this study, we realize that some of the safety concerns of the chemical industry participants reinforce the safety concerns evidence from previous studies (e.g., [2–4]), for example, health issues, working conditions, or compliance with safety standards. This indicate that there are aspects related to work, health and safety that are shared in different work/sector of activities, even if in multiple ways or with different reasons.

Some other concerns have also emerged, such as the issues of how to proceed at work (even if barely mentioned) and the issues of the importance of knowledge transmission between colleagues and the awareness of workers' experience. Regarding, in particular, this last point, the results allowed us to respond to our goal, reveling that the experience and knowledge transmission are considered as safety concerns in this particular context. Although we know that these concepts are studied and valued for the preservation of health and to take action in safety issues, pointing to the importance of participation and recognition of workers and their experience in safety processes [11-14], no references to experience or knowledge transmission as explicit safety concerns have been express in studies around this topic. In our study they were considered spontaneously by some workers, which is new data for studies on safety concerns. Besides, they were the second most mentioned concern, indicating that, although they are relatively fewer in number compared to the environmental and industrial concerns, the workers are more aware and concerned with these aspects than with other typically more recurrent issues (e.g., working conditions or health), meaning that it is, in fact, something that worries these workers, due to the fact that, in their view, it has a potential impact on their safety. I other words, we can understand that knowledge transmission and the valorization of experienced workers are important for the pursuit of work activity in safety.

The safety concerns found in this company are related with the personal experience of participants with their work activity, but also with the fact that their workplace corresponds to a company with an aging workforce and a high-risk activity that can impact the workers themselves, but also, as we perceived, the environment and the surrounding community. In a context like this one, and considering the safety concerns identified, the investment in learning, in the sharing of knowledge between workers, in the recognition and mobilization of workers' experience, and in the working conditions are, without a doubt, fundamental for the accomplishment of a work in safety.

5 Conclusion

In this study, we explore the safety concerns of workers in a Portuguese chemical industry.

We have shown that the safety concerns in this industrial company are related with work activity, health and well-being, work conditions and organization, issues beyond the physical work context (industrial and environmental concerns), highlighting, as well, concerns related with the importance of experience and transmission of knowledge.

The results obtained with this study can be the starting point for joint reflection with company leaders and the Human Resources team, in order to promote awareness about the main concerns of these workers with regard to safety issues, and to define actions that can meet these concerns. Since this study focused only on the perspective of the operational workers, perhaps it would be interesting to know, too, the safety concerns of some key players in the company (e.g., production leaders, managers, responsible for management, human resources, health and safety). Thus, as leads to future research, we suggest the development of a similar study with these interlocutors, making an intersection with the workers' perceptions.

In addition to the potentiality of results for joint reflection, the safety concerns of these chemical workers can be indicators of some aspects/concerns present in other chemical companies or perhaps in other professional contexts of the industrial sector (even though they are data from a case study, and therefore cannot be generalized), thus indicating the originality of this study, the relevance of the theme at the present time lived globally, and the contribution to complement occupational safety concerns, particularly in studies in high-risk industries.

Acknowledgments. This work was supported by the FCT under Grant PD/BD/143112/2018.

References

- 1. Gyekye, S.A., Salminen, S.: Organizational safety climate and work experience. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. **16**(4), 431–443 (2010)
- Craven, C., Byrne, K., Sims-Gould, J., Martin-Matthews, A.: Types and patterns of safety concerns in home care: staff perspectives. Int. J. Qual. Health Care 24(5), 525–531 (2012)
- Goldenhar, L.M., Ruder, A.M., Ewers, L.M., Earnest, S., Haag, W.M., Petersen, M.R.: Concerns of the dry-cleaning industry: a qualitative investigation of labor and management. Am. J. Ind. Med. 35, 112–123 (1999)
- 4. White, H., Khan, K., Lau, C., Leung, H., Montgomery, D., Rohlman, D.S.: Identifying health and safety concerns in southeast Asian immigrant nail salon workers. Arch. Environ. Occup. Health **70**(4), 196–203 (2015)
- Grote, G.: Safety management in different high-risk domains all the same? Saf. Sci. 50, 1983–1992 (2012)
- Faurie, I., Planché, F., Deltor, S., Ricaud, C., Grau, A., Guy, C.: Better understanding H&S Knowledge Transfer: proposals for classing prevention guides. Laboreal 9(2), 52–62 (2013)
- Nascimento, A.: Producir salud, producir seguridad : desarrollar una cultura colectiva de seguridad en la radioterapia. Laboreal 6(1), 1–9 (2009)
- Griffin, M.A., Neal, A.: Perceptions of safety at work: a framework for linking safety climate to safety performance, knowledge, and motivation. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5(3), 347–358 (2000)
- Di Giacomo, P.: Teoria e métodos de análises de las representaciones sociales. In: Paez, D. (ed.) Pensamiento, indivíduo y sociedade, cognición et representación social, pp. 278–295. Fundamentos, Madrid (1987)
- Doise, W., Clemence, A., Lorenzi-Cioldi, F.: Representations sociales et analyse de données. Presse Universitaires de Grenoble, Grenoble (1992)
- Duffy, V.G.: Effects of training and experience on perception of hazard and risk. Ergonomics 46(1-3), 114–125 (2003)
- Eiter, B.M., Bellanca, J.L.: Identify the influence of risk attitude, work experience, and safety training on hazard recognition in mining. Mining, Metallurgy Explor. 37(6), 1931–1939 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42461-020-00293-8

- Leiter, M.P., Zanaletti, W., Argentero, P.: Occupational risk perception, safety training, and injury prevention: testing a model in the Italian printing industry. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 14(1), 1–10 (2009)
- 14. Vasconcelos, R., Silva, D., Pinto, R., Duarte, S.: Evaluating work and training within an intercommunicating process of change: reflections drawn from a case study on a chemicals industrial company in Portugal. Work **41**, 4564–4571 (2012)



The Dynamic, Individual and Integrated Risk Assessment: A Multi-criteria Approach Using Big Data

Francesco Lolli^{1,2}(⊠), Antonio Maria Coruzzolo¹, Giulia Alessandro¹, Elia Balugani², Maria Angela Butturi¹, Samuele Marinello², and Simona Marinelli¹

¹ Department of Sciences and Methods for Engineering, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Via Amendola 2, Padiglione Morselli, 42122 Reggio Emilia, Italy francesco.lolli@unimore.it

² En&Tech Interdipartimental Center of the University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Via Amendola 2, Padiglione Morselli, 42122 Reggio Emilia, Italy

Abstract. Occupational Health and Safety Risk Assessment can undoubtedly benefit from enabling technologies of Industry 4.0, with the aim of collecting and analyzing the big data related to the occupational risk factors arising into workplaces. In this paper, the assessment of the occupational risk is addressed by means of a multi-criteria approach. Indeed, after the pre-treatment of the time series of the said risk factors by means of a segmentation algorithm, a TOPSIS approach is implemented to assess the dynamic, individual and integrated risk to which a worker is subjected over the time. Finally, a numerical example is reported to illustrate the proposed in practice.

Keywords: Occupational Health and Safety \cdot Risk Assessment \cdot Wireless sensor network \cdot Multi-criteria decision making \cdot Big data

1 Introduction

The fourth industrial revolution, often named Industry 4.0, has received a lot of attention in the industrial production context [1, 2] because it is changing organizations and processes [3] and also the human work [4]. With reference to human work, the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) deals with the protection of workers and worksites, the reduction of occupational accidents, the minimization of insufficient informing, and the improvement of awareness of workers from a multi-disciplinary point of view [5]. In particular, the Occupational Health and Safety Risk Assessment (OHSRA) and management [6] is composed basically of these phases [7]: identification of the hazards, definition of who might be at risk, risk evaluation, precaution selection, findings record and, as last step, a process revision and eventually an update. Sgarbossa et al. [8], who focus on visions, challenges and opportunities of Industry 4.0, underlines also the need to integrate low-cost sensors, which represent big data sources, in order to set acceptable performance and risk levels for workers. Moreover, in order to improve the OHS in
Industry 4.0, one of the main challenges of OHSRA is the dynamic evaluation of the occupational risk [9]. Collecting possible suggestions as provided in [8] and [9], this contribution focuses on the use of a wireless sensor network, i.e. a state-of-art solution to collect dynamic data from different space points, for the dynamic evaluation of the occupational risk.

Actually, the occupational risk factors arising into industrial environments are strongly heterogeneous, as well as time-dependent and space-dependent. Noise, illumination, air quality and so on vary over time and may be more or less critical depending on the positions of the worker into the operative space relative to the risk sources (e.g., machinery, handling equipment, collaborative robots and materials). Thereby, it can be stated that the occupational risk which the workers are subjected to, disregarding the specific integrated measure adopted, should be assessed both dynamically and individually. Moreover, a further consideration reinforces the need of assessing the risk individually: the overall risk which a worker is subjected to depends also on his/her characteristics (e.g., biological and anamnestic), which make each risk factor more or less critical. It is to remark that some recent papers integrate the human characteristics into mathematical planning models for production and logistics, focusing for example on learning effects [10, 11], human energy expenditure [12, 13] and aging [14]. However, as highlighted by Neumann et al. [15], there is still a scarce explicit consideration of Human Factors (HF) in Industry 4.0. Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) represents a natural candidate to achieve individual and integrated risk measures. Indeed, in recent years, MCDM has been applied to help practitioners in OHSRA [16]. The reader can refer to the reviews [16] and [17].

The first contribution referred to this research stream is [18], where a fuzzy TOPSIS is adopted for the risk assessment in a food company. More recent contributions are: [19], which adopts a FAHP to evaluate seaport security; [20], which applies a Fuzzy Decision Making Trial and Evaluation Laboratory (FDEMATEL) for OHSRA in ship recycling industry; and [21], which exploits a Fuzzy TOPSIS (FTOPSIS) for the evaluation of the port vulnerability. In our work, a TOPSIS approach is adopted for its simplicity, low computational complexity, low cognitive efforts required by decision-makers, and adequacy with treating objective criteria. However, a relevant issue arises when applying MCDM to risk assessment, which is summarized as follows. The dynamic collection of the occupational risk factors by means of a wireless sensor network leads to as many time series as the risk factors are [22].

The dynamics of these factors naturally differ from each other and depends on specific causes that may be sudden and momentary as well. For instance, the lumen value of a workbench shows a peak if a light is turned on and suddenly turned off. Furthermore, an intrinsic variance is also present into the time series of the risk factors, which is unavoidable as being the background noise of their generating processes. This represents a serious issue because a peak would distort the instant value of the risk factor and the overall stage of risk assessment, as well. In order to deal with denoised time series, a segmentation algorithm is adopted to pre-treat them, which are thus converted into polygonal paths composed by sequences of linear ramps and stationary processes [23]; this allows to represent better the dynamics of the generating processes of the occupational risk factors. Then, a MCDM approach is adopted to achieve an integrated

occupational risk measure, which is also dynamic and individual for the aforementioned reasons.

The paper is structured as follow: Sect. 2 explains the adopted framework, Sect. 3 reports an illustrative example, and finally, Sect. 4 contains the conclusions and some suggestions for the further research agenda.

2 Framework

- 1) <u>Risk identification</u>: based on specific activities, products and equipment [24], we are going to list the main risks encountered. The risks identification is out of scope but in literature many methods appear to carry this task out, e.g. brainstorming, Delphi technique, checklist, expert interview, flowchart, SWOT analysis, and questionnaire [25]. This stage allows to identify the proper sensors to collect dynamic data. The output is the list of K risks to deal with.
- 2) <u>Static data collection</u>: this stage refers to the collection of static data related to the identified risks. In particular, we are interested in risk thresholds and ranges derived from regulations and further data related to workers, if necessary. For example, if the thermo-hygrometric risk is considered, the well-known Fanger's method [26] requires also the clothing insulation and the metabolic activity of workers to compute the Predicted Mean Vote (PMV). We assume that each risk is evaluated by means of one risk measure, which in turn may be computed by means of more controlled variables as in the case of the PMV. With reference to thresholds, the risks thresholds T_k and/or acceptability/ideal ranges $[T_k^-; T_k^+]$ are collected, with $k = 1, \ldots, K$. In particular, a risk may belong to:
 - G1 = group of risks where the risk measures have to be lower than a threshold T_k (e.g., concentration of pm10). Here the risk measure is used as it is.
 - G2 = group of risks where the risk measure must fall within an acceptability range $[T_k^-; T_k^+]$ centered on zero to make the risk manageable (e.g., PMV). We treat this group of risks by taking as risk measure its absolute value.
 - G3 = group of risks where the risk measures should ideally in terms of comfort fall within a range $[T_k^-; T_k^+]$ (e.g., lux). We treat this group of risks by taking as risk measure the absolute value of the difference between the risk measure and $\frac{(T_k^++T_k^-)}{2}$. Any other risk may be brought back to one of the aforementioned groups.
- 3) Dynamic data collection: real time data collection for the risks identified (stage 1). According with the group to which each risk belongs (e.g., G1, G2 and G3), we collect different risk measures by using the risks thresholds T_k and/or acceptability/ideal ranges $[T_k^-; T_k^+]$. It is also observed that aligning the sampling rates of different sensors can be a difficult task. However, thanks to the next segmentation stage, we do not need to perform the alignment because the segmentation converts single points into polygonal paths. Hence, different sampling rates are traced back to a unique rate, named time bucket, that can be fixed arbitrarily (see stage 4).

- The segmentation used to eliminate background noise and outliers, and also to avoid 4) different sampling rates into the sensor network. In particular, we adopt a piecewise linear segmentation by using the "segmented" package in R [27, 28] with "selgmented" function, which selects the number of breakpoints of the segmented linear relationship according to the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). This allows to compare models with more than 2 breakpoints till the maximum number of breakpoints indicated [27]. The outcome of this segmentation consists of a series of linear models, separated by breakpoints, that fit the sub-processes of the risk measures composing the overall process. We suppose to discretize a single time period (e.g., day) into T time buckets, with t = 1, ..., T (e.g., hours). The assumption for simplicity is that there is only one space point to control and only one time period to be taken into account, the output are the risk measures for every time bucket, that is S_{kt} with k = 1, ..., K and t = 1, ..., T. Obviously if more periods are taken into account the data collected became rapidly big data. The subsequent TOPSIS approach adopts the said S_{kt} values as the risk measures (i.e., the values of criteria) of the time buckets (i.e., the alternatives) of the time period to which they belong.
- 5) <u>TOPSIS application</u> by using the time-varying S_{kt} to derive a dynamic, integrated, and individual measure of risk. The inputs are segmented the risk measures S_{kt} for every time bucket in the controlled space point (stage 4).

The goal is to achieve the global ranking of the time buckets according to the descending order of their overall risks. Hence, the Ideal and Anti-Ideal solutions are the most and the least critical time buckets in terms of the overall risk, respectively. Moreover, without loss of generality, we suppose that all S_{kt} refer to beneficial criteria. The steps are the following ones:

i) Risk prioritization (i.e., weighting of criteria). In order to make the risk assessment customized to individual needs, we can adopt several approaches to assign the weights w_k to criteria (e.g., [16, 29]), either objective or subjective. The weights are such that:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k = 1 \tag{1}$$

ii) Normalization of the risk measures S_{kt} :

$$n_{kt} = \frac{S_{kt}}{\sqrt{\sum_{t=1}^{T} S_{kt}^2}} \,\forall k = 1, \dots, K \,\forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(2)

iii) Computation of the weighted risk measures:

$$c_{kt} = w_k * n_{kt} \forall k = 1, \dots, K \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(3)

iv) Computation of the Ideal and the Anti-Ideal Solutions, which are indicated respectively with $A^+ = (A^+_1, \dots, A^+_K)$ and $A^- = (A^-_1, \dots, A^-_K)$, as follows:

$$A_{k}^{+} = \max_{t=1,...,T} \{c_{kt}\} \,\forall k = 1, \dots, K$$
(4)

$$A_{k}^{-} = \min_{t=1,...,T} \{c_{kt}\} \ \forall k = 1, \dots, K$$
(5)

v Computation of the relative distances of time buckets as:

$$r_t = \frac{d_t^-}{d_t^+ + d_t^-} \,\forall t = 1, \dots, \mathrm{T}$$
 (6)

Where d_t^- and d_t^+ represent the Euclidean distances of time bucket *t* to A^- and A^+ , respectively.

The r_t value represents the individual and integrated risk measure of time bucket t, and thus the risk assessment results dynamic implicitly. Since TOPSIS is not affected by rank reversal, we add to the set of time buckets also a fictitious alternative with all the risk measures fixed at their thresholds, which is named integrated risk threshold. This allows to understand how the integrated risk measures are approaching over the time to the border scenario.

3 Numerical Application

We apply our proposal within an administrative office during an entire working day (8h) by considering a single workstation. The identified risks are: exposure to pm10 and pm2.5, thermo-hygrometric and illumination (i.e., K = 4). A low-cost integrated sensor is used to collect dynamically all the data (i.e., controlled variables) required to compute the *K* risk measures, which are supposed of equal importance (i.e., $w_k = 0.25$ with k = 1, ..., 4). Expect for the thermo-hygrometric risk, where the controlled variables are used to calculate the PMV as the thermo-hygrometric risk measure according with the Fanger's method [26, 30], the other controlled variables are used directly. Table 1 reports the controlled variables.

| Risk | Controlled variables | Unit of measure | Resolution | Range |
|------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|---------------------|------------|
| pm10 exposure | pm10 concentration | µg/m ³ | 1 μg/m ³ | [0;1000] |
| pm2.5 exposure | pm2.5 concentration | µg/m ³ | 1 μg/m ³ | [0;1000] |
| Illumination | Ambient light | Lux | 0.1 lx | [0;120000] |
| Thermo- hygrometric | Temperature | °C | 0.1 °C | [-40;85] |
| | Relative Humidity | RH | 0.1 RH | [0;100] |

Table 1. Controlled variables.

For the PMV, we use the Metabolic Rate (met) of a sedentary activity and the clothing insulation (clo) for indoor winter clothing by using the reference values reported in UNI-EN-ISO 77:30:2005 [30] (see Table 2).

| Parameters | Standard values | Values | Unit of measure |
|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|------------------|
| Air temperature | - | Dynamically collected | °C |
| Mean radiant temperature | 25 | - | °C |
| Air velocity | 0.1 | - | m/s |
| Relative humidity | - | Dynamically collected | % |
| Clothing insulation level | - | 1 | clo |
| Metabolic rate | - | 1.2 | met |
| External work | 0 | - | met |
| Basal metabolic rate | 58.2 | - | w/m ² |

Table 2. Parameters values for the PMV calculation

 Table 3. Reference thresholds for the risks and relative regulations

| Risk measure | Regulation | Type of environment | Thresholds | Unit of measure |
|--------------|------------------------------|---------------------|------------|----------------------|
| pm10 | ISTISAN report (ISS) [31] | Indoor | <90 (8 h) | [µg/m ³] |
| pm2.5 | ISTISAN report (ISS) [31] | Indoor | <40 (8 h) | [µg/m ³] |
| PMV | UNI EN ISO 7730 [30] | Indoor | > -2, < +2 | [-] |
| Light | UNI EN 12464 [32] | Operational offices | >250, <350 | [lux] |

For the risk thresholds we use the values reported in Table 3, where the respective regulations are listed as well.

Looking at the thresholds in Table 3, it is noted that pm10 and pm2.5 can be treated as risks belonging to G1, PMV to G2 and light to G3. Figure 2 reports both the real and the segmented (red dashed lines) time series of pm2.5/pm10 concentrations and ambient light. Figure 1 reports both the real and the segmented (red dashed lines) time series of temperature and relative humidity, which lead in turn to the time series of PMV. The segmentation is always performed using a maximum number of breakpoints fixed at 10. It can be noted that the segmentations of pm2.5 and pm10 allow to eliminate sudden drops and peaks probably due to the instability of the sensor, whereas the segmentation of the light behaves differently due to its intrinsic erratic-ness. Conversely, the segmentation of temperature and humidity follows the time series as closely.

Figure 1 shows the dynamics of the integrated risk measure r_t (Eq. 6), which settles on values far from the integrated risk threshold (blue dashed line). It is worth to observe that the light suddenly increases r_t in the time slot 02:00 pm-03:00 pm, but without getting it close to the integrated risk threshold. The other measures influence less r_t due to their lower variability. Moreover, they are always very far from their thresholds.



Fig. 1. Time series segmentation and the integrated measure of risk

Indeed, pm2.5 lies into the range [5; 12.5], which is very far from 40 and the same holds for pm10, while the PMV is always acceptable as lies into the range [0; 0.7].

4 Conclusions and Further Research Agenda

In order to bridge the gap reported in literature [8, 9] and to put at the service of occupational health and safety the Industry 4.0 technologies, we proposed a framework to asses a dynamic, individual and integrated risk measures by means of a TOPSIS approach. The numerical application allows to highlight the benefits of our proposal not only in research but also in practice. Future research will be devoted to the indirect elicitation of the weights to be assigned to the various risk factors as well as to supervised approaches of machine learning to predict automatically the said risk measures. Moreover, after having assessed the overall risk, several preventive approaches for the risk control may be proposed and then applied to industrial settings.

References

- Liao, Y., Deschamps, F., Loures, E.D.F.R., Ramos, L.F.P.: Past, present and future of Industry 4.0 - a systematic literature review and research agenda proposal. Int. J. Prod. Res. 55, 3609– 3629 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1308576
- Lu, Y.: Industry 4.0: A survey on technologies, applications and open research issues (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jii.2017.04.005
- Matt, C., Hess, T., Benlian, A.: Digital Transformation Strategies. Bus. Inf. Syst. Eng. 57(5), 339–343 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-015-0401-5
- Neumann, W.P., Village, J.: Ergonomics action research II: a framework for integrating HF into work system design. Ergonomics 55, 1140–1156 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1080/001 40139.2012.706714
- İnan, U.H., Gül, S., Yılmaz, H.: A multiple attribute decision model to compare the firms' occupational health and safety management perspectives. Saf. Sci. 91, 221–231 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.08.018

- Sousa, V., Almeida, N.M., Dias, L.A.: Risk-based management of occupational safety and health in the construction industry - Part 2: Quantitative model. Saf. Sci. 74, 184–194 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2015.01.003
- 7. HSE (Health and Safety Executive): Risk Assessment: A Brief Guide to Controlling Risks in the Workplace, INDG163 (rev4). http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg163.pdf
- Sgarbossa, F., Grosse, E.H., Neumann, W.P., Battini, D., Glock, C.H.: Human factors in production and logistics systems of the future. Annu. Rev. Control. 49, 295–305 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcontrol.2020.04.007
- 9. Badri, A., Boudreau-Trudel, B., Souissi, A.S.: Occupational health and safety in the industry 4.0 era: a cause for major concern? Saf. Sci. 109, 403–411 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ssci.2018.06.012
- Grosse, E.H., Calzavara, M., Glock, C.H., Sgarbossa, F.: Incorporating human factors into decision support models for production and logistics: current state of research. IFAC-PapersOnLine 50, 6900–6905 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2017.08.1214
- Lolli, F., Balugani, E., Gamberini, R., Rimini, B.: Quality cost-based allocation of training hours using learning-forgetting curves. Comput. Ind. Eng. 131, 552–564 (2019). https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cie.2019.02.020
- Finco, S., Battini, D., Delorme, X., Persona, A., Sgarbossa, F.: Workers' rest allowance and smoothing of the workload in assembly lines. Int. J. Prod. Res. 58, 1255–1270 (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1616847
- Calzavara, M., Glock, C.H., Grosse, E.H., Sgarbossa, F.: An integrated storage assignment method for manual order picking warehouses considering cost, workload and posture. Int. J. Prod. Res. 57, 2392–2408 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1518609
- Calzavara, M., Battini, D., Bogataj, D., Sgarbossa, F., Zennaro, I.: Ageing workforce management in manufacturing systems: state of the art and future research agenda. Int. J. Prod. Res. 58, 729–747 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1600759
- Neumann, W.P., Winkelhaus, S., Grosse, E.H., Glock, C.H.: Industry 4.0 and the human factor

 a systems framework and analysis methodology for successful development. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 233 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107992
- Gul, M.: A review of occupational health and safety risk assessment approaches based on multi-criteria decision-making methods and their fuzzy versions. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 24, 1723–1760 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2018.1424531
- Verma, S., Chaudhari, S.: Highlights from the literature on risk assessment techniques adopted in the mining industry: a review of past contributions, recent developments and future scope. Int. J. Min. Sci. Technol. 26, 691–702 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmst.2016.05.023
- Grassi, A., Gamberini, R., Mora, C., Rimini, B.: A fuzzy multi-attribute model for risk evaluation in workplaces. Saf. Sci. 47, 707–716 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2008. 10.002
- John, A., Yang, Z., Riahi, R., Wang, J.: A Decision Support System for the Assessment of Seaports' Security Under Fuzzy Environment. In: Konstantopoulos, C., Pantziou, G. (eds.) Modeling, Computing and Data Handling Methodologies for Maritime Transportation. ISRL, vol. 131, pp. 145–177. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61801-2_6
- Ozturkoglu, Y., Kazancoglu, Y., Ozkan-Ozen, Y.D.: A sustainable and preventative risk management model for ship recycling industry. J. Clean. Prod. 238 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jclepro.2019.117907
- Cao, X., Lam, J.S.L.: A fast reaction-based port vulnerability assessment: case of Tianjin Port explosion. Transp. Res. Part A Policy Pract. 128, 11–33 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra. 2019.05.019
- Shen, X., Wang, Z., Sun, Y.: Wireless sensor networks for industrial applications. Proc. World Congr. Intell. Control Autom. 4, 3636–3640 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1109/wcica.2004.134 3273

- 23. Lovrić, M., Milanović, M., Stamenković, M.: Algoritmic methods for segmentation of time series: An overview (2014)
- Tixier, J., Dusserre, G., Salvi, O., Gaston, D.: Review of 62 risk analysis methodologies of industrial plants. J. Loss Prev. Process Ind. 15, 291–303 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0950-4230(02)00008-6
- Martins, C.G.: Risk identification techniques knowledge and application in the Brazilian construction. J. Civ. Eng. Constr. Technol. 2, 242–252 (2011). https://doi.org/10.5897/jcect1 1.024
- 26. Fanger, P.O.: Calculation of Thermal Comfort, Introduction of a Basic Comfort Equation. undefined (1967)
- 27. Muggeo, V.M.R.: Selecting number of breakpoints in segmented regression: implementation in the R package segmented, pp. 1–3 (2020). https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.12891.39201
- Muggeo, V.M.R.: Estimating regression models with unknown break-points. Stat. Med. 22, 3055–3071 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1545
- Gul, M.: A fuzzy-based occupational health and safety risk assessment framework and a case study in an international port authority. J. Mar. Eng. Technol. 19, 161–175 (2020). https://doi. org/10.1080/20464177.2019.1670994
- 30. EN-ISO-7730: ISO 7730:2005 (2005)
- 31. Sanità, I.S.: Qualità dell'aria indoor: attuale situazione nazionale e comunitaria (2014)
- 32. EN-12464: UNI EN 12464-1:2004

Safety and Human Factors



Adopting the CRIOP Framework as an Interdisciplinary Risk Analysis Method in the Design of Remote Control Centre for Maritime Autonomous Systems

Åsa S. Hoem^{1((\Box)}, Ørnulf J. Rødseth², and Stig Ole Johnsen³

¹ Department of Design, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), 7491 Trondheim, Norway aasa.hoem@ntnu.no

² Department of Energy and Transport, SINTEF Ocean, 7052 Trondheim, Norway
 ³ Department of Safety, SINTEF Digital, 7052 Trondheim, Norway

Abstract. Humans are increasingly asked to interact with automation in complex and large-scale systems. The International Maritime Organization (IMO) has started working on regulations for Maritime Autonomous Surface Ships (MASS). For the foreseeable future, unmanned ships will most likely be under supervision from a Remote Control Centre (RCC), called constrained autonomy. We see a need to include the end-user and carry out a risk-based design analysis, considering the operational quality of the RCC. This paper proposes an approach based on the CRIOP method, short for Crisis Intervention and Operability analysis. Could this framework be adapted to the evaluation of RCC used for MASS operations? What critical scenarios should be used for evaluations of the design/HMI of an RCC? The paper recommends Operational Envelopes to describe the constraints of the system and concludes with recommendations regarding an interdisciplinary, collaborative, and anticipatory analysis of the HMI to enhance operator performance and reliability.

Keywords: HAI \cdot HMI \cdot Remote control centre \cdot Maritime autonomous systems \cdot Risk analysis \cdot ConOps \cdot Use case \cdot CRIOP \cdot Scenario analysis

1 Introduction

On the topic of MASS, the majority of papers published to date focuses on technical aspects of the ship operations and design, indicating that most scholars focus on the high-end components of the system, while organizational and human-oriented issues remain under-explored [1]. Without changes in the regulatory framework, safe interactions between conventional ships and MASS will be a significant challenge. In the foreseeable future, it is doubtful that MASS can operate without human supervision and intervention [2]. Thus, a technology-centred approach will miss the critical human element in MASS operations. Focus on controls, software, and sensors will inevitably be of limited use if little attention is afforded to the human operators' needs in the larger system [3]. This article presents a method to facilitate risk analyses to ensure a safe and resilient design of an RCC and the human-automation interface (HAI).

2 Background

MASS could better be an abbreviation for Maritime Autonomous Ship *System*, as they are complex socio-technical systems consisting of equipment, machines, tools, technology, and a work organization. The system includes functions on the ship as well as onshore – not the least the RCC. Designing such a system should follow principals of socio-technical design, like involving the future users of the new systems. Some of the leading methods for assessing safety in complex systems (e.g. STAMP, FRAM), take the necessary systemic perspective that explores the relationships between causal factors within the systems and addresses the complexity known to be important for improving safety in modern organizations [4]. However, for novel systems like MASS, the knowledge level on detailed designs is low, and the uncertainty still high.

Consequently, it is not easy to apply such systemic safety models to support the initial design phase as they rely on detailed and high-qualitative data. Besides, the methods share a challenge of being time-consuming, resource-intensive and needing extensive expert knowledge to facilitate the analysis. In this early phase, we need a more straightforward cross-disciplinary method, including the end-user, to carry out a risk-based design analysis.

3 Risk-Based Design

According to current best practice, MASS will have to be approved according to principals for "Alternatives and Equivalents" [5], which is fundamentally a risk-based approach. In national guidelines, this is partly translated to a strong focus on the ship's intended operation that needs to be described in detail [6]. This description is part of the Concept of Operations (CONOPS) that most class societies and the Norwegian Maritime Authorities requires. Risk-based design (also known as Design for Safety) is a formalized methodology, introduced in the maritime industry as a design paradigm to help bestow safety as a design objective and not a constraint. In short, it means carrying out risk analysis and consider potential risk in the different phases of design and hence treat safety as a life cycle issue. The goal is to use the information obtained from the analysis to engineer or design out accidents before they occur. A risk-based approach is recommended by Lloyd's Register [7] and DNV [8]. Structured risk-analyses should be performed on several abstraction-levels, typically utilizing several different risk-analyzing methodologies [8]. One method is the CRIOP method, which can describe and model risk qualitatively and use best practices to ensure that human factors issues are integrated into the design.

4 CRIOP – Crisis Intervention and Operability Analysis

CRIOP is an established, standardized scenario method for Crisis Intervention and Operability analysis. The methodology was developed primarily for the oil and gas industry, back in 1990 [9]. The initial scope was a scenario-and-general-checklist method for evaluating offshore control centres (CC) focusing on the human aspects in terms of conditions for successful crisis handling. Since then, the methodology has developed through collaborations between regulatory authorities, operators, research institutions, contractors and consultants, to include/consider HMIs, best practices standards and Human Factors. Integrated operations and e-Operations are now included as remote support, or remote operations are more common, due to organizational and technical changes. Today, CRIOP is used to verify and validate an RCC's ability to handle all operational modes safely and efficiently, i.e. normal operations, maintenance, disturbance/deviations, safety-critical situations.

The key elements of CRIOP are checklists covering relevant areas in the design of a control centre, Scenario Analysis of critical scenarios and a learning arena where the operators, designers and managers can meet and evaluate the optimal control centre [9].

The CRIOP process consists of four major work tasks:

- 1. **Prepare and organize** by defining, gather necessary documentation, establish an analysis group, identifying relevant questions and scenarios and set a schedule.
- 2. General Analysis (GA) with checklists to verify that the CC satisfies the stated requirements based on best industry practice (a standard design review).
- 3. **Scenario Analysis** of critical scenarios. An experienced team of end-users should perform the analysis to validate that the control centre satisfies the actual needs.
- 4. **Implementation and follow up:** At the end of task 2. and 3. the findings and recommendations are documented, and an action plan is established.

The method can be applied at different phases of the lifecycle, as shown in Fig. 1 below.

This paper focuses on the methodology's applicability in the early phase, the Conceptual Design phase. Here, concepts, automation level, HMI/Alarms (displays, controls, and communication interfaces), and necessary layouts should be developed. Results from preliminary task analysis, function allocation and job design analysis should be available before starting a CRIOP. However, RCC for MASS does not yet exist. Hence, such analyses are difficult to conduct due to the lack of established domains or users. Based on methods presented in [10], a pilot domain must be created. With a layout of a pilot domain for an RCC with operational envelopes in place, the CRIOP process can start.

We ask if the CRIOP framework could be adapted to the evaluation of RCC used for MASS operations. The general checklists must be updated, but the core ergonomics and risk-influencing factors (alarm philosophy, physical work environment, training) will be similar for an RCC for MASS and an offshore installation. Nevertheless, the risk analysis of a MASS and an offshore installation is quite different. We ask what key scenarios should be used for evaluations of the design/HMI of an RCC. Hence, we focus on the applicability of the work task 3 in the framework, the Scenario Analysis.



Fig. 1. Integration of CRIOP analysis in ISO 11064 design process (adapted from [9]).

5 Operational Envelope and Use Cases

The AUTOSHIP project has published an architectural concept [11], where the MASS' intended operations are broken down into smaller sets of generalized tasks, i.e. use cases. Each use case will be defined by operational constraints, e.g. geographic complexity, traffic complexity, worst-case weather, visibility conditions, etc. Together, these use cases define the MASS' Operational Envelope. This concept was first proposed in [13], calling it the operational design domain (ODD). The name was later changed to Operational Envelope to distinguish it from the ODD often used in the context of autonomous cars.

Each use case in the operational envelope describes and define both the automation's and the human's responsibilities, and the conditions that determine when responsibilities changes. [14] introduce two other important concepts, the maximum response time T_{MR} , and the response deadline T_{DL} . T_{MR} is the maximum time interval a human operator need from an alert is raised to he/she is at the control position and has gained sufficient situational awareness to take safe action. T_{DL} is defined as the minimum interval until a situation arises that the automation cannot handle. [12] introduced the idea of Constrained autonomy, which is now formally defined as a property of a sub-space of the operational envelope where the automation system at all times can calculate T_{DL} . By issuing an alert to the operator when $T_{DL} \leq T_{MR}$, one can assure that the operator will intervene in time when the automation can no longer handle a situation. The operational envelope also includes descriptions of what happens when the envelope is exceeded. The MASS must then fall back to a state that poses the least risk to life, environment, and property, so-called "Minimum Risk Condition" (MRC).

6 Remote Control Centre

As MASS are novel systems, one of the main challenges is that we have no experience from the operation or design of an RCC for MASS yet. We must base our experience from other domains such as aviation, automated road transport, or centralization of ship control done on the bridge. However, some basic principles are known:

- i. Most of the time, ship operations are relatively easy to automate, e.g. transit in fair weather and non-complex traffic situations. These operations should be automated, and it is not necessary or desirable to have an operator in or on the control loop. It will be too boring for a human.
- ii. More complex situations will typically develop slowly and can be identified early by the automation system, e.g. worsening weather or increasing traffic (T_{DL} is known and relatively long on the order of half an hour).
- iii. Even in a more complex situation, it should be possible to automate operations, e.g. sailing in more congested waters. Automation should, in most cases be able to handle encounters between one other ship and the MASS. However, the situation becomes more ambiguous with two or more other ships (T_{DL} is known but is shorter on the order of minutes). The safe state could be to halt ships or reduce speed to mace the situation controllable thus, controllability is a crucial issue.
- iv. A primary driving factor for MASS is to operate many smaller ships rather than one large. Having smaller vessels increases the frequency of service, which is necessary to, e.g. transfer cargo from road to sea [12]. With crew onboard, this will not be economically feasible. There will be more than one ship to monitor from the RCC.

Based on these principals, the RCC operators will typically be in charge of several ships and not closely monitor only one ship. They will be alerted to situations that the automation cannot handle and will need to take the right action. Different types of ships and shipping operations may require other RCC configurations.

7 Review of the CRIOP Scenario Analysis

The Scenario Analysis is designed to verify that the CRO (Control Room Operator) can perform the task while considering cognitive abilities, human-system interaction and other performance shaping factors. The analysis is human-centred, focusing on the CRO's interaction with the system, including communication with other personnel. Emphasis is on how the systems support the operator's situation awareness and decision making in different situations.

The Scenario Analysis assesses the RCC's actions in response to possible scenarios. Based on the scenarios, a dynamic assessment is made of interaction between essential factors in the control room, e.g. presentation of information and time available. The methodology suggests using Sequentially Timed Events Plotting (STEP) diagrams for a graphic presentation of the scenario events. For each event, questions related to the SMoC (Simple Model of Cognition) should be asked. A checklist of performance shaping factors should also be used to ask additional questions to elaborate on answers received.

The Scenario Analysis follows four main activities:

- 1. Selection of a realistic scenario
- 2. Description of the scenario employing a STEP diagram

- 3. Identification of critical decisions
- 4. Analysis of the decisions and possible evaluation of barriers

7.1 Selection of Realistic Hypothetical Scenarios

CRIOP recommend adapting scenarios based on incidents that have occurred and hypothetical incidents constructed by the analysis group. For MASS, when the operations are described in the operational envelope, the use cases will directly define scenarios. The challenge is to select the most critical ones and investigate if the use cases do not cover other critical scenarios in the operational envelope. One source for critical scenarios can come from hazard identification methods (e.g. HazId, HazOps, FMECA). It should consider both hazards like malfunctions of the system and hazards outside the control structure. A preliminary hazard analysis (PHA) is typically established in the general analysis of a concept design. Here, participants from different fields of expertise come together in brainstorming sessions to identify hazards and rank their impact. In the AutoFerry project, such analysis used a simple checklist-based approach and identified the most critical hazardous events to be related to the control system, communication between software and hardware components, the interaction between the ferry and recreational users of the channel and hacking and cyber-sabotage[15]. Wrobel made an assessment based on 100 ship accidents and suggested three prominent cases to be explored, i.e. groundings, collisions and fires [16].

MUNIN was the first project to develop a technical concept of a MASS back in 2015. Since then, several published papers discuss potential risks of MASS operations [17–19] contributing to a database of hazards and critical scenarios.

In reviews of risk analysis methods for MASS, the STAMP method [20] with STPA is recommended as it defines safety as a control problem, making it desirable for complex systems. The analysis identifies unsafe control actions and unsafe transition control actions that will lead to a hazard in a particular context and worst-case environment. These unsafe actions could also provide valuable input for scenarios.

7.1.1 Criteria for Selecting Scenarios

The CRIOP analysis should consider a few relevant scenarios, identified as key scenarios. In [9], the criteria for selecting these scenarios are listed. Adapted for MASS, the overall criteria should be operator involvement, hazard potential, complexity (to make sure the operators stress with peak workload) and acceptance (scenario accepted as possible by all participants).

An essential feature of MASS is the dynamic levels of autonomy that may change during a voyage depending on certain conditions. Hence the following types of humanautomation interaction cases must be considered for Scenario Analysis:

- 1. Handover from automation to the operator. For both long and short T_{DL} .
- 2. Operator handling parts of the operational envelope that automation cannot handle.
- 3. Operator actions in the case of a fallback situation to MRC.

7.2 The STEP-Model

STEP is relatively simple to understand and provides a clear picture of the course of the events to illustrate what can happen in a scenario. The graphic presentation is helpful for common ground to discuss possible hazardous events. A timeline on the horizontal axis keeps the events in order, and the connected "actors" are listed in a column. The relationship between events, what caused each of them is shown by drawing arrows to illustrate the causal links.

7.3 Identifying Critical Decisions

The analysis can start when the scenarios are documented. For each event involving an operator, questions are asked to identify how the systems support the operator's situation awareness and his/her ability to make decisions and execute actions. The CRIOP Handbook provides checklists with questions related to the scenarios and performance shaping factors depending on if the event relates to the operator receiving information (human-system interface) or making decisions (training, procedures and time available). The checklist helps identify potential error sources in the information systems, the operator's ability to achieve an adequate level of situation awareness, and whether sufficient information is available to allow the CRO to make decisions when required. Identified problems are called "weak points". Using the identified weak points, the Scenario Analysis's final step is to identify measures that should be taken to improve the identified weak points. Prior experiences suggest that CRIOP helps identify significant challenges between human operators and automation, as the best practice guidelines are used. Often mentioned issues are the ability to grasp the situation "at a glance", and simplifying automation steps such that the operator understands the action taken by the automation.

8 Summary

This paper presents an approach based on the CRIOP method. The framework can be adapted to the evaluation of RCC used for MASS operations. Experiences from implementing automation in other domains have found a strong need to base the development of best practices from Human Factors when there is a need for human control. CRIOP could be a risk analysis tool as we ask what can go wrong, why and how, and discuss different hazards and risks. Even though CRIOP is not based on probabilistic quantification, the participants' opinion on the scenarios is vital, contributing to a qualitative evaluation of risks. Critical scenarios for evaluations of the design/HMI should involve handover situations and fallback situations where the human operator is expected to intervene.

9 Need for Further Research

The next step is to test the feasibility of using an adapted version of CRIOP for hazard identification and assessment of a conceptual design of a real RCC. A case study with

participants to validate the method focusing on the RCC and the HAI in a situation where the human is alerted to take control, is the HAI sufficiently well designed to satisfy T_{DL} ? Furthermore, in the situations where the human operator has the responsibility for overall operations, will he/she be able to do this job at a satisfactory safety level?

Acknowledgements. This paper was published with support from the SAREPTA (Safety, autonomy, remote control and operations of industrial transport systems) project financed by the Norwegian Research Council with Grant No. 267860.

References

- 1. Wróbel, K., Gil, M., Montewka, J.: Identifying research directions of a remotely-controlled merchant ship by revisiting her system-theoretic safety control structure. Saf. Sci. **129**, 104797 (2020)
- 2. Porathe, T., Rødseth, Ø.J.: Simplifying interactions between autonomous and conventional ships with e-Navigation. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. **1357**(1), 012041 (2019)
- Veitch, E., Hynnekleiv, A., Lützhöft, M.: The Operator's Stake in Shore Control Centre Design: A Stakeholders Analysis for Autonomous Ships. London, UK (2020). https://doi. org/10.3940/hf.20
- Relling, T.: A systems perspective on maritime autonomy: The Vessel Traffic Service's contribution to safe coexistence between autonomous and conventional vessels. Doctoral Thesis at NTNU (2020)
- IMO (2013): Guidelines for the Approval of Alternatives and Equivalents as provided for in Various IMO Instruments, MSC.1/Circ.1455, 24 June 2013
- 6. NMA: Norwegian Maritime Authorities circular RSV 12-2020, Guidelines for automation on fully or partly unmanned vessels (2020). (In Norwegian)
- 7. Lloyds register: Code for Unmanned Marine Systems. ShipRight: Design and Construction. Additional Design Procedures (2017)
- 8. DNV GL: Class Guideline-Autonomous and remotely operated ships. DNVGL-0264 (2018)
- 9. SINTEF report: CRIOP Handbook from (2011). www.criop.sintef.no
- 10. Rutledal, D.: Designing for the unknown: using structured analysis and design technique (SADT) to create a pilot domain for a shore control centre for autonomous ships. In: Submitted to the AHFE 2021 International Conference (2021). (in review)
- 11. Rødseth, Ø.J.: Defining ship autonomy by characteristic factors. In: Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Maritime Autonomous Surface Ships. SINTEF Academic Press (2019)
- 12. Rødseth, Ø.J., et al.: "AUTOSHIP deliverable D3.1: Autonomous ship design standards" (2020)
- 13. Rødseth, Ø.J., Nordahl, H.: Definitions for autonomous merchant ships. In: Norwegian Forum for Unmanned Ships, Version, vol. 1, p. 2017-10 (2017)
- 14. Rødseth, Ø.J., Psaraftis, H.N., Krause, S., Raakjær, J., Coelho, N.F.: AEGIS: Advanced, efficient and green intermodal systems. In: IOP: Materials Science and Engineering (2020)
- Thieme, C.A., Guo, C., Utne, I.B., Haugen, S.: Preliminary hazard analysis of a small harbor passenger ferry–results, challenges and further work. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1357(1), 012024 (2019)
- 16. Wróbel, K., Montewka, J., Kujala, P.: Towards the assessment of potential impact of unmanned vessels on maritime transportation safety. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **165**, 155–169 (2017)
- 17. Veritas, B.: NI641 guidelines for autonomous shipping (2019)

- Chaal, M., Banda, O.V., Basnet, S., Hirdaris, S., Kujala, P.: An initial hierarchical systems structure for systemic hazard analysis of autonomous ships. In: Proceedings of the International Seminar on Safety and Security of Autonomous Vessels (ISSAV). Sciendo (2020)
- Fan, C., Wróbel, K., Montewka, J., Gil, M., Wan, C., Zhang, D.: A framework to identify factors influencing navigational risk for maritime autonomous surface ships. Ocean Eng. 202, 107188 (2020)
- 20. Leveson, N.G.: Engineering a Safer World: Systems Thinking Applied to Safety, p. 560. The MIT Press, Cambridge (2016)



Producing Human Factor Recommendations in the Aviation Sector

Diana Paola Moreno Alarcon^(⊠) and Corinne Bieder

Safety and Security Research Program, École Nationale de l'Aviation Civile (ENAC), University of Toulouse, 7 ave Edouard Belin, 31055 Toulouse, France {Diana.Moreno-Alarcon,Corinne.Bieder}@enac.fr

Abstract. This paper explores how Human Factors (HF) recommendations for the design of systems, the design of equipment and the design of operations are produced in the Aviation Sector. It also investigates to what extent they rely on the use of HF methods available in the literature. The paper builds on semi-directive interviews from HF experts and practitioners in several Aviation Organizations in Europe and beyond. The interviews captured real HF intervention practices that are described based on actual design examples. The paper presents an overview of practices used amongst the Aviation Industry to generate HF design recommendations within different organizations collaborating on a common European Project. It discusses how HF experts and practitioners produce efficient HF recommendations, and what is needed not only in terms of methods to carry out these recommendations but also and possibly more importantly that which is required from a broader organizational perspective.

Keywords: Human Factors (HF) \cdot Human Factor (HF) Recommendations \cdot Aviation \cdot Human Factors Methods \cdot Risk management

1 Introduction

Human Factors (HF) are an essential component in the Safety Management and Risk Management process in all High-Risk Industries and have been recognized as critical in Aviation Safety and effectiveness [1, 2]. The concept of HF arose in aviation in the 40s at the end of WWII [3] and was officially used in 1957 to represent the application of scientific knowledge, facts, models and theories derived from various disciplines of human science [4] including industrial engineering, psychology, physiology, medicine, sociology, management science, business and anthropometrics [4, 5]. HF consider the capabilities, abilities, limitations and other characteristics of human behavior to propose suggestions or adaptations to the design of tools, equipment, machines, systems, jobs, tasks, and procedures to maximize safety, productivity, and comfortability [3, 6]. As a result, HF are a pinnacle in aviation and aim to apply knowledge regarding human behavior in the design of systems [1, 7], in training, in policies or procedures to enhance human performance through the design by implementing and disseminating HF; particularly as long-term improvements in aviation will primarily be the result of HF solutions [1, 2].

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 228–236, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_27

Significant advances in Human Factors (HF) research during the past decades have led to the development or improvement of several HF methods that aim to facilitate the integration of HF proactively and reactively. They are meant to not only identify and analyze HF contribution to (un)safety but also propose HF recommendations that enhance safety through error reduction and mitigation. Over the past few decades, academics have proposed numerous methods, concepts, tools and theories to better capture Human Factors in Safety. According to Carayon [5], there are key elements required by HF experts to adequately apply HF recommendations. Specifically, HF experts ought to: (i) be perceived as credible and flexible with a strong capacity for learning and listening; (*ii*) command strong interpersonal skills that facilitate communication; (*iii*) be knowledgeable in HF and possess the skills to implement the recommendation. Similarly, numerous international regulatory bodies [8, 9] have developed requirements and guidelines regarding HF. A repertoire of Safety Methods including HF methods have been characterized in NLR's [10] Safety Methods Data Base. Based on the assumption that HF methods can be useful to different organizations, the SAFEMODE European project aims at characterizing the latest standard HF methods according to academic partners or method developers to support organizations in their integration of HF in design. This leads us to ponder: To what extent are the repertoire HF methods used in practice?

The paper investigates to what extent these methods are used in-practice within the Aviation Sector to generate HF design and operations recommendations. More generally, it explores how HF recommendations for the design of systems, the design of equipment and the design of operations are produced in the Aviation Sector. The paper builds on semi-directive interviews from a variety of HF experts and practitioners in several Aviation Organizations in Europe and beyond, to investigate the real practices used within each organization to integrate HF into the design. The interviews detail not only real HF intervention practices within each organization and their production conditions, but they also explore the organization's use of HF methods available within the literature. More generally, the paper presents an overview of practices used within the Aviation Industry to generate HF design recommendations within different organizations collaborating on a common European Project (see acknowledgement section). It also discusses how HF experts and practitioners produce efficient HF recommendations and what is required to produce them. This paper reaches beyond the work by Carayon [5] as it identifies organizational culture elements required to produce and integrate efficient HF recommendations not only in terms of methods but also from a broader organizational perspective.

2 Method

This paper relies on a qualitative research strategy and builds on qualitative semi-directive interviews from seven HF experts and practitioners in several Aviation Organizations in Europe and beyond. Numerous participants (ten) consisting of Human Factor Specialists, Researchers and Professors with HF training from Aviation, Rail and Academia from the SAFEMODE project were interviewed remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, for the purpose of this paper, the authors focused on the seven interviews

from three organizations within the Aviation Sector consisting of two Airline Manufacturers and an Air Navigation Service Provider (ANSP). It is important to note that the organizations interviewed are not representative of the whole spectrum of Aviation Organizations given that these are large organizations that develop large systems or operations and hence all contain simulators and internal HF expert means. In-depth interviews [11] were conducted with two to three HF experts and practitioners from each of the three organizations. Considering the limited number of interviews, the data consisting of interviews and organizational documents were processed manually by thematic analysis [12, 13]. This led to the identification of not only HF practices but also the conditions, especially organizational, to efficiently integrate HF into the design. Each of the interviews was transcribed and validated by the interviewes as research for Good Practices in HF (Table 1).

Table 1. Study participants from Aviation Organizations that have contributed to this paper (the

 Interviews were conducted within the framework of the SAFEMODE project)

| Organization | | Date | hh:mm | Code | Role | Interview |
|--------------|--------------|------------|-------|------|---------------|-----------|
| | | | | | | Code |
| Org. 1 | Manufacturer | 2019-02-17 | 02:30 | P01 | HF Specialist | O1P01 |
| Org. 2 | ANSP | 2019-02-26 | 01:00 | P02 | HF Specialist | O2P02 |
| Org. 2 | ANSP | 2019-02-26 | 01:00 | P03 | HF Specialist | O2PO3 |
| Org. 3 | Manufacturer | 2019-03-03 | 00:30 | P04 | HF Specialist | O3P04 |
| Org. 3 | Manufacturer | 2019-03-03 | 00:30 | P05 | HF Specialist | O3P05 |
| Org. 3 | Manufacturer | 2019-03-03 | 00:30 | P06 | HF Specialist | O3P06 |
| Org. 1 | Manufacturer | 2019-03-10 | 01:30 | P07 | HF Specialist | O1P07 |

3 Results

The results section is presented in two subsections. The first subsection commences with a description of the HF methods and processes employed in practice, within the organizations interviewed, to efficiently integrate HF into the design (Sect. 3.1). Moreover, the interviews demonstrate that integrating HF into design reaches beyond the sole HF methods paradox, as it further necessitates several organizational conditions that are detailed in the second Subsect. 3.2.

3.1 To What Extent HF Methods Are Used in Practice

HF recommendations for the design of systems, the design of equipment and the design of operations are produced in the Aviation Sector.

The findings show that the use of standardized HF methods is limited in these Aviation Organizations. These findings are not surprising given that HF methods, like any other "tool", are elements that to be useful must be designed both with the end-user in mind and by knowing the context of use [14]. As a result, HF methods need to be suited to the context of use. From the interviews, all three Aviation Organizations studied rely upon

the use of simulators, combined observations, debriefings or interviews, brainstorming sessions, and thus at this level of non-detail or of abstraction, there cannot be a universal method. However, such HF approach is only applicable when the Organization has access to simulation devices.

We argue that HF methods are customized to the individual organizations and their characteristics and hence it is not possible for a complete HF method to be universal. However, most HF methods contain embedder human factors knowledge, which may be transferable from one organization to another or even from one sector to another. The outcome of the interviews challenges the initial assumption that HF methods are relevant in their general state to other High-risk industries, as they may not even be applicable to other organizations within the same industry, given they are so widespread that their efficiency is limited.

All three organizations describe "User-Centered Design Processes" that share numerous commonalities. However, at a lower level of detail, each organization develops an organization-specific HF method or HF process involving HF methods that rely on existing material (experience and knowledge base) and rather than merely on these generic methods. As a result, HF processes and methods of each organization are context-specific and are dependent on the available resources (technical including simulators, human including HF experts, organizational including managerial support).

As previously stated, all three organizations rely on the use of simulators. As a result, this availability of a design process simulation devices introduces yet another source of adaption within the HF process. As mentioned by one interviewee:

"[This] is consistent with our resources, as we have simulators very early in the design phase, so it is possible to make assessments and therefore design modifications upstream. When you only have a simulator one year before the end of development, if there is an expensive recommendation to modify a system, it will not take place because it is too expensive unless the modification impacts the safety of the system 'one way or another'. Aircraft manufacturers cannot all have the same means and we do not all have the same cooperation strategies with suppliers" (01P01)

Prior to embarking on a simulation, all three organizations identify a priori potential HF concerns. Once again, none of the organizations rely on a standard HF method as such; instead combining HF knowledge available in the literature which they adapt to aviation, with experience and expert knowledge. Specifically:

"The HF process is based on an assemblage of knowledge on human functioning a priori and the production of knowledge through interviews with operational staff or even by setting up experiments in simulators (...) For each function, we followed an analytical approach that included a large matrix of HF criteria (from the literature, the most usable, and from aeronautic experience) which makes it possible to ask questions" (O1P01) "We interviewed the affected ATM actors about their concerns and the potential benefits of the concept" (O2P02)

"We check issues experienced by other manufacturer's planes and determine if those situations could occur with our products" (O3P05)

Next, the organizations rely on an iterative process involving simulations, tests, debriefing sessions and/or interviews with the 'operators' involved as well as with potential future users.

"Each year, we also organized a global evaluation, integrating all the functions, to evaluate with test and airline pilots, the usability of the cockpit as a whole" (01P01)

"So, we were present during the simulation sessions and the discussions, made observations, went directly to ATCOs if we had a question, analyzed the results of the questionnaires (which was put together by the project team)" (O2P02)

"We use system tests in flight during the development phase to also perform the HF evaluations including subjective methods to ask the pilot to perform the flight using the system and to respond regarding the quality of the system... we evaluate the new system using a group of pilots and after the flight, we process their opinions" (O3P06)

Without elaborating as to the details of their individual HF process and methods, each of the sizeable organizations interviewed favor in-house HF methods. The interviews illustrate this is due to the need for HF interventions that fit to the global organizational setting including the existing processes, the available resources, and the contextual factors. These in-house methods are also adapted to the development of specific products and operations. Therefore, what can be expected from generic HF methods? A source of HF-related knowledge-based rather than a ready-to-use operational approach. Some generic HF methods do embed interesting generic HF knowledge. However, whether this generic knowledge is applicable and relevant in all organizations, and how it is to be utilized requires further reflection and possible adaptation.

Furthermore, the interviews also demonstrated that producing HF design recommendations entails much more than HF methods. It also necessitates certain organizational conditions to enable possible and efficient HF interventions that are thus also required to integrate HF into the design.

3.2 The Organizational Conditions Needed to Efficiently Integrate HF into Design

According to the interviewees, integrating HF into the design of systems or operations also relies on a number of organizational conditions at different levels. At a global level, it requires the recognition of HF inputs within the organizational culture. At the design processes level, it requires the involvement of HF experts from the onset and throughout the design phases. At the design project level, it requires a modus operandi whereby HF experts, as well as all the other participants, constructively work together.

I. **HF knowledge and input are recognized as valuable in the organizational culture** Recognizing the value of HF insight entails dedicating resources to HF and granting HF experts with a voice that is carefully considered. Such actions must reach beyond the formal integration of HF and HF experts into the organization's written processes.

"We have a good approach to HF at [organization 1]. And it has to do with more and more recognition and acknowledgement of the role of HF in the design [...]. On paper we have a clear implementation of when HF need to intervene, the scope of HF, but in real life, there are situations where the HF participation is delayed or is not at the level we would like it to be for lack of time, resources, people, and consideration of the main HF contributions. There is an issue in the education of the organization of the importance of HF despite that the HF is written and documented" (O1P07)

"One or two HF experts worked on each of the 15 new functions of the [Aircraft] - at the time we had a team of about fifteen FH experts" (O1P01)

"include[s] HF experts or people with knowledge of HF from the conception to assess the implications of having the human performance characteristics that you want to have within the system" (O3P04)

"There is also the element of respect and acceptance of the importance of HF specialists, and that the suggestions made by HF specialists can bring added value. The same weight needs to be given to suggestions that arise from a safety perspective and a HF perspective" (O2P02)

II. Involving HF experts in the design from the onset

Providing HF experts with resources is not sufficient to integrate HF into the design. It also requires involving HF experts in design project teams not only from the onset, thus positioning HF experts to deliver early and hence feasible and affordable recommendations, but also at all stages of the design.

"There is a principle that says: "involve users in all stages of the design and development facilitated by systems engineering, HF experts, and safety expertise". I fully support this statement" (O2P02)

"The ideal HF should be considered in the entire project, from the conception through to development and certification and during product operations. [...] This ensures that the information is generated at the time when it is needed and that we can capture the important issues, therefore avoiding the need for rework and ensuring we produce better products" (O3P05)

"Since we captured [the issue] during the development stage of the design, we were able to modify it ... and did not have to wait for the next version" (O3P06)

III. All the actors work synergistically as a global team

In order to make a significant difference in a design project, HF experts need to be fully integrated into the project team. In practice, they need to participate in all the discussions and exchanges held in relation to the design, providing HF input that is considered and deliberated with the remainder of the team. This allows for the rationality and the outcomes of the design to be co-developed within the team, ensuring that all aspects (objectives and constraints) be considered, thereby generating global added-value for the design.

"The value of having a very good team with safety experts, ATM experts, and the technical team (e.g. system engineers, designers) means that everyone brings to the table their knowledge in their particular fields" (O2P02)

"An HF intervention [...] is not an isolated action to improve the operations or the system. It rather facilitates the continuous involvement of the air traffic controllers (our end-users), the ATM experts, the technical experts, safety specialists, human factors analysts and the project manager. At the end of the validations, we jointly come up with recommendations and requirements – the key to success is basically the team effort, clear communication and continuous involvement" (O2P02)

"The team effort and involvement should be there from the beginning, so this does not mean that the experts need to be involved at some time in the project. Everyone from the beginning needs to share their assumptions" (O2P03)

"My team [...] produces systems design recommendations from an HF perspective, [by working and] interact[ing] with other specialists such as engineers and so we do not produce recommendations on our own" (O1P07)

4 Discussion and Conclusion

This study aims to identify what HF methods are implemented in practice, within three Aviation Organizations, that integrate HF into the design.

The findings identify three conditions required to integrate HF interventions within the Aviation Industry and include: an organizational culture recognizing HF knowledge and inputs; the involvement of HF experts in design projects from the onset; and the synergistic effort of all actors as a global team.

Several limitations requiring further avenues of research were identified in this study. Possible biases may be induced from the limited number of organizations (3), the limited number of interviewees from each of those organizations (2–3) and the lack of range of size of the organizations selected (all large) which are not representative of the Aviation Industry.

Despite these limitations, this research sheds light on the HF methods paradox, whereby HF methods are not the sole aspect to be examined to effectively integrate HF into the design of systems and/or operations.

Although one could imagine that HF methods may compensate to an extent for the lack of internal HF expertise, our research confirmed Carayon's [5, p. 663] results that "*HF experts should be perceived as credible*". Furthermore, HF recommendations need to be not only relevant from an HF perspective, but also considered within the design. Producing relevant HF studies and analyses, as identified by Carayon [5, p. 663] requires "*strong interpersonal skills*,[...] *a strong capacity for learning and listening, and [to be] flexible [...in order to] facilitate communication between the HF experts, on one*

hand, and the adopters and end-users on the other hand". Our research demonstrates an additional critical element for HF considerations to be considered in the design. Specifically, the integration of HF experts as full members of the design team, contributing to the discussions and debates surrounding design options, thus considering all the dimensions of the design project. This role involves not only interpersonal skills to interact with other design team members but also organizational conditions and culture to co-construct recommendations that are acceptable by all design stakeholders. Efficient HF recommendations are not produced independently or autonomously and then 'exported' into the design team. Instead, they are suggested, discussed and debated among the design team connecting all the perspectives.

Another potential counterproductive effect of considering the integration of HF into design through the sole angle of HF methods arises as HF recommendations that are produced at an advanced stage of design may no longer be economically or technically feasible to accommodate. This may reinforce the initial belief that HF recommendations are not efficient. This may also lead to design options that transfer the burden to training to compensate for the lack of HF considerations at the design stage. In order to develop a solid rationale in favor of an organizational culture recognizing the value of HF, it would be interesting to evaluate the impact of the early and full vs the late and superficial integration of HF in the design on the training needs and global efficiency.

Acknowledgments. This publication was conducted as part of the SAFEMODE Project, a European Commission H2020 project, that aims to develop a Human Risk-Informed Design (HURID) framework that facilitates the accessibility of HF data and information, essential in the design and implementation of HF recommendations, by Safety Managers, Regulators, and System and Operation designers. The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not represent the opinions nor position of the SAFEMODE Consortium, or any of the individual partner organizations.

References

- FAA: "Human Factors Policy. FAA Order 9550.8A." (2005). https://www.faa.gov/docume ntLibrary/media/Order/9550.8.pdf
- ICAO: "Global air traffic management operational concept. Doc 9854 AN/458." First Edition. International Civil Aviation Organization, Montreal, Canada (2005)
- Kharoufah, H., Murray, J., Baxter, G., Wild, G.: A review of human factors causations in commercial air transport accidents and incidents: from to 2000–2016. Prog. Aerosp. Sci. 99, 1–13 (2018)
- Spur, G., Mertins, K.: Introductory overview. In: Adelsberger, H.H., Lažanský, J., Mařík, V. (eds.) Information Management in Computer Integrated Manufacturing. LNCS, vol. 973, pp. 1–49. Springer, Heidelberg (1995). https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-60286-0_94
- Carayon, P.: Human factors in patient safety as an innovation. Appl. Ergon. 41(5), 657–665 (2010)
- 6. Graeber, C.: The role of human factors in improving aviation safety. Aero Boeing, vol. 8 (1999)
- 7. Wilson, J.R.: Fundamentals of ergonomics in theory and practice. Appl. Ergon. **31**(6), 557–567 (2000)

- Eurocontrol, Specification for the ATCO common core content Initial training. Enclosure 2 to ENPRM/08-003 (2008)
- 9. ICAO: Safety Management Manual (SMM), Doc 9859, Second edition. International Civil Aviation Organization, Montreal, Canada (2009)
- 10. Everdij, M.H.C., Blom, H.A.P.: Safety Methods Database. Version 1.1. Maintained by NLR Netherlands Aerospace Centre NLR, The Netherlands (2016)
- 11. Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C.M., Ormston, R.:Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers. Sage (2013)
- 12. Boyatzis, R.E.: Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development. Sage (1998)
- Braun, V., Clarke, V.: Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3(2), 77–101 (2006)
- 14. Loup-Escande, É., Burkhardt, J.-M., Richir, S.: Anticiper et évaluer l'utilité dans la conception ergonomique des technologies émergentes: une revue. Le Trav. Hum. **76**(1), 27–55 (2013)



Character Accentuation as a Psychological Risks Criterion of Fly-in-Fly-Out Personnel in the Far North

Yana Korneeva^(⊠) and Anna Yurjeva

Northern (Arctic) Federal University named after M.V. Lomonosov, Northern Dvina embankment, 17, 163000 Arhkangelsk, Russia {ya.korneeva,a.yurjeva}@narfu.ru

Abstract. Due to the fact that during long-term work on a fly-in-fly-out method in the Arctic, destructive changes in the specialist's personality and activities can develop, it is necessary to take into account not only the adverse qualities formed at the hiring time, but also their occurrence and development likelihood, i.e. study the psychological risks. The most unfavorable changes in the workers' personality are professional destruction (changes in the existing structure of activity and personality that adversely affect labor productivity and interaction with other participants in this process), which include character accentuations. As the research result, it was established that the character accentuation is more pronounced than among the southern regions representatives. The workers in diamond mining are characterized by hypertensive and cyclothymic combined with exaltation. The oil specialists are characterized by hypertensive, pedantic and cyclothymic. The fly-in-fly-out workers in the south are most markedly demonstrative and pedantic.

Keywords: Psychological risk \cdot Fly-in-fly-out work \cdot Character accentuation \cdot Functional status

1 Introduction

The fly-in-fly-out labor method is used in many countries of the world: Russia, Australia, Norway, the USA, Great Britain, Canada and others, both on land and in the sea in oil and gas production on offshore platforms. The fly-in-fly-out labor method in the Far North and the Arctic is actively used at the present time, which is associated not only with the developed territories expansion, but also with the emergence of new industries types, which include the large facilities construction. However, these regions belong to the extreme zone and are located in unfavorable conditions for the specialists' work and life [4, 9, 14]. Studies [2, 4, 13, 14] show the unfavorable climatic conditions influence, industrial and social factors on the physical and mental health state, as well as the fly-in-fly-out workers' psychological status. One of the key problems is sleep disturbance in fly-in-fly-out workers [3, 8, 10, 12]. The studies emphasize that fly-in-fly-out work has many physiological, psychological and social consequences that lead to the normal sleep-wake cycle disruption. Due to the fact that during long-term work on a in fly-in-fly-out

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 237–243, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_28

method in the Arctic, destructive changes in the specialists' personality and activities can develop, it is necessary to take into account not only the unfavorable qualities formed at the hiring time, but also their occurrence and development likelihood, i.e. psychological risks study. Psychological risks are the professional personal destructions occurrence likelihood and the workers' unfavorable functional states formation during the labor functions performance due to the long-term impact of negative social and domestic and production factors with insufficient personal and environmental resources [5].

The most unfavorable changes in the employee's personality are professional destruction - changes in the existing activity and personality structure, which negatively affect labor productivity and interaction with other participants in this process, which include character accentuations [5].

Character accentuations are excessively enhanced and pronounced individual character traits or their combination, manifested in a person's selective attitude to psychological influences of a certain kind, making the person vulnerable to the traumatic environment influences with good or even increased resistance to other reality aspects [7]. Revealing the severity level and character accentuations type of fly-in-fly-out workers in the Arctic as a criterion for psychological risks will make it possible to develop optimal measures for their management.

This study purpose is to identify and describe the character accentuation features as a psychological risks in the professional activities criterion of fly-in-fly-out personnel in various industries in the Far North.

2 Materials and Methods

To achieve this goal, a study was carried out through three expedition trips to the oil production, the diamond production and the object "Crimean Bridge" construction. 227 fly-in-fly-out workers (aged 21 to 63) took part in the study.

The research methods are studying documentation, monitoring the work process, questionnaire survey, psychological testing, using the methodology "Character Accentuation" by G. Shmishek, K. Leonhard [7].

Due to the fact that another psychological risks in professional activity criterion is unfavorable functional states, we assessed their levels among fly-in-fly-out workers using instrumental psychophysiological methods:

- 1. Complex visual-motor reaction (CVMR), performed by means of the psychophysiological testing device UPFT-1/30 "Psychophysiologist", which allows to assess the mental and operational performance level, as well as the functional status level.
- 2. Variational cardiointervalometry (VCM), performed by means of the psychophysiological testing device UPFT-1/30 "Psychophysiologist". This is an functional status assessment and cardiovascular system adaptive capabilities using the variational cardiointervalometry method. These indicators are a vulnerable link in the adaptation to the Far North and the Arctic conditions with polar stress syndrome.

Statistical analysis methods are descriptive statistics, multidimensional variance analysis, two-stage cluster analysis, conjugacy tables using the χ^2 -Pearson criteria.

3 Results

3.1 Prevailing Character Accentuations Types as a Psychological Risks in the Professional Activities Criterion of Fly-in-Fly-Out Personnel in Various Industries

Multivariate tests (Pillai's trace is 1.090 at p = 0.001) show statistically significant the production type influence on the character accentuations severity of fly-in-fly-out workers. Statistically significant influences are also confirmed by the results of evaluating the intergroup factors effects, where for all character accentuations types p-significance level is 0.001.



Fig. 1. Character accentuations of fly-in-fly-out personnel in various production types

Figure 1 shows that among fly-in-fly-out workers in the Far North, character accentuations are more pronounced than among workers in the southern fly-in-fly-out, that will help to preserve themselves during their extreme activities.

The fly-in-fly-out oil production personnel combines such features as hyperthymic, pedantic and cycloid character accentuations types. Such workers can be characterized as self-critical, responsible and executive; they follow the rules. At the same time, these workers are indecisive, cautious and pessimistic. They are characterized by insecurity and powerlessness in external factors front. The need to make decisions in the face of an information lack and time limits; situations requiring the efforts mobilization, endurance cause unfavorable conditions in these workers.

This is also confirmed by our earlier studies, which, on the basis of the revealed the workers' character accentuations combination features, identified two clusters: with an exalted demonstrative stuck character accentuations style and with pronounced anxious-cyclothymic character accentuations [6].

Diamond mining workers are characterized by hyperthymic and cycloid, combined with exalted, which can ensure high activity in finding solutions to problems and performing professional tasks. They are characterized by high efficiency, persistence in achieving goals and the ability to defend their point of view. They are also arrogant, power-hungry, prone to unjustified risks. Prolonged repetitive work can be difficult for these workers. The work results depend on the change in mood. They can be quick-tempered and irritable.

Unfavorable conditions in these workers can be caused by uncertainty situations, strictly regulated professional activity conditions, monotonous work, as well as their merits underestimation.

For workers on the south, the most characteristic are demonstrative and pedantic, which mutually exclude each other's manifestations. But dysthymic, which is also more pronounced, indicates a lack of energy and activity, a tendency to reflect. At the same time, these employees may be characterized by conscientiousness, thoughtfulness, and seriousness.

3.2 The Interaction of the Prevailing Character Accentuations and Functional State of Fly-in-Fly-Out Personnel in Various Industries

In order to determine the differences in personal characteristics among various industries workers with different functional states, a multivariate analysis of variance was carried out, where the industries (oil and gas, diamond mining, bridge construction) and the functional state (favorable and unfavorable) were correlated with the personality accentuations types diagnosed using the G. Shmishek's and K. Leonhard's research methodology personality accentuations.

Multivariate tests (Pillai's trace is 0.241 at p = 0.015) show statistically significant influences of the industries type and functional state on the character accentuations severity. According to the intergroup factors effects assessment, there are statistically significant differences in various industries fly-in-fly-out personnel with different functional states for the following character accentuations types: disturbing (p = 0.028) and dysthymic (p = 0.049). For other character accentuations types, no statistically significant differences were found.



Fig. 2. The fly-in-fly-out personnel' character accentuations in various production types

Figure 2 shows that the anxiety level is higher among fly-in-fly-out personnel of all industries types with an unfavorable functional state. We can say that anxiety has

a disorganizing effect on professional activity, which is manifested in the workers' functional state, especially in conditions where the requirements for adaptation exceed their reserves.

We can also say that the anxiety level among fly-in-fly-out personnel in the North is higher than among workers in the south, which may be due to the production specifics and their extreme professional activities.

If we compare the anxiety indicator among workers in the diamond mining and oil and gas production industries in the Far North, we see that oil and gas production specialists are more anxious. Perhaps they develop a responsibility sense in connection with the stressful or emergency situations occurrence that require quick response and resolution.

Figure 2 also shows that the dysthymicity level is higher in all industries types fly-in-fly-out personnel with an unfavorable functional state. It manifests itself in the suppression of mood, slowness, volitional efforts weakness. Dysthymicity among fly-in-fly-out personnel in the Far North is also more pronounced than among fly-in-fly-out workers in the south, and is most pronounced among specialists in oil and gas production.

4 Discussion

In the article, we analyzed character accentuations as a criterion for fly-in-fly-out personnel' psychological risks in various industries. E.F. Zeer says that one of the conditions for the professionally determined accentuations formation is adaptation to a new professional activity [17]. With successful adaptation, there is a tendency to compensate for accentuations, and professional maladjustment significantly increases the their severity level and leads to professional personality destructions. E.F. Zeer, in his professional destruction concept, says that professionally determined accentuations begin to develop from this professional development stage and can be compensated for with successful adaptation to activities. Therefore, it is important to assess their severity among fly-in-fly-out personnel in order to develop targeted adaptation programs for new employees.

Our study results are consistent with the A.G. Ananenkov's and co-authors results, who revealed the accentuated personalities growth with an increase in the length of stay in the North [1]. In this regard, it is necessary to carry out preventive and corrective measures that contribute to development of the fly-in-fly-out workers' personal resource.

In other authors studies, the employees' character accentuations were not directly studied, but at the same time, other personal characteristics were revealed that can be attributed to the fly-in-fly-out personnel's psychological risks in the professional activities criteria. In the oil and gas research review, K. Parks suggested that compared to onshore fly-in-fly-out workers, offshore workers experience increased anxiety levels, more sleep problems and greater stress [9].

The Roozbehani's, Tarkhan's, Alipour's et al. study results showed that long-term employment on offshore platforms is associated with personality changes. Workers with a fly-in-fly-out work experience of 4 years or more on an offshore platform compared with employees with less than one year work experience had higher neuroticism rates and lower rates of extraversion, compliance and consciousness [11].

Australian studies also found significantly higher depression and anxiety rates among fly-in-fly-out workers than among the general population [15], the anxiety and stress risks are twice higher for young workers (18–33 years) than for older workers [16].

In our previous study, devoted to the character accentuations study as a psychological risks criterion for the main gas pipelines builders in the fly-in-fly-out work organization in the Far North, the following was established. The main gas pipelines builders with less than five years fly-in-fly-out work experience have expressed alarming, exalted and cyclothymic accentuations. The main gas pipelines builders with more than five years fly-in-fly-out work experience are characterized by following character accentuations: stuck, hyperthymic, anxiety and emotive.

Regarding the relationship between two psychological risks in professional activity criteria - character accentuations and functional state, it should be Y. Korneeva's and N. Simonova's noted study, which was carried out at an oil and gas industry in the Arctic. It was found that attribution to a favorable or unfavorable functional state is associated with the demonstrative workers's character accentuation type severity. The oil and gas production enterprise fly-in-fly-out specialists in the Arctic with a moderately pronounced demonstrative character accentuation type have favorable functional states during the fly-in period. Therefore, the pronounced demonstrative accentuation type presence indicates a high psychological risk, which can lead to a decrease in the activities effectiveness. The oil and gas producing enterprises employees characterized by a different character accentuations combination will have different psychological risks, and, therefore, different approaches to their psychological support are required. The oil and gas production company fly-in-fly-out employees in the Arctic are classified into two clusters depending on the character accentuations types severity combination: exalted demonstratively stuck and anxiously cyclothymic [6].

5 Findings

Character accentuations as a psychological risks in professional activity criterion among fly-in-fly-out workers in the Far North are more pronounced than among the southern flyin-fly-out representatives, which can contribute to a better adaptation process. Diamond workers are characterized by hyperthymic and cycloid, combined with exalted. The oil industry specialists are characterized by hyperthymic, pedantic and cycloid. The fly-in-fly-out workers in the south are most pronounced demonstrative and pedantry.

If we talk about the interrelation of two psychological risk in professional activity criteria - functional states and character accentuations, then statistically significant differences were revealed only in the anxious and dysthymic character accentuations types severity in various industries fly-in-fly-out workers with their favorable state varying degrees. These traits are most pronounced in workers with an unfavorable functional state, which indicates their disorganizing influence.

Acknowledgments. The study was carried out with the project FSRU-2020–006 support as part of the implementation of the Russian state assignment for basic research.

References

- 1. Ananenkov, A.G., Stavkin, G.P., Andreev, O.P., Salikhov, Z.S.: Social aspects of technical regulation of the shift work method in the Far North, Yamburg (2004)
- 2. Garanina, O.A.: Features of the lifetime organization of specialists working in the shift schedule regime, Moscow (2006)
- 3. Jena, R.K., Goswami, R.: Shift workers vs day workers: a comparative study of psychological, social and personal well-being. Far East J. Psychol. Bus. **3**, 27–37 (2012)
- Khasnulin, V.I., Khasnulina, A.V.: Psycho-emotional stress and meteoreacton as systemic manifestations of human disadaptation under changing climatic conditions in the North of Russia. Hum. Ecol. (Russian Fed.) 8, 3–7 (2012)
- Korneeva, Ya.A., Simonova, N.N., Degteva, G.N.: The psychological risk in the professional activity concept of shift labor workers form the example of oil and gas companies in the Far North. Hygiene Sanitation 4, 60–64 (2013)
- Korneeva, Y., Simonova, N.: Analysis of psychological risks in the professional activities of oil and gas workers in the far north of the Russian Federation. Behav. Sci. 8, 84–94 (2018)
- 7. Leonhard, K.: Accentuated personalities, Moscow (2000)
- Niu, S.F., Chung, M.H., Chen, C.H., Hegney, D., O'Brien, A., Chou, K.R.: The effect of shift rotation on employee cortisol profile, sleep quality, fatigue, and attention level: a systematic review. J. Nurs. Res. 19(1), 68–78 (2011)
- 9. Parkes, K.R.: Psychosocial aspects of work and health in the North Sea oil and gas industry: summaries of reports published 1996–2001, London (2002)
- 10. Pavlis, A.: Cognitive, Neuroanatomical and Neuroendocrine Effects of Long-Term Rotating Shift Work in a Nursing Sample, Melbourn (2007)
- Roozbehani, A., Tarkhan, M., Alipour, A.: Comparing personality change of the newly employed and old employees working at the offshore oil industry: a cross-sectional study. J. Psychol. Clin. Psychiatry 9, 615–618 (2018)
- 12. Rutenfranz, J., Colquhoun, W.P., Knauth, P., Ghata, J.N.: Biomedical and psychosocial aspects of shift work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health. **3**, 165–182 (1977)
- 13. Silin, A.N., Maslakov, N.A.: The shift method in the Tyumen North: twenty years later, Tyumen (2004)
- 14. Simonova, N.N.: Psychological analysis of the professional activities of specialists in the oil and gas production complex (on the example of shift work in the Far North), Moscow (2011)
- Velander, F., Schineanu, A., Liang, W., Midford, R.: Digging for gold and coming up blue: a health survey in the mining industry. Australian New Zealand J. Health Saf. Environ. 26, 389–401 (2010)
- Vojnovic, P., Bahn, S.: Depression, anxiety and stress symptoms among fly-in fly-out Australian resource industry workers. J. Health Saf. Environ. 31, 207–223 (2015)
- 17. Zeer, E.F., Symaniuk, E.E.: Psychology of professional destruction, Moscow (2005)



Lean Ergonomic Impacts on Manufacturing Systems

Daniela Balsadi^{1(区)} and Eduardo Ferro dos Santos²

¹ Volkswagen Brazil, São Carlos, Brazil

² University of Sao Paulo, Lorena, Brazil

eduardo.ferro@usp.br

Abstract. Ergonomics and Lean Production have similar goals. Ergonomic issues should be deemed waste by Lean Practitioners because of the effect on the health, safety, and productivity of employees in the manufacturing process. The transition from a place to another place, for example, creates physical and mental fatigue and increases wasted time, which is one of the most common wastes in production processes. The paper presents the question: What is the analysis format that can be conducted by incorporating vision among Lean Manufacturing and Ergonomics? What are the benefits of this integration? This paper presents a case study that illustrates the use of an integrated approach, developed by the design science research method, in a production process. To complement is presented a theoretical and practical framework, integrating Ergonomics and Lean Manufacturing to produce a technical report of ergonomic analysis of the task. This study was carried out at a Brazilian refrigeration compressor manufacturing processes.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Wastes from work processes · Lean manufacturing · Lean ergonomics · Ergonomic analysis

1 Introduction

Ergonomics and Lean Production have similar goals. Ergonomic issues should be deemed waste by Lean Practitioners because of the effect on the health, safety, and productivity of employees in the manufacturing process [1]. The transition from a place to another place, for example, creates physical and mental fatigue and increases wasted time, which is one of the most common wastes in production processes [2].

What is the analysis format that can be conducted by incorporating vision among Lean Manufacturing and Ergonomics? What are the benefits of this integration? This paper presents a case study that illustrates the use of an integrated approach, developed by the design science research method, in a production process. To complement is presented a theoretical and practical framework, integrating Ergonomics and Lean Manufacturing to produce a technical report of ergonomic analysis of the task.

The study was carried out at a Brazilian refrigeration compressor manufacturer located in the São Paulo State countryside in different manufacturing processes. Using

a risk assessment and labor analysis instruments, as MTM - System Time Measurement [3], we determined and suggest new methods for labor situations. To reduce or eliminate waste movement, we used ergonomics improvement proposals (physical and mental), workplace assessment, task execution time, and the physical environment, aspects of physical ergonomics (layout, tools, equipment).

In order to identify the issues, waste, unnecessary and overextended movements, the performed tasks were analyzed with the interactive package of the Golden Zone method [3], biomechanical assessment [5], and the MTM [3].

After introducing the changes, it is safe to assume that the risks have been minimized. We achieve more significant benefits to the well-being, safety, productivity, and comfort of workers [6] when the environment is adjusted to human factors.

2 Methodology

Given the objective of carrying out an ergonomic analysis of a workstation, with emphasis on physical ergonomics and the application of the MTM and Golden Zone method, this work was developed in a manufacturer of compressor assemblies for refrigeration, which is continuously involved in process improvement, concerned both with productivity and the health of its employees.

For this study, the Golden Zone tool, the biomechanical analysis of work activities, and the MTM-UAS Method were used through videos filed in a company database.

The study took place in the electrical sector, in the assembly line of metallic connection boxes, in the terminal block capacitor's assembly post, electrical harness, and fixing cables.

As inclusion criteria for selecting the position, the first bottleneck of the line (31.9 s.) with the potential to optimize the process, improve the flow of the line and reduce muscle fatigue from the implementation of ergonomic improvements was verified. A second applied criterion was the integration of the biomechanical analysis of the activity and MTM in the assembly post of the terminal block capacitor, electrical harness, reconciling the problems of biomechanical overload of upper limbs and spine, the layout of the post, number of movements, and execution time of the activities.

Physical ergonomics were considered, from the prescribed task description, assessment of the workstation, the time of execution of the activity, and the physical environment (layout, tools, equipment). The activities performed were analyzed with the Golden Zone tool's integrated application.

MTM is a predetermined time system that provides tabulated times for the human body's movements to estimate the duration of task execution and can be used to determine the method and the time that a qualified operator needs to perform an activity with specific performance.

The MTM analysis becomes a precious source for ergonomic analysis. With the simplification of very complex movements and the reduction of useless movements, improved productivity and ergonomics are obtained. The UAS module of the MTM system is designed for series production, and for this reason, it was used in this study. Initially, the parts, components, and tools used in carrying out the task were identified, the
distance ranges, and the descriptions of the activities via the system, then, the sequence of movements of the task was broken down into 18 operational steps.

To collect data related to body segments during the task development, we applied the Sue Rodgers checklist [7] to quantify and identify the biomechanical risk factors.

3 Results and Discussion

After applying ergonomic analysis, emphasizing physical ergonomics, the MTM-UAS and Golden Zone method, to detect activities that can be optimized and thus eliminate waste with movement, the result enabled the production's optimization process and the reduction of muscle fatigue.

From the ergonomic analysis of the activities, it was possible to identify the following residues related to the analysis of the activity: Lack of method in carrying out the activity, and there are different sequences of processes to assemble the components in the connection box; Large movement distances, parts/components, outside the ideal working area (Golden Zone).

The results of the MTM method identified waste in process time due to the pieces being positioned in the distance range 2 (>20 to \leq 50cm) and 3 (>50 to \leq 80cm). The picking distances of the pieces (terminal block and electrical harness) were not positioned at the ideal range, requiring movements with a more significant extension than necessary, generating waste of movement, time, and muscle fatigue. With the application of the MTM-UAS method, it was possible to identify the clear potential for improvements related to the movement of picking up the piece.

Through biomechanical analysis of the activity, it was possible to diagnose that the activity required inadequate spine movements (twisting and inclination of the trunk) since the terminal block capacitors (2nd whip) was outside the Golden Zone. The Suzanne Rodgers checklist was applied to obtain a more accurate analysis of biomechanics. The activity presents a moderate risk (yellow) for the left shoulder and vertebral column after application.

Three proposals for ergonomic improvements were made in order to improve the work area and reduce/eliminate unnecessary movements and fatigue, such as repositioning the harness box on a support above the line in front of the employee, repositioning the packaging of a terminal block capacitor closer to the line and an adjustment without layout, bringing the workstations closer together, decreasing as well as the picking distances of the pieces, eliminating the anti-ergonomic movements of the left shoulder and spine, optimizing the processing times and handling waste.

After implementing the improvements, the Sue Rodgers tool and biomechanical analysis were applied again, where it was possible to conclude that the risks to the left shoulder and spine were minimized.

After readjusting the layout, repositioning the packages closest to the employee, the reach distance went from range 3 (>50 to \leq 80cm) to range 1 of the MTM (\leq 20cm), reducing the handle distance on average by 45cm. Regarding the activity's execution times, there was an 11% optimization in the processing time, going from 30.77 s to 27.4 s, and a 13% gain in productivity.

4 Conclusion

Given this work's objective, applying the described tools, we conclude that the Lean Manufacturing system's application provides an expressive reduction of waste, leaner, and optimized processes. In Lean environments, the intensification of the requirements and content of tasks and the optimization of processes can compromise employee health and safety. For this reason, Ergonomics has a good interaction between work and its performers in its field of action, providing that all work must be carried out in comfort and safety, preserving employees' physical, social and psychological integrity.

The application of Ergonomics and the MTM-UAS method improved the activity's performance, eliminating unnecessary movements, optimizing the process, and minimizing ergonomic risks and muscle fatigue. The significant gain with implementing the improvements in the layout was the improvement of productivity and reduced waste and improvement in the working conditions, reducing the biomechanical overload, making the processes more straightforward, more reliable, and lean. There is no effective production if employees are fatigued or sick, proving that an efficient lean process is one that considers human factors in its value chain.

It was evident that the application of Lean Manufacturing, Ergonomics, and MTM brings enormous benefits to employees' productivity and health. Focusing their efforts on continuous improvement with the elimination of waste, since it is possible to obtain improvements in regarding the method and time of execution of the task, taking into account human factors, which in addition to the efficiency of the production system, prioritize the health and safety of the employee.

Ergonomics is necessary for all Toyota System methodologies. It will undoubtedly bring essential improvements to the workers' health and comfort in their processes, suggesting new studies applying standardized work to assess the biomechanical demand, productivity, and comfort at work.

References

- Santos, E.F., Lima, C.R.C.: DMAICR in an ergonomic risks analysis. Work 41(Supplement 1), 1632–1638 (2012). https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-2012-0364-1632
- de Oliveira, K.B., dos Santos, E.F., Junior, L.V.G.: Lean healthcare as a tool for improvement: a case study in a clinical laboratory. In: Duffy, V.G., Lightner, N. (eds.) Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare. AISC, vol. 482, pp. 129–140. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41652-6_13
- Laring, J., Forsman, M., Kadefors, R., Örtengren, R.: MTM-based ergonomic workload analysis. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 30(3), 135–148 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-8141(02)000 91-4
- dos Santos, E.F., dos Santos Nunes, L.: Methodology of risk analysis to health and occupational safety integrated for the principles of lean manufacturing. In: Goossens, R.H.M. (ed.) Advances in Social & Occupational Ergonomics. AISC, vol. 487, pp. 349–353. Springer, Cham (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41688-5_32

- Barreto, M.A.M., Vasconcelos, S.S., Dos Santos, E.F.: Motivation and work: a survey of the motivational aspects in industries. In: Kantola, J., Barath, T., Nazir, S. (eds.) Advances in Human Factors, Business Management and Leadership. AHFE 2017. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 594, pp. 319–328. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-60372-8_31
- 6. Rodgers, S.H.: An ergonomic approach to analyzing workplace accidents. Appl. Occup. Environ. Hyg. **15**(7), 529–534 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1080/10473220050028321

Safety, Prevention Management and Training



The Safety Measure Effectiveness Assessment Tool (EAT)

Toni Waefler^(⊠) and Rahel Gugerli

School of Applied Psychology, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland, Riggenbachstrasse 16, 4600 Olten, Switzerland {toni.waefler,rahel.gugerli}@fhnw.ch

Abstract. Measuring the effectiveness of measures implemented to improve safety is multi-dimensional. The method "Safety Measure Effectiveness Assessment Tool" (EAT) described in this paper provides guidelines to assess measures. It distinguishes six levels of measure assessment: (i) the measure itself, (ii) the implementation of the measure, (iii) knowledge, skills and attitudes related to the measure, (iv) actual behavior in daily work, (v) conditions promoting or hindering transfer into daily work, and finally (vi) the measure's effectiveness regarding safety. Applying the EAT requires three steps: (i) indicator definition, (ii) descriptive measurement and, (iii) normative assessment.

Keywords: Safety \cdot Safety management system \cdot Human factors \cdot Effectiveness assessment

1 Purpose of the EAT

This paper describes the method "Safety Measure Effectiveness Assessment Tool" (EAT) in summary. A detailed specification of the EAT is published in [1].

Safety Management Systems (SMS) aim at identifying and mitigating risks [2] or at enhancing resilience [3] in order to improve safety. To do so, often safety measures (e.g. optimized standard operation procedures) are implemented. If corresponding measures refer to human factors (HF-measures), normally a change in human behavior is aimed at (e.g. a consequent double-checking). Whether or not the intended effect of a HF-measure really is achieved needs to be monitored by the SMS. However, since human behavior is influenced by numerous factors, checking whether a measure achieves its objectives is challenging. Evaluations may refer to different aspects, such as the implementation of the measure, its impact of the measure, and/or its effectiveness. Focusing on the implementation only is not sufficient as even a successful implementation does not mean that this measure actually is effective as intended. If a measure for example encompasses a prescribed number of lessons in form of classroom instruction for all employees, the assessment of the implementation may consist of taking records whether or not everyone attended the lessons. Of course, a measurement like this is not at all valid for assessing whether the measure achieves the intended effect, i.e. improving safety. Moreover, if indicators are selected in an inadequate way, "managing the measure" may

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 251–255, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_30

sneak in [4]. An example for this is, when backlog in maintenance is selected as a safety performance indicator: Reducing maintenance quality may optimize the backlog without improving safety. Accordingly, focusing on implementation rather than on effectiveness may provoke that the pure implementation of a measure becomes an end in itself and the actual objective of the measures vanishes.

Against this background we developed the EAT, that conceptualizes six assessment levels. On each level the EAT provides guidelines regarding (a) the identification of relevant indicators, (b) the operationalization and (c) the assessment of these indicators. A detailed description of the EAT can be found in [1].

2 Levels of the EAT

Following, the six EAT-levels of measure assessment are described (cf. [1] for details).

Level 1 The HF-Measure. HF-measures build the starting point for effectiveness assessment. HF-measures are designed to achieve specific objectives related to safety, e.g. less occurrences, incidents or accidents when using a specific tool.

Level 2 Implementation. On this level an implementation check examines whether measures were in fact implemented. This is done by verifying the means taken to implement the measures. For example, it can be checked whether posters were distributed in hallways, whether manuals were rewritten, whether workflows and responsibilities were redefined or whether configurations for machines were adjusted. It can also be counted how many participants attended the trainings. Usually, the implementation is easy to measure since most of the implemented means are visible. However, the implementation does not yet make sure that the measure delivers its intended outcome even though it is a necessary precondition.

Level 3 Knowledge, Skills and Attitudes. HF-measures normally require a change in human behavior. Preconditions for behaving in accordance with the HF-measures are corresponding knowledge, skills and attitudes. Knowledge means being aware of the measures as well as their rationales and their directives for behavior. Knowledge can be taught. Skills, which can be trained, refer to the concrete ability to behave as required by the measures. Attitudes towards the measures incorporates whether one agrees with the measures or not. This is assumed to have a strong motivational influence on humans' behavior according to measures. Attitude requires persuasion.

Level 4 Behavior. Behavior is what humans do in a particular situation. Measures related to human factors usually require a change in human behavior, which is assumed to outperform current behavior. Knowledge, skills and attitudes are preconditions for behavior.

Level 5 Transfer Promoters and Barriers. In addition to humans' knowledge, skills and attitudes, transfer promoters and barriers are decisive factors for behavior. These are work conditions determining whether the behavior required by HF-measures can be applied in daily work. While transfer promoters facilitate a certain behavior, transfer barriers hinder it. **Level 6 Outcome.** The outcome of HF-measures corresponds ideally with the pursued objective of the measures. The outcome is only an indication of the effectiveness of measures, since causality is difficult to prove due to the influence of many factors, including luck and coincidence.

3 Steps of the EAT-Application

Applying the EAT requires three steps: (i) indicator development, (ii) descriptive measurement of indicators, and (iii) normative assessment of indicators. Indicators can refer to all levels of measurement as described above. Thereby distinguishing between the descriptive measurement aiming at an objective description of the subject matter on the one hand and a normative assessment aiming at a judgment on the other hand is core of the method. In such a way cognitive biases when applying the EAT should be reduced. Below, the three steps are described (cf. [1] for details).

3.1 Step 1: Indicator Development

The EAT application starts with the measure to be assessed. As measures normally are not directly measurable or appraisable, indicators need to be identified. A simple example for a measure, which will be used to illustrate the following steps, is "decisions need to be double-checked".

Step 1.1: Definition of Indicator. Indicators operationalize constructs, i.e. make them measurable and appraisable. Indicators may be of quantitative (e.g. number of participants in double-check training) or of qualitative type (e.g. behavioral markers when double-checking in daily work). For both types of indicators, characteristic features need to be described (e.g. different ways of double-checking). Indicators can refer to each of the six levels of measure assessment as described above. With reference to "decisions need to be double-checked", examples of questions are listed in the following, for which indicators need to be defined.

Level 1 The HF-Measure. Is the measure actually specified? Is defined, what the measure encompasses? Is clear, what a decision is and what double-checking looks like?

Level 2 Implementation. Is "double-checking" included in standard operation procedures? Are training sessions organized? Do people attend training sessions?

Level 3 Knowledge, Skills and Attitudes. Do employees know the double-checking and its rationales? Do employees know corresponding directives? Do employees have the ability to double-check? What are the employees' subjective attitudes regarding the double-checking and the corresponding behavior?

Level 4 Behavior. What different ways of performing double-checks can be distinguished?

Level 5 Transfer Promoters and Barriers. Does the double-checking fit into existing processes? Are there any existing procedures that are contradictory to double-checking? Are the resources (personnel, time and material) needed for double-checking available? Are supervisors committed to double-checking? Do supervisors provide support for double-checking? Do peers commit to double-checking?

Level 6 Outcome. How can it be recognized whether the pursued objective of the HF-measure is achieved?

Step 1.2 Definition of References. While indicators are required for descriptive purpose, references are needed for normative appraisal. Consequently, references specify for each indicator, acceptable and non-acceptable values. However, the corresponding scale may have more levels (e.g. very poor, poor, acceptable, good, very good ways of double-checking).

3.2 Step 2: Descriptive Measurement of Indicators

Indicator measurement as well as indicator appraisal are data-based. Hence, in step 2 methods for data collection as well as for data evaluation need to be defined. The EAT describes different methods for data collection (e.g. questionnaire surveys, interviews and observations) as well as for data evaluation (e.g. statistics, qualitative content analysis) and refers to corresponding standard quality criteria such as objectivity, reliability, and validity.

3.3 Step 3: Normative Assessment of Indicators

Finally, step 3 of the EAT is the normative appraisal of the measure. For this purpose, the actual state described in step 2 is interpreted using the reference defined in step 1.2. This allows diagnosis such as "The average duration of the double-checks indicates that the double-checks are performed thoroughly in daily work" or "78% of the double-checks are performed as required by the measure. This value is 2% below the objective of at least 80% of the double-checks performed completely thoroughly".

4 Conclusion

The EAT has been developed in close cooperation of researchers with industrial partners. It aims at supporting safety management by defining and applying measurements to systematically assess the effectiveness of HF-measures. It thereby explicitly distinguishes six levels of measure assessment to make sure, that actually effectiveness is assessed and not implementation only. The EAT-guidelines described in [1] are completed by indications regarding implementation of the EAT into existing safety management processes as well as regarding training needs for EAT users.

References

- 1. Waefler, T., Gugerli, R., Nisoli, G.: Integrating Safety-II into Safety Management. vdf Hochschulverlag an der ETH Zürich, Zürich (2021)
- 2. McKinnon, R.C.: Safety Management. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2012)
- 3. Hollnagel, E.: Barriers And Accident Prevention. Ashgate, Surrey (2004)
- 4. Hopkins, A.: Thinking about process safety indicators. Saf. Sci. 47, 460-465 (2009)



Compliance You Said? Why May Safety Critical Operators Deviate from Procedures? A Military Aviation Perspective Comparing Operators from Different Operational Fields

Frederic Detaille^{1,2}(🖂), Rebecca Grant³, Emilie Dessy², Martine Van Puyvelde^{2,4}, and Nathalie Pattyn^{2,5}

¹ Aviation Safety Directorate, Belgian Air Force, Rue de la Grande Lecke, 1320 Beauvechain, Belgium

² VIPER Research Unit, Royal Military Academy, Renaissancelaan 30, 1000 Brussels, Belgium {Martine.Van.Puyvelde,Nathalie.Pattyn}@vub.be

³ Human Systems Integration Group, Faculty of Engineering, Environment and Computing,

Coventry University, Coventry, UK

Rebecca.Grant@coventry.ac.uk

⁴ Brain Body and Cognition Research Group, Department of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Pleinlaan 2, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

⁵ Human Physiology Department, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Pleinlaan 2, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

Abstract. From aviation accident and incident investigation reports, procedural deviations can be considered as recurring causes related to Human Factors. This research aimed at identifying perceptions of military aviation safety critical personnel regarding deviations; and their motivations to deviate. Deviations were suspected to be frequent but rarely reported or discovered. The choice was thus made to call upon sharp-end operators' experience using a self-completion questionnaire to gather quantitative and qualitative data from Aircrew, Air Traffic Management, and Maintainers. The results suggested that the procedures themselves, resources, mission, organizational culture, and organizational environment can be considered as motivations to deviate. The organizational culture was potentially found as predominating over the considered group's professional culture, and deployed operations as catalyzing deviations. A negative label was generally attributed to deviations by respondents. However, they reported that creative problem-solving in acute situations may require to adapt the existing decisional algorithms to reality of complex systems.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Safety management \cdot Military aviation \cdot Procedural deviations \cdot Organizational Culture

1 Introduction

Context related, and organizational factors can drive or lead safety critical operators towards certain decisions in order to get the work done. These decisions could result in

actions at the edge of compliance or clearly deviate from prescribed procedures, potentially causing unwanted consequences or preventing unwanted effects from occurring [1]. The challenge for complex and dynamic work settings and roles is providing rules that standardize task behavior that however also allow to deal with contingencies. This vision on procedural deviations is in line with the two models proposed by Dekker [2] and later reviewed by Hale and Borys [3]. Model 1 sees procedures as the expression of the one best way to perform tasks, including all possible circumstances. Procedures are designed by experts and aim at protecting against errors and mistakes of operators. In this model operators are considered limited in their knowledge and background compared with the experts. Model 2 considers procedures as supporting and guiding knowledgeable operators. Procedures are resources for further adaptation, and not requiring blind compliance; not replacing competence and professional judgement [3]. While Dekker [2] considers the models as exclusive, Hale and Borys [3] reconcile and combine both models.

The present study was performed in a European military aviation organization. The potential military aviation specifics are not explicitly considered in the academic literature. Research on military organization might either not have been performed or not published, and the motivations for procedural deviations in such an organizational context are not known hence the reasons. When facing incidents and accidents the organization's safety department notices that deviation from procedures is one of the causes leading to the occurrence. In most of the cases, the investigation output concerning procedural deviations is limited to what did happen (identifying the procedural deviation) and the 'why' is seldom deeply addressed. This is the direct consequence of the resources' allocation for incident investigations and the traditional approach to incident/ accident investigation focusing on Safety I [4] or Model 1 [2]. The issued recommendations are mostly of the classical 'brief'/re-brief' type or lead to an additional rule or procedure addressing the specific case. Air Traffic Management (ATM) investigation on the other hand does often lead to a revision of the involved procedure. Identifying and understanding potentially specific reasons why safety critical personnel from the organization deviates from procedures would facilitate more suitable remedial and prevention actions possible.

Hudson et.al. [5] suggested four main reasons for violations, i.e., expectation, powerfulness, opportunities and inadequate work planning. Expectation refers to the individual's estimation of the likelihood to deviate. Powerfulness deals with the feeling of superiority, competence and skill based on experience. Opportunities are defined as the possibilities an of an individual to perform better and more efficient along with their subjective evaluation of the improvement. Furthermore, Mc Donald et al. [6] considered that the professional culture influences deviating behavior to compensate for the deficiencies of the organizational system.

Woods et al. [7] proposed categories of cognitive system factors and considered that the operator cognition is the source of operator actions. The suggested categories are knowledge factors, attentional dynamics and goal conflicts. Hollnagel [4] proposed the Efficiency-Thoroughness-Trade-Off (ETTO) where depending on the situation thoroughness is substituted with efficiency to meet targets. Amalberti proposed a similar approach called the sacrificing decisions principle [9].

The aim of the research was to investigate perception towards deviations from procedures and identify reasons leading to deviations in a European military aviation context and to evaluate if operational fields influence the reasons for procedural deviations. It was hypothesized that there would be pronounced differences in the views of the different categories of sharp-end operators, based on SMEs inputs and experience of the researcher in the organization.

2 Method

The selected target sample consisted of sharp-end operators of all qualified and current aircrew, ATC controllers, and maintainers of the organization. They were all active operators (Population = 2098). The members of the target sample were invited by e-mail to participate to the study on a voluntary base by completing a self-report questionnaire based on Hudson et al. [5] and built around sub-scales or clusters, of closed questions organized by the proposed deviation types (i.e., unintentional- Routine- Optimizing-Situational-Exceptional). The participants rated 45 items on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree" (5), with a neutral answer offered, being "neither agree nor disagree" (3). To account for some military specificities, the instrument was modified by using the word 'procedure' (as a generic term to cover guidelines, rules, procedures and work instructions) instead of 'rule'. References to financial incentives were removed. Open questions on perception of organizational culture, existing set of procedures, deployed operations, and conflicting goals were added to elicit qualitative data. Questions on examples of deviations were part of the open questions. The "Hudson et al." questionnaire was originally developed for the North Sea Offshore industry. Using it in another industry was perceived as a learning opportunity.

Data were analyzed quantitatively (One-way ANOVA and Tukey HSD as post hoc test, using SPSS). The perception towards deviations per deviation type and personnel categories was compared. Qualitative data were subjected to a Thematic Analysis (TA). The full process of the TA is out of the scope of the present paper/article.

3 Results

A total of 308 participants completed the questionnaire resulting in a total response rate of 14.68%. Information on the sample can be found in Table 1; and the quantitative results in Table 2 hereunder.

Qualitative Data Analysis. Participants responding to the open questions provided in total 20,093 words in their answers. From those answers a total of 881 statements were found as relating to procedural deviations leading to the final selected themes: Procedure, Resources, Mission, Organizational Culture,, Organizational environment (including leadership and supervision). The Thematic Analysis results are expanded in the discussion hereafter.

| Personnel category | Response rate | N | Provided qualitative data | Experience in years | Ever deployed |
|--------------------|---------------|-----|------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------|
| Aircrew | 17.36% | 71 | 68% | 1–3 to 39–42 M = 10–12 | 88.5% |
| ATM | 12.40% | 15 | 67% | 1-3 to 28-30 M = 19-21 | 66.6% |
| Maintainers | 14.16% | 222 | 54% | 1-3 to 39-42 M = 28-30 | 79.5% |

Table 1. Composition of the sample per personnel category, including response rate, experience, deployment history, and proportion answering open questions in the instrument.

Table 2. Perception towards types of deviations and personnel category on a five-point agreement scale ranging from 1, strongly disagree to 5, strongly agree. Table includes one-way between personnel categories ANOVA results, Tukey HSD when applicable, and effect size per deviation type.

| Deviation type | Personnel category | Mean | Standard deviation | ANOVA | Tukey HSD | Effect Size |
|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------|
| Unintentional- clarity | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 2.88 2.83 3.25 | 1.27 0.63 0.62 | F(2,305) = 11.10 p < .001 | Maintainers > < Aircrew | $\eta^2 = 0.07$ |
| Unintentional- availability | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 3.17 2.89 3.35 | 0.67 0.72 0.57 | F(2,305) = 5.657; p = .004 | Maintainers > < ATM | $\eta^2 = 0.04$ |
| Routine | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 2.99 2.93 3.21 | 0.63 0.69 0.62 | F(2,305) = 4.184; p = .016 | Maintainers >< Aircrew | $\eta^2 = 0.03$ |
| Situational | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 3.32 2.96 3.57 | 0.68 0.60 0.67 | F(2,305) = 8.856; p < .001 | Maintainers > < Aircrew and ATM | $\eta^2 = 0.055$ |
| Optimizing | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 2.58 2.71 2.68 | 0.55 0.38 0.47 | F(2,305) = 2.238; p = .296 | - | - |
| Exceptional | Aircrew ATM Maintainers | 2.72 2.68 2.99 | 0.65 0.40 0.61 | F(2,305) = 6.399; p = .002 | Maintainers > < Aircrew | $\eta^2 = 0.04$ |

4 Discussion

The results indicated some statistically significant differences between categories concerning perceptions on procedural deviations. Differences were present for all types of deviations, except for optimizing deviations, and were differences between Aircrew and Maintainers and/ or between ATM and Maintainers. However, the noticed differences were small. This could be considered as an indication that the views on procedural deviations may be for the most part influenced by the organizational culture, compared to a lower influence of respondents' function and professional culture. The organizational possibly taking over the professional culture was unexpected from experience in the organization, hence further investigation is of interest. In the present research, organizational culture was not formally measured. Replication of the research in another similar military aviation, including a structured measurement of the organizational culture, is recommended. Hudson et al. [5] consider their model as general and propose that the relative importance of the specific factors, or elements influencing the deviations types, depends on the local culture. As a matter of fact, local culture would only influence views in a specific category (Aircrew, ATM, Maintainers) by determining the scores for the considered deviation types. Mc Donald et al. [6] suggested that the professional culture compensate for the deficiencies of the organizational system. The relative unanimity across groups indicated that the cultural influence could be found at a level higher than the local or professional culture of the group. A possible predominance of the organizational culture on professional culture could be explained by the fact that operators from different fields do join the Air Force as from a young age and are all trained for their role inside the organization and do remain in the institution for their entire career.

The rest of the discussion is based on the qualitative data. Most respondents reported issues with the *procedures* themselves. Participants considered them as too numerous, making it impossible to know them all. Operators expect somehow to find themselves cutting corners due to the procedures as they offer many situational opportunities to deviate. Motivated personnel will find opportunities more easily than unmotivated operators [5]. Procedures were reported by Maintainers as being difficult to understand; and referring to other procedures by all categories. Maintainers considered that no system exists to check if people understand procedures before they are used; and Aircrew and Maintainers did report coming across procedures they did not know about. This situation likely influences the mental model operators develop about the tasks they must perform. Woods et al. [7] suggested that bringing knowledge to bear effectively in problem solving and task execution is a process that involves knowledge content, knowledge organization, and activation. Operators confronted with interlinked and difficult to understand procedures will develop their own mental model of the tasks at hand from a 'buggy knowledge' [7]. According to the respondents from all categories, procedures do not always describe the best way of working and infringements of some procedures occur at all time. Those views on procedural deviations show the existing difference between 'work-as-imagined' and 'work-as-done' [4]. The actual conditions often differ from the ideal ones. Operators then engage in a positive procedural adaptation process to get the work done [2][4]. The results illustrated also the different views on procedures adopted by management and operators. Management mainly considers procedures as the key to safety and performance; and strict compliance is expected across the organization. However, on occasions, depending on the circumstances, or conditions, managers do nevertheless support procedures not being followed. Operators on their side rely on professional judgement and competence and less, or not, on formal rules [3] while considering that procedures apply to all and not only the less experienced workers. Hudson et al. [5] proposed 'powerfulness' as a major component leading to deviating behavior. Powerfulness means that operators have the feeling of competence and skill to deviate from procedures based on experience. Deviations are in some situations unavoidable and recognized as such by operators and management. Hudson et al. [5] categorized this component of deviating behavior as 'powerlessness', where there appears to be no choice. Respondents did put some negative label forward regarding deviations but recognized that they are necessary to keep the job going.

The Aircrew and Maintainers reported a lack of available *resources* (personnel, equipment) as influencing the need to deviate. To meet organizational targets, operators develop alternative methods sometimes becoming routine practices and norms. The expectation of having to deviate from procedures lowers again the threshold for deviating. Hudson et al. [5] consider that 'expectation' influences deviating behavior by lowering the threshold of deviating.

The more important the *mission* is perceived by operators the more they are driven to succeed. The most important missions were identified as being delivering an operational payload, medical evacuation and (V)VIP flights. This attitude directly influences powerfulness and motivation, and subsequently procedural deviations. The actual situation or conditions, when differing from the assumptions made for procedure development, lead to deviating from procedures. Unplanned and unanticipated dynamically changing situations lead to possible deviations. Maintainers reported that time pressure was the main driving factor behind procedural deviations linked to the situation. No specific mission importance was reported by engineers. Time pressure is not influenced by how important the mission is. The Efficiency-Thoroughness Trade-Off proposed by Hollnagel [4] come here into play. However, time pressure (induced by improper or unstable planning) generates goal conflicts in operators as they then must choose between safety and efficiency.

The *organizational culture* based on initiative, flexibility, and safety was described by participants from all categories as a 'can do culture'. Operators are driven by the desire to meet the organizational targets. As from the initial stage of training, autonomy and initiative are emphasized (especially for the Aircrew category). Therefore, being motivated and goal oriented, despite working in an organization tending to be ultra-safe as proposed by Amalberti [9] leads to procedural adaptation and can make those becoming a common practice. Dekker [2, 8] considers procedural adaptation as an essential principle for organizational evolution and success.

At the *organizational environment*, leadership and supervision level, a 'disconnection' between management and operators was reported, illustrating the different views on procedural compliance. Operators reported perceiving direct or indirect pressure to deviate from procedures, inducing conflicting goals and leading them to trade-offs The ATM respondents reported that conflicting goals or conflicts of interest might emerge from military ATM peculiarity as the organization is simultaneously 'regulator' and 'service provider'. Woods et al. [7] propose that multiple, simultaneously active goals are the rule rather than the exception for domains where expertise is involved. Conflicts arise from the relationships between different goals. Competition between goals generated at the organizational level can be an important factor in the breakdown of safety barriers; and operators are facing a responsibility-authority double bind when they have the responsibility for the outcome but lack the authority to take the actions they see as necessary [7].

Throughout the study, respondents from all groups, reported an increase in deviations during deployed operations due to different combining factors, such as individual factors like the drive to succeed, lack of resources, the conditions being different from the procedure's assumptions. Deployed operations can be considered as a catalyst for procedural deviations and illustrate further that the actual circumstances have a definite impact on procedural deviations.

5 Conclusion and Summary

The perception towards procedural deviations across the considered categories (Aircrew, ATM, and Maintainers showed little differences contrary to initial hypotheses. In our sample the organizational culture may take precedence on professional culture when considering procedural deviations. The identified motivations for deviations in the studied military aviation organization were the procedures themselves, the perceived importance of the mission, the actual conditions, the organizational culture, the lack of resources, individual differences; and the organizational environment, including leadership and supervision.

Deployed operations act as a catalyst for most deviation types in a military organization when the deployed personnel must adapt and move from an ultra-safe model organization to a resilient model organization.

Deviating from procedure is commonly negatively connoted and was reported as such by most of the respondents. The negative judgmental approach to deviations based on visible negative outcomes masks the reality of all the daily procedural adaptations and trade-offs made by operators to successfully meet the organizational targets. Although the considered organization invests resources in personnel training on relevant operational tasks, procedural deviations are left to the individual in the organization; left on their own and trying to make the best out of their knowledge and judgement. The organization might benefit from a structured "deviation education" aiming at integrating for example risk management, crew or maintenance resource management, and decision-making education to improve performance and resilience of the organization. Furthermore, replicating the research in similar military aviation organizations is recommended to develop specific knowledge on such institutions and identify the influence of organizational culture on procedural deviations in military aviation.

References

- 1. Tsagkas, V., Nathanael, D., Marmaras, N.: A pragmatic mapping of factors behind deviating acts in aircraft maintenance. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. **130**, 104–114 (2014)
- 2. Dekker, S.W.A.: Ten Questions about Human Error: A New View of Human Factors and System Safety. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005)

- 3. Hale, A., Borys, D.: Working to rule, or working safely? part 1: a state-of-the-art review. Saf. Sci. 55, 207–221 (2013)
- 4. Hollnagel, E.: Safety-I and Safety-II: The Past and Future of Safety Management. Ashgate, Farnham (2014)
- Hudson, P.T.W., Verschuur, W.L.G., Lawton, R., Parker, D., Reason, J.T.: Bending the Rules II: Why do people break rules or fail to follow procedures? and What can you do about it? The Violation Manual Version 1.3. Leiden: Universiteit Leiden (1998)
- McDonald, N., Corrigan, S., Ward, M.: Cultural and Organizational Factors in System safety: Good People in Bad Systems. HCI-02 Proceeding (2002). https://www.aaai.org/Papers/HCI/ 2002/HCI02-033.pdf. 15 June 2017
- 7. Woods, D.D., Dekker, S., Cook, R., Johannesen, L., Sarter, N.: Behind Human Error, 2nd edn. Ashgate, Farnham (2010)
- 8. Dekker, S.W.A.: The Field Guide to Understanding 'Human Error,' 3rd edn. Ashgate, Farnham (2014)
- 9. Amalberti, R.: Navigating Safety: Necessary Compromises and Trade-Offs –Theory and Practice. Springer, Dordrecht (2013)



Prevention Through Design: Clients' Pre-construction Health and Safety Arrangements

Ebenezer Adaku^{1(\Big)}, Nii A. Ankrah², and Issaka E. Ndekugri¹

¹ School of Architecture and Built Environment, University of Wolverhampton, Wulfruna Street, Wolverhampton WV1 1LY, UK {E.Adaku, I.E.Ndekugri}@wlv.ac.uk ² School of Engineering and Applied Science, Aston University, Birmingham B4 7ET, UK n.ankrah@aston.ac.uk

Abstract. Proactive management of health and safety risk often minimises illhealth, injuries and fatalities on projects. Hence, in some jurisdictions like the UK, statutory duties are placed on project Clients to make suitable arrangements for projects to be carried out without risk to health and safety. This study surveys Clients and practitioners in the UK construction industry in focus group workshops to establish seven dominant practices being employed by Clients in response to this obligation under the health and safety Regulations.

Keywords: Design for occupational health and safety · Pre-construction · Project clients · Health and safety arrangement practices · Construction

1 Introduction

The nexus between procurement and design decisions upstream of the construction supply chain and occupational safety and health (OSH) risks downstream of same has been articulated in literature and practice for many decades. This connection was informed by the lack of proactiveness on the part of parties of the construction supply chain, particularly parties upstream of the chain, in managing construction risk and the resultant poor performance of OSH risk management on construction projects [1–5]. There is therefore a call by scholars and practitioners for project stakeholders to accept responsibility, collectively, to minimise OSH risks on construction projects with the view that such an obligation must start from the commencement of the construction product development process [2, 4, 6, 7]. This understanding underpins the Prevention through Design (PtD) philosophy [1, 2].

The PtD philosophy informed the European Council's response to the OSH challenges of the construction industry with the adoption of Council Directive 1992/57/EEC on the implementation of minimum safety and health requirements at temporary or mobile construction sites. In 1994, the UK which was then a full member of the EU, transposed the Directive into UK legislation as part of the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 1994 (CDM 1994). These Regulations have since been revised twice with the current version being CDM 2015. The Regulations impose statutory health and safety duties on the traditional members of construction project stakeholders (clients, designers and contractors) to ensure that the design and production of construction products are carried out without risks to health and safety. Clients as initiators and purchasers of construction products have dominant positions on projects to influence OSH risks on projects [8, 9]. Hence, the CDM 2015 Regulations require clients to make necessary health and safety arrangements to ensure projects are inherently safe. However, the Regulations are not clear as to what specific practices should be embarked on by clients in compliance with this requirement. Thus, this study focuses on the pre-construction phase of the project development process to explore the range of practices in place, in the UK construction industry, regarding clients' health and safety arrangements as required by the Regulations.

2 Method

The study employed a qualitative research approach in undertaking this probe. A qualitative research approach is considered suitable for studying a phenomenon, including obtaining data in the form of verbal conversion from a relatively smaller number of individuals so as to capture their views on a situation [10].

Specifically, data was obtained through fourteen focus group discussions (FGDs) over a period of six weeks with over seventy practitioners in the UK construction industry with backgrounds as clients, designers, contractors as well as health and safety professionals. A FGD approach was employed, because the study's aim was to: understand and not infer; determine the range of views and not generalize; and offer insights into how the research participants recognise health and safety arrangement practices by clients – particularly at the pre-construction phase – in response to regulatory requirements [11].

The participants for the focus group workshops were purposively selected from the UK construction industry. This offered the researchers opportunity to obtain participants who were *information-rich* and could offer relevant information regarding the phenomenon being investigated [10, 12]. This study formed part of a larger investigation on how, generally, the UK construction industry complies with construction health and safety regulations and thus had partnership with professional bodies and industry partners. As a result, to recruit participants for the FGD workshops, leadership of the professional bodies and industry partners were contacted to publicise the FGD workshops within their networks. Interested participants were subsequently written to and subsequently made to complete a consent form to join the FGD workshops. Each FGD workshop was recorded to capture a vivid discussion of the session.

The data analysis process involved: (a) transcription of the FGD recordings, (b) critical reading of the transcripts to gain insights of main patterns embedded in the data, (c) loading of FGD transcripts into Nvivo version 12 software programme, (d) generation of codes and categories based on the study aim by means of an inductive coding strategy in an Nvivo environment, (e) development of higher order themes through clustering of lower level categories [13].

3 Results and Discussions

A word cloud of the 75 most frequently used words during the FGD workshops was initially produced (Fig. 1). The diagram provides an overview of the different words and frequency of use (as revealed by the size) in the FGD workshop data. Though the participants reflected their experiences regarding Clients health and safety arrangements or practice, they often expressed their views with the word *I think*, highlighting the subjectiveness embedded in qualitative inquiry [10]. *Yeah* was used frequently in the FGD workshops by the participants in support of colleague participants' views of indicated practice and as a reflection of the high degree of agreeableness among workshop participants.



Fig. 1. Word cloud diagram of 75 most used words in the FGD workshops

As indicated in Table 1 and the *project map* in Fig. 2, the health and safety arrangements of Clients, in the UK construction industry, in response to CDM Regulations 2015 are classified into seven categories as: dependence on third party health and safety arrangements such as Principal Designers, CDM advisors, and health and safety consultants; reliance on in-house health and safety teams and systems; early project collaboration meetings; health and safety agenda setting through client brief; reliance on project managers; use of contractual arrangements between project participants; use of in-house health and safety teams and structures with support from external health and safety consultants.

| Table 1. | Categories of Clients' | health and safety | arrangement | practices | in compliance | with C | CDM |
|----------|------------------------|-------------------|-------------|-----------|---------------|--------|-----|
| 2015 | | | | | | | |

| Categories | Sub-categories |
|--|---|
| Dependence on third party health and safety arrangements such as Principal Designers, CDM advisors, and health and safety consultants | Appointment of CDM advisors to perform Client roles (19) Use of Principal Designers (PDs) (16) Use of health and safety consultants (3) |
| Reliance on in-house health and safety teams and systems | Design management plan or CDM management plan (13) Setting up of in-house health and safety team (7) Development of health and safety policy (2) Development of loop system to utilise design health and safety feedback Award scheme for best health and safety practice or innovation |
| Early project collaboration meetings | Client CDM introduction meeting among project participants prior to commencement of design (5) Client pre-construction rehearsal and constructability review meeting before construction phase |
| Health and safety agenda setting through client brief | CDM strategy brief (3)Client brief (2) |
| Reliance on project managers | Project manager coordinating design review meetings on behalf of Client (2) Project manager listed as Client and assuming Client health and safety duties |
| Use of contractual arrangements between project participants | Health and Safety duty requirements in terms of appointment of project parties Client inclusion of site visits terms in appointment contracts of contractors |
| Use of in-house health and safety teams and structures with support from external health and safety consultants | Client internal team carries out Principal Designer role with support from health and safety advisors Project development and design managers in charge of health and safety with external advisory support |

Note: Figures in parentheses denote the number of references to such practices by the FGD workshop participants

3.1 Dependence on Third Party Health and Safety Arrangements such as Principal Designers, CDM Advisors, and Health and Safety Consultants

Under this practice. Clients often engage the services of other entities (PDs, CDM) advisors, and health and safety advisors) competent in the management of OSH on construction projects to assist them to fulfill their health and safety duties under Regulations. PDs are required by the Regulations, particularly for projects involving more than one contractor on site, to be appointed by the Client to coordinate project health and safety matters at the pre-construction phase of the project development process. On the other hand, CDM advisors as well as health and safety consultants have no such statutory roles under the Regulations. As part of Clients duty to make suitable arrangements for the management of projects without risk to health and safety, Clients often fall on these third party entities to among other things, advise Clients or make them aware of their duties under the Regulations; take active roles in the preparation of relevant pre-construction information and their subsequent dissemination to relevant project parties for optimal OSH decisions along the project supply chain; and advising clients on the appointments of project parties with relevant health and safety skills, knowledge and experience or organisational capability. As shown in Table 1, this practice appears to be most common approach in the industry with the most references by the FGD workshops participants. 19 and 16 references for the appointment of CDM advisors to perform Client roles and use of Principal Designers, respectively.

3.2 Reliance on In-House Health and Safety Teams and Systems

Informed project Clients often have well established in-house health and safety teams and systems for ensuring that the Client's duty of making suitable arrangements for projects is complied with under Regulations. Such a practice, as indicated in Table 1 includes a number of approaches. First, Clients develop design management plans or CDM management plans as part of measures to comply with their duties under the Regulations. The design or CDM management plans basically considers what the Client and other dutyholders duties are and what the Client needs to do to ensure all dutyholders are fulfilling their duties under the Regulations. A checklist is made of them as a control document during the management of health and safety matters at the pre-construction phase of the project development process. This, in addition to the appointment of CDM advisors and use of PDs, seems to be a popular practice with a reference of 13 by the workshops participants. Second, Clients set up core in-house health and safety teams to support the preparation of pre-construction information and coordinate all health and safety processes at the pre-construction phase of the project development process. This practice is often common with large infrastructure firms which have such departments embedded in their corporate structures. Third, health and safety policies and CDM manuals are developed and enforced among project parties by Clients as ways of making appropriate health and safety arrangements for projects. Fourth, some project Clients have feedback and loop systems to capture learning and lessons on prior designs and construction to benefit current and future project designs and implementation. Further, as a way of encouraging the right behaviours and decisions in respect of OSH among project parties, particularly at the pre-construction stage, some Clients have instituted



Fig. 2. Project map of clients' pre-construction health and safety arrangements categories

internal and innovation award schemes. These last two practices (loop or feedback system and OSH award schemes) appear not to be common in the industry and are still at the embryonic stage.

3.3 Early Project Collaboration Meetings

In compliance with the Regulations to make suitable arrangements so projects can be carried out without risk to health and safety, some Clients act proactively and organize two meetings at the pre-construction phase to orient parties along the project supply chain in respect of OSH. These meetings include Client CDM introduction meeting among project participants prior to commencement of design and Client pre-construction rehearsal and constructability review meeting immediately before the construction phase.

3.4 Health and Safety Agenda Setting Through Client Brief

As indicated in Table 1, this practice comes in two forms. Use of Client brief and CDM strategy brief as part of the tools for ensuring suitable health and safety arrangements on construction projects by Clients. The Client brief is the expression of the Client requirements regarding the development of the construction project and often in there, Clients

indicate their aspirations and commitments regarding health and safety management to provide direction from the outset of the project development process. This document generally is from the Client to the lead designer. However, to provide further details of project OSH risks and to ensure somewhat inclusiveness among project parties upstream of the supply chain, currently a CDM strategy brief has been introduced. This document often receives inputs from the Client, the lead designer, the PD, and any other project party appointed. In addition to the general Client requirements and how the project will be managed, this document also identifies and indicates key project hazards and OSH risks to support the optimal health and safety decisions of parties along the project supply chain.

3.5 Reliance on Project Managers

Another variant of practice regarding Clients health and safety arrangements for projects is Clients' dependence on project managers. This practice manifests in two forms as Clients relying on project managers to convene and coordinate design review meetings as well as Clients listing project managers as Clients and letting them assume Clients health and safety duties on projects. Under this practice, Clients assume that project managers have requisite health and safety skills, knowledge and experience or organisational capability, which is often not the case. This can undermine project OSH risk management performance.

3.6 Use of Contractual Arrangements between Project Participants

Clients employ contractual measures, as part of suitable project health and safety arrangements, to have project parties comply with Regulations for optimal OSH risk management performance on projects. Hence, specific health and safety requirement terms are included in the contracts of appointments of project parties. This gives power to the Client to effectively control activities of project parties, particularly from a health and safety perspective.

3.7 Use of In-house Health and Safety Teams and Structures with Support from External Health and Safety Consultants

Depending on the capability of some Clients, there is often the practice of blending both internal and external competence regarding Clients' suitable health and safety arrangements on projects. This normally takes the form of Client internal team carrying out Principal Designer role with support from health and safety advisors as well as inhouse project development and design managers being in charge of health and safety with external advisory support.

4 Conclusions

The role of Clients in ensuring optimal OSH risk management performance on projects cannot be discounted. Hence Regulations place Clients at the centre of affairs regarding

the management of health and safety by requiring them to make suitable arrangements for projects such that work can be carried out without risk to health and safety. The practices Clients adopt to comply with this duty, as required by the Regulations, are not clear in construction health and safety management literature. This study has sought to empirically unearthed seven main practices by which Clients make arrangements for project health and safety with the dominant one being dependence on third party health and safety arrangements such as PDs, CDM advisors, and health and safety consultants. The identified range of practices serves as a guide for most clients who are faced with uncertainty as to how to comply with the Regulations from the perspective of pre-construction health and safety arrangements.

Acknowledgments. This research has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 837721.

References

- 1. Szymberski, R.T.: Construction project safety planning. Tappi J. 80(11), 69–74 (1997)
- Gambatese, J., Behm, M., Hinze, J.W.: Viability of designing for construction worker safety. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 131(9), 1029–1036 (2005)
- Behm, M.: Linking construction fatalities to the design for construction safety concept. Saf. Sci. 43(8), 589–611 (2005)
- Lingard, H., Saunders, L., Pirzadeh, P., Blismas, N., Kleiner, B., Wakefield, R.: The relationship between pre-construction decision-making and the effectiveness of risk control: testing the time-safety influence curve. Eng. Constr. Arch. Manage. 22(1), 108–124 (2015)
- 5. Adaku, E., Ankrah, N.A., Ndekugri, I.E.: Design for occupational safety and health: a theoretical framework for organisational capability. Saf. Sci. **133**, 105005 (2021)
- 6. Hare, B., Cameron, I., Duff, A.R.: Exploring the Integration of health and safety with preconstruction planning. Eng. Constr. Arch. Manag. **13**(5), 438–450 (2006)
- Cooke, T., Lingard, H., Blismas, N., Stranieri, A.: ToolSHeDTM: the development and evaluation of a decision support tool for health and safety in construction design. Eng. Constr. Arch. Manage. 15(4), 336–351 (2008)
- 8. Eban, G.: Major construction projects at airports: client leadership of health and safety. J. Airport Manage. **10**(2), 131–137 (2016)
- Lingard, H., Oswald, D., Le Tiendung, T.: Embedding occupational health and safety in the procurement and management of infrastructure projects: institutional logics at play in the context of new public management. Constr. Manage. Econ. 37(10), 567–583 (2019)
- 10. Creswell, J.W.: Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. Sage Publications, Los Angeles (2012)
- 11. Krueger, R.A.: Focus Groups: A Practical Guide For Applied Research. Sage, London (1994)
- Hennink, M., Hutter, I., Bailey, A.: Qualitative Research Methods, 2nd edn. Sage, London (2020)
- Thomas, D.R.: A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Amer. J. Eval. 27(2), 237–246 (2006)



Understanding Systemic Interactions and Feedbacks in a One-Health

Marta Vasconcelos Pinto^{1,2}, Manuela Vaz-Velho¹, Carla Ramos¹, and Joana Santos¹(\boxtimes)

¹ CISAS, Escola Superior de Tecnologia e Gestão, Instituto Politécnico de Viana do Castelo, Rua Escola Industrial e Comercial de Nun'Álvares, 4900-347 Viana do Castelo, Portugal joana@estg.ipvc.pt

² Instituto Politécnico de Coimbra, ESTESC–Coimbra Health School, Saúde Ambiental, Coimbra, Portugal

Abstract. Food safety and occupational health problems, when occur, usually as episodic and isolated events, often overlapping one to other. Hence the challenge is to make the interconnectivity of processes and anthropogenic influence understandable. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) monitoring in zoonotic and commensal bacteria in animal-related occupations and food should be connected to occupational biological risk assessment. While many people may be willing to accept the plausibility of the above example, it is more complex to make them understanding that all activities interacting in the workplace imply an increased risk to workers. As small and medium-sized enterprises are the most common in agriculture and food sector AMR is not a concern in risks prevention. Salmonellosis has been one of the most common disease regarding zoonoses in Europe and concerning to AMR, the latest data from humans, animals and food reveal that a large proportion of Salmonella spp. bacteria are multidrug-resistant. The occupational safety professional is always facing gaps in hazard assessment of the risks engendered by zoonoses due to the lack of information on biohazards in the workplace.

Keywords: AMR \cdot Food safety \cdot Occupational health \cdot One health

1 Introduction

One Health is a collaborative, multisectoral, and transdisciplinary approach working at local, regional, national, and global levels to achieve optimal health and well-being outcomes. Recognizing the interconnections between people, animals, plants and their shared environment that can contribute to the emergence, evolution and spread of antibiotic resistance and the health of these contiguous habitats, and may represent a risk to public health [1, 2]. This terminology was first used in 2003–2004 [3] and remains so relevant and timeless. It has become increasingly clear, over the past decades, that the majority of zoonoses, foodborne outbreaks or antimicrobial resistance (AMR) cannot be dissociated from biological risks exposure. A collaborative and multi-disciplinary approach, prioritizing interventions and cutting across boundaries of animal, human, and

environmental health, is needed [4, 5] and biological risk assessment in a One-Health perspective should be undertake.

In 2007, occupational risks related to global epidemics and emergence of drugresistant organisms were mentioned by the "European Agency for Safety and Health, at Work's Expert Forecast on Emerging Biological Risks related to Occupational Safety and Health", the first and second most important emerging risks. In 2021, we are living a pandemic caused by SARS-CoV-2 and AMR is, nowadays, one of the biggest threats to global health, food security and development [6, 7]. Worldwide, an estimated 320,000 workers die annually from work-related infectious diseases, 5,000 of whom in the EU [8]. Biological risk assessment is usually neglected by the occupational health professionals due to the lack of systematized information about the biological agents involved [9]. In consequence, risks engendered by zoonoses and AMR, in the food sector and in the primary sector (a world where small and medium-sized enterprises account for the majority of businesses), are not included in the risk assessment. With this concern in 2017, European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) and member state authorities carried out a study by tackle the risks posed by the use of antibiotics and AMR in animal population's, and their links to human health to gather evidence about some topics such as: i) risk perceptions on the human health impact of antimicrobial resistance in animals; ii) risk for occupational groups (e.g. veterinarians, farmers, meat handlers); iii) risk of transmission of antibiotic-resistant bacteria to consumers via food [10]. High-risk occupations are regarding animal-related occupations and arable farming [8].

2 Exposure to Multiple AMR Bacterial Pathogens

The administration of therapeutic and sub-therapeutic doses of antimicrobials in animals, including the nontherapeutic use of antimicrobials (to improve feed efficiency and prevent infection), leads to the propagation and shedding of substantial amounts of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria-both pathogens, which can directly and indirectly infect humans, and commensals, which may carry transferable resistance determinants across species borders and reach humans through multiple routes of transfer [11, 12]. It also has implications for both, food safety and food security and the economic wellbeing of millions of farming households. Food chain plays an important role in the development and spread of AMR. The presence of AMR microorganisms in agricultural production systems and food chains are potential routes of exposure for everyone [13]. How can we relate the use of antimicrobials in primary production (livestock and agriculture) with food production and retail? Food processing uses products from primary production that were exposed to antibiotics and biocides (e.g., disinfectants, food and feed preservatives, or decontaminants) with therapeutic effects (or not) in primary production and then go to retail. In other words, taking this cycle into account, we have occupational exposure to AMR bacteria in all stages of the food chain and, a posteriori, the consumption of contaminated food or with antibiotic residues. Ingestion of contaminated food can give rise to an infection that must be treated and the human is in contact with AMR bacteria and the therapy may be compromised. Ingestion of food with residues of antibiotics affects the microbiome of humans with the incorporation of AMR bacteria.

Strategies aimed at reducing or minimizing the emergence and dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in primary production, food processing and retail is a top priority. Although the number of interventions for antimicrobial resistance is increasing but current research has major limitations in terms of efforts, methods, scope, quality, and reporting [14].

2.1 Salmonellosis

Salmonella spp., is a Gram-negative bacterium belonging to the *Enterobacteriaceae* family and currently includes only two species with more than 2,600 serovars and is responsible for a disease called Salmonellosis [15, 16].

Salmonella enterica serovars Typhi, Paratyphi A, Paratyphi B, and Paratyphi C may be referred to collectively as typhoidal Salmonella, whereas other serovars are grouped as nontyphoidal Salmonella (NTS) [17]. Regarding to AMR, the latest data from humans, animals and food show that a large proportion of Salmonella bacteria are multidrugresistant (resistant to three or more antimicrobials). Workers in contact with animals have a highest risk of infection by a variety of Salmonella serovars since the overall and high antibiotic use in food-producing animals have an impact on the occurrence of resistance and that most antimicrobial-resistant Salmonella infections are acquired from eating contaminated foods [18, 19].

In humans, NTS *Salmonella* strains may be host generalists, infecting or colonizing a broad range of animals, or tend to be host-specific to particular animal species and is transmitted predominantly by commercially produced food contaminated by animal feces, and it usually causes a self-limited enterocolitis with diarrhea non-typhoidal. Whereas typhoidal salmonellas are human host-adapted organisms that cause typhoid fever and paratyphoid fever and human host-adapted organisms that cause typhoid fever and paratyphoid fever [17].

Human salmonellosis is usually characterized by acute onset of fever, abdominal pain, nausea, and sometimes vomiting, after an incubation period of 12–36 h. Symptoms are often mild, most infections lasting a few days, but, in some patients, the infection may be more serious and the associated dehydration can be life-threatening. When Salmonella causes systemic infections, such as septicemia, effective antimicrobials are essential for treatment. Salmonellosis has also been associated with long-term and sometimes chronic sequelae, e.g. reactive arthritis. Mortality is usually low, and less than 1% of reported Salmonella cases have been fatal [20].

Antimicrobial resistance is increasing in *Salmonella* strains, a finding that has important public health implications and the antimicrobial drugs to which food animals are exposed provide selective pressure that leads to the appearance and persistence of resistant strains [19].

Salmonellosis is the second most common zoonotic disease after Campylobacteriosis in the EU, and the overall economic burden of human salmonellosis could be as high as \in 3 billion a year [21]. Although, regarding data on human Salmonellosis infections the numbers presented in Table 1 may have a *bias* due to the lack of harmonization in reporting the data in the earlier years by the EU Member States, but it can be seen a reduction in the occurrence of the disease around 40% between 2008 and 2019 years.

Between 2008 and 2019, most of the reported total foodborne outbreaks were caused by *Salmonella* spp., and only in 2014 the largest number of reported food-borne outbreaks was caused by viruses (20.4% of all outbreaks), which overtook Salmonella (20.0% of all outbreaks) as the most common cause of outbreaks in the EU.

| Year | Cases in humans | Foodborne outbreaks | Source |
|------|-----------------|------------------------|--------|
| 2008 | 131,468 | 5,332 | [22] |
| 2009 | 108,614 | 5,550 | [23] |
| 2010 | 99,020 | 5,262 | [24] |
| 2011 | 95,548 | 5,648 | [25] |
| 2012 | 91,034 | 5,363 | [20] |
| 2013 | 82,694 | 5,191 | [26] |
| 2014 | 88,715 | 5,251 | [27] |
| 2015 | 94,625 | 4,362 | [28] |
| 2016 | 94,530 | 4,786 | [29] |
| 2017 | 91,662 | 5086 | [30] |
| 2018 | 91,857 | 5,363 | [18] |
| 2019 | 88,000 | 5,175 | [31] |

Table 1. Evolution of salmonellosis in humans and total foodborne outbreaks

Additionally to zoonotic diseases and foodborne outbreaks, the expansion of antibiotic resistance determinants among human, animal and environmental microbiomes have the potential to alter bacterial population genetics at local and global levels, thereby modifying the structure, and eventually the productivity, of microbiomes where antibioticresistant bacteria can expand and thereof AMR has become a major threat worldwide, especially in countries with inadequate sanitation and low antibiotic regulation [2, 5].

Since 2005 EFSA first and then joined with ECDC reports data on AMR in Salmonella from humans, animals and food. In January of 2021, EFSA published a guidance for reporting 2020 antimicrobial resistance in food-producing animals and foodstuffs derived thereof to harmonise and streamline the reporting made by the Member States to ensure that the antimicrobial resistance data collected are relevant and easy to analyse at the European Union level. This guidance also applies to *Salmonella* spp. and it is mandatory to report at the serovar level but reporting the phagetypes of *Salmonella Enteriditis* and *Salmonella Typhimurium* is optional. The mandatory antimicrobials to be reported are: Ampicillin, Azithromycin, Cefotaxime, Ceftazidime, Chloramphenicol, Ciprofloxacin, Colistin, Gentamicin, Meropenem, Nalidixic acid, Sulfamethoxazole, Tetracycline, Tigecycline and Trimethopri. All randomly selected isolates of *Salmonella* spp. recovered from non-selective media, that are resistant to cefotaxime or

ceftazidime or meropenem, are further tested with a second panel of antimicrobial substances Cefepime, Cefoxitin, Ceftazidime, Ceftazidime + clavulanic acid, Cefotaxime, Cefotaxime + clavulanic acid, Ertapenem, Imipenem, Meropenem and Temocillin [32].

AMR in non-typhoidal Salmonella and Salmonella serovar Typhimurium has been studied in animals, such as poultry, swine and cattle, humans and the environment [33–40]. Santos et al. (2020) reported the lack of harmonization of methodologies to research and count biological agents was notorious [9] and the same can be mentioned to AMR detection although EU in Commission Implementing Decision 2020/1729¹ in accordance with Directive 2003/99/EC² the antimicrobial susceptibility testing shall be performed by using the broth micro dilution method according to the reference method ISO 20776–1:2019 or Member States may decide to authorize the use of Whole Genome Sequencing ('WGS') as an alternative method to broth micro dilution using the testing panels of antimicrobial substances³.

2.2 AMR and Occupational Biological Risk Assessment

In food industry there are several stages in the chain that guarantee the quality of the final product that will be consumed. From primary production to retail mandatory official controls to food business operators, good hygiene and manufacturing practices and HACCP. In addition, in Europe there are specific regulations covering the monitoring and reporting of AMR bacteria but harmonized and immediate actions on a global scale are needed to mitigate AMR burden and prioritization of AMR control interventions is essential for optimal allocation of risk management attention, particularly in resource-limited settings [5].

Training and awareness-raising was recognized as particularly important in SMEs, (arable and livestock farming) but they are difficult to reach once often they have less financial means to implement control measure to undertake a risk assessment, and to develop plans for response and control [8].

However, to our knowledge, the risk assessment of exposure to AMR bacteria is never reported in risk analyzes or included in risk management plans in occupational health. "One Health" is as an interdisciplinarity approach that occupation health professionals are not familiarized. In a simple search on the websites of EU-OSHA or USA-OSHA there isn't any mention to "one health" plan of action.

3 Conclusion

Biological risk assessment itself is an issue that has not been evaluated by occupational health and safety professionals due to the lack of information and consciousness on the subject, and exposure to AMR is even more neglected. As a major worldwide AMR threat management of biological agents may be challenging for SMEs, given their lack of knowledge and awareness.

¹ OJL 387/8, 17.11.2020, p16.

² OJ L 325, 12.12.2003, p. 31.

³ OJL 387/8, 17.11.2020, pp. 16–19.

Moving the agenda forwards requires an improved understanding of the diversity of interventions and underpin their effectiveness, considering the different regulations in each country. Biological risk assessment in a One-Health perspective should be under-take and to develop plans for response and control there is a strong need to better educate occupational health professionals in biological agents and bacterial antimicrobial resistance.

References

- 1. What is One Health? https://www.onehealthcommission.org/
- Hernando-Amado, S., Coquet, T.M., Baquero, F., Martinez, J.L.: Defining and combating antibiotic resistance from one health and global health perspectives. Nat. Microbiol 4, 1432– 1442 (2019)
- One world-one health: building interdisciplinary bridge. http://www.oneworldonehealth.org/ sept2004/owoh_sept04.html
- 4. Mackenzie, J.S., Jeggo, M.: The one health approach-why is it so important? TropicalMed **4**, 88 (2019)
- Opatowski, L., Opatowski, M., Vong, S., Temime, L.: A one-health quantitative model to assess the risk of antibiotic resistance acquisition in asian populations: impact of exposure through food, water, livestock and humans. Risk Anal. 20 (2020)
- 6. Antibiotic resistance. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antibiotic-resist ance
- 7. WHO, European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. In: Police brief 32 (2019)
- 8. EU-OSHA: Biological agents and prevention of work-related diseases: a review. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2020)
- Santos, J., Ramos, C., Vaz-Velho, M., Pinto, M.V.: Occupational exposure to biological agents. In: Arezes, P.M., Boring, R.L. (eds.) AHFE 2020. AISC, vol. 1204, pp. 61–67. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50946-0_9
- EFSA, EU Insights perceptions on the human health impact of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and antibiotics use in animals across the EU. In: EFSA Supporting Publications, vol. 14 (2017)
- Marshall, B.M., Levy, S.B.: Food animals and antimicrobials: impacts on human health. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 24, 718–733 (2011)
- McDermott, P.F., Zhao, S., Wagner, D.D., Simjee, S., Walker, R.D., White, D.G.: The food safety ^oerspective of antibiotic resistance. Anim. Biotechnol. 13, 71–84 (2002)
- 13. Antimicrobial Resistance. http://www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius/thematic-areas/ antimicrobialresistance
- 14. Wernli, D., et al.: Evidence for action: a one health learning platform on interventions to tackle antimicrobial resistance. Lancet Infect. Dis. **20**, E307–E311 (2020)
- Mąka, Ł, Maćkiw, E., Ścieżyńska, H., Popowska, M.: Occurrence and antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella spp. isolated from food other than meat in Poland. Annal. Agric. Environ. Med. 22, 403–408 (2015)
- Tindall, B.J., Grimont, P.A.D., Garrity, G.M., Euzéby, J.P.: Nomenclature and taxonomy of the genus Salmonella. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 55, 521–524 (2005)
- Crump, J.A., Sjölund-Karlsson, M., Gordon, M.A., Parry, C.M.: Epidemiology, clinical presentation, laboratory diagnosis, antimicrobial resistance, and antimicrobial management of invasive salmonella infections. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 28, 901–937 (2015)
- EFSA/ECDC: The European Union One Health 2018 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 17, e05926 (2019)

- Cohen, M.L., Tauxe, R.V.: Drug-resistant Salmonella in the united states: an epidemiologic perspective. Science 234, 964 (1986)
- EFSA/ECDC: The European Union Summary Report on Trends and Sources of Zoonoses, Zoonotic Agents and Food-borne Outbreaks in 2012 EFSA J. 12(2), 3547 (2014)
- 21. Salmonella. https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/topics/topic/salmonella
- 22. EFSA: The community summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in the European union in 2008. EFSA J., **8**(1), 1496 (2010)
- 23. EFSA: The European union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2009. EFSA J. 9(3), 2090 (2011)
- 24. EFSA: The european union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in the european union in 2010. EFSA J. 10(3), 2597 (2012)
- 25. EFSA: The European union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2011. EFSA J. 11(4), 3129 (2013)
- 26. EFSA/ECDC: The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2013. EFSA J. 13 (2015)
- 27. EFSA/ECDC: The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2014. EFSA J. 13 (2015)
- 28. EFSA/ECDC: The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2015. EFSA J. 14 (2016)
- 29. EFSA/ECDC: The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2016. EFSA J. 15 (2017)
- 30. EFSA/ECDC: The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2017. EFSA J. 16 (2018)
- EFSA/ECDC: The European Union one health 2019 zoonoses report. EFSA J. 19(2), 6406 (2021)
- 32. EFSA: Zoonoses, antimicrobial resistance and food-borne outbreaks guidance for reporting 2020 data. EFSA Supporting Publications **18**, 6438E (2021)
- Yin, X., M'Ikanatha, N.M., Nyirabahizi, E., McDermott, P.F., Tate, H.: Antimicrobial resistance in non-Typhoidal Salmonella from retail poultry meat by antibiotic usage-related production claims United States, 2008–2017. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 342, 109044 (2021)
- 34. Thi, H.N., et al.: Characterization of Salmonella spp. isolates from Swine: virulence and antimicrobial resistance. Animals, 10 (2020)
- Calayag, A.M.B., Paclibare, P.A.P., Santos, P.D.M., Bautista, C.A.C., Rivera, W.L.: Molecular characterization and antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella enterica from swine slaughtered in two different types of Philippine abattoir. Food Microbiol. 65, 51–56 (2017)
- Denis, M., Houard, E., Fablet, A., Rouxel, S., Salvat, G.: Distribution of serotypes and genotypes of Salmonella enterica species in French pig production. Vet. Rec. 173, 370 (2013)
- Bonardi, S., et al.: Prevalence, characterization and antimicrobial susceptibility of Salmonella enterica and Yersinia enterocolitica in pigs at slaughter in Italy. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 163, 248–257 (2013)
- Dionisi, A.M., Lucarelli, C., Benedetti, I., Owczarek, S., Luzzi, I.: Molecular characterisation of multidrug-resistant Salmonella enterica serotype infantis from humans, animals and the environment in Italy. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 38, 384–389 (2011)
- Dahshan, H., Shahada, F., Chuma, T., Moriki, H., Okamoto, K.: Genetic analysis of multidrugresistant Salmonella enterica serovars Stanley and typhimurium from cattle. Vet. Microbiol. 145, 76–83 (2010)
- 40. Graziani, C., et al.: Antimicrobial resistance in Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium from human and animal sources in Italy. Vet. Microbiol. **128**, 414–418 (2008)



Management and Control of Occupational Risks in the Manufacture of Fuel and Oil Filter Caps

Pablo Ron-Valenzuela^(⊠), Blanca Topon-Visarrea, and Miguel Delgado

SISAu Research Center, Facultad de Ingenieria y Tecnologias de la Informacion y la Comunicacion, Universidad Tecnologica Indoamerica, Machala y Sabanilla, Quito, Ecuador {pabloron, blancatopon}@uti.edu.ec

Abstract. In the process of manufacturing oil and fuel filter covers, mechanical risks have been identified such as: entrapment and crushing of hands with risk level I (not acceptable) and projection of fragments and particles with risk level II (Not acceptable or acceptable with specific control); For this, corrective measures were established at the source of risk by means of a spring system in each of the molds so that the filter cover after being pressed is expelled uniformly without the need for the operator to insert his hands in the danger zone. In the accident transmission medium, an adjustable safety guard and a mechanical guide element were implemented which allow the entry and exit of the covers. Finally, workers were provided with work gloves selected under international standards.

Keywords: Hand entrapment \cdot Risk source \cdot Accident transmission medium \cdot Worker safety \cdot Industrial safety

1 Introduction

Occupational accidents and occupational diseases annually cause more than 2.78 million deaths, 2.4 million of those deaths are related to diseases, and about 374 million workers are victims of non-fatal work accidents [1].

According to the occupational accident distribution in Ecuador, these injuries are mostly superficial, like contusions, and dislocations. Primarily affecting the upper limbs or appendages such as hands, arms, and forearms. Traumatic amputations are not common but they damage the operators permanently is the entrapment of the operator or some part of his body in the fixed or moving mechanisms of a machine, causing contusions, trauma, sprains, fractures, wounds, cuts, and even amputations that, without proper medical attention, can result in death [3].

The oil and fuel filter cap manufacturing process exposes operators to multiple risks. Due to the machine's characteristics, the pressing operators' probability of having an accident is high. Thus, it is of the utmost importance to identify the causes and consequences of accidents during the oil and fuel filter cap manufacturing process in ad-vance. Risk assessment, and corresponding control to mitigate them during the production process so that it is safe to manufacture oil and fuel filter caps. The aim of this re-search is to propose corrective measures to control occupational hazards during the oil and fuel filter cap manufacturing process by identifying their causes and consequences, the level of deficiency, exposure, and the probability of risks for their respective management at the risk source, transmission path and receptor.

2 Analysis and Design

2.1 Analysis

The hazard identification and assessment of occupational safety and health risks guide (GTC 45) presents an integrated framework of principles, practices, and criteria for assessing risks in operator activities in order to conduct appropriate management by analyzing the existence of controls at the risk source, the transmission path and the receptor; risk level deficiency, risk exposure, probability, consequences, and intervention to categorize them as acceptable or not [4].

2.2 Corrective Measures Design at Risk Source Level

For risk source management, four equidistant springs will be placed in the press dies so that the ASTM A36 steel sheet metal, which mechanical properties are presented in Table 1, can be pressed and removed uniformly, thus enabling the operator to work without exposing the operator's hands to the risk source.

| Table 1. | ASTM A | A36 steel | properties |
|----------|--------|-----------|------------|
|----------|--------|-----------|------------|

| Quality | Minimum yield strength (Fy) | Tensile breaking stress (Fu) | Minimum elongation | Fy/Fu |
|----------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|-------|
| ASTM A36 | 250 [MPa] | 400 [MPa] | 20% | ≤0,85 |

There are three forces in the pressing process: 1. the cutting force (FC) is one that is ap-plied perpendicularly to the longitudinal axis of the element to be cut, 2. the extraction force (Fext) is required to separate the metal sheet from the punch and 3. the ejection force (Feje) is required to eject the cut section of the sheet out of the matrix as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Forces diagram

The selected springs will be subjected to compression, shear stress due to the perpendicular force applied, and a torque. It should be noted that the ends of these elements are square flat and rectified so that when the plate is pressed, the spring does not leave marks on the sheet.

$$\tau = ks (8F.D/\pi.d^3)$$

 $-\tau$. Stress

- ks. Shear stress correction factor
- F. Force applied to the spring
- *D*. Spire mean diameter

– *d*. Wire diameter

2.3 Corrective Measures Design at the Transmission Path Level

Machine guards are physical barriers that stand between the operator and the danger zone to prevent the operator from inserting his limbs during the machine operation [5], according to the working conditions of the oil and fuel filter cap manufacturing process, the presence of a fixed machine guard is necessary, which will be supported by two steel columns to provide greater rigidity and strength attached to the machine bench; the slenderness ratio between the column length and the cross-section is expressed as follows:

$$L/r = \surd \left(\pi^2.E.k \right) / \sigma_{LP}$$

- E. Elastic modulus
- K. Machine condition dependent constant

- $\sigma_{LP..}$ Yield stress

The working stress consists of the maximum tension divided by a safety factor to consider-er effects on the structure.

$$\sigma_w = \sigma_{cr}/f.s$$

- $\sigma_{cr.}$ Critical stress or strain - *f.s.* Safety factor

Additionally, to protect the operator from the risk of hand entrapment and crushing, a grooved mechanical element has been implemented that puts the material to be cut in place, and the entry of the worker's upper limbs is not required when manufacturing oil and fuel filter caps.

2.4 Corrective Measures Design at the Receptor Level

Protective gloves are personal protective elements designed to protect the operator from occupational hazards; according to UNE-EN ISO 2388:2016. There are guidelines to choose safety gloves according to their properties, cut resistance, and performance levels. [6] (Table 2).

| Description | Measurement units | Level 1 | Level 2 | Level 3 | Level 4 |
|----------------------|-------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Abrasion resistance | Ciclos | 100 | 500 | 2000 | 8000 |
| Blade cut resistance | Index | 1,2 | 2,5 | 5 | 10 |
| Tear resistance | Newtons | 10 | 25 | 50 | 75 |
| Puncture resistance | Newtons | 20 | 60 | 100 | 150 |

Table 2. Benefit levels

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Corrective Measures at Risk Source Level

Table 3 shows the cutting, ejection, extraction, and corresponding forces for each spring.

| Variables | Mold 1 | Mold 2 | Mold 3 | Units |
|--------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|-------|
| Diameter | 18 | 57 | 45,5 | mm |
| Perimeter | 56,55 | 179,07 | 142,94 | mm |
| Sheet thickness | 0,7 | 0,7 | 0,7 | mm |
| Cutting force | 1614,24 | 5111,77 | 4080,45 | Kgf |
| Extraction force | 113 | 357,82 | 285,63 | Kgf |
| Ejection force | 24,21 | 76,68 | 61,21 | Kgf |
| Force required for each spring | 6,05 | 19,71 | 15,30 | kgf |

Table 3. Variable force results

According to Table 3, the springs that meet the mandatory requirement according to the load were chosen, a Standard series LC 032BB 05 spring of 4.78 mm outside diameter with a load of approximately 6,399 for the first mold, a Standard series LC 032BB 05 spring of 4.78 mm outer diameter with a load of approximately 20,257 kgf for the second mold and a LC 059E 02 spring with a load of 15.90 kgf for the third mold being the re-quired force to put all spring spires in contact. Subsequently, the proposed variables are calculated for each of the selected springs (Table 4).

3.2 Corrective Measures at the Accident Transmission Medium

The maximum opening width of the holes in the safety guard will be 1/4 to 3/8 inch.

Moreover, a 190 mm by 560 mm galvanized wire woven mesh will be made in the shape of small frames allowing the operator to see the pressing of the metal sheet through it. These measures are good enough to cover the workspace, below there are the results of the variables considered in the design of corrective measures at the transmission path level (Table 5).
| Variables | Mold 1 | Mold 2 | Mold 3 | Units |
|------------------------------|--------|--------|--------|---------------------|
| Spring length | 12,70 | 12,70 | 12,70 | mm |
| External diameter | 4,78 | 12,19 | 9,15 | mm |
| Average diameter of the loop | 3,97 | 10,36 | 1,83 | mm |
| Coil diameter | 0,81 | 1,83 | 1,50 | Mm |
| Active turns | 5 | 3 | 3 | u |
| Total turns | 7 | 5 | 5 | u |
| Spring index | 4,90 | 5,66 | 5,10 | |
| Effort correction factor | 1,10 | 1,09 | 1,10 | kgf |
| Force applied to spring | 6,399 | 20,257 | 15,9 | kgf |
| Force applied to spring | 134,14 | 94,90 | 100,77 | Kgf/mm ² |

Table 4. Variable springs results

Table 5. Variable results security guard

| Variables | Symbology | Outcome | Units |
|--|------------------|---------|-------|
| Slenderness ratio according to materials | L/r | 44,43 | u |
| Slenderness ratio according to geometry | r | 7,29 | u |
| Work effort | $\sigma_{\rm W}$ | 130,21 | MPa |
| Critical load | Pcr | 10,55 | KN |
| Workload | Pw | 5,49 | KN |

The sizing of the sliding guide of the metal sheets to be pressed will be 121 mm long, 130 mm wide, and 50mm high, with three sections delimited by the dimensions of the caps to be pressed, the first one of 121.2 mm \times 12mm; the second one 73.2 mm \times 12mm and the third one 70.7 mm \times 12 mm (Fig. 2) and (Table 6).

| Variables | Symbology | Outcome | Units |
|-----------|-----------|---------|-------|
| Weight | w | 61,8 | N |
| Shear | V | 61,8 | N |
| Bending | М | -3,74 | Nm |
| moment | | | |

Table 6. Variable results of sliding guide



An outline of the proposed design is presented below.

Fig. 2. Proposed scheme

3.3 Corrective Measures at the Receptor Level (Worker)

Under Worker Safety and Health and Environmental Improvement regulations [7] Title VI. Personal Protection, Article 181.- Protection of the upper extremities mentions that different material gloves will be used for work involving cutting, puncture, and impact risks. This personal protective equipment must be flexible, allowing the normal motion range of the protected area. In this case, because during the cap pressing process, the operator is exposed to mechanical hazards such as the entrapment and crushing of hands, the personal protection equipment for upper limbs will be selected in accordance with the standard UNE-EN ISO 388:2016, with the following characteristics:

Table 8 shows changes in identified risks, the proposed improvements lead to a change in worker safety and health (Table 7):

Table 8 shows the improvements in the identified risks. The actions taken generate a change in the safety and health of workers.

| Parameter | Description |
|-----------------|---|
| Environment | Dry and relatively clean |
| Brand | MAP |
| Serie | KRYNIT 563 |
| Protection | Moderate and durability for difficult manipulations |
| Rule | EN 388, 4343, ISO 13997: 5.8 N, CAT2 |
| Size | 7–11 |
| Length | 22–27 cm |
| Interior finish | Seamless textile backing of HDPE fibers |
| Exterior finish | Nitrile on palm and fingers |
| Applications | Mechanical maintenance, mechanical sheet handling |

 Table 7. Safety gloves parameters

 Table 8. Current situation vs expected results

| Identified risks | Current situation | Expected results |
|---|--|------------------|
| Order and cleanliness | Acceptable | Acceptable |
| Projection of fragments and particles | Not acceptable or acceptable with specific control | Acceptable |
| Hand entrapment | Not acceptable | Acceptable |
| Crushing hands | Not acceptable | Acceptable |
| Maintenance of machinery and facilities | Acceptable | Acceptable |

4 Conclusions

This research work proposes risk management at the risk source, accident transmission medium and receptor (worker) in order to establish control measures and to ensure the safety of operators, reducing the risk levels of hand entrapment and crushing. In the oil and fuel filter cap manufacturing process on metal sheets. Forces and stress are present, and they must be considered so that they do not put the safety of the machine operators at risk. For hand-entrapment and crushing, risk levels were significantly monitored, from I (Not Acceptable) to III (Acceptable), because in both cases, the risk level deficiency was reduced from 6 to 2, i.e., some consequences may occur or that the effectiveness of the proposed set of measures is moderate. The level of risk exposure is still considered high since the worker is exposed to uninterrupted risk resulting in a risk probability level of 8 at which the situation is improbable, and the damage may ever occur. Furthermore, the consequence level decreased from 60 to 10 as injuries or illnesses may occur in the operator that do not require medical leave. In the case of the risk of projection of fragments

and particles, a risk level II (Not Acceptable or Acceptable with specific control) was raised to a risk level of IV (Acceptable) since with the placement of the safety guard, the projection of pressed cap filter fragments will be prevented, so the efficiency of the proposed corrective measure is high, the risk is controlled and acceptable.

References

- 1. International Labour Organization. Safety and health at the heart of the future of work: Building on 100 years of experience (2019). https://www.ilo.org/global/lang--en/index.htm
- Gómez, A., Merino, P., Tapia, O., Espinoza, C., Echeverría, M.: Epidemiología de accidentes de trabajo en Ecuador basado en la base de datos de la Seguridad Social en los años 2014–2016 (2017)
- 3. Superintendencia de Riesgos del Trabajo: Atrapamiento (2016). https://www.srt.gob.ar. Accessed 18 Ene 2021
- 4. Guía Técnica Colombiana GTC45. Guía para la identificación de peligros y la valoración de los riesgos en seguridad y salud ocupacional (2010)
- NTP 552: Protección de máquinas frente a peligros mecánicos: resguardos (2000) https://www. insst.es. Accessed 20 Ene 2021
- 6. UNE-EN ISO 2388:2016. Guantes de protección contra riesgos mecánicos (2016)
- Instituto Ecuatoriano de Seguridad Social, Seguro General de Riesgos del Trabajo. Decreto ejecutivo 2393 reglamento de seguridad y salud de los trabajadores y mejoramiento del medio ambiente de trabajo (2016)



Health and Working Conditions in the Prevention of the Risk of Professional Dropping-Out for Seniors: Results of a Statistical Survey

Sandrine $\operatorname{Guyot}^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Pascal Wild

French National Research and Safety Institute for the Prevention of Occupational Accidents and Diseases (INRS), Preventive Ergonomics and Occupational Psychology Lab, Working Life Department, 1 rue du Morvan, 54519 Vandoeuvre cedex, France {sandrine.guyot,pascal.wild}@inrs.fr

Abstract. In a perspective of prevention of the risks of professional deintegration with the advancing age, the paper presents the results of the statistical exploitation of a French national survey on health and career paths. Among the factors associated with the risk of dropping out among the over 50s, these highlight the importance of employment paths, past exposure to work constraints and the duration of these exposures, and lastly, health-related factors. They also make it possible to characterize the socio-demographic and employment profiles of the individuals most vulnerable to the risk of dropping out. All of these elements call for the adoption of an integrative and combined approach to securing career paths, preserving health and improving working conditions.

Keywords: Ageing · Professional dropping out · Prevention

1 Introduction

In France, as in other European or Anglo-Saxon countries, the prevention of occupational reintegration, particularly among the over 50s, is at the heart of institutional priorities. It is driven by both employment and occupational health issues.

With the ageing of the population, the extension of the lifespan and the cost of financing pensions, keeping seniors in employment at an increasingly advanced age has become a major concern in a quest for financial balance of pension plans. Although the employment rate of seniors in France has risen sharply over the last 15 years [1], under the concomitant effects of pension and unemployment insurance reforms, the fact remains that older workers have difficulty staying in employment or returning to work.

At any age, health status plays a role in job retention and in the risk of exclusion from the labor market. Among older workers, impaired or weakened health can also result in premature exits from employment that can lead to permanent withdrawal from the labor market. Various French and European survey data show that the relative probability of being in employment decreases sharply after the age of 50 in the presence of healthrelated limitations [2]; and symmetrically, the risk of being unemployed or inactive is up to three times greater among seniors with health problems than among others [3]. This health status is not unrelated to working conditions. Certain constraints and work related strain leave significant, more or less immediate and sometimes long-lasting traces on health and work capacity. Atypical work schedules, demanding physical postures, repetitive work, frequent emergency situations, etc. put older workers in difficulty and contribute for some to their eviction from work. Physical hardship factors are not the only factors involved. The meaning of work, its interest, opportunities to develop new skills or to mobilize experience, to perform quality work, etc. are also particularly determining factors in job retention [4–6].

Deteriorating health status at the end of working life and exposure to deleterious work constraints can be vectors for job distancing. However, leaving employment at ages close to the end of working life can easily turn into a permanent cessation of activity [7]. As evidenced by unemployment insurance data, the average duration of unemployment for older workers is significantly longer than for younger workers, and the prospects for employment recovery are greatly reduced with increasing age [8]. As the duration of unemployment lengthens, older people's chances of returning to work diminish; their persistence in unemployment jeopardizes their chances of regaining a place in the labor market. However, when a return to employment does occur, it is often under deteriorated conditions, particularly in terms of qualifications or employment status.

Helping seniors to remain in employment, in a framework that is favourable to their health, implies, from a prevention perspective, a better understanding of the various factors associated with the risk of dropping out of the workforce at the end of one's working life. This is the objective of the following study, which sought to identify - notably through a statistical survey - the variables likely to predict dropping out by taking into account several professional and non-professional factors in an integrated manner. The results presented here question the roles of health, occupational wear and tear and past working conditions on the risks of dropping out of the workforce among seniors.

2 Method

The analysis presented here is based on a sample of employees aged 45 and over from the "Health and Career Paths" (SIP) survey. This French national survey was carried out among 11,000 people aged between 24 and 78 years old interviewed at 4-year intervals (2006 and 2010), regardless of their situation in the labor market. Its aim was to determine the interactions between life courses (personal, family, professional), exposures to occupational risks and working conditions, with the health of individuals. In addition to the prospective longitudinal approach, it also included a biographical retrospective approach carried out during the first interview.

Based on SIP survey variables, three categories of individuals aged 45 and over were considered, in different respects, to be in a situation of vocational dropout in 2010. The "downgraded" category includes employees employed in 2006 who, in 2010, held a job with a lower social classification or a less favorable type of employment contract

than the previous one. Their situation is similar to a downgrading due to a downward employment path, job insecurity or the deterioration of their employment status between the two dates. The category of "likely dropouts" includes employees who were employed in 2006 and who, in 2010, are either long-term unemployed, or have been at home for at least one year, or have been inactive or out of work for health reasons for at least six months. Their situation in 2010 raises fears of a lasting loss of employment, which could lead them to drop out of the workforce. Dropping out seems likely, even if it is not proven: a return to employment is always a possibility. Finally, the "obvious dropouts" category includes employees who were employed at the first stage of the survey (2006) and who, in 2010, retired early for health reasons or after a long period (one year or more) of unemployment or inactivity without returning to work. Their retirement marks an abrupt end to their working life due to ill health, job loss or "voluntary" withdrawal from the professional sphere.

Of the 3116 workers aged 45 to 61 in 2006 - and reinterviewed in 2010 - 472 individuals meet the above-mentioned criteria for dropping out of the workforce. Several factors were taken into account in describing and analyzing the characteristics of these dropouts in 2006. Among the individual factors, sociodemographic characteristics, significant childhood events (including long illness, stressful living conditions) and significant adult life events were considered. Among the occupational factors, several aspects were analyzed: the characteristics of the job held in 2006; the stability, continuity and perception of the career path prior to 2006; and exposures to work constraints in the 10 years prior to 2006 (duration of exposure and intensity score). The working conditions concerned are night work, repetitive work, physically demanding work, exposure to harmful or toxic products, opportunities to use one's skills, work under pressure, tension with the public, recognition of the value of work, work-life balance, and social relationships at work. Finally, health characteristics in 2006 and before 2006 (perception of health status, number of health events and sick leaves of more than 6 months, limitations in usual activities for at least 6 months) and interactions between health and work path (disruptions in the path caused by health problems and health problems caused or aggravated by working conditions before 2006) were jointly taken into account in the analyses.

Each category of dropout was described in terms of individual characteristics, employment, working conditions, and health, before or in 2006, and then in pairs ("dropouts" versus "non-dropouts"). The probability of being a dropout in 2010, among those employed in 2006, was modelled by logistic regressions. In order to evaluate the relative weight of the different factors, each of them was introduced separately in a regression analysis. The association of dropping out with each factor cited was thus established, in the first instance, without adjustment for other factors; the factors were then considered simultaneously: only variables significantly associated with p < 0.05 were retained for successive testing by blocks of factors. The step-by-step regression method was chosen so as to retain only those variables that are most strongly related to the risk of dropping out. A predictive model of "dropping out" after the age of 45 was thus developed. The results of the logistic modelling are reported as the Odds Ratio (OR) of being a dropout versus being a non-dropout.

3 Results

Among the 3,116 subjects in the sample, there were 472 individuals in a drop-out situation in 2010, broken down as follows: 241 "downgraded", 152 "likely dropouts", and 79 "obvious dropouts". The balance is made up of 2644 subjects referred to in the study as "stable". Two types of results will be presented here: the characteristics of each category of individuals compared to each other, and the modelling of the probability of dropping out in 2010 adjusted for individual factors, past work factors, working conditions, health and work situation in 2006.

3.1 Characteristics of the Categories of Individuals

The "stable" ones. This group includes 1285 men and 1359 women. In 2006, it was divided equally among the 45-49, 50-54 and 55 + age groups. More qualified, they are also distinguished from the other categories by a career path composed mainly of long jobs (long jobs are jobs with the same employer for five years or more), and relatively few job changes and periods of unemployment. They are less dissatisfied with their career path than those who have been downgraded or dropped out, and fewer consider that their career path to have had a negative influence on their health, and vice versa. They also report better health.

The "downgraded". This group consists of 103 men and 138 women. Their age structure is concentrated around the 45 to 49 age group (43%). The 50–54 age group accounts for 34% and the 55 + age group for 23%. Their employment path is more chaotic - both over the last ten years and over their entire career - than the "stable" ones; their position on the labor market until 2006 is also more precarious, with a higher proportion of employees on temporary employment contracts. Their health indicators are also lower. However, on all of these factors, the differences between "stable" and "downgraded" are less pronounced than they are between "downgraded" and the likely and obvious "dropouts" presented below.

The "likely dropouts". Of this group of 152 individuals, both genders are roughly equally represented. More than 40% of them are between 50 and 54 years old. With the most individuals with few or no degrees (33%), compared to the "stable" ones, this category is mainly composed of unskilled employees and blue-collar workers, more than a third of whom work in maintenance and production activities in the industrial sector. For a quarter of them, the "likely dropouts" are precarious workers, living in households with incomes below the monetary poverty line (estimated at 60% of the median wage) compared to 15% among the "stable". Their career path is characterized by greater job instability and higher proportions of periods of unemployment and shortterm employment than for other categories: 45% of the "likely dropouts" have had at least two job changes in the last 10 years, compared with 29% of the "stable" group. They are also 3 times more numerous (11% against 4% for the "stable") to have spent more than 10% of their working life unemployed. The likely dropouts have the highest levels of exposure to night work, physically demanding work, work under pressure and exposure to toxic or harmful products in the last 10 years. A larger proportion of them have also worked in jobs that were not properly recognized and in which their skills were not or only minimally used during the same period. In terms of health, the "likely dropouts" are 2.5 times more likely than the "stable" (27% versus 10%) to have reported at least 6 consecutive months of sick leave of in their professional career. They also consider, in higher proportions (15% versus 5%), that their health has disrupted their career path, and reciprocally that it has had an impact on their health.

The "obvious dropouts". The majority of this group are women (50 versus 29 men). 72% of them were between 55 and 60 years of age. In many ways, their characteristics are similar to those of the "likely dropouts". However, a number of characteristics set them apart. Less precarious, they have longer jobs and fewer periods of unemployment. On the other hand, their career paths are significantly more unstable, in terms of the number of job changes over the course of their careers and over the past decade. The intensity of exposure to repetitive work is also greater among "obvious dropouts" than among other individuals; in 2006, almost a third of them worked in production in the industry. However, it is probably the aspects of health that differentiate them the most from the other categories: indeed, nearly 55% of them declare that their health is altered (compared to 45% for "likely dropouts" and 24% for "stable"). They are also 40% to have indicated significant limitations in their daily activities, compared to 24% of the "likely dropouts" and 12% of the "stable" group. Their higher average age is probably not unrelated to the higher proportion of reported health problems; however, it cannot be excluded that the hardship of past work experiences and working conditions may also explain this.

3.2 Statistical Modeling of the Risk of Dropping Out After Age 45

As previously mentioned, the probability of being in a dropout situation in 2010 was modelled by integrating, step by step, blocks of variables, and by retaining blocks of earlier variables only those significant at p < 0.05.

The first step was to integrate individual factors. Among these factors, the results show an effect of age, school level, family structure, and the number of significant events in childhood and adult life on dropping out. The risk of dropping out increases with age, especially in the 55–60 age group; it is greater among individuals without a diploma, living alone or in a single-parent family, and is increased with the increasing number of significant events in childhood and adult life.

In the second stage, past occupational factors were included. The results show an effect of the instability of employment in the last 10 years and the pourcentage of time spent unemployed during working life (more than 10%). Once these factors are taken into account, the number of events in adult life no longer has a direct effect on dropping out.

Exposures and their duration over the last ten years to the working conditions identified in the survey (for "always" or "often" exposures) were introduced in the third stage of the analysis. Once these working conditions were taken into account, the number of childhood events no longer had any effect. The likelihood of dropping out increases when individuals have been very frequently exposed in the last ten years to the following working conditions: physically demanding work, work not recognized for its fair value, tension with the public, the absence or low possibility of using one's skills, and work under pressure. The likelihood of dropping out also increases with the length of exposure over the last 10 years, for work that is not recognized for its fair value, lack of or limited opportunity to use one's skills, tension with the public, night work, and work under pressure.

The fourth step was to integrate health factors. The results show an effect of the number of sick leave of more than 6 months during the career and the perceived health status on the risk of dropping out. Once these factors were taken into account, as far as working conditions are concerned, only very frequent exposure to work under pressure and the duration of this exposure have an effect on dropping out.

Finally, in the fifth and final stage, factors relating to the working situation in 2006 were introduced: socio-professional categories, type of employment contract (long or short term), and professional sectors of activity.

The integration of all these factors in a multivariate logistic regression thus made it possible to determine the most predictive factors of a situation of professional dropout.

Among these, advancing age is a strong marker. The probability of dropping out in 2010 is a factor of 1.7 [1.1–2.68] for people aged between 50 and 54 in 2006 compared to those aged 45. It is multiplied by almost three times for those aged 55 to 60, for both men (OR = 5[2.52-9.97]) and women (OR = 4.9[2.68-8.84]).

Job changes over the last 10 years increase the risk of dropping out: even relative instability (with job changes on average at least every 7 years and at most every 3 years) increases the probability of dropping out by an OR equal to 1.6 [1.1–2.35]. There is also an important effect of the proportion of unemployment duration in the pathway on dropping out, starting at 10 percent unemployment in the career (OR = 1.9[0.99-3.7]).

Generally speaking, the socio-professional categories at risk of dropping out are mainly blue-collar workers (OR = 2.9 [1.35-6.27)) and employees (OR = 2.6[1.23-5.6]); The OR is of 3.5 [1.25–9.83] for male blue-collar workers. The sectors of activity in which the probability of dropping out is highest are the industrial sector (OR = 3 [1.64-5.68]), and the health and education sectors on the one hand, and the commercial sector on the other (OR = 2.5). From the point of view of working conditions, the duration of exposure to work under pressure proves to be a predictor of dropping out, with an OR = 1.05 per year (corresponding to an increased risk of dropping out by 63% after 10 years).

Finally, poor or bad health in 2006 is also a clear marker of dropping out 4 years later (OR = 2 [1.42–2.79]). But even more than the perceived health, the total number of sick leave of more than 6 consecutive months during working life predicts dropping out. The OR doubles when the number increases from one sick leave (OR = 1.7 [1.09–2.58]) to 2 or more (OR = 3.1 [1.52–6.31]). The effect is particularly strong for men (OR = 4.7[1.54-14.33]).

4 Discussion and Conclusion

Using SIP survey data on a population of individuals showing signs of dropping out in 2010, it was possible to access past characteristics of their personal, professional and health backgrounds and to establish links between these factors and the probability of dropping out. The factors associated with the risk of dropping out are multiple and concern both employment paths - and particularly its interruptions and discontinuities - as well as past exposure to penalizing work constraints, and finally the perceived health

and known health events during working life. Other biographical factors, with lesser effects, also come into play, such as the number of significant events experienced during childhood. It is rather the professional and health aspects that we wish to focus on, in order to examine the conditions for the sustainability of pathways.

The results support the importance of career breaks in dropping out. These breaks are linked to employment, with frequent changes in work over the last 10 years, on the one hand, and the share of cumulative duration of unemployment in the career path, on the other. They are also related to health, with long sick leave during the career. There is evidence that the experience of unemployment and job insecurity produces a lasting feeling of vulnerability, which persists even when the employee returns to work. Employees who have experienced one or more spells of unemployment feel the pressures of their work more severely, and more than others the risk of unemployment in the future [10]. In terms of health, long stoppages are often the "antechamber" of a job exit whose return to work is uncertain: the probability of returning to work decreases as the duration of the sick leaves [11]. It is interesting to note that in our study, the risk of dropping out at 4 years increases sharply with the increase in the number of long-term sick leaves, regardless of the point in the career when they take place. Long breaks from employment and work - its context and environment - affect individuals in such a way as to make them visibly even more vulnerable to other hardships in their working lives.

The results also tend to show the effects of working conditions and duration of exposure on the risk of dropping out. The working conditions concerned are not only physical constraints but also psychosocial constraints, some of which are linked to the lack of recognition of the value of work and the skills of individuals. Among these working conditions, work under pressure is the one most strongly associated with the risk of dropping out. We know how difficult it is for aging employees to cope with sustained rhythms or tight deadlines. [12] However, working under pressure refers to numerous realities: rhythms imposed by production standards, by the automatic speed of a machine, by customer or public demand, but also pressure from the hierarchy. The statistical survey has its limits here in order to better define the contours of "work under pressure". On the other hand, this will be possible within the framework of qualitative analyses which will be carried out with individuals over 45 years away from employment for more than one year. These analyzes, based on biographical interviews, will make it possible to account for the gradual process of dropping out, and the dynamics that lead to it. By drawing up the characteristics of the individuals most at risk of dropping out, of which the category of "likely dropouts" is the most representative, we highlight the different facets of dropping out that we must pay attention to from a prevention perspective. These different elements of analysis provide valuable indications, particularly to institutional preventers and health services, to guide their prospective approach and target their actions, particularly among low-skilled workers and employees in the industrial, commercial, and health sectors, who are most at risk of dropping out.

References

1. Lubin, M., Savary, R.P.: Rapport d'information n°749 (2018–2019) fait au nom de la commission des affaires sociales sur l'emploi des séniors. Sénat (2019)

- Borsch-Supan, A. (Ed.): Survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe. First results From Surv. Health, Ageing Retirement Europe (SHARE). Mannheim Res. Inst. Econ. Aging (MEA) (2005)
- Coutrot, T., Waltisperger, D.: L'emploi des séniors souvent fragilisé par des problèmes de santé. Prem Inf. Prem Synt. 08(1), 1–4 (2005)
- 4. Debrand, T., Lengagne, P.: Pénibilité du travail et santé des seniors en Europe. Economie et statistique **403–404**, 19–38 (2007)
- 5. Molinié, A.F.: Se sentir capable de rester dans son emploi jusqu'à la retraite ? Perspect Interdiscip Trav Santé. **7–1**, 1–32 (2005)
- 6. Derriennic, F., Saurel-Cubizolles, M.J., Montfort, C.: Santé, conditions de travail et cessation d'activité des salariés âgés. Trav Emploi. **96**, 37–53 (2003)
- Beck, S., Brendler, J., Salmon, G., Vidalenc, J.: Quitter le chômage. Un retour à l'emploi plus difficile pour les séniors. INSEE Prem. 1661 (2017)
- 8. Minni, C.: Emploi et chômage des séniors en 2018. Dares Résultats **013**, 1–8 (2019)
- Lizé, L., Prokovas, N.: Le risque d'occuper un emploi de mauvaise qualité à la sortie du chomage.2012.73. Documents de travail du Centre d'Economie de la Sorbonne. Université Paris 1 Panthéon-Sorbonne (2012)
- 10. Bodier, M., Wolff, L.: Les facteurs psychosociaux de risque au travail, Octares, 239 (2018)
- 11. Dekkers-Sanchez, P.M., Wind, H., Sluiter, J.K., Frings-Dresen, M.H.: What promotes sustained return to work of employees on long term sick leave? perspectives of vocational rehabilitation professionals. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health. **37**(6), 481-493 (2011)
- Volkoff, S., Delgoulet, C.: L'intensification du travail, et l'intensification des changements dans le travail : quels enjeux pour les travailleurs expérimentés ? Psychologie du Travail et des Organ. 25(1), 28–39 (2019)



Performance Implications of Safety Training

Sari Tappura^(⊠), Aki Jääskeläinen, and Julius Pirhonen

Tampere University, 33014 Tampere, Finland

{sari.tappura,aki.jaaskelainen,julius.pirhonen}@tuni.fi

Abstract. Safety management practices aim to improve working conditions and safety performance. Safety training can positively affect employees' safety knowledge, safety motivation, safety compliance and safety participation, which are the main factors of safety performance. Several models for evaluating safety training effectiveness have been suggested. The aim of this paper is to study how employees' safety performance can improve after safety training intervention. The effects on safety performance were studied in two units of a case company based on a questionnaire and selected indicators. A descriptive analysis was performed with the data gathered. Based on the survey (n = 45), some improvements in safety knowledge, attitudes, behavior and safety performance can be found. Indicator data also show a positive trend during the studied period. The amount of preventive actions has increased, and the number of injuries has decreased. This study contributes to the current knowledge on evaluating the performance implications of safety training.

Keywords: Occupational safety and health \cdot Safety training \cdot Safety performance \cdot Performance measurement

1 Introduction

Safety management practices aim to improve working conditions at the workplace and positively influence employees' attitudes and behaviors with regards to safety, thereby improving safety performance [1]. Safety performance is typically defined as actions and behaviors adopted to promote health and safety or to reduce safety events, such as accidents, at work [2–4]. Safety training interventions are one of the most important safety management practices. Safety training can positively affect employees' safety knowledge, safety motivation, safety compliance and safety participation, which are commonly considered the main factors of safety performance [1, 5–7]. Moreover, appropriate safety training may improve safety culture [8]. However, the training outcomes may be reduced over time [9]. Evaluation of safety training effectiveness is crucial to deliver continuous and adequate training to improve safety performance [9–11].

Safety performance is typically measured by both lagging and leading indicators, and their use should be balanced [4, 12–15]. Lagging indicators typically include the number or frequency of occupational fatalities, injuries and illnesses. Lagging indicators typically include the number of preventative measures carried out to improve safety, such as safety walks, discussions or audits and related corrective actions.

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 295–301, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_36

Several models for evaluating safety training effectiveness have been suggested [9–11, 16]. These models typically address safety knowledge, safety attitudes and beliefs, safety behavior and health. In our previous study [16], a model and related questionnaire was designed for this purpose. The model was evaluated and determined to be suitable for its purpose, as it is comprehensive and compiles the major objectives for effective safety training and reveals differences between different perspectives on safety performance [16]. However, there is still a need to apply and empirically test the instruments designed for evaluating the performance implications of safety training. This study provides more specific understanding on how training affects the different elements of safety performance.

Safety performance indicators could be better utilized in evaluating the effectiveness of safety training [16]. Studies combining different forms of measurement information (e.g. questionnaire and safety statistics) in the analysis are needed to gain more comprehensive knowledge on the performance implications of safety training [9, 16]. The aim of this paper is to study how employees' safety performance can improve during a six-month period after a safety training intervention in two units of the case company. The effects on safety performance were studied based on a questionnaire and selected leading and lagging indicators.

2 Materials and Methods

The safety training was carried in two units (unit 1 and unit 2) of a large company providing support services for facilities management. It consisted of participatory classroom lessons, with practical examples and discussions moderated by an expert. The training aimed to change employees' behavior and support the development of safety culture. The whole work team, including the supervisors, participated in one training session of four hours. The training sessions were arranged during November and December 2019, and the total number of participants was 300.

The effects on safety performance were studied based on a questionnaire [16] and selected indicators for safety performance. The questionnaire was carried out during February 2020 (two to four months after the training sessions). It consisted of 48 questions (43 Likert-scaled questions and 5 open questions). Forty-five responses from two units were received, 51% from unit 1 and 49% from unit 2. Most of the respondents were males (93%) and had more than one year of work experience in the company in question (96%). Three of the respondents (7%) were supervisors, and 42 (93%) were employees. The respondents evaluated the effects of the safety training with relation to the four themes: 1) safety knowledge, 2) safety attitudes, beliefs and motivation, 3) safety behavior and 4) safety performance [16].

Safety performance indicator data (leading and lagging indicators) were gathered before and six months after the training to complement the survey data. Leading indicators included the number of preventive actions taken, namely, safety observations, safety walks, safety moments, workplace risk assessments and machine risk assessments. Lagging indicators included the number of lost time accidents (LTA) and total recordable injuries (TRI). Descriptive analysis of the gathered data was carried out, and

the performance implications of safety training were evaluated. The results and performance implications of the training intervention were reviewed with the company safety representative to interpret the results.

3 Results

Based on the questionnaire, most of the respondents (73%) agreed that safety training has positive effects on occupational safety by decreasing the number of occupational injuries (mean 3.78). Similarly, most of the respondents (68%) agreed that the training improves the workplace climate (mean 3.75). The respondents stated that the training caused them to better plan work and observe risks before starting the job, become more aware of the consequences of an occupational injury and understand the wider picture. The summary of the results is shown in Table 1.

| Perspective | Sections | No. of questions | Mean |
|------------------|--|------------------|------|
| Safety knowledge | Working environment | 4 | 3.66 |
| | Ability to work safely | 4 | 3.74 |
| Safety attitude, | Understanding the significance of safety | 5 | 3.80 |
| beliefs and | Risk perception | 4 | 3.72 |
| motivation | Safety motivation | 3 | 3.95 |
| Safety behavior | Adhesion to the instructions | 4 | 3.62 |
| | Feedback | 3 | 3.39 |
| | Active safety participation | 5 | 3.52 |
| Safety | Effects on occupational injuries | 1 | 3.78 |
| performance | Effects on workplace climate | 1 | 3.75 |
| | Supervisory performance | 4 | 3.76 |
| | Employee performance | 5 | 3.81 |

Table 1. Summary of the survey results (n = 45).

1 =disagree, 2 =partly disagree, 3 =neither agree nor disagree, 4 =partly agree, 5 =agree

Most of the respondents (70%) felt that the training improved their *safety knowledge* and ability to work safely in different kind of situations (mean 3.70), for example, to observe the working environment and acknowledge hazards. Most of the respondents (67%) perceived that the training had positive effects on their *safety attitude, beliefs and motivation* (mean 3.81). Interestingly, the training seemed to have the greatest effect on the employees' safety motivation (mean 3.95), such as striving for a high level of safety, working safely and caring for each other. The respondents perceived that after the training safety issues are discussed more often and safety problems are tackled more actively.

The training also had some positive effects on *safety behavior* (mean 3.52). About half of the respondents (53%) agreed that after the training they more actively follow safety instructions, get and give safety feedback and participate in safety development. It

is noteworthy that there is room for development, especially in giving positive feedback about working safely and paying attention to physical ergonomics. Most of the respondents (69%) perceived the safety climate as quite positive (mean 3.79). For example, the majority of the respondents stated that they take their fellow workers' safety suggestions seriously (mean 3.88) and can discuss safety matters openly (mean 4.14). Moreover, they reported that supervisors ensure that every employee can influence his or her own occupational safety (mean 3.91) and encourage employees to always follow the safety instructions (mean 3.77).

There were some differences between the results of the two units. In unit 1, the effects of the training were perceived as overall more positive than in unit 2 (approximately 0.1-0.6% difference per question). However, supervisor performance was evaluated the same or slightly more positive in unit 2 (0.2-0.3% difference in two question). Employee performance was perceived more positively in unit 1 than in unit 2 (0.1-0.4% difference per question).

The safety performance indicator data were gathered during six months after the training (January 2020 – June 2020), and a five-month moving average was calculated (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2). The number of preventive actions taken slightly increased during the period in the whole data set and in both units, especially safety walks, workplace risk assessment and safety observations. The LTA rate decreased in the whole data set and in both units (30% in unit 1 and 27% in unit 2). The TRI rate decreased in the whole data set but decreased by 30% in unit 1 and increased by 25% in unit 2.



Fig. 1. Five-month moving average of monthly preventive actions taken (number).



Fig. 2. Five-month moving average of Lost Time Accident (LTA) rate and Total Recordable Injury (TRI) rate (number).

Based on the review by the company representative, the participants evaluated the quality of the training positively. Some effects on safety knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and motivation were perceived after the training, but they were not expected to have an immediate effect on safety behavior or safety performance.

4 Discussion

Based on the survey results, some improvements in safety knowledge, attitudes, behavior and safety performance can be found. The results reinforced the view that training will not affect safety behavior instantly [9, 11]. However, some direct effects can be found, for example, with regard to following the safety instructions. Nevertheless, safety training remains inadequate if it does not support behavioral changes [9, 16].

Indicator data also show a positive trend in safety performance during the studied period. The amount of preventive actions has considerably increased while the number of injuries has decreased. More active reporting of and participation in safety issues may indicate behavioral changes after the training. The safety performance indicator data indicated even more positive development than the company representative expected.

The safety performance indicator data are not fully comparable between 2019 and 2020 due the exceptional COVID-19 epidemic situation during 2020. The employees of the company in question typically cannot do remote work since they carry out facility services at customer premises. Hence, the focus of safety work has been on sheltering from coronavirus and preventing it from spreading in the workplace during spring 2020. To manage this challenge, a moving average was used to smoothen the data and decrease the impact of random, uncontrollable factors. However, the indicator data should be

followed for a longer period to confirm the effects. In the future, a second survey round could be carried out to study the permanence of the effects.

Most of the respondents were employees, and hence the survey results may be biased toward more positive evaluation of employee performance than supervisory performance. It is noteworthy that the dispersion of supervisory performance was relatively high. This indicates differences between the supervisors, for example, in how they encourage employees to work safely. Moreover, the differences in indicator data between the units may also indicate differences between the supervisors.

There were some differences in the survey results between the two units. In unit 1, safety training was perceived more positively than in unit 2, even though both units perceived the training as advantageous. The safety performance indicator level was significantly better in unit 1 than in unit 2. In unit 1, the respondents were more critical of the supervision. This may indicate differences in supervision, willingness to accept training or how well the training meets the current situation in the unit. Thus, the same kind of training might not be suitable for every unit, and the training should be tailored based on the participants' needs.

This study contributes to the current knowledge on evaluating the performance implications of safety training. Specifically, it advances the understanding of how safety training creates benefits. The results of the study can be utilized in planning adequate interventions and related measurements to improve safety. In addition, the study presents an approach for evaluating the impacts of safety training, which may be followed in other case contexts. This approach can be seen as a tool for safety managers in recurring analyses of safety-related training.

Acknowledgements. The authors sincerely appreciate the contributions of all the respondents who participated in the study. The authors gratefully acknowledge the research funding provided by the Finnish Work Environment Fund, participating company and Tampere University.

References

- Vinodkumar, M.N., Bhasi, M.: Safety management practices and safety behaviour: assessing the mediating role of safety knowledge and motivation. Accid. Anal. Prev. 42, 2082–2093 (2010)
- Burke, M.J., Sarpy, S.A., Tesluk, P.E., Smith-Crowe, K.: General safety performance: a test of a grounded theoretical model. Pers. Psychol. 55, 429–457 (2002)
- Burke, M.J., Sloane, M., Signal, S.M.: Workplace safety: a multilevel, interdisciplinary perspective. Res. Pers. Hum. Resour. Manag. 29, 1–47 (2010)
- Hale, A., Guldenmund, F., van Loenhout, P., Oh, J.: Evaluating safety management and culture interventions to improve safety: effective intervention strategies. Saf. Sci. 48(8), 1026–1035 (2010)
- Hinze, J., Gambatese, J.: Factors that influence safety performance of specialty contractors. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 129(2), 159–164 (2003)
- Wu, T.-C., Chen, C.-H., Li, C.-C.: A correlation among safety leadership, safety climate and safety performance. J. Loss Prev. Process Ind. 21(3), 307–318 (2008)
- Neal, A., Griffin, M.A., Hart, P.M.: The impact of organizational climate on safety climate and individual behavior. Saf. Sci. 34(1), 99–109 (2000)

- Bahn, S.: Moving from contractor to owner operator: impact on safety culture: a case study. Empl. Relat. 35(2), 157–172 (2013)
- Ricci, F., Chiesi, A., Bisio, C., Panari, C., Pelosi, A.: Effectiveness of occupational health and safety training. A systematic review with meta-analysis. J. Workplace Learn. 28(6), 355–377 (2016)
- Burke, M.J., Sarpy, S.A., Smith-Crowee, K., Chan-Serafin, S., Salvador, R.O., Islam, G.: Relative effectiveness of worker safety and health training methods. Am. J. Public Health 96(2), 315–324 (2006)
- Robson, S., et al.: A systematic review of the effectiveness of occupational health and safety training. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 38(3), 193–208 (2012)
- Hinze, J., Thurman, S., Wehle, A.: Leading indicators of construction safety performance. Saf. Sci. 51(1), 23–28 (2013)
- Reiman, T., Pietikäinen, E.: Leading indicators of system safety monitoring and driving the organizational safety potential. Saf. Sci. 45(3), 329–353 (2012)
- Blair, E., O'Toole, M.: Leading measures: Enhancing safety climate and driving safety performance. Prof. Saf. 55(08), 29–34 (2010)
- Koivupalo, M., Reiman, A.: Health and safety performance indicators in global steel company. Saf. Sci. Monit. 2(2), 1–17 (2017)
- Tappura, S., Jääskeläinen, A.: Measuring the outcomes of safety training. In: Karwowski, W., Ahram, T., Etinger, D., Tanković, N., Taiar, R. (eds.) IHSED 2020. AISC, vol. 1269, pp. 265–270. Springer, Cham (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-58282-1_42



Absenteeism, Musculoskeletal Disorders and Healthy Living Habits in Active Uniformed National Police

Wilder Alfonso Hernández Duarte^{1(⊠)}, Luis Gabriel Gutiérrez Bernal¹, and María Alexandra Malagón Torres²

¹ Corporación Universitaria Minuto de Dios - UNIMINUTO, Bogotá, Colombia {whernandezd,lgutie55}@uniminuto.edu.co
² Politécnico Gran Colombiano, Bogotá, Colombia mmalagon@poligran.edu.co

Abstract. To characterize cases of absenteeism and the healthy lifestyle habits of the uniformed population of the Santiago de Cali-Colombia region. Absenteeism records for the year 2019 were unified together with reports of physical condition of the uniformed population, with a history of this circumstance, to apply the frequency distribution. 80% of the cases corresponded to a population in the age range of 26 to 40 years, most of the medical diagnoses presented affection of the most compromised segments. 24% presented some degree of overweight or obesity, linked to the most frequently affected body areas. The literature reports the influence of sedentary lifestyle in the appearance of musculoskeletal disorders affecting the absenteeism, so the development of studies with an analytical scope and the consideration of health promotion in the workplace by the organization under study becomes important.

Keywords: Police \cdot Absenteeism \cdot Sedentary behavior \cdot Healthy lifestyle \cdot Musculoskeletal pain

1 Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines absenteeism as a phenomenon of absence due to direct or indirect avoidable causes such as illness, whatever its duration and character may be, as well as unjustified absences during all the working day or part of it, as well as the circumstantial permission within working hours [1]. All organization with a public or private nature presents this problem, even entities of a special nature such as the police. Studies characterizing the causes of absenteeism in police officers have found sleep disturbances with high frequency, as well as cases of depression, diabetes, and cardio-vascular diseases [1], the latter being associated with irregular healthy lifestyle habits [2].

Additionally, inappropriate healthy lifestyles have also been linked to the generation of musculoskeletal disorders in these population. For example, the relationship between anthropometric measures such as body mass index (BMI) with alterations in the lumbar region, or cases of carpal tunnel syndrome has been studied [3, 4].

Based on the above, this research presents the characterization of cases of absenteeism and healthy life habits of the uniformed population attached to the Metropolitan Police of Santiago de Cali-Colombia. This is because a significant percentage of uniformed personnel have been identified as repeatedly absence during 2019 due to musculoskeletal alterations.

For this institution the analysis of absenteeism presented in the unit is important due to the possibility of a decrease in the work capacity of its collaborating population, since this leads to rehabilitation process and absences from the service generating work overload in the other uniformed group of people and, if this is not controlled, it may increase the complexity of the health problems, the administrative processes, and the costs for the entity.

2 Materials and Methods

The study is proposed with a quantitative approach and descriptive scope, by characterizing the absenteeism in this group population and the aspects associated to the physical condition of the uniformed population.

For this, the absenteeism records of the uniformed population of the Santiago de Cali-Colombia unit in 2019 where considered, between the months of January to October and a database with physical tests carried out on the population of this unit were considered, coinciding those with this background. The information from both databases was consolidated or unified and it was processed through Excel to apply frequency distribution.

For the development of the study, we had the authorization of the entity to dispose of the information and its processing, guaranteeing the respective confidentiality and reservation of this, as well as the approval of the research ethics committee of the Corporación Universitaria Minuto de Dios - UNIMINUTO, campus Bogota (Colombia).

3 Results

In the period described above, a total of 1802 cases of absenteeism were found in the unit. 87% of the cases were of male uniformed, almost 80% of the events occurred in the population in the age range of 26 to 40 years. Most of the reports of absenteeism were presented among the low-ranking uniformed population. (See Table 1).

| Variable | | N number | % percentage |
|-----------|--|----------|--------------|
| Sex | Female | 232 | 13 |
| | Male | 1570 | 87 |
| Age range | 19 a 25 years | 109 | 6 |
| | 26 a 30 years | 435 | 24,1 |
| | 31 a 35 years | 478 | 26,5 |
| | 36 a 40 years | 523 | 29 |
| | 41 a 45 years | 202 | 11,2 |
| | 46 years in advance | 55 | 3.1 |
| Degree | Auxiliaries, agents, and executive level | 1772 | 91,4 |
| | Official level | 19 | 1 |
| | Non-uniformed personnel | 11 | 0,6 |

Table 1. Demographic characterization of the population with a history of absenteeism from the Santiago de Cali unit. 2019.

Source: the authors.

Regarding the characterization of the absenteeism cases, almost all the events affected the musculoskeletal system and in 53.4% the part of the body most affected was the trunk, followed by the lower limbs with 33.2%. In relation to the physical condition of the uniformed men, it stands out within the anthropometric measures, that 17% presented some degree of overweight and 7% some degree of obesity. (See Table 2).

| Variable | | N number | % percentage |
|--------------------|------------------------|----------|--------------|
| System affected | affected Osteomuscular | | 99,4 |
| | Immune system | 9 | 0,5 |
| | Nervous system | 1 | 0,1 |
| Body part affected | Upper limbs | 7 | 0,4 |
| | Lower limbs | 599 | 33,2 |
| | Neck | 4 | 0,2 |
| | Trunk | 963 | 53,4 |
| | Whole body | 3 | 0,2 |
| | No specific data | 226 | 12,5 |
| Body mass index | Malnutrition | 2 | 0,1 |
| | Obesity Grade I | 70 | 3,6 |
| | Obesity Grade II | 17 | 0,9 |
| | Obesity Grade III | 50 | 2,6 |
| | Overweight Grade I | 106 | 5,5 |
| | Overweight Grade II | 221 | 11,4 |
| | No specific data | 1336 | 68,9 |

Table 2. Description of the system and part of the body affected by the reported absenteeism and physical condition of the uniformed population of the Santiago de Cali unit. 2019

Source: the authors.

When crossing the absenteeism data according to the part of the body affected with the BMI classification, it is found that 5.2% of the cases whose affected area was the trunk, the population was overweight grade I, and 14% overweight grade II. 6.8% of the cases where the affected area was the lower limbs, the population was grade I overweight and 8% were grade II overweight. (See Table 3).

| | | Affected body part | | | Total | | | |
|----------------|------------------------|--------------------|---------------|------|-------|---------------|------------------------|------|
| | | Upper limb | Lower limb | Neck | Trunk | Whole body | No specific data | |
| Rank BMI | Malnutrition | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
| classification | Obesity grade I | 5 | 20 | 0 | 32 | 0 | 13 | 70 |
| | Obesity grade II | 0 | 0 | 0 | 13 | 0 | 4 | 17 |
| | Obesity grade III | 0 | 21 | 0 | 26 | 0 | 3 | 50 |
| | Overweight grade I | 0 | 41 | 0 | 50 | 0 | 15 | 106 |
| | Grade II overweight | 0 | 47 | 0 | 134 | 0 | 40 | 221 |
| | Does not apply | 2 | 470 | 4 | 706 | 3 | 151 | 1336 |
| Total | | 7 | 599 | 4 | 963 | 3 | 226 | 1802 |

Table 3. Contingency table. Affected body part and classification of the body mass index of the uniformed population of the Santiago de Cali unit. 2019

Source: authors.

4 Discussion

As mentioned above, a proportion of absenteeism cases occurred in the 26 to 40 age group, a population that is in the full productive stage. This element is an aspect to be reviewed by the institution, given the consequences it may bring and due to the characteristics of the entity's mission, related to public safety. Melo et al. [5] found a significant relationship between the health conditions of military personnel, linked to the effects of stress and age (p = 0.018), which may affect the indicators of absenteeism.

It was found that in most cases of absenteeism, the most affected body system was the musculoskeletal system. The most frequently presented diagnoses were: Cervicalgias, back pain, among others, showing that the body area most affected was the trunk. Based on the above, it is important to carry out a thorough analysis of the risk factors present in the activities or functions. Medina et al. [6] carried out a study aimed at analyzing the workload in the surveillance group of the Tunja station - Colombia, showing that 91% of the respondents considered that the functions request a level of physical demand between high and very high, and 95% indicated that the cognitive demands requested by the task are between high and very high. Additionally, statistically significant relationships were demonstrated between the perception of the level of cognitive demands requested by the tasks, and the level of academic training (p < 0.05).

In relation to the intersection of variables "part of the body affected" and the "BMI" of the population with a history of absenteeism, it was found a proportion of cases whose compromised area was the trunk and presented some degree of overweight or obesity, which may be related to physical activity habits. Given this, it is important to continue investigating the possible relationship of these aspects based on the association that studies have shown [7]. Hruby et al. [8] found in their research a tendency to increase the cases of overweight and obesity among the military. Kirsch et al. [9] determined as a protective factor the habit of doing physical activity to prevent discomfort in the lumbar area (RR: 0.83, CI: 0.75–0.93).

Reviewing the absenteeism records of the Santiago de Cali unit from January to October 2019, a considerable proportion of cases of uniformed persons was found in the age group between 26 and 40 years, being the most affected system the osteomuscular one, as well as the the trunk and lower limbs. Within the physical tests of the population with a history of absenteeism, personnel with some degree of overweight and obesity were found whose affected area was the trunk. According to the scientific literature, this condition can be associated with a predisposition for musculoskeletal disorders, which is why it is important to develop studies with an analytical scope that allow evidence of this associations. In addition, to review policies on health promotion at the workplace is also very important with this specific population.

Acknowledgments. Project developed within the framework of the Occupational Health and Safety Management research hotbed for the National Police - EGRL.

References

- Carmota, R., Pardiñas, V.: El ausentismo laboral de causa médica en la policía nacional uruguaya. Biomedicina 10, 34–53 (2015)
- 2. OIT: Organización Internacional del Trabajo: SOLVE: integrando la promoción de la salud a las políticas de SST en el lugar de trabajo: cuadernos de trabajo del participante. Centro Internacional de Formación de la OIT, Ginebra Suiza (2012)
- Asensio, S., Diego, J., Gonzalez, M., Alcaide, J.: Análisis de los factores de riesgo relacionados con los trastornos músculo-esqueléticos. In: XIII congreso internacional de ingeniería de proyectos, Badajoz España, pp. 1601–1612 (2009)
- 4. Baquero, G.: Relación del sobrepeso y la obesidad con problemas de flexibilidad, resistencia muscular y alteraciones posturales lumbopélvicas. Expomotricidad (2018)
- Melo, A., Cascaes, F., Bernardo, V., Gonçalves, E., Barbosa, P., da Silva, R.: El estrés laboral afecta las condiciones de salud de los oficiales de la policía militar. Rev. Cubana Med. Militar. 43, 293–306 (2014)
- Medina, Y., Bedoya, M., Márquez, C., Hernández, W.: Análisis de la carga de trabajo del grupo de vigilancia estación de policía Tunja (2020). https://repository.uniminuto.edu/bitstream/han dle/10656/10303/TE.RLA_BedoyaMichael-MedinaYeison-M%c3%a1rquezCarlos_2020? sequence=2&isAllowed=y
- Reyes, M., Toro, V., Chávez, G., Lagos, R., Godoy, A., Caniuqueo, A.: Nivel de actividad física y ausentismo laboral en funcionarios de hospital. Salud Pública México 60, 116–117 (2018). https://doi.org/10.21149/8446

- 8. Hruby, A., et al.: Trends in overweight and obesity in soldiers entering the US Army, 1989–2012. Obesity 23, 662–670 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20978
- Kirsch, J., Bláfoss, R., Sundstrup, E., Bay, H., Pastre, C., Andersen, L.: Association between lifestyle and musculoskeletal pain: cross-sectional study among 10,000 adults from the general working population. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 20 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-3002-5

Safety Perception and Safety Culture



Safety Culture and Risk Perception in a Furniture Manufacturing Company – A Case Study

Ana Colim¹(⊠), André Cardoso¹, Sílvia Martins², Jorge Mano², Paula Carneiro¹, and Pedro Arezes¹

¹ Algoritmi Centre, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal {ana.colim, andre.cardoso,pcarneiro,parezes}@dps.uminho.pt
² Master in Human Engineering, University of Minho, Guimarães, Portugal meh@dps.uminho.pt

Abstract. Workers in furniture manufacturing are often exposed to various types of risks. This paper results from a study carried out in a large furniture manufacturer operating in Portugal. The main goals were the evaluation of the workers' risk perception and safety culture. In this exploratory research, the William Fine risk assessment method was applied across 2 production section lines (with a total of 103 workers) by safety experts. Subsequently, several meetings occurred, whereby, the results of risk assessment were shared with the workers. Simultaneously, these workers were requested to answer a questionnaire designed to evaluate their risk perception and safety culture. Globally, the results demonstrated a positive relationship between workers' perceptions and the experts' assessments. Furthermore, this research concludes that there is an increasing awareness of workers and a move towards a positive safety culture that could facilitate an open and resilient approach to all safety practices.

Keywords: Risk perception \cdot Safety culture \cdot Furniture industry \cdot Safety procedures \cdot Risk assessment

1 Introduction

Manufacturing industries report a significant number of occupational accidents. Workers in furniture manufacturing are often exposed to hazards such as dust, chemicals, noise, tool vibration, hazardous machinery, vehicle traffic, fires and explosions [1]. Additionally, higher physical demands, such as repetitive movements, awkward postures, and manual forces exertion, are very common for workers in the manufacturing industries [2]. An understanding of the role of human factors and safety culture has become an important issue for this sector. Currently, the safety culture relevancy and, with it, the importance of the communication between employers and workers as well as the active participation of the workers in the management of their own safety, is well established and the new ISO 45001 is a strong evidence of that. According to a study of literature review about safety culture, many organizations around the world are showing increasing

interest in the concept of safety culture as a means of reducing the potential for disasters, accidents, incidents or near misses within their everyday tasks [3]. The authors of the referred study consider that safety rules should be understood and adhered to by everyone, as well as all incidents must be reported and investigated quickly for actions to be taken, and for increased learning. In order to achieve a positive level of safety culture into an organization, a holistic approach is recommended, which strengthens the concerns with company performance jointly with safety and well-being for the workers [4].

According to Tear *et al.* [5], only through examining how national cultural contexts influence the power dynamics of an organization that a full understanding of organizational culture can be understood. National culture appears to differentially affect different organizational roles, with controllers being the most affected, managers and administrative staff similarly affected, and engineers unaffected.

It is important to know the employees' perceptions. For example, experiment managers often recognize that an employee's perceptions are highly predictive of his/her behavior in a given situation, such as compliance with safety rules or standard safety practices [6]. The same author suggests that when management's commitment to safety is clearly demonstrated through action, employees' perceptions of the safety management process are positively influenced. Along with that change in perception, it seems that there is a strong causal relationship with a reduction of injury rates.

The main goals of this study consisted of the evaluation of the risk perception of the workers and also the safety culture. It was also intended to compare the workers' risk perceptions with the risk analysis made by experts.

2 Methodology

This work results from a study carried out in a large furniture manufacturer operating in Portugal, where most of the work accidents and incidents are related to human errors/unsafe acts.

In this exploratory research, William Fine risk assessment was implemented across two production sections (with a total of 103 workers divided into 3 shifts) by 4 safety experts. One of these sections, hereinafter named Assembly Production Section, is composed of 14 workstations of manual assembly. The other section (Packing Production Section) describes the production in line with the final packing of furniture pieces. In both sections manual and repetitive tasks are commonly performed.

The workers of these sections shared with the evaluators their perceptions regarding working conditions, complaints and suggestions for improvement.

Visits were carried out in order to collect individual data from each workplace, information on work organization, physical and mental requirements, eventual workers' complaints/injuries, working conditions, tasks performed, dangerous conditions, occupational risks identified, and preventive measures implemented. Photographs and videos of the workers performing their tasks were also registered.

The identification of the risks for each workplace was carried out by direct observation of the workers during the normal execution of their tasks. During the visits to the workplaces, other relevant data were also collected to fill out a matrix (for each workplace), which includes William Fine's matrix for the calculation of the risk degree. The risk assessment was based on the William Fine method, which is based on equations expressing control of hazards and the rationale for investments in deciding on preventive measures. It attributes a degree of risk that is calculated on the basis of three factors, each one rated by diverse scores depending on the different classification:

- (i) the probability of the accident occurring (Class = score: Most likely = 10; Quite possible = 6; Unusual = 3; Remotely possible = 1; Extremely remote = 0.5 and; Practically impossible = 0.1);
- (ii) the degree of exposure to risk (Class = score: Continuously = 10; Frequently = 6; Occasionally = 3; Unusually = 2; Rarely = 1and; Very rarely = 0.5);
- (iii) the consequences of the accident (Class = score: Catastrophic = 100; Critical = 50; Major = 25; Moderate = 15; Minor = 5 and; Negligible = 1) [7].

Given the classifications for each of these factors, the Risk Score (RS) could be determined using Eq. 1

$$R_S = F_P \times F_E \times F_C \tag{1}$$

Where FP is the probability factor, FE is the exposure factor and FC is the consequence factor.

The RS (or risk level), whose classification is presented in Table 1, allows the establishment of a prioritization of the actions to be performed. Subsequently, several meetings occurred, whereby, the results of risk assessment were shared with the workers. Simultaneously, these workers were asked to answer a safety culture questionnaire, designed to evaluate their risk perception and safety culture. In this study, 75 workers of the Assembly production line and 28 of the Packing production line participated and answered to the questionnaire. The questions were divided into the following four categories:

- (i) demographic data, such as gender, age, work experience, allowing the sample characterization;
- (ii) communication and workers' participation in safety/preventive measures;
- (iii) training and information about safety procedures;
- (iv) perceptions about the risks.

In the second, third and fourth categories, the questionnaire included a set of statements that the workers have to classify using a 5-Likert scale. The Likert scale originally introduced by Rensis Likert in 1932 is the most widely used psychometric scale in opinion polls [8]. In this case, workers are requested to indicate their level of agreement with each particular statement. The 5-Likert scale is labeled as follows: 1 = Never; 2 =Sometimes; 3 = Usually; 4 = Often; 5 = Always.

The statements about the second and third categories were based on the guidelines of the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work [9]. In the last category, the workers reported their perceptions about the frequency of the exposure to the different risks assessed by William Fine method.

| Risk level | Risk score | Priority |
|------------|-------------|---|
| Ι | ≥250 | Immediate correction required; activity should be stopped until the hazard is reduced |
| II | 90 to 250 | Urgent! Requires attention as soon as possible |
| III | 18 to 90 | Hazard should be eliminated without delay, but the situation is not of an emergency |
| IV | <u>≤</u> 18 | Should be addressed when time is given |

| Table 1. | Classification | of risk level. |
|----------|----------------|----------------|
| | | |

3 Results

3.1 Communication and Participation

As mentioned above, a questionnaire was applied in order to collect the workers' perceptions about communication and participation in their workplaces. The results (Fig. 1) show there is positive communication and worker participation in the two production sections.



Fig. 1. Communication and participation of a packing (n = 28) and assembly (n = 75) production sections. The classification of answers was: "1 = Never"; "2 = Sometimes"; "3 = Usually"; "4 = Often"; and "5 = Always".

In the packing production section, the workers answers 'often' for the statements regarding the communication about safety, giving information about safety issues, and cooperation between all actors on safety. They answer 'usually' for the remain statements. In the assembly production section, workers thought there is 'always' an effective communication about safety. They also answer 'usually' for the statements regarding their opinion about information on safety issues and reporting unsafe conditions or near misses. They answer 'often' for the other statements.

3.2 Training and Safety Procedures Information

Regarding the workers' perception of training and information about safety procedures, it was also assessed by answering a questionnaire. Figure 2 shows positive results for both production sections. In the packing production section, the workers scored, in median, all statements as 'often'. In the other production section, the score given by the workers for almost every statement was 'always', except for confidence about having the safety training needed, which was scored as 'often'.



Fig. 2. Training and safety procedures of a packing (n = 28) and assembly (n = 75) production. The classification of answers was: "1 = Never"; "2 = Sometimes"; "3 = Usually"; "4 = Often"; and "5 = Always".

3.3 Risk Assessment and Risk Perception

In order to compare the risk assessment with the workers' perception of the risk they are exposed to, the William Fine method and a questionnaire were applied, respectively. The classification of the risks were: a. Noise; b. Chemical contaminants; c. Temperature variations; d. Particles/Dust; e. Poor lighting; f. Fall to the same level/fall in height; g. Clash with/against objects or machines or people; h. Disrespect for ergonomic principles; i. Fire risk; j. Electrical hazards; k. Contact with fluids/surfaces at high temperatures; l. Contact with sharp elements; m. Contact with moving machine elements; n. Psychosocial risks; o. Projection of particles/objects/materials; p. Compressed air projection; q. Vehicle traffic.

Figure 3a shows the results of the packing production section. Globally, the evaluators and the workers identify the same risks, although the risk level assigned by the evaluators are higher than the risk identified by the workers.

The results for the exposure comparison between risk assessment and workers' risk perception of the assembly production section are shown in Fig. 3b. In this production section, the evaluators and the workers identified the risks of noise, disrespect for ergonomic principles, contact with fluids/surface at high temperatures and, contact with sharp elements with the same risk level. The other risks were assessed with a higher risk given by the evaluators or vice versa. There are also some risks identified by the workers that the evaluator didn't take into account.



Fig. 3. Exposure comparison between risk assessment (n = 4) and workers' risk perception (*a*) of the packing production section (n = 28); (*b*) of the assembly production section (n = 75).

4 Discussion

Safety culture has been identified as a critical factor that sets the tone for the importance of safety within an organization [6]. With this in mind, we proposed to evaluate the safety culture of two production lines using a questionnaire to conclude about communication/participation of workers, training and safety information and perception of exposure to occupational risks (compared with the evaluator's assessment using the William Fine method).

Regarding communication/participation of workers, in the packing production section, it is better the communication between workers and management, giving information about safety issues and the cooperation between all actors on safety. In the other production line, the results are very positive for the most options, notwithstanding the workers' perception about the contribution to safety issues and reporting unsafe conditions or near misses were less scored. These results reveal that both production sections are sensitive to this thematic, however, the assembly production section is slightly highlighted. This may indicate greater information sharing between workers and team leaders. It also seems that the workers of this production section are more motivated and interventive in safety issues related to their jobs. These results show that is necessary to improve communication between the stakeholders in the packing section.

Concerning the training/information on safe procedures, it appears that the assembly production line is again highlighted, albeit slightly. This may again indicate that information is reaching workers more effectively in this section. In the packing section, the transmission of information should be improved, as well as investing in workers' training.

The exposure perception to conditions considered dangerous or potentially causing injuries is not constant, once it varies with both the individual and the context [10]. Figure 3a confirms this, once the opinions of the evaluators and workers do not show the same results. The evaluators' understanding presupposes greater exposure to the identified risks. However, there is a risk (exposure to chemical contaminants) that workers identified as being exposed, that the evaluators did not consider.

It should be noted that the evaluations were performed workstation by workstation, in a single moment. For that reason, this evaluation may not contemplate the different work shifts and the different production processes, as well as the different seasons. Consequently, and concerning Fig. 3b, workers in this section may have identified risk

exposure that was not identified by the evaluators. In this production section, there are different opinions between evaluators and workers. The evaluators consider that there is greater exposure to the risks of falling at the same level or falling in height, clashing with/against objects or machines or people, fire, and psychosocial. However, workers perceived to be more exposed to the risks of temperature variations and particles /dust than evaluators. It is also shown that workers consider themselves to be exposed to risks that evaluators did not consider exposure to exists (e.g. poor lighting or electrical hazards). In this way, and although the worker being asked about the different tasks of his job, some risks may not have been considered because they did not occur at the time of the assessment. The fact that the risk assessment contemplates only a specific time of year may have led to different opinions between evaluators and workers, regarding the risk of exposure to particles/dust in which the daily and/or weekly maintenance of the assembly production section was not observed.

The different results may suggest that, even slightly, the safety culture can be more intrinsic in the assembly production section, which may influence positively the adoption of safe behaviors, to prevent accidents at work. In a study [11] addressing the link between perceived risk and behavior among 516 workers from eight different companies, has been showed that the more positively workers viewed the safety climate the more they reported wearing protective hearing gear.

Overall, the results of this study point out that the assembly production line, where there is a greater perception of risk, is also the one where there are better communication and participation and better knowledge about training and safety procedures. This suggests a link between risk perception and the existence of a better intrinsic safety culture. This will make it possible to reduce the occurrence of work accidents, since previous studies demonstrate that the better the safety culture, the lower the injury and illness rates are likely to be [12].

5 Conclusions

In the past decades, safety climate has been recognized as a fundamental and ultimate solution for improving workplace safety in various industries. In order to improve safety performance of a company, it is necessary to focus on the human aspect. This work made it possible to recognize which areas, in the selected production lines, related to the safety culture should be improved. This work also made it possible to verify a relationship between the perception of risk and the existence of a more intrinsic safety culture in one of the production lines in relation to the other. This work will serve as a pilot study that will allow to be applied to the other productive lines of the manufacturing furniture industry under study in order to assess the safety culture and risk perception of the workers. Furthermore, this research concluded that there is an increasing awareness of workers and a move towards a positive safety culture that could facilitate an open and resilient approach to all safety practices.

As future work, it is intended to relate the safety culture and the perception of risk with the reports of work-related accidents in each of the production lines under study and others in order to increase the sample. **Acknowledgments.** This work has been also supported by FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the R&D Units Project Scope: UIDB/00319/2020.

References

- Guimarães, L., Anzanello, M., Ribeiro, J., Saurin, T.: Participatory ergonomics intervention for improving human and production outcomes of a Brazilian furniture company. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 49, 97–107 (2015)
- Li, X., Gül, M., Al-Hussein, M.: An improved physical demand analysis framework based on ergonomic risk assessment tools for the manufacturing industry. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 70, 58–69 (2019)
- Choudhry, R.M., Fang, D., Mohamed, S.: The nature of safety culture: a survey of the stateof-the-art. Saf. Sci. 45(10), 993–1012 (2007)
- Nordlöf, H., Wiitavaara, B., Winblad, U., Westerling, R.: Safety culture and reasons for risktaking at a large steel-manufacturing company: investigating the worker perspective. Saf. Sci. 73, 126–135 (2015)
- Tear, M.J., Reader, T.W., Shorrock, S., Kirwan, B.: Safety culture and power: interactions between perceptions of safety culture, organizational hierarchy, and national culture. Saf. Sci. 121, 550–561 (2020)
- 6. O'Toole, M.: The relationship between employees' perceptions of safety and organizational culture. J. Saf. Res. **33**, 231–243 (2002)
- 7. Fine W.T.: Mathematical evaluations for controlling hazards. Naval Ordnance Laboratory, Maryland (1971)
- Li, Q.: A novel Likert scale based on fuzzy sets theory. Expert Syst. Appl. 40(5), 1609–1618 (2013)
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work: Worker Participation in Occupational Safety and Health – A practical guide. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. ISBN 978-92-9191-593–4 (2011)
- 10. Slovic, P., Peters, E.: Risk perception and affect. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 15(6), 322-325 (2006)
- 11. Arezes, P.M., Miguel, A.S.: Risk perception and safety behavior. A study in an occupational environment. Saf. Sci. **46**(6), 900–907 (2008)
- Gilkey, D.P., et al.: Comparative analysis of safety culture perceptions among home safe managers and workers in residential construction. J. Constr. Eng. Manag. 139(9), 1044–1052 (2012)



Post COVID-19 Fatigue Management for ATCOs

Fabrice Drogoul¹(⊠) and Philippe Cabon²

 ¹ EUROCONTROL, Brussels, Belgium fabrice.drogoul@eurocontrol.int
 ² Welbees and Université de Paris, Paris, France

Abstract. In the context of the outbreak of COVID19 and its effect on the aviation industry, air traffic controllers (ATCOs) have seen both their working and living conditions significantly affected. These effects may increase the risk of fatigue, especially when traffic increases again, with potential consequences for flight safety and the ATCOs' health and well-being. This paper reviews the main risk factors of the pandemic on ATCO fatigue and proposes some recommendations to manage this risk.

Keywords: Air traffic control \cdot Shift-work \cdot COVID19 \cdot Fatigue \cdot Fatigue risk management system

1 Introduction

The aviation industry is one of the industries worst affected by the outbreak of COVID-19. There are uncertainties regarding its duration and impact, but the impact is already massive. Air traffic restrictions imposed on the population and the closure of borders have disrupted the usual flow of travellers. In addition to the dramatic reduction in air traffic, this crisis has created a large area of uncertainty. In the most optimistic scenario, the forecast has traffic returning to 2019 levels by 2024. However, in a second scenario (based on vaccine availability and efficiency), traffic in 2024 would only be 92% of the 2019 level. In a third scenario, traffic in 2024 would be 75% of the 2019 level and would not reach the level seen in 2019 until 2029.

In this context, the crisis is having a huge impact on air traffic controllers' (ATCOs') professional and private lives, with many of them working fewer hours because of the drastic reduction in the number of flights. The main challenge in the medium term for air navigation service providers (ANSPs) is to resolve staffing problems and ensure flexible use of staff in order to enable optimum sector configurations to be opened when needed. This calls for robust staff planning and for the recruitment and training of additional controllers if required, as well as the introduction of dynamic and flexible staff rostering.

Among the large number of human factor effects of this crisis, fatigue has been identified by EASA as a major hazard for flight safety during the shutdown and during the return to service or normal operations [1]. As this crisis is unprecedented, no predefined answers are directly available. Managing ATCO fatigue will therefore be a key aspect during and after the pandemic, in order to ensure both safe and healthy working conditions. This paper reviews the main risk factors of the pandemic on ATCO fatigue and proposes some recommendations to manage this risk.

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 319–323, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_39
2 Risk of Fatigue in ATM

Fatigue is acknowledged as one of the major risks in ATM, both for flight safety and for employee health and well-being. A large part of fatigue in ATM is caused by the employees' irregular hours, which adversely affect their body clocks. The body clock, located in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus, regulates daily variations in numerous physiological processes such as the sleep-wake cycle, body temperature and hormone release, as well as cognitive performance [2]. In a normal situation, the body clock is synchronised on a 24-h basis by daily exposure to light, diurnal physical activities and social interactions.

As ATM is a 24/7 service, ATCOs have to work irregular hours to cover the 24-h period. With shift-work, the body clock is no longer synchronised with the external time cues. ATCOs are working when they are meant to be asleep, and need to sleep when the body expects them to be awake. During night shifts, ATCOS work through the so-called window of circadian low (WOCL) (2 to 6 a.m.), in which most cognitive performance is significantly impaired. Subsequent diurnal sleep is poorer in quality and lesser in quantity. Early shifts are also known to impair performance and alertness as they are associated with a reduced quantity of sleep. The desynchronisation of the body clock results in a reduced quantity of sleep, poor quality of sleep and impairment of cognitive performance [3].

3 The Effect of the Pandemic on ATCO Fatigue

The COVID-19 lockdown has had a rapid and significantly adverse effect on both the working and living conditions of ATCOs. In particular, during the lockdown period, the time cues which are supposed to resynchronise the body clock were greatly reduced, with significant consequences on sleep. These effects are equivalent to the effects of jet lag [4]. This body clock desynchronisation and associated sleep deprivation are also known to have effects on immunity [5] and may reduce the ability of ATCOs to fight infectious diseases. COVID-19 also has a direct impact on fatigue: chronic fatigue has been reported as an after-effect on patients with even mild symptoms of COVID-19 [6].

In addition to the direct effects of the lockdown on the body clock, the risk of fatigue in ATM is increased by several other factors. In some ANSPs, the reduction in the number of available staff potentially means that the remaining staff are working longer and thus more intense hours. In other ANSPs, all staff are available and fewer position are manned, and therefore ATCOs are rostered for long duties with very little time on position. Furthermore, COVID-19-related measures may result in a longer, more fatiguing working day, with social distancing, isolation behind Perspex panels, restrictions on socialising/entertainment, and management pressures. Given the need to support their organisation in a crisis, people may feel under pressure to work when they should not in fact be compromising the fragile reporting of fatigue, which had only just started to be implemented in ATM.

In addition, COVID-19 effects many aspects of personal life, which in turn may effect general physical and mental fitness for duty. In particular, the uncertainty about the future of their employment could produce significant stress, which in turn could lead to sleep problems, fatigue and impairment of performance. COVID-19 testing and health screening adds an additional process to the working day and a delay to the start of productive work. It may interfere with the ability of employees to organise their day, not least because of an inability to control how long the screening takes. It introduces an element uncertainty – what if you or colleague tests positive?

The consequence of ATCO fatigue was already visible on the rate of fatigue reports in April-May 2019, which were higher than the previous three-year average (Fig. 1) (EUROCONTROL, 2019).



Fig. 1. Number and rate of ATCO fatigue reports from 2017 to 2020 [1]

The return to normal operation is still uncertain, and new fatigue problems are being reported owing to boredom or lack of motivation in the face of low levels of traffic, new fears of deskilling, or increased pressure of work owing to the financial crisis. Reductions in staffing levels and the introduction of new COVID-19- related tasks may lead to more tasks being carried out per person (more task variation). These tasks may be unfamiliar and therefore more demanding on individuals, who may not be well suited, trained or qualified for the activities they are subsequently required to carry out. Individuals may also be reluctant to point out this fact, under pressure to both support their organisation and remain in employment.

4 Fatigue Management During the COVID-19 Crisis and in the Post-cOVID-19 Period

The notion of shared responsibility is key to fatigue management.

As fatigue is affected not only by work-related aspects but also by non-professional factors, fatigue management has to be regarded as the shared responsibility of the organisation and the air traffic controller (ATCO). The responsibility of the organisation is to implement work schedules which enable controllers to perform their duties safely and provide fatigue management education and awareness training for all employees involved (in operations, support, safety management, etc.). For their part, ATCO are responsible for managing and reporting their fatigue.

In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, the implementation of appropriate fatigue risk management principles is even more critical than in a normal situation. In addition

to this prescriptive approach, CANSO, ICAO and IFATCA have recently issued recommendations for the implementation of fatigue risk management systems (FRMS) for air traffic service providers (ATSPs) [7]. FRMS is defined as "data-driven means of continuously monitoring and managing fatigue-related safety risks, based upon scientific principles, knowledge and operational experience that aims to ensure relevant personnel are performing at adequate levels of alertness".

In Europe, EASA has issued a new regulation, which took effect in January 2020 (2017/373) based on ATM-related ICAO standards and recommended practices (SARPs).

Proactive fatigue management in ATM is therefore a key aspect with a view to emphasising and increasing the focus on ATCO fatigue in this unpredictable context. In particular, encouraging employees to acknowledge and communicate their fatigue through fatigue reporting is a way of monitoring fatigue levels and identifying the risk of fatigue. The analysis of fatigue reports should enable management to identify the main areas of risk and decide on appropriate mitigation measures. Assessment of the risks of fatigue associated with duty rosters is also a key aspect of fatigue management, especially in the context of the pandemic, as there may be pressure from organisations to define more cost-effective rosters. A number of approaches could be envisaged in order to assess rosters, ranging from scientific guidelines on rostering to the use of biomathematical models. These tools should, however, be supported by scientific expertise, as they have inherent limitations which need to be taken into account.

Another key aspect of fatigue management is to inform employees about these increased risks, highlighting the difficulties imposed by the pandemic. ATCOs and managers should be provided with specific initial and recurrent training in order to develop a shared representation of fatigue problems among organisations and provide appropriate strategies for managing the risk of fatigue.

5 Conclusion

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has drastically reduced air traffic, it has not removed or even reduced the problem of fatigue in ATM. The pandemic has undoubtedly increased uncertainty, anxiety and stress for people in general, and has had significant consequences which need to be examined. The economic crisis which is affecting all ANPs and the pressure to reduce costs should not be allowed to hide problems or delay the deployment of fatigue management systems. It is vital that we continue to collect data on fatigue. Employees must feel confident to declare their fatigue without fear of consequences in terms of their employment. Senior managers need to commit to minimising anxiety in the workforce as far as possible and must recognise the impact of reduced wellbeing. Additional factors are likely to contribute to fatigue in the recovery period. A holistic approach to fatigue management will be more important than ever in this period. Given the safety criticality underlying fatigue, well-being and stress, excessive financial cutbacks should not be made in fatigue management investments and budgets.

References

1. EASA The fatigue of Aviation Personnel. Together 4 Safety (2020)

- Gillette, M.U., Tischkau, S.A.: Suprachiasmatic nucleus: the brain's circadian clock. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 54, 33–58 (1999). Discussion 58-9
- Della Rocco, P.S., Nesthus, T.E.: Shiftwork and air traffic control: transitioning research results to the workforce. In: Kirwan, B., Rodgers, M.D., Schaefer, D. (eds.) Human Factors Impacts in Air Traffic Management, pp. 243–278. Ashgate, Aldershot, UK (2005)
- Guichard, K., Geoffroy, P.A., Taillard, J., Micoulaud-Franchi, J.-A., Royant-Parola, S., Poirot, I., Brion, A., D'Ortho M-Pia, G.F., Schroder, C., Philip, P., Bioulac, S.: Stratégies de gestion de l'impact du confinement sur le sommeil : Une synthese d'experts, Médecine du Sommeil (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msom.2020.04.003
- 5. Lammers-van der Holst, H.M., Murphy, A.S., Wise, J., Duffy, J.F.: Sleep tips for shift workers in the time of pandemic. Southwest J. Pulm. Crit. Care **20**(4), 128–130 (2020)
- Islam, M.S., Ferdous, M.Z., Potenza, M.N.: Panic and generalized anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic among Bangladeshi people: an online pilot survey early in the outbreak. J. Affect Disord. 276, 30–37 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.049
- 7. ICAO-IFATCA-CANSO Fatigue management Guide for Air Traffic Service Providers, First Edition (2016)



Promoting Occupational Safety, Health, and Well-Being in Emergency Medical Services

Susanna Mattila¹, Ismo Kinnari¹, Sari Tappura^{1(⊠)}, and Mervi Lehto²

¹ Tampere University, 33014 Tampere, Finland {susanna.mattila,ismo.kinnari,sari.tappura}@tuni.fi ² Oriveden Sairasautopalvelu Ky, 35100 Orivesi, Finland mervi.lehto@ensihoitoorivesi.com

Abstract. The work of emergency medical service (EMS) workers is physically and mentally stressful. EMS workers sustain more occupational injuries than the general working population. At the same time, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) typically suffer from a lack of time and competence in managing occupational safety, health, and well-being (SHW). The aim of this study was to investigate and promote the SHW of EMS workers in a small Finnish company. Data were collected through interviews, a survey, and a workshop. The results showed that SHW stress factors were mainly related to work ergonomics, physical workload, and the threat of violence. During the workshop, measures to promote SHW were suggested, and a related action plan was devised. This study provides knowledge regarding SHW risks, resources, and stress factors in EMS work and suggests measures for promoting SHW. The results can be used in EMS and other health-care organizations.

Keywords: Occupational safety, health and well-being · Emergency medical services · Small and medium-sized enterprises · Risk assessment

1 Introduction

When promoting safety in health-care and emergency medical services (EMS), the focus has traditionally been on patient safety [1]. However, the work in EMS is physically and mentally stressful and may negatively affect the occupational safety, health, and wellbeing (SHW) of employees [1–3]. According to a British study [4], the mental health and wellbeing of EMS personnel appear to be compromised.

EMS workers have higher levels of occupational injuries than the general working population in the private sector [5]. They also face risks of physical overexertion from patient handling, dangers from roadway incidents, verbal abuse and physical violence by patient, the threat of violence, and possible symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder [2, 6–9]. The psychological burden of EMS professionals is particularly high, as they are exposed to situations that involve high emotional stress levels [3]. This may negatively affect not only their own SHW but also patient safety [3].

At the same time, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) are characterized by a higher injury frequency than larger companies, especially when considering fatal accidents [10]. The traumatic fatality rate in small businesses is significantly higher than in larger ones [11]. According to a Danish empirical study, the physical work environment is more hazardous in small enterprises, and the quality of occupational health and safety (OHS) management systems and workplace assessment are worse in small than in large enterprises [12]. Small enterprises typically suffer from a lack of resources, time and competence in managing occupational safety and health [13].

According to OHS regulations in Finland [14], employers must identify hazards caused by work, working hours, work environments, and working conditions. They must also assess the risks to employees' health and safety if the hazards cannot be eliminated. Moreover, they are obligated to analyze workload factors that endanger employees' health and eliminate or reduce the risks. They must also organize adequate orientation for the employees.

Based on a Finnish study [1], employers should provide proper personal safety equipment for all employees and take workers' well-being into account in governance. Immediate supervisors' positive attitude toward safety affects employees' working methods. It suggests to study safety in EMS further, for example the role of employer, supervisors and employees in promoting safety. There is still a need to promote SHW in EMS and in SMEs. The aim of this study was to investigate and promote the SHW of EMS workers in a small Finnish company.

2 Materials and Methods

The case company of this study was a small Finnish private EMS company that is willing to promote its employees' SHW. The company has 22 employees and two employer representatives, all of whom participated in the study. Two temporary employees also participated. The orientation process of this company has an occupational safety component, which includes the threat of violence. Moreover, there are clear procedures for violent situations, which are regularly reviewed.

The researchers coordinated the development process of SHW action plan and data collection. Data were collected through an e-survey, interviews, and a workshop during November and December 2020. Participants were informed ethics of the study and they signed the consent for participation.

A descriptive analysis of the gathered data was performed. The aim of the survey and interviews was to identify areas that needed to be discussed and developed in the workshop.

The questionnaire used for the survey was based on the Risk Assessment in Workplaces Workbook [15]. It consisted of 25 SHW risk items, including physical work environment and working conditions, chemical and biological hazards, and physical and psychosocial loads. Each item was rated on a three-point scale, where 1 represented *risk exists and needs to be managed*, 2 represented *risk is under control*, and 3 represented *no risk*. The questionnaire was distributed to all employees and to two employer representatives, and 26 completed questionnaires were returned. One of the questionnaires was completed in group work with the participation of the employer and occupational safety and health representatives.

Three group interviews were conducted with employee representatives (n = 8) and one with the employer. They were semi-structured interviews based on a theoretical

framework of concepts of structural empowerment (opportunity, information, support, resources, formal power, and informal power) and psychological empowerment (meaning, confidence, autonomy, and impact). The concept of empowerment was based on Laschinger et al. [16], who showed that empowerment directly affects job strain and job satisfaction. The interviews concerned SHW resources and stress factors originating from work, the work community, and the worker.

A remote workshop was organized in collaboration with the employees and the employer with 24 participants to discuss the results of the survey and the interviews and co-creatively develop an action plan to promote SHW. After the workshop, feedback questionnaires were sent to the participants.

3 Results

3.1 Interviews

The results of the three group interviews showed that a sense of work community and a good work atmosphere were considered key job resources. A low worker turnover and the relatively small size of this work community contributed to the emergence of a team spirit and open dialogue. The interviewees also emphasized that they treated each other fairly and equally irrespective of education, work role, or form of employment. Some interviewees likened the work community to a family where even difficult issues could be openly discussed. The value of positive verbal feedback and the desire to have more in the work community was another pattern emerging from the interviews. Participants also noted that work shifts were arranged with people who knew and understood each other well. Moreover, interviewees positively noted that wishes concerning days off were taken into consideration and managed flexibly.

Physical stressors at work that were highlighted in the interviews included lifting and carrying patients without proper lifting equipment and in difficult environments, work ergonomics, irregular working hours, long shifts, and prolonged sitting during work shifts. There was also a feeling of haste in the work, while others reported feeling burdened by remaining idle for long periods.

Potentially violent situations caused mental strain. Many interviewees reported that they discussed situations that they encountered with their work partners and other colleagues while still on the shift. It was also possible to request a defusing discussion based on a defusing method, for which there were trained instructors in the work community. Good atmosphere and receiving social support were strongly emphasized as important for a harmonious work community.

Interviewees considered the development of work-related skills important and reported that the employer promoted it efficiently. In addition to personal study, the work community organized training sessions and encouraged the acquisition of new professional qualifications. Interviewees described a culture of open discussion that fostered learning, new ideas, and opportunities for development, although some felt that their ideas and suggestions for development were not always heeded.

3.2 Survey

Respondents felt that risk management needed to be improved in several areas, including the threat of violence, harassment and other inappropriate behavior, awkward work postures, manual handling and moving of objects or patients, insecure job contracts, possibility to breaks during work shift and work pace, social and ethical load (work includes demanding human relations or difficult value judgment), and the risk of infection. The numbers of respondents rating each item as 1 (*risk exists and needs to be managed*) are shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Risks that needed to be managed according to most respondents.

3.3 Workshop

The interview and survey results were presented in a workshop and discussed in small groups. The main themes of the discussions were 1) work environment and tools, 2) contents of the work and work arrangements, and 3) work community. The participants suggested several development actions pertinent to each theme and finally selected the most relevant for further development. Based on the discussions, the following actions were decided, and responsible persons or teams were assigned:

- Assuming responsibility: clearer definition of work roles and responsibilities
- Communication: improvement of the communication process (what, when, and to whom to communicate) and feedback system
- Durability of tools: purchase of durable tools

- Orientation/introduction to equipment and tools: improvement of the orientation process
- Self-directed review of instructions: development of rules for regular self-directed reviews

It was decided that the development actions would be evaluated in the near future. Based on the feedback, the participants perceived the workshop and group discussions as pleasant and interactive even though they were conducted remotely. Moreover, they felt that they were able to participate in the suggestions and decisions on the development actions.

4 Discussion

This study was conducted to investigate and promote the SHW of the EMS personnel of a Finnish company. There are both physical and psychological risks involved in EMS work [1-9]. According to OHS regulations [14], employers must conduct risk assessments and take actions to minimize the risks to employees' safety and health, as well as providing orientation. With regard to ergonomics, employers must provide appropriate devices and guidance to employees to minimize the risk of physical overexertion. On their part, employees must follow the employers' instructions and ensure their fitness for work.

The results of the survey showed that almost all respondents felt that their work involved risks related to the threat of violence, inappropriate behavior, and awkward work postures that needed to be managed. The employees believed that risks could be managed through training and developing procedures for such situations. The questionnaire thus functioned as a risk assessment tool for the company [14]. The fact that the entire personnel participated in the survey offered a comprehensive picture of the risks in the company.

The results of the interviews also showed that SHW stress factors were mainly related to work ergonomics, physical workload, and violence or the threat of violence. The most valuable SHW resources were a sense of community, a good work atmosphere, and social support from coworkers and managers. This is in line with a Finnish study on EMS that reported that most respondents were content with their work shifts and related planning and with the workplace atmosphere [1]. According to the same study, most respondents had encountered violence or the threat of violence, and almost half of them had sustained injuries due to lifting or moving during the previous 12 months.

The SHW development actions were co-created with the employees in a workshop based on the group interview and survey results. An action plan was collectively devised based on the most relevant development actions. The selected actions were related to responsibilities, communication, tools and equipment, and regular reviewing of instructions. All actions will be promoted by the teams responsible for ensuring the realization of the development plan. The development actions differed from the development needs that emerged from the survey and interviews. This may indicate that the employees consider them occupational safety and health issues and therefore the responsibility of the employer. Issues related to well-being might be perceived as easier to tackle through collaboration in the workplace. Moreover, the theoretical framework of the interviews was based on the theory of organizational and psychological empowerment [16]. In contrast, despite discussing several themes related to empowerment in the interviews, the workshop focused more closely on practicalities rather than organizational changes in general.

The development actions devised in the workshop had some differences to an earlier Finnish study [1]. The earlier study emphasize training but in our study the development action considered independent reviewing of instructions. Most respondents in that larger study [1] had received adequate equipment orientation, but orientation to equipment and tools was one of the development actions in our study.

This study has some limitations. First, it involved only one SME. Although the entire personnel responded to the questionnaire and participated in the workshop, the number of participants was still low and the results cannot be generalized to all EMS organizations. Moreover, the development period was quite short, and the development has not yet been evaluated. The realization of the development actions will be evaluated by the company in the near future. However, this is beyond the scope of this study.

Despite its limitations, this study provides valuable knowledge regarding SHW risks, resources, and stress factors in EMS work and suggests measures for promoting SHW. The results can be used by EMS organizations and SMEs and may also be useful for other health-care organizations.

Acknowledgments. The authors deeply appreciate the contributions of all participants. They also gratefully acknowledge the research funding provided by the European Social Fund and Tampere University.

References

- 1. Nurkka, N., Saikko, S.: Näkökulmia ensihoitotyö turvallisuuteen. Saimaa University of Applied Sciences (2017). (in Finnish)
- 2. Kaari, M.: Sosiaali- ja terveysalan ammattilaisille sattuu vuosittain noin 13 000 työpaikkatapaturmaa. Finnish Workers' Compensation Center (2020). (in Finnish)
- 3. Baier, N., Roth, K., Felgner, S., Henschke, C.: Burnout and safety outcomes a cross-sectional nationwide survey of EMS-workers in Germany. BMC Emerg. Med. **18**, 24 (2018)
- Alexander, D.A., Klein, S.: Ambulance personnel and critical incidents. Impact of accident and emergency work on mental health and emotional well-being. Br. J. Psychiatry 178, 76–81 (2001)
- Maguire, B.J., Hunting, K.L., Guidotti, T.L., Smith, G.S.: Occupational injuries among emergency medical services personnel. Prehosp. Emerg. Care 9(4), 405–411 (2005)
- Reichard, A.A., et al.: Workers' compensation injury claims among workers in the private ambulance services industry-Ohio, 2001–2011. Am. J. Ind. Med. 61, 986–996 (2018)
- Gabrovec, B.: The prevalence of violence directed at paramedic services personnel. Obzonik zdravstvene nege 49(4), 284–294 (2015)
- Bennett, P., Williams, Y., Page, N., Hood, K., Woollard, M.: Levels of mental health problems among UK emergency ambulance workers. Emerg. Med. J. 21, 235–236 (2004)
- Sterud, T., Ekeberg, Øivind., Hem, E.: Health status in the ambulance services: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv. Res. 6, 82 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-6-82
- Fabiano, B., Currò, F., Pastorino, R.: A study of the relationship between occupational injuries and firm size and type in the Italian industry. Saf. Sci. 42, 587–600 (2004)

- Holizki, T., McDonald, R., Gagnon, F.: Patterns of underlying causes of work-related traumatic fatalities – comparison between small and larger companies in British Columbia. Saf. Sci. 71, 197–204 (2015)
- Sørensen, O.H., Hasle, P., Bach, E.: Working in small enterprises is there a special risk? Saf. Sci. 45, 1044–1059 (2007)
- Walters, D., Wadsworth, E., Hasle, P., Refslund, B., Ramioul, M.: Safety and health in micro and small enterprises in the EU: Final Report from the 3-year SESAME Project. European Risk Observatory Report. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2018)
- 14. L 23.08.2002/738. Työturvallisuuslaki (in Finnish)
- 15. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health: Riskien arviointi työpaikalla työkirja. Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and Centre for Occupational Safety (2015). (in Finnish)
- Spence Laschinger, H.K., Finegan, J., Shamian, J., Wilk, P.: Impact of structural and psychological empowerment on job strain in nursing work settings: expanding Kanter's model. JONA 31, 260–272 (2001)



An AHP Method Study on the Migrant and Refugee Employees Occupational Health and Safety Issues in Turkey

Cengiz Akyildiz^(⊠) and Ismail Ekmekci

Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Occupational Health and Safety Program, Istanbul Commerce University, Istanbul, Turkey cengiz.akyildiz@istanbulticaret.edu.tr

Abstract. Many people have emigrated to Turkey rom Syria civil war, and turmoil in the Middle East. Including the major of the Syrians, there are about 6 million regular-irregular migrants. More than 3 million immigrants and refugees are in the work market, more than 2.5 million are illegal. Illegal migrants cannot benefit from OHS services, generally receive less wages, in worse conditions, they work long hours. They are often subjected to human rights violations, harassment, and human trafficking. It is important to know the order of importance for the solution of the problems. In this study, the data were obtained through the Search Conference and the AHP study and evaluated by comparing them with each other according to the order of importance of the problems. The problems arise by 58% government practices, 29% employers, 13% personal mistakes and negligence of workers.

Keyword: Migrant worker \cdot Workplace conditions \cdot Environmental conditions \cdot Law \cdot OHS issues \cdot Introduction

1 Introduction

However, as soon as the arrival of large number of foreigners, Turkey has caught unprepared and as native labor, both are adversely affected by the newcomers. Six million immigrants and refugees constitute 7.3% of Turkey's population, came to Turkey for work or safety [1]. A total of 2 million 800 thousand people aged 15 years and over are employed and constitutes 8.9% of the 31 million 629 thousand native work force [2].

This study summarizes the current literature on OSH factors of migrant workers, compares them with native workers, and lists the problems of health and safety outcomes in order of importance. The results of our previous Search Conference on the subject, were compared with the AHP (Analytic Hierarchy Process) method study, one of the Multi Criteria Decision Making Methods, and a high level of correlation was found. In both studies, the OHS problems of migrant workers were ranked in order of importance.

According to ILO estimates, the ratio of immigrant women to total immigrant workforce in the world is 43%, the ratio to the total Turkish workforce is 4%, and the ratio to the total domestic female workforce is 8%. Women are six times more likely to participate in domestic work abroad than men [3].

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 331–340, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2_41

2 Search Conference Study

On the organization of Search Conference participants consists of, Ministry of Family, Labor and Social Services, General Directorate of Occupational Health and Safety, Ministry of Internal Affairs Directorate of Migration Management, Unions of Universities Working on Migrant Workers, Trade Unions, Immigrant Non-Governmental Organizations, Red Crescent, International Labor Organization (ILO), Syrian Academicians, Migrant workers and OHS Experts. 60 OHS problems obtained through the literature study on migrant workers were presented to the participants. The list of substances consisting of 40 items, voted by the participants OHS problems of migrant workers in Turkey unordered list has been created. The 40-item problem list was re-voted, scored, weighted, and the overall importance ranking of the OHS problems of migrant workers in Table 1 was established.

| No | Criteria | Points | General importance levels |
|----|--|--------|---------------------------------|
| 1 | Lack of Law, Charter, Regulation and Implementation | 746,15 | 0,163748 |
| 2 | Obligation to Work Unregistered | 449,92 | 0,098738 |
| 3 | No Long-Term Immigration Policy | 274,85 | 0,060318 |
| 4 | Lack of Communication Concept | 260,95 | 0,057267 |
| 5 | Lack of OHS Training | 220,87 | 0,048472 |
| 6 | Not Establishing a Special Control System for OHS Training | 218,20 | 0,047886 |
| 7 | Difficulties of Working Conditions | 212,78 | 0,046696 |
| 8 | Working in Difficult Conditions in Unregistered Workplaces | 149,14 | 0,032730 |
| 9 | Not Reporting Work Accidents Deliberately | 132,80 | 0,029144 |
| 10 | OHS Problems of Informal Employees | 130,68 | 0,028679 |
| 11 | Qualification Certificate Equivalence Acceptance Issues | 109,67 | 0,024068 |
| 12 | Dissemination of OHS Trainings | 93,98 | 0,020625 |
| 13 | Trainings are not Multilingual | 92,07 | 0,020205 |
| 14 | Sexual Harassment, Mobbing | 90,46 | 0,019852 |
| 15 | Low Wage According to Native Workers | 90,23 | 0,019802 |
| 16 | Vocational Competence Planning Lack | 88,02 | 0,019317 |
| 17 | Lack of Experience of Workers and Employers | 75,20 | 0,016503 |
| 18 | Lack of Archive System | 71,64 | 0,015722 |
| 19 | OHS Problems Arising from Cultural Differences | 67,70 | 0,014857 |
| 20 | Gender Discrimination and Child Labour | 66,21 | 0,014530 |

Table 1. Search conference weighted migrant worker OHS issues ranking list.

| Search of | conference issues order | | |
|-----------|---|---------|---------------------------------|
| No | Criteria | Points | General importance levels |
| 21 | Insufficient Statistics | 64,12 | 0,014072 |
| 22 | Not Making Use of Cases Experienced in the Past | 60,93 | 0,013372 |
| 23 | Adaptation Problem | 60,63 | 0,013306 |
| 24 | Health Screening Deficiency | 60,47 | 0,013271 |
| 25 | Local Workers' Negative Perceptions for Migrant Workers | 59,78 | 0,013119 |
| 26 | Limitation of Movement | 56,39 | 0,012375 |
| 27 | Not Implementing one Immigrant Employment Obligation System for Ten Native Workers | 54,49 | 0,011958 |
| 28 | Not Knowing Their OHS Rights | 53,82 | 0,011811 |
| 29 | Denial of Permission to Establish a Union | 53,77 | 0,011800 |
| 30 | No Overtime Wage and Long Working | 53,11 | 0,011655 |
| 31 | Long License Acceptance Period | 50,30 | 0,011039 |
| 32 | Inadequate and Incomplete Job Descriptions | 48,41 | 0,010624 |
| 33 | Signs and Warnings are not Multilingual | 46,00 | 0,010095 |
| 34 | Lack of OHS Training of Workers with Work Permits | 45,45 | 0,009974 |
| 35 | Communication and Language Problems Not Handled Separately | 31,54 | 0,006922 |
| 36 | Low General Education Levels | 29,43 | 0,006459 |
| 37 | The Lack of OHS Culture | 28,59 | 0,006274 |
| 38 | Not to Accept Universal Definitions of Immigrant-Refugee | 25,83 | 0,005669 |
| 39 | Culture of Fatalism | 19,18 | 0,004209 |
| 40 | Forcing to work out of expertise | 12,93 | 0,002838 |
| | Total | 4556,69 | 1,000000 |

Table 1. (continued)

The order of general significance values in Table 1 is presented graphically in Fig. 1. The first item, Law, Regulation, Regulation and Implementation Deficiencies, was the problem item that the participants unanimously emphasized.



Fig. 1. Migrant worker OHS issues, search conference overall severity ranking chart.

In the list of issues obtained from the search conference study, it was seen that the data obtained in the study conducted among the three groups consisting of the main stakeholders, the state, employers and migrant workers, were clustered as presented in Fig. 2.

- a) Problems arising from the obligations of state: total weight of 0.560830, 17 problem (%56 percent) (1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, 16, 18, 21, 24, 27, 29, 31, 35, 38) numbered items,
- b) Problems arising from the obligations of employer's: total weight of 0,258021, 14 problems (%26 percent) (7, 8, 9, 13, 14, 15, 17, 20, 22, 30, 32, 33, 34, 40) numbered items,
- c) Problems arising from the obligations of employees: total weight of 0,181149, 9 problems (%18 percent) (2, 19, 23, 25, 26, 28, 36, 37, 39) numbered items.



Fig. 2. Search Conference, weighted chart of the effect of the parties on OHS problems.

The order of AHP study overall importance values in Table 2 is presented graphically in Fig. 3. The first item, Lack of Law, Regulation, Regulation and Implementation, was the problem that the participants insisted on, as in the search conference.

Table 2. AHP multi-criteria decision-making method, ranking table of importance of migrant workers' OHS problems.

| No | Critoria | Overall |
|----|---|------------|
| NO | Cintenia | Overall |
| | | importance |
| 1 | Lack of Law, Charter, Regulation and Implementation | 0,141457 |
| 2 | Lack of OHS Training | 0,096801 |
| 3 | Working in Difficult Conditions in Unregistered Workplaces | 0,078264 |
| 4 | Communication and Language Problems Not Handled Separately | 0,071124 |
| 5 | Trainings are not Multilingual | 0,053409 |
| 6 | Dissemination of OHS Trainings | 0,046279 |
| 7 | OHS Problems of Informal Employees | 0,045026 |
| 8 | Difficulties of Working Conditions | 0,044623 |
| 9 | Signs and Warnings are not Multilingual | 0,042152 |
| 10 | Vocational Competence Planning Lack | 0,040157 |
| 11 | Not Implementing one Immigrant Employment Obligation System for Ten | 0,031432 |
| | Native Workers | |
| 12 | The Lack of OHS Culture | 0,030371 |
| 13 | Not Establishing a Special Control System for OHS Training | 0,027514 |

| AHPS | | 0 " |
|------|--|------------|
| No | Criteria | importance |
| 14 | Obligation to Work Unregistered | 0,020389 |
| 15 | Gender Discrimination and Child Labour | 0,018539 |
| 16 | Lack of Communication Concept | 0,017996 |
| 17 | Lack of Archive System | 0,017708 |
| 18 | Lack of OHS Training of Workers with Work Permits | 0,016467 |
| 19 | No Long-Term Immigration Policy | 0,015831 |
| 20 | Qualification Certificate Equivalence Acceptance Issues | 0,015067 |
| 21 | Inadequate and Incomplete Job Descriptions | 0,013673 |
| 22 | Long License Acceptance Period | 0,012939 |
| 23 | No Overtime Wage and Long Working | 0,012680 |
| 24 | Insufficient Statistics | 0,011652 |
| 25 | Local Workers' Negative Perceptions for Migrant Workers | 0,010768 |
| 26 | Not Knowing Their OHS Rights | 0,009590 |
| 27 | Forcing to work out of expertise | 0,008890 |
| 28 | Not Making Use of Cases Experienced in the Past | 0,008618 |
| 29 | Sexual Harassment, Mobbing | 0,007613 |
| 30 | Low General Education Levels | 0,005689 |
| 31 | Denial of Permission to Establish a Union | 0,005411 |
| 32 | Culture of Fatalism | 0,004055 |
| 33 | Health Screening Deficiency | 0,003835 |
| 34 | Not to Accept Universal Definitions of Immigrant-Refugee | 0,003488 |
| 35 | OHS Problems Arising from Cultural Differences | 0,002770 |
| 36 | Not Reporting Work Accidents Deliberately | 0,002464 |
| 37 | Adaptation Problem | 0,001799 |
| 38 | Lack of Experience of Workers and Employers | 0,001476 |
| 39 | Low Wage According to Native Workers | 0,001300 |
| 40 | Limitation of Movement | 0,000686 |
| | Total | 1,000000 |

Table 2. (continued)



Fig. 3. Migrant worker OSH problems, AHP study overall severity ranking.

The contributions of the government, employers and migrant workers, who are the main stakeholders in the weighted list in the AHP study, to OSH issues are shown in Fig. 4, these are as follows:

- a) Problems arising from the obligations of state: total weight of 0,603717, 17 problem (%60 percent) (1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 10, 11, 13, 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 24, 31, 33, 34) numbered items,
- b) Problems arising from the obligations of employer's: total weight of 0,310168, 14 problems (%31 percent) (3, 5, 8, 9, 15, 18, 21, 23, 27, 28, 29, 36, 38, 39) numbered items,
- c) Problems arising from the obligations of employees: total weight of 0,086117, 9 problems (%9 percent) (12, 14, 25, 26, 30, 32, 35, 37, 40) numbered items (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. AHP study, weights graphic of the effect of the parties on OHS problems.

AHP, due to its nature, allows up to 15 pairwise comparisons to give a healthy result. For this reason, subgroups are created in the comparison list in cases where large number of binary comparisons are required. Due to the nature of the AHP method, the number of binary criteria to be compared in the comparison tables should be 9 at most in order to make a healthy comparison. In practice, academics usually make paired comparisons with a maximum of 9 criteria, and we did the same in our study.



Fig. 5. Comparison chart of AHP study and Search Conference general significance levels

Major Groups with 7 criteria were formed under the headings of Lack of Legislation and Implementation, State Policy, Social Problems, Risk Factors, Lack of Archives, Lack of Audit and Registration Problems. In the Super Decision program, 21 pairs were weighted by making comparisons, and Table 3 was prepared.

Table 3. Comparative list of the main severity levels obtained from the main groups, search conference, and AHP studies.

| Main criteria comparison | | Search con | AHP |
|--------------------------|--|-------------|-------------|
| 1 | Lack of legislation and implementation | 0,237051456 | 0,312174872 |
| 2 | Government policy | 0,146296983 | 0,098523133 |
| 3 | Social issues | 0,084126855 | 0,027067295 |
| 4 | Risk factors | 0,182764243 | 0,278482407 |
| 5 | Lack of archive | 0,07293891 | 0,043287245 |
| 6 | Lack of inspection | 0,104863399 | 0,087196251 |
| 7 | Registration | 0,171958154 | 0,153268796 |

The weighted values obtained in the search conference were collected according to the above grouping and the weighted score values of the groups were created separately, the weighted score values of the main groups were formed by adding the subgroup weight values of the Main Groups in the AHP study. A combined graph of the weighted values of both studies was drawn. As is seen Fig. 5 that, the ranking chart according to the weight values of the Main Groups formed in the Search Conference and AHP studies overlaps.



Fig. 6. Comparison chart of main groups general significance levels.

3 Conclusion

Despite the economic advantages that migration provides to countries, migrant workers are at risk of many OSH related to professional, legal status, migration policies, cultural and linguistic barriers. It is the responsibility of governments and employers, as well as the global community, to protect the health and safety of all workers. They are paid less than native workers, they work longer hours, in worse conditions, and are often subjected to human rights violations, harassment, human trafficking and violence. Migrant workers around the world have occupational exposure and working conditions that lead to adverse health consequences, workplace injuries and deaths. The health and safety inequalities of migrant workers are a result of environmental and occupational exposures, linguistic/cultural barriers, access to healthcare, documentation status, and the political climate of the host country.

For the approximately 2.5 million migrant workers who work illegally, the situation is extremely tragic. There is no concept of OHS services for these people.

The OHS problems of migrant workers cannot be solved without formulating solution strategies for the seven headings we have obtained from the Search Conference and AHP study, "Lack of Legislation and Implementation, Government Policy, Social Issues, Risk Factors, Archive Failure, Lack of Inspection, Registration" respectively If we expand these topics a little more, the problems are better defined according to the importance order below,

Obligation to Work Unregistered No Long-Term Immigration Policy Trainings are not multilingual Lack of Communication Concept Dissemination of OHS Trainings Lack of OHS Training OHS Problems of Informal Employees Difficulties of Working Conditions

References

- 1. Göç İdaresi Genel Müdürlüğü, İstatistikler. https://www.goc.gov.tr/
- 2. Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TUİK). https://www.turkiye.gov.tr/turkiye-istatistik-kurumu-bas kanligi-tuik
- ILO (Int. Labour Off.) Labour Migr. Branch, Int. Labour Off., Dep. Stat. ILO Global Estimates on Migrant Workers: Results and Methodology, Special Focus on Migrant Domestic Workers. http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/publication/ wcms_436343.pdf. Accessed 13 July 2020

Author Index

A

Adaku, Ebenezer, 264 Akyildiz, Cengiz, 331 Alessandro, Giulia, 207 Andrews, Tanya C., 143 Ankrah, Nii A., 264 Arezes, Pedro, 311 Asatani, Kimitaka, 35 Ávila, Salvador, 124

B

Balsadi, Daniela, 244 Balugani, Elia, 207 Beirão, José, 28 Bettignies-Thiebaux, Beatrice, 89 Bieder, Corinne, 228 Boring, Ronald, 55, 62 Boring, Ronald L., 47 Butturi, Maria Angela, 207

С

Cabon, Philippe, 319 Cardoso, André, 311 Carneiro, Paula, 311 Cerezo, Oskar, 193 Cichomska, Katarzyna, 89 Colim, Ana, 311 Collura, Joy A., 115 Coruzzolo, Antonio Maria, 207

D

Danielsen, Brit-Eli, 3 Davoudi Kakhki, Fatemeh, 154 de Souza, Luiz Fernando Lopes, 124 Debecker, Emma, 97 Delgado, Miguel, 279 Delgoulet, Catherine, 200 Dessy, Emilie, 12, 256 Detaille, Frederic, 97, 256 Dischinger, Charles, 143 Domínguez, Rodrigo, 193 dos Santos, Eduardo Ferro, 244 Drogoul, Fabrice, 319 Du Bois, Els, 169

Е

Ekmekci, Ismail, 331

F

Falcão, Gonçalo, 28 Freeman, Steven A., 154 Furuta, Kazuo, 35

G

Ge, Jun, 79 Gomes, Christiane N., 184 Gomez, Carlos, 193 Grant, Rebecca, 256 Gugerli, Rahel, 251 Gutiérrez Bernal, Luis Gabriel, 302 Guyot, Sandrine, 287

Н

He, Dingsen, 79 Hernández Duarte, Wilder Alfonso, 302 Hoem, Åsa S., 219 Honda, Lance, 115

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. M. Arezes and R. L. Boring (Eds.): AHFE 2021, LNNS 262, pp. 341–342, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-80288-2

I

Inoue, Satoru, 35

J

Jääskeläinen, Aki, 295 Johnsen, Stig Ole, 3, 219

K

Kanno, Taro, 35 Karikawa, Daisuke, 35 Kilner, Andrew, 89 Kinnari, Ismo, 324 Kirwan, Barry, 89, 105 Korneeva, Anastasiya, 133 Korneeva, Yana, 133, 237

L

Lehto, Mervi, 324 Lindholm, Maria, 163, 178 Liu, Minxia, 70 Lolli, Francesco, 207

M

Mairesse, Olivier, 12 Malagón Torres, María Alexandra, 302 Mano, Jorge, 311 Marinelli, Simona, 207 Martinello, Samuele, 207 Martins, Sílvia, 311 Mattila, Susanna, 324 Melo, Rui B., 184 Mitsuhashi, Daichi, 35 Moreno Alarcon, Diana Paola, 228 Mortenson, Torrey, 55, 62 Mosher, Gretchen A., 154

Ν

Nakata, Toru, 21 Ndekugri, Issaka E., 264 Nenonen, Noora, 163, 178 Neyt, Xavier, 12, 97 Nguyên, Nhât Nam, 169 Nonose, Kohei, 35

Р

Park, Jooyoung, 47, 62 Pattyn, Nathalie, 12, 97, 256 Pereira, Cláudia, 200 Pereira, Lucas Menezes, 124 Pinto, Marta Vasconcelos, 272 Pirhonen, Julius, 295

R

Ramos, Carla, 272 Rantala, Minna, 163, 178 Rødseth, Ørnulf J., 219 Ron-Valenzuela, Pablo, 279 Rooseleer, Frédéric, 105

S

Santos, Joana, 272 Santos, Marta, 200 Schmitz, Adriana-Dana, 105 Schoeffler, Fred J., 115 Shang, Peiyuan, 79

Т

Tappura, Sari, 163, 178, 295, 324 Topon-Visarrea, Blanca, 279

V

Van Cutsem, Jeroen, 12 Van Loon, Joren, 169 Van Puyvelde, Martine, 12, 97, 256 Vanderlinden, Wim, 97 Vaz-Velho, Manuela, 272 Verlinden, Jouke, 169 Verwulgen, Stijn, 169

W

Waefler, Toni, 251 Wang, Binjue, 70 Watts, Regan, 169 Wild, Pascal, 287

Х

Xue, Qing, 70

Y

Yun, Kristy S., 143 Yurjeva, Anna, 133, 237

Z

Zhang, Renyou, 79